Cabinet
Date
Time
Venue

Wednesday 11 September 2019
10.00 am
Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham
Business
Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's
agreement
1.

Public Questions

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 July 2019 (Pages 5 - 10)

3.

Declarations of interest

Key Decisions:
4.

County Durham Vision 2035 - Report of Director of
Transformation and Partnerships
[Key Decision: CORP/T&P/19/01] (Pages 11 - 46)

Ordinary Decisions:
5.

Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues - Report of Director of
Transformation and Partnerships (Pages 47 - 122)

6.

Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2018/19 - Joint
Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships and
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
(Pages 123 - 160)

7.

Quarter One, 2019/20 Performance Management Report - Report
of Director of Transformation and Partnerships (Pages 161 - 236)

8.

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018-19 - Report of
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
(Pages 237 - 262)

9.

Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2019/20 period to 30
June 2019 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
(Pages 263 - 296)

10.

County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
2018/19 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health
Services and Director of Transformation and Partnerships
(Pages 297 - 350)

11.

Children and Young People's Services Commissioning Plan
2019-21 - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young
People's Services (Pages 351 - 376)

12.

Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 8 Report of Director of Transformation and Partnerships
(Pages 377 - 382)

13.

Council Activity Report - Report of Director of Transformation and
Partnerships (Pages 383 - 400)

14.

A Digital Strategy for County Durham - Report of Corporate
Director of Resources (Pages 401 - 472)

15.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

16.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

Key Decision:
17.

New Development, Merchant Park - Joint Report of Corporate
Director of Regeneration and Local Services and Corporate
Director of Resources [Key Decision: REAL/07/19]
(Pages 473 - 564)

18.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.
Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
3 September 2019
To:

The Members of the Cabinet
Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader
of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn,
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and
A Surtees

Contact: Ros Layfield

Tel: 03000 269708

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
At a Meeting of Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, Spennymoor Council
Offices, Green Lane, Spennymoor on Wednesday 10 July 2019 at 10.00 am
Present:
Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair
Cabinet Members:
Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Napier, K Shaw,
B Stephens and A Surtees
Apologies:
An apology for absence was received from Councillor A Patterson
Also Present:
Councillors J Clare, A Hopgood and L Maddison

1

Public Questions
There were no public questions.

2

Minutes
The minutes of the meetings held on 12 June 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

3

Declarations of interest
Councillor Napier advised of his declaration in relation to item 13, Redhills
and withdrew from the meeting during the discussion of the item.

4

Medium Term Financial Plan(10), 2020/21 – 2023/24 and Review of
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020/21
[Key Decision: CORP/R/19/01]
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources
and Director of Transformation and Partnerships which provided an update
on the development of the 2020/21 budget and the Medium Term Financial
Plan (MTFP(10)). The report also considered a review of the Local Council
Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020/21 (for copy see file of minutes).

Page 5

Cabinet members spoke of the uncertainty with financial settlements and that
instead of receiving a comprehensive spending review covering a three year
period it is expected that this will be delayed and there will be a one year
settlement for local government. It was emphasised how difficult it was to
operate with this financial uncertainty, on-going austerity and the significant
budget pressures being faced, however the Council would continue with its
financial planning. Lobby the government on these issues continues.
Resolved:
That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.
5

County Durham Housing Strategy & County
Homelessness Strategy [Key Decision: REAL/02/18]

Durham

The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which advised on the comments received as part of the
consultation on the Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy (for copy
see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.
6

Local Lettings Agency
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which sought approval in principle to establish a Local
Lettings Agency (LLA) within County Durham (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations contained in the report be approved.

7

Council Activity Report
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and
Partnerships which provided an update on work undertaken to support some
of the Council’s key priorities (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 6

8

2018/19 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided information on the:
(a)

final revenue and capital outturn for the General Fund for
2018/19;

(b)

final outturn for the Council’s Council Tax and Business Rates
Collection Fund for 2018/19;

(c)

use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and general
reserves in year and the closing position with regards to balances
held at 31 March 2019.

(for copy see file of minutes).

Cabinet members thanked the Corporate Director of Resources and his staff
for their quick turnaround of the outturn report.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.
9

County Durham Youth Justice Plan 2019 - 2021
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and
Young People’s Services which presented the Youth Justice Plan for
2019/21 (for copy see file of minutes).
The partners were thanked for their involvement in producing the Plan.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

10

Treasury Management Outturn 2018/19
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided information on the treasury management outturn position for
208/19 (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 7

11

Review of the Council Tax Long Term Empty Premium Charges
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which outlined the opportunities, risks and issues associated with reviewing
the Council’s policy of applying a 50% premium on properties which have
been unoccupied and unfurnished for more than 2 years, where Council’s
now have the power to:
(a)

apply a maximum 100% premium on such properties (from April
2019); along with

(b)

the power to apply a maximum 200% premium on properties
which have been unoccupied an unfurnished for more than 5
years (from April 2020).

The report also sought permission to consult on changing the Council’s
policy of charging a 50% premium on long term empty homes from April
2020.
(for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.
12

Transport Asset Management Plan – Annual Update
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which provided an update on the Transport Asset
Management Plan (TAMP) (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

13

Redhills- Request for Funding
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which set-out a request for financial support as match
funding towards Redhills large-scale funding bid to the National Lottery
Heritage Fund (NLHF). The report further considered the options and
implications open to the Council in considering this request (for copy see file
of minutes).

Page 8

Councillor Joy Allen in responding to questions from Councillor Hopgood
advised on the restrictions of a political organisation receiving funding, of the
conditions attached to the granting of funding in order to provide assurance
and accountability, and representation by the council on its steering group
and a Board set up to run the centre once the project is complete.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.
14

Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project – End Project Report
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which provided an end project report on the Street
Lighting Energy Reduction Project (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

15

Chester le Street Masterplan
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services which advised Cabinet on the comments received as part
of the consultation on the Chester-le-Street Masterplan, and, requested that
Cabinet adopt the Chester-le-Street Masterplan (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

16

High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children of
Children and Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of
Resources which provided an overview of spend and pressures on the High
Needs Block (HNB) of the Designated Schools Grant (DSG), which provides
funding for Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and Inclusion
Support services for children, young people and young adults. The report
outlined initial areas of focus in work being done to seek to make the HNB
more sustainable and refers to a number of proposals which require further
consultation (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 9

17

Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit
Budgets 2019/20
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children
and Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which
provided an overview of maintained schools’ initial budget plans for 2019/20,
as agreed by the relevant Governing Bodies. The report highlighted where
the Corporate Director, Resources will exercise his judgement in terms of
approving the setting of deficit budgets, in accordance with the Council’s
constitution and the Scheme of Financing for Schools (for copy see file of
minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

18

Durham County Council Engagement with Children and Young
People – As Citizens and Service Users Annual Update
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children
and Young People’s Services and the Director of Transformation and
Partnerships which demonstrated the wide range of participation and
engagement mechanisms used to understand the voice of the child and how
this has influenced service provision and project development. It outlined the
key messages from young people and how the Council has acted on them
(for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

The Leader of the Council advised that this had been the last cabinet meeting that
Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services
would attend prior to her retirement. She was thanked for her hard work and wished
well in retirement.

Page 10

Agenda Item 4

Cabinet
11 September 2019
County Durham Vision 2035
Key Decision: CORP/T&P/19/01

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To present the latest draft of the County Durham Vision 2035 document for
approval.

Executive summary
2

A draft vision document was developed with partners as a shared vision
for the county for the next 15 years.

3

An extensive public consultation exercise has been carried out where the
draft vision was presented to Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and
partnership meetings. A presentation, video and latest draft of the vision
document (https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision ) were used as the basis for
this consultation exercise. Verbal comments were captured at meetings. In
addition, forms were distributed to give attendees the opportunity to
provide written comment.

4

A copy of both the video and the vision document were made available on
the council’s website together with a questionnaire to give those who could
not attend a consultation event in person the opportunity to comment on
the vision. The consultation ran from 12 June to 31 July.

1
Page 11

Recommendations
5

Cabinet are asked to:
(a) Note the public consultation feedback contained summarised in this
report.
(b) Agree the latest draft of the vision for consideration and agreement by
Council and County Durham Partnership (Appendix 2) prior to launch
at the County Durham Partnership event on 25 October.
(c) Agree to develop a branding strategy for the new vision;
(d) Review the delivery framework and monitoring arrangements for key
strategies.

Public consultation
6

The consultation involved the following meetings:
• All 14 area action partnerships
• 11 County Durham Partnership thematic partnerships and sub-groups
• 11 other groups including Cabinet Transformation Board and Corporate
Overview and Scrutiny Management Board with invitation extended to
all other non-executive members

7

202 separate comments were received. The consensus from feedback at
events is that all partnerships were supportive of the draft vision, subject to
some suggested additions. 33 individuals took the time to write to say that
they agreed with the ambitions and objectives contained within the vision
and that they believed that it was well balanced. Nine people wrote to say
that they hoped that positive working relationships would continue as
partnerships have worked well in County Durham to date. One person
wrote to say that they believed the housing section of the vision was good.
A number of written responses were also received via email from
individuals and organisations such as the Environment Agency, Believe
Housing and Durham City Parish Council.

8

A number of comments made during the consultation were in response to
the presentation and the video rather than the vision document and were
expressing views on things that they hoped a new vision would address. In
many cases, these suggestions were already contained within the draft
vision document.

9

There were some comments which sought clarification indicating that the
draft document was ambiguous, and amendment was needed to provide
clarification to the reader. The main two issues were whether this was a
2

Page 12

vision for the council or a shared partnership vision for the county and also
when we mention ‘Durham’, are we referring to the county or the city?
10 There were a number of comments about key themes that people hoped
we would pay attention to in the vision. These included:
• Rurality and the need for any future vision for the county to recognise
the particular issues faced by rural communities;
• The need to reduce carbon emissions as a county and mitigate against
the ongoing effects of climate change;
• The natural environment in Durham is a fantastic asset. Consultees
pointed out that we need to protect our countryside and coastline and
the biodiversity of our county for future generations;
• People wanted to see more in the vision around a commitment to
explore how new technologies could improve people’s lives and
provide examples of opportunities that should be investigated;
• The exit of the UK from the European Union is clearly on many
people’s minds and how this may affect the economy of the county. It
was felt that this should be recognised within the vision.
11 Further clarification has been provided together with additional content to
address these concerns and the latest draft is presented in Appendix 2.

Revised vision document
12 The confusion expressed during the consultation as to whether this was a
vision for the council, or the county is addressed through changes to the
wording of the document on page 2.
13 There concerns of the minority of people who asked whether we are
referring to County Durham or Durham City when we use the word
‘Durham’ has been clarified on page 2 of the document.
14 It was felt that there was scope to further emphasise the issues contained
within paragraph 10 which people feel do not feature strongly enough.
These may already be contained within objectives under each of our three
ambitions, but it is felt that we could reassure the reader that there are
certain underlying themes which we have used to shape our overall
thinking on drafting the vision. These are contained within page 3 of the
amended document.
15 There were comments about the relatively high proportion of people in the
county with long-term conditions. This has been recognised to
amendments in the document on page 7.
3
Page 13

16 Several consultees commented that they expected to see what actions
would be taken to address performance issues or that they hoped to see
reference to certain key metrics. It was stressed that this is a vision
document rather than a plan or a suite of performance indicators It is our
intention to use existing plans and strategies, where possible to monitor
the implementation of this vision. Some existing plans and strategies may
need to be amended to reflect the new vision. A review of the delivery
framework and monitoring arrangements for key strategies will be carried
out over the forthcoming months. An explanation of this is provided on
pages 11-12.
17 Some people were surprised that we do not make more of the
opportunities that technology will provide us in the future. The whole
document has been reviewed and references to where technology could
be used to improve people’s lives have been added where appropriate.

Branding
18 A new branding strategy to replace the Altogether Better branding will be
required. The strapline that was used for the public consultation on the
new vision is ‘Our future is Durham.’ This has not been discounted but
needs to be tested. We will work over the coming months to develop
options for future branding.

Conclusion
19 Comments have been received on the draft vision for the county in an
extensive consultation exercise.
20 These have been analysed and suggested amendments to the draft
vision.
21 The approval route for the vision is as follows:
• 03/09/19 County Durham Partnership
• 11/09/19 Cabinet
• 23/10/19 Council (Constitutional requirement)
• Sept/Oct Other partner agencies sign-off
• 25/10/19 CDP Launch event

4
Page 14

Background papers
Emerging Findings Document
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-ourfuture/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636789245733670000
Vision consultation page (includes vision document and video)
https://www.durham.gov.uk/vision
Appendix 1: Implications Schedule
Appendix 2: Draft County Durham Vision 2035 (version 10.0)
Appendix 3: Equality impact assessment
Contact:

Tom Gorman

Tel: 03000 268027

5
Page 15

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
None.

Finance
Corporate, service and financial planning are part of an integrated process.
Ambitions will influence future resource allocation.

Consultation
This report details proposals for agreement and launch of the County Durham
Vision which has been shaped following extensive consultation including:
• Stage one: Analysing all major council consultations over the last year
as part of an exercise to develop issues that a new vision needs to
address. (August 2018)
• Stage two: Consultation on our emerging findings document involving
AAPs, partnerships and other interested parties. (November 2018January 2019)
• Stage three: Consultation on our draft vision document involving AAPs,
partnerships and other interested parties. (June – July 2019)

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equalities issues have been considered in the development of the proposed
ambitions and objectives within the draft vision document.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
Crime and disorder issues have been considered in the development of the
proposed ambitions and objectives within the draft vision document.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
Major risks have been considered in the development of the proposed
ambitions and objectives in the draft vision document.

Procurement
None.
6
Page 16

Appendix 2: Draft County Durham Vision 2035

A Vision for County Durham
For 2035

Version 10.0 (Draft)

Page 17

County Durham in 2035
The purpose of this document is to present a shared understanding of what
everyone wants our county to look like in 15 years’ time. It is the agreed vision of the
public, private and voluntary sector bodies that make up the County Durham
Partnership. It will provide strategic direction and enable us to work more closely
together, removing organisational boundaries and co-delivering services for the
benefit of our residents.
Durham is a forward thinking county with a strong sense of community. Our friendly
people, fascinating history and beautiful countryside from the dales to the coast are
what makes our county great. We have rebuilt and reinvented our economy and
communities to overcome past challenges. We are passionate about building a
better future for all and forming a new relationship between the County Durham
Partnership and everyone who lives in, works in or visits our county.
Durham is unique. It is the only English county that shares its name with its
administrative centre. Durham is the name of our county and the city. When we refer
to Durham in this document we mean County Durham, our rural and our urban
communities, from the Pennines to the North Sea, from the Tees to the Derwent: our
countryside, our coast, our cathedral, our castles and our communities. This is a
vision for the whole county.
Durham is well-connected and welcoming, and a centre for innovative business and
manufacturing. Our distinct identity and sense of community offers something
different for people and businesses. The county has fast and reliable links by road,
rail and air to the rest of the country and internationally. We are a skilled and
dynamic area developing new ideas, products and services.
An essential element of our vision is our people. We want to build on our strengths
and opportunities whilst recognising our challenges. We are optimistic and ambitious
for the future It is an ambitious vision. We do not profess to have all the answers. In
some cases, it will mean us having to develop new and innovative solutions, together
with communities and achieve the level of improvement we want for our residents.
Our vision is also intrinsically linked to our County Durham Plan which articulates in
spatial terms, our vision for housing, jobs and the environment as well as the
transport, health and schools infrastructure required to support it.
We have carried out an extensive consultation exercise with local communities and
partners to develop a vision that reflects the voices of the people of Durham.
We want to work together with residents to target future action in the areas where we
can be of most benefit. Achieving this vision is beyond the grasp of any one
organisation. In times when resources are scarce, it is important to collaborate.
History has taught us that the best outcomes are always achieved when we work
together with communities to achieve our goals. We believe that the future is bright
for Durham. Together, we can tackle the challenges that we face more effectively
and through harnessing the potential of the people who live in County Durham, we
can achieve great things together.
1
Page 18

We have developed a vision and three strategic ambitions to develop County Durham over the
next 15 years.

Vision Statement
Our vision for 2035 is that County Durham is a place where there are more and better jobs,
people live long and independent lives and our communities are well connected and
supportive of each other.

More and better jobs
Our young people will achieve their full potential by having access to good quality education and
training to prepare them for employment. We will work together to help them find rewarding work
and reduce the number of people living in poverty.
We will help people to create more and better jobs by developing major employment sites across
the county to build a strong, competitive and low carbon economy establishing the county as a
premier place in the North East to do business.
We will build on our successful tourist economy through culture-led regeneration to broaden the
leisure experience for residents and visitors to the county. Our visitor experience will compete with
the best offered by other comparable destinations.

People live long and independent lives
Our children and young people will have the best start in life and enjoy good health and emotional
wellbeing. We will work with families to make sure that children and young people with special
educational needs and disabilities can achieve the best possible outcomes.
We will design the physical environment to give people greater opportunity for exercise, and to
cycle and walk more for everyday journeys. We will reduce carbon emissions and mitigate the
impact of climate change on people’s lives.
We will promote positive healthy behaviours and help people to stop smoking. We will tackle the
stigma and discrimination of poor mental health, build more resilient communities and promote
positive mental health.
People will be able to live independently for longer. We will further integrate the work of health and
social care organisations to improve the lives of people receiving these services. We will also
deliver more housing to meet the needs of older people.
We will work to tackle health inequality across the county and close the gap in healthy life
expectancy between our communities.

Connected communities
We will deliver new high-quality housing in a range of house types and tenures including
affordable homes that are accessible and meet the needs and aspirations of our residents.
Properties in our communities will be well used. We will work with owners to help bring more
empty homes back into use and ensure that privately rented homes are well managed.
Our town and village centres will be well used, clean, attractive and safe.
Our transport network will support cycling and walking and provide good access to workplaces,
retail and leisure opportunities and will be relatively free from congestion. Widespread use of
electric vehicles will reduce noise and improve air quality.
We want our communities to remain welcoming, accept one another and build new relationships to
support each other. Children will have a safe childhood and victims of crime will have access to
the right services and support that they require.
2
Page 19

Consultation feedback
This vision has been built on an extensive public consultation. Residents, businesses
and specific groups such as people with a disability and children and young people
were asked what they would like to see in a new vision for County Durham. A
summary is below.
Underlying Themes
Many commented that we all live in a large and diverse county with a very dispersed
settlement pattern which creates specific issues. A large proportion of the county,
particularly to the west of the A68 is rural and has some of the lowest population
densities in the country. It is important to people that rural communities remain
sustainable whilst maintaining those characteristics that make them distinctive. The
particular challenges of rural communities are referenced throughout this vision.
People felt that climate change was one of the most important issues facing society
today and thought that there was a lot that could be done locally to respond to this
threat. Climate change, the need to mitigate against its effects and a commitment to
a low carbon future for Durham is therefore a theme that underpins our whole vision
and runs right through this document.
Everyone is justifiably proud of our beautiful countryside and coast. A large part of
the county is of significant landscape value including the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (also a designated UNESCO Global Geopark) to the
Durham Heritage Coast. Some parts of our county support unique combinations of
plant and animal species. Many felt that we need to commit to protecting our natural
environment for future generations. These views have been incorporated into our
vision.
New technologies such as artificial intelligence and the use of datasets have the
potential to transform the global economy and business models across many
sectors, automating processes, achieving efficiencies, enhancing the customer
experience and driving better decision making. Durham is well placed to develop
new business opportunities in this area. Individual organisations need to look at
providing more effective products and services using these technologies whilst
having regard to the ethical issues that they pose.
Finally, the exit from the European Union was identified by many as being a
significant event which will affect the whole of the UK over the lifetime of this vision.
Durham benefits from EU funding which is used to develop infrastructure and
services, support economic and social cohesion, support businesses, agriculture and
the environment. The Government has proposed a UK Shared Prosperity Fund
which will replace farming subsidies and EU structural funding after Brexit. We will
lobby Westminster to ensure that Durham receives its fair share.

3
Page 20

Specific Issues
Particular issues that need to be addressed were identified following an analysis of
performance data and emerging policy and further refined following consultation with
residents and other interested groups. These are set out below:
People wanted to see a thriving economy in County Durham with more
and better jobs for everyone.
Residents were rightly proud of the history and heritage of the county and
its beautiful countryside. They felt that the county could be further
developed as a place for tourists and residents to visit, stay and come
back to.
There is a strong sense of community spirit in County Durham. People
wanted to build on this and ensure that people support each other within
their own communities.
Everyone wanted County Durham to continue to be a great place to grow
up. This involves making sure children are safe, healthy and have access
to good education so that they are well placed to access jobs
Local people have highlighted the importance of people helping
themselves and adopting healthy behaviours to keep themselves fitter for
longer. Residents were also concerned about mental health problems in
some communities.
Transport is a key issue across the county. It should support a thriving
economy and ensure that our towns and villages are vibrant and well used.
People wanted to see a range of good quality housing that meets our
future needs. The need for more affordable housing, including good quality
rented accommodation and more specialist housing to suit the
requirements of older and vulnerable people, was also highlighted.
There was a recognition amongst those consulted that the growth in online
shopping in recent years is leading to store closures in our high streets
and that this is a national problem. We need to think more innovatively
around mixed uses for our high streets and centres and other initiatives to
make them more vibrant and well used.
The symbols used here are reflected throughout this document and show how these
priorities are being addressed.

4
Page 21

Our Ambitions
More and better jobs
Our ambition is to continue with the economic renaissance of the
county. By 2035, our aim is for County Durham to enjoy a thriving
economy with more and better jobs, better employment
opportunities for all and reduced levels of poverty and deprivation.
We will build on our existing portfolio of businesses specialising in
leisure and tourism, green technologies, creative industries,
financial services, pharmaceuticals and advanced engineering and
technologies. We will support a low carbon economy, encouraging
the use of low carbon technologies and renewable energy sources.
County Durham has some of the most beautiful countryside and
coastal landscapes in Britain, a fascinating history, a wealth of
attractions and a regular events programme. Over the last 10 years,
great strides have been made to improve our tourist economy. Our
aim is to have Durham recognised nationally and internationally as
a leading centre for culture and the arts, with a range of
experiences that match and exceed the best offered by England’s
premier county destinations.
A number of our villages were developed around collieries and
homes were built to house the population boom at the peak of coal
production. Some of these communities have suffered a decline
following the demise of these industries. We want to work with
these communities to address the underlying causes of deprivation
and socio-economic inequality.

Six specific objectives will help us to achieve more and better jobs across the whole
county. These objectives have been developed following consultation with the public
and other interested parties.
1.1 We will deliver a range of accessible employment sites across the county

New and expanded employment sites across the county which are accessible to our
labour market will attract new employers, allow expansion of existing businesses and
respond to the changing needs of the business sector. These sites will be located in
areas of the county that offer good opportunities to attract investment, in line with the
County Durham Plan (the spatial plan for the county).

5
Page 22

1.2 We will have a strong, competitive economy and County Durham will be a
premier place in the North East to do business

Our aim is to bridge the gap between the economic performance of County Durham,
initially with that of other parts of the North East and following this, the rest of
England. This will be achieved by creating and sustaining employment and also
improving productivity and competitiveness of our businesses. We will build on the
growth in green technologies, creative industries, financial services, pharmaceuticals
and advanced engineering sectors over the last 10 years. We will continue to work in
partnership with the government to explore opportunities for more local control by
devolving housing, transport and planning powers and funding. We will continue with
the rollout of superfast broadband to stimulate growth in our economy and open up
new economic sectors. Our plans will support rural growth whilst preserving the
quality of what makes these areas distinctive.
1.3 We will broaden the experience for residents and visitors to the county

We will protect and enhance our core heritage and natural assets and biodiversity
and provide a programme of cultural and sporting events to promote the county. We
will improve the county’s online visibility and accessibility and support and enhance
visitor accommodation and our towns and villages. We will improve the quality of the
visitor post-arrival experience by developing green, visitor-friendly transport options
connecting the county’s main visitor attractions.
1.4 Young people will have access good quality education, training and
employment

We will strive to ensure that children and young people achieve the best possible
education and pay particular attention to improving the educational attainment of
vulnerable children and young people. We will reduce inequality in educational
outcomes across the county and support young people to gain the necessary
qualifications, skills and experience including digital competencies required in the
modern business world and to progress into sustained employment.
1.5 We will focus our efforts on helping all people into rewarding work

We will increase the number of apprenticeship opportunities across the county,
particularly within growth and labour intensive sectors. We will increase employment
of young people, older people and people with a disability or learning difficulties by
creating and building pathways to help them into education, training and
employment. We will work together to build skills in the labour market and ensure
that the expertise and experience required by local businesses are available within
the Durham workforce and that support is available to help people out of lower paid
employment into more financially rewarding jobs.
1.6 Fewer people will be affected by poverty and deprivation in the county

We will work to continue our economic renaissance in the county and help
regenerate areas suffering high levels of deprivation. We will work with communities
to help to tackle the impact of welfare reform and support individuals and families
affected by these changes. We will also develop programmes of work to build
stronger families and support workless households.

6
Page 23

People will have long and independent lives
Good health is central to people’s happiness and has a significant
impact on the economy.
Health is determined by several factors, many of which are not
based on an individual’s behaviour or choice but are a
consequence of where they live, their environment, access to a
good natural and built environment and high quality education and
jobs and a network of friends and family.
Both life expectancy and the number of years a person remains in
good health are lower in Durham than in other parts of the country.
The proportion of people with long-term limiting conditions in the
county is higher than national levels. This, together with an ageing
population all means that we have to try different things to change
all of our futures. An ageing society will create different demands
for technologies, products and services including new care
technologies and new housing models. We all have an obligation to
help our older people leads independent and fulfilling lives and
continue to contribute to society.
Seven specific objectives will help support people to have long and independent
lives. These objectives have been developed following consultation with the public
and other interested parties.
2.1 Children and young people will enjoy the best start in life, good health and
emotional wellbeing

Childhood is the springboard to a successful adulthood. It is the foundation on which
our lives are built. We will provide the best support to expectant mothers and parents
of new born babies and their children, as well as high quality nursery and primary
education. We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes for children and young
people and help children and their families achieve and maintain their optimum
mental health and wellbeing.
2.2 Children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities
will achieve the best possible outcomes

We will secure high quality support to families and children and young people with
special educational needs and disabilities and ensure that they are well prepared for
adult lives and can live independently.
2.3 We will create a physical environment that will contribute to good health

We will maximise the quality of our local environment and clean air with opportunities
to be physically active and achieve a healthy weight. We will reduce our carbon
emissions and mitigate against the impact of climate change on our residents and
communities. We will encourage transport choices that are the most sustainable by

7
Page 24

improving the attractiveness of these modes of transport including cycling and
walking for everyday journeys.
2.4 We will promote positive behaviours

We will create a smoke-free county for our residents. Our children to have a future
free from harm due to drug and alcohol misuse.
2.5 We will tackle the stigma and discrimination of poor mental health and
building resilient communities

County Durham will be a county where mental health is seen as equal to physical
health and where discrimination relating to poor mental health is challenged. We will
implement a programme called ‘Mental Health at Scale’ where we will tackle the
stigma and discrimination of mental health focusing on young people, the workplace
and the community to build more resilient communities and promote positive mental
health.
2.6 Better integration of health and social care services

Our residents will be able to live independently for longer with support from a more
integrated health and social care system. We will also make sure that health
underpins all public sector policies and plans and we will make better connections
between health, employment, housing, education and community safety.
2.7 People will be supported to live independently for as long as possible by
delivering more homes to meet the needs of older and disabled people

The number and proportion of older and disabled people is forecast to increase in
the future. We will develop housing and care options specifically to meet the needs
of the older and disabled people within our communities. This will include
adaptations to the homes of older people and providing assistive technologies to
help with activities of daily living and allow people to live independently for longer. It
will also mean building more appropriate types of housing and developing
communities to suit the needs of an older population. Where residential or nursing
care is required, we will ensure that it is safe.

8
Page 25

Connected communities
Our residents are rightly proud of their heritage and values. We
want to have a caring and welcoming county where everyone is
valued, where we can help each other and we support our
vulnerable people. We want communities that give everyone the
opportunity to realise their potential. We also recognise that
communities are not just geographical. Social networks can be an
important part of people’s lives and be a force for good, reducing
social isolation, providing a sense of belonging and playing a big
role in building communities and catalysing neighbourhood
cooperation and social action.
A range and choice of housing which is accessible, well designed
and meets our future needs is key to the sustainability of our
communities. This should include an appropriate level of affordable
housing, a good standard of rented property and an increased
range of new housing options. Our housing will be energy efficient
for increased comfort and reduced running costs.
Many high streets across the country are facing a range of
challenges including the growth of online retail and changes in
consumer behaviour. High streets and town centres retain an
important place in our society, but they need to adapt to ensure
that they remain vibrant, safe and attractive social hubs that people
want to use.
People also expect local travel to be convenient, with good quality
direct links between centres of population, to employment
locations such as business parks and leisure opportunities. If we
are to enjoy connected communities then they must be connected
by an appropriate transport infrastructure.
Seven specific objectives have been developed to improve our communities in
County Durham.
3.1 All children and young people will have a safe childhood

We will protect and support children and young people in need and make sure that
they are safe. Social work practice and other support services to vulnerable children
will be improved. We will provide excellent care for looked after children and care
leavers and provide support to young offenders and young victims of crime.

9
Page 26

3.2 Victims of crime will have access to the right level of support, with
services available to address their needs

Victims of crime are often vulnerable people. Being a victim of a crime can also
make you more vulnerable. All victims will be offered support to cope and recover
from their ordeal at all stages and to engage in the justice system.
3.3 Standards will be maintained or improved across County Durham’s
housing stock

We will work with communities most affected by long-term empty properties,
including owners and landlords to bring these homes back into use. An approach to
selective licensing of private landlords will be developed to provide further powers to
intervene where landlords are operating poor management practices and tenants are
living in unsatisfactory conditions.
3.4 Our towns and villages will be vibrant, well used, clean, attractive and safe

We will work together and take appropriate action to ensure that our town and village
centres are well used and digitally connected for a range of purposes including retail,
commercial, leisure, residential, cultural and service uses. Our towns and villages
will be an attractive proposition to visit and in which to spend time. All generations
will feel that they enjoy visiting them and will feel safe. Residents will be proud of the
towns and villages that they live in and improvements will lead to a better quality of
life.
3.5 People will have good access to workplaces, services, retail and leisure
opportunities

We want a transport system that supports a thriving economy. People need access
to employment in the region, places where they shop and key services such as
education, hospitals and leisure opportunities. Our transport network should be
reliable, with buses and trains running on time and traffic congestion at a minimum.
Large volumes of standing traffic in Durham City make it less attractive to visitors
and residents and impact on air quality and health. We will consider further traffic
interventions to boost our economy and to reduce congestion. People also require
broadband access to the digital workplace from their homes, whether as employees
or as owners.
3.6 Communities will come together to accept and support each other

We will work together to tackle crime and anti-social behaviour adversely affecting
our communities and to address the underlying causes of crime and community
tensions. We will actively take steps to encourage community cohesion and mark
specific events which encourage greater understanding of each other to promote
good relationships. We want to work with communities to solve problems together
and develop local solutions that will work. We will provide a range of activities and
opportunities to divert people away from crime and antisocial behaviour.
Communities will be facilitated to come together digitally to allow them to grow and
thrive.

10
Page 27

3.7 We will deliver new high-quality housing which is accessible and meets
the needs and aspirations of our residents
Our county needs to have housing with a range of house types and tenures which
are in the right place and that meet the needs of all of our residents. It is important
that new homes are built to ambitious standards in terms of energy efficiency, carbon
footprint and wider environmental impacts such as sustainable drainage and
ecological value. The design of new development in rural areas will be sympathetic
to the natural, built and historic environment and reflect local distinctiveness. More
affordable and low carbon homes will be delivered through a combination of housing
for sale or rent, including housing that provides a subsidised route into home
ownership. This issue is particularly acute in some of our rural areas. We expect all
homes to be connected digitally and for speed and capacity to keep pace with
developments in technology.

11
Page 28

Delivery and next steps
This vision document will replace the current Sustainable Community Strategy for
County Durham and will commence in 2019. A high-level action plan detailing the
major changes that we want to make will be developed, together with a set of key
performance indicators which will be used by the County Durham Partnership to
monitor progress and measure success in achieving our vision.
We will deliver this vision together with our communities. We will operate to the
following principles of working in order to improve the wellbeing of our residents:







Solutions will be designed and produced together with service users.
We will work with communities and support their development and
empowerment.
We will acknowledge the differing needs of our communities whilst
acknowledging and building on their potential strengths.
We will direct our activities where they can make the biggest difference to
those who are most vulnerable and help to build resilience.
We will make person centred interventions available, ensuring that they are
empowering and not stigmatising.
We will align our related strategies, policies and services to reduce duplication
and ensure greater impact.

This vision will be delivered through an integrated framework of partnership and
organisational plans and strategies across County Durham Partnership.
Vision for County Durham
Partnership Plans
Safe
Durham
Partnership
Plan

Joint Health
and
Wellbeing
Strategy

Children and
Young People’s
Strategy

Regeneration
Statement

Climate
Emergency
Plan

Organisation Plans
PCVC
Police,
Crime and
Victims
Plan

DDFRS
Integrated
Risk
Management
Plan

NHS Clinical
Commissioning
Groups Strategic
Plans

Durham
Constabulary
Plan on a
Page

DCC
Council Plan

The implementation of the vision will be monitored by the County Durham
Partnership quarterly through actions contained within the above strategies and a set
of performance indicators developed to measure the success of achieving the
ambitions and objectives set out in the vision.
12
Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard.

Section One: Description and Screening
Service/Team or Section

T&P Strategy

Lead Officer

Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and Strategy Manager

Title

County Vision - Durham 2035

MTFP Reference (if
relevant)

N/A

Cabinet Date (if relevant)

11th September 2019

Start Date

December 2018, Updated August 2019

Review Date

September 2020

Subject of the Impact Assessment
Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link):
December 2018
We are reviewing our vison for the county in collaboration with partners in order to
set a new Durham 2030 vision. We want to produce a short partnership vision
statement alongside our key ambitions founded on a strong evidence base rather
than a huge ‘plan’ document, making it relevant and accessible.
Our visioning approach is in three stages:
1. Collation of baseline data and key insights across partners to produce an
emerging findings document.
2. Early stage public consultation on proposed ambitions based on key
themes which we feel reflect our emerging findings on the particular needs
and opportunities of County Durham.
3. Public consultation on a draft vision to ensure we have captured what is
important to everyone.
The County Durham Partnership is made up as follows:
• Durham County Council
1
EIA Template October 2015

Page 31

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service
Durham Constabulary
North East Chamber of Commerce
Durham University
Voluntary and Community sector
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups
Public Health
Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner
Housing Organisations

Our emerging findings show that people want Durham to retain and build upon the
features that make the county unique. They also want to see that agencies have
an effective plan to address the challenges, priorities and issues identified.
The following proposed ambitions were developed for the early stage public
consultation (January 2019) in response to highlighted issues and a review of
available data:
• A thriving economy that creates financially secure jobs
• County Durham is a place to visit, stay and come back to
• A range of good quality housing is available to meet the future needs of the
county
• Vibrant town and village centres
• County Durham is a great place for children and young people to grow up
• People are supported to enjoy healthier and happier lives
• Fair and supportive communities where everybody matters
Update June 2019
After listening to residents, communities, businesses and special interest groups
the proposed vision for County Durham 2035 is as follows:
‘County Durham is a place where there are more and better jobs, people live
long and independent lives and our communities are well connected and
supportive.’
A further round of consultation on the above vision statement and underpinning
ambitions took place from 12 June to 31 July 2019
(http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision)
Consultation feedback will be used to develop the final vision document which we
will take to the County Durham partnership and wider partnerships for approval
and adoption. Feedback has also be used to update section two of this equality
impact assessment.
Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific
clients/service users):

2
EIA Template October 2015

Page 32

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
General public – residents and visitors to the county, County Durham Partnership
(as listed in the subject section of this assessment), DCC staff and staff and
volunteers of the County Durham Partnership, elected members, all service users
Screening
Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following
protected characteristics?
Protected Characteristic

Negative Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Positive Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Age

N

Y

Disability

N

Y

Marriage and civil partnership
(workplace only)
Pregnancy and maternity

N

N

N

Y

Race (ethnicity)

N

Y

Religion or Belief

N

Y

Sex (gender)

N

Y

Sexual orientation

N

Y

Transgender

N

Y

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment.
The emerging vision does not aim to cause disadvantage for any particular group
although there will be different impacts across the protected groups. For example,
differing age groups will be impacted in different ways depending on their life stage
and their need for tailored services.

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to:
• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,
• advance equality of opportunity, and
• foster good relations between people from different groups?
3
EIA Template October 2015

Page 33

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
The proposed vision and under-pinning ambitions will promote our commitment to
the public sector equality duty as they aim to provide positive outcomes across all
protected groups and to foster good relations.
Partnership working will ensure that the vision represents the breadth of
stakeholder opinion. Consultation strategies are in place to gain the views of
people not generally engaged with the council to ensure the proposed vision is as
inclusive and representative as possible.

Evidence
What evidence do you have to support your findings?
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment.
Consultation
Initial public consultation on the emerging findings and proposed ambitions took
place for six weeks closing on 21.01.19:
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19635/Durham-2030-our-vision-for-the-future on
A final round of public consultation took place from 12 June to 31 July 2019 to
establish views on the proposed vision statement and underpinning ambitions. All
feedback will be used to develop the final document which we will take to the
County Durham partnership and wider partnerships for approval:
http://www.durham.gov.uk/vision
High-level consultation feedback, disaggregated by protected characteristic where
possible, has been used to inform section two of this equality analysis.
Summary of baseline evidence contained in emerging findings document:
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/26553/Durham-2030-a-vision-for-ourfuture/pdf/Durham2030-AVisionForOurFuture.pdf?m=636869576968000000
National issues
- Ageing population, 25% of population will be over the age of 65 years by
2039 leading to greater demand on adult social care services, housing and
leisure
- Increased life expectancy leading to an increase in the number of years
adults may live with poor health.
- Potential further reductions in government funding for councils, police and
fire.
- Uncertainty of the impact of UK’s exit from the EU.
- Environment and climate change issues and impact.
- National trend in increasing demand for children’s social care services.
Durham’s strengths
- Natural beauty and heritage of the county
4
EIA Template October 2015

Page 34

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
-

Sense of pride and friendliness of residents
Durham constabulary ranked as best police force in England and Wales
Children and young people report high levels of feeling safe and happy
Good standard of early years and primary education
Low levels of pollution compare with rest of the country
Low house prices
Good coordination of health (NHS) and social care (DCC)
Effective engagement with communities by DCC
Durham city recognised as a driver of economic resurgence with the
university and county wide tourism as key to this
Good north-south transport links

Challenges for the County
- Economic development and regeneration are key. Whilst employment levels
are improving, we lag behind regional and national levels. Household
income lags behind the rest of country indicating too many low wage jobs.
- Decline of high streets in line with national trend.
- Need for range of good quality housing and better management of private
rented sector.
- Percentage of secondary schools ranked by Ofsted as good or outstanding
is low in the county.
- Participation of young people is higher education is low.
- Ofsted has highlighted we are lagging behind nationally expected standards
for children’s social care.
- Health issues rank poorly such as long-term conditions and obesity levels.
- High levels of poverty and deprivation.
- Perceived decline in community spirit
- Dispersed and decentralised settlement pattern within the County.
- Concerns about austerity and outcome of government’s fair funding review.

Screening Summary
On the basis of this screening is there:
Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment?
No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the
protected characteristics?

Confirm which
refers (Y/N)
Y
N

Sign Off
Lead officer sign off:
Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and strategy manager

Date: December 2018
Updated August 2019

Service equality representative sign off:
Mary Gallagher, E&D Team Leader

Date: December 2018
Updated August 2019
5

EIA Template October 2015

Page 35

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact
Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics
relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a
differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups,
advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of
particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your
conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary.
Protected Characteristic: Age
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?
The vision aims to have a
positive impact for all
protected characteristics
including varying age
groups.
Certain groups have been
targeted for consultation to
achieve a diversity of
opinion.
In terms of age we targeted
staff and a series of focus
groups with people of
working age (who do not
normally engage with us)
which helped to ensure we
received views from a broad
age range. We also targeted
youth groups and
stakeholders with a view in
terms of children and young
people including youth
partnerships, student
councils, Teesdale YMCA
and the children’s
safeguarding board.
We were not always able to
determine responses from
specific equality groups
where equality monitoring
information has not been
provided.

Record of evidence to support
or explain your conclusions
on impact.
Baseline population data
- Between 2001 and 2011 the
population of County Durham
increased from 493,678 to
513,242, an increase of 4.0%
which is higher than the 2.2%
rise seen in the region but
lower than the 7.1% seen
across England & Wales.
-The 2016 mid-year
population estimate for County
Durham shows a population of
521,800 an increase of 4,027
people since mid-2014 and a
5.9% increase since 2001.
County Durham has
experienced a higher rate of
growth than the north east
region (3.3% over the period
2001-2015), but a
considerably lower rate of
growth when compared to
England as a whole (10.8%
from 2001-2015).
-2014 based population
projections for County Durham
indicate that from 2016 to
2035 the county’s population
aged 65 or over will increase
from 105,200 to 146,300 (a
39% increase) and those aged
75 and over will increase from
45,00 to 75,700 (a 65.6%
increase). This age group is
projected to increase more
6

EIA Template October 2015

Page 36

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
Feedback themes relevant
to age are recorded in the
evidence section of this
impact assessment (to the
right).
Overall analysis shows no
significant differences in the
views of target groups
compared with the general
consultation feedback.
Vision priorities demonstrate
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition
of particular relevance)
when mapped against age:
More and better jobs
We will:
(1.4) Facilitate young people
to achieve their full potential
by having good access to
quality education and
training
(1.5) Help create more and
better jobs
People live long and
independent lives
We will:
(2.1) Ensure children and
young people will have the
best start in life and enjoy
good health and emotional
wellbeing
(2.6) Better integrate health
and social care.
(2.7) Assist people to live
independently for longer by
delivering more homes to
meet the needs of older ad
disabled residents.
Connected Communities
We will:
(3.1) Ensure children have a
safe childhood
(3.3) Improve housing stock
(3.6) Communities will come
together to support one
another

than any other age group in
the county.
-County Durham has an out of
work benefit claimant count, of
young people aged 18-24, of
5.9% this is compared to 5.5%
of the same age group in the
North East and 3.2% of the
same age group in the UK.
(Source: Durham Insight)
-Participation of young people
is higher education is low.
London has the highest
participation rate at 63%
(2016/17), whereas the North
East and Yorkshire and
Humber are the lowest at
40%.
(Source: DfE)
Stage one and two
consultation analysis
Respondents told us:
-Good jobs and employment
opportunities are vital (for a
broad age range and disabled
people).
-Infrastructure improvements
(e.g. transport) needed to
facilitate economic and visitor
opportunities.
-Children and young people
identified poor mental health
as an emerging issue. Also
issues in relation to public
transport such as safety.
-Need for more affordable
housing.
Stage three (final)
consultation analysis
Respondents told us:
-We need to look at access to
jobs from across various parts
of the county (in particular the
west). We agree, and propose
transport plans will be
required as part of planning
7

EIA Template October 2015

Page 37

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
(3.7) Deliver a range of high
quality/affordable housing
that are accessible and meet
the aspirations of residents

approval of new employment
developments.
-To address skills shortages
and upskill local people into
better paid jobs. We agree to
emphasise this as part of
ambition 1.5.

Protected Characteristic: Disability
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence
stakeholders?
and consultation
The vision aims to have a
Baseline population data
positive impact for all
County Durham has a higher
protected characteristics
percentage of permanently
including disability.
sick and disabled people than
the North East average,
Certain groups have been
representing nearly a quarter
targeted for consultation to
(23.6%) of the overall
achieve a diversity of
population (Census 2011).
opinion.
Increased life expectancy is
In terms of disability we
leading to an increase in the
targeted groups such as
number of years adults may
disability partnership and
live with poor health.
localised disability groups.
(Source: Durham Insight)
We held specific
consultation sessions with
Stage one and two
people who have a leaning
consultation analysis
disability at the Pioneering
Respondents told us:
Care Centre. Reasonable
- Good jobs and employment
adjustments were made
opportunities are vital (for a
where required.
broad age range and disabled
people)
We were not always able to -There is an increased need
determine responses from
for specialist accommodation
specific equality groups
to suit the needs of disabled
where equality monitoring
residents.
information has not been
-Important that people adopt
provided.
healthy lifestyles to keep fitter
for longer.
Feedback themes relevant
-Poor mental is an emerging
to disability are recorded in
issue.
the evidence section of this
impact assessment (to the
Stage three (final)
right).
consultation analysis
Respondents told us:
8
EIA Template October 2015

Page 38

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
Overall analysis shows no
significant differences in the
views of target groups
compared with the general
consultation feedback.

-There is a large proportion of
people in the county with
long-term health conditions.
-Health inequalities exist
between the most and least
deprived areas of our county.
Vision priorities demonstrate Whilst these issues are
positive impact, (for the
addressed within the vision
following numbered ambition document we agree they
of particular relevance)
could be further emphasised
when mapped against
by specifically referencing
disability:
inequality and the need to
More and better jobs
narrow gaps as an
We will:
overarching theme of the
(1.5) Help to create more
vision.
and better jobs.
-Carbon neutrality should be
People live long and
referenced across the vision.
independent lives
We feel this has been
We will:
adequately referenced
(2.2) Work with families to
including a specific ambition
address SEND need to
(2.3) on creating a physical
achieve positive outcomes
environment that contributes
(2.3) Create a physical
to good health which covers
environment that will
carbon emissions and
contribute to good health
mitigating the impact of
(2.4) Promote positive
climate change.
healthy behaviours
(2.5) Tackle stigma around
poor mental health and build
resilient communities
(2.6) Better integration of
health and social care
services
(2.7) Assist people to live
independently for longer by
delivering more homes to
meet the needs of older ad
disabled residents.
Connected Communities
We will:
(3.2) Victims of crime will
have access to the right
level of support, with
services available to
address their needs
(3.5) People will have good
access to workplaces,
services, retail and leisure
opportunities
9
EIA Template October 2015

Page 39

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
(3.7) Deliver a range of high
quality/affordable housing
that are accessible and meet
the aspirations of residents
Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership (workplace only)
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence or mitigation is
stakeholders?
and consultation
required?
The vision aims to have a
Proposed vision to
positive impact for all
reflect consultation
protected characteristics.
feedback and
evidence base

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence
stakeholders?
and consultation
The vision aims to have a
positive impact for all
protected characteristics
including pregnant women
and new mothers.
Overall analysis shows no
significant differences in the
views of target groups
compared with the general
consultation feedback.
Vision priorities demonstrate
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition
of particular relevance)
when mapped against
pregnancy and maternity:
People live long and
independent lives
We will:
(2.4) We will promote health
behaviours including helping
people to stop smoking
Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity)

10
EIA Template October 2015

Page 40

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?
The vision aims to have a
positive impact for all
protected characteristics
including race and ethnicity.
Feedback themes relevant
to race are recorded in the
evidence section of this
impact assessment (to the
right).
Overall analysis shows no
significant differences in the
views of target groups
compared with the general
consultation feedback.
Vision priorities demonstrate
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition
of particular relevance)
when mapped against race:
Connected Communities
We will:
(3.2) Victims of crime will
have easy access to the
services and support they
require
(3.6) Ensure our
communities remain
welcoming, accept one
another and build new
relationships to support one
another

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation
Baseline population data
In County Durham BAME
communities are a relatively
small number of the
population. According to the
2011 Census, 98.1% of
Durham’s population is white
British. 1.9% is ‘other ethnic
group’, the largest
component of this being
mixed race and Asian. We
also have a significant
population of Gypsies and
Travellers who are either
migrant or settled in the
County.
(Source: Durham Insight)

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

Stage three (final)
consultation analysis
Respondents told us:
-We need to value diversity.
We agree and our vision
references accepting and
supporting one another (3.6).
Socio economic, educational
and health inequalities are
also referenced within the
vision which links to valuing
diversity.

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence
stakeholders?
and consultation
The vision aims to have a
Baseline population data
In County Durham 72%
positive impact for all
state their religion as
protected characteristics
Christian; around 0.19% as
including religion or belief
Buddhist; 0.12% Hindu;

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

11
EIA Template October 2015

Page 41

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
which includes people of no
belief.
Certain groups have been
targeted for consultation to
achieve a diversity of
opinion.

0.37% Muslim, 0.12% Sikh,
0.04% Jewish and 26.8
percent as having either no
religion or not stating their
religion (Census 2011).

In terms of religion or belief
we targeted groups such as
the Durham Faith Network
and held a breakfast
seminar at County Hall for
this group.
We were not always able to
determine responses from
specific equality groups
where equality monitoring
information has not been
provided.
Overall analysis shows no
significant differences in the
views of target groups
compared with the general
consultation feedback.
Vision priorities demonstrate
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition
of particular relevance)
when mapped against
religion or belief:
Connected Communities
We will:
(3.2) Victims of crime will
have easy access to the
services and support they
require
(3.6) Ensure our
communities remain
welcoming, accept one
another and build new
relationships to support one
another

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender)
12
EIA Template October 2015

Page 42

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?
The vision aims to have a
positive impact for all
protected characteristics
including impacts for men
and women.

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation
Baseline population data
The balance of males and
females within the County is
fairly evenly split and there
are
251,280 (49%) males and
Vision priorities demonstrate 261,962 (51%) females
living in County Durham
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition (Census 2011). Looking at
older age groups (aged
of particular relevance)
70+) there is a higher
when mapped against sex:
proportion of women which
Connected Communities
accounts for the 49/51
We will:
split.
(3.7) Deliver new highquality housing in a range of
house types and tenures
including affordable homes
that are accessible and
meet the needs and
aspirations of our residents
(3.5) People will have good
access to workplaces,
services, retail and leisure
opportunities

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence
stakeholders?
and consultation
The vision aims to have a
Baseline population data
No accurate data is available
positive impact for all
about the number of lesbian,
protected characteristics
including sexual orientation. gay and bisexual (LGB+)
people living in County
Vision priorities demonstrate Durham. However,
Government and Stonewall
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition estimates state that between
5 and 7 % of the population
of particular relevance)
is lesbian, gay or bisexual
when mapped against
(LGB). This would amount to
sexual orientation:
between 25,000 and 35,000
Connected Communities
people in County Durham.
We will:
(3.2) Victims of crime will
have easy access to the

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

13
EIA Template October 2015

Page 43

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
services and support they
require
(3.6) Ensure our
communities remain
welcoming, accept one
another and build new
relationships to support one
another

Protected Characteristic: Transgender
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
potential impact on
considering relevant evidence
stakeholders?
and consultation
The vision aims to have a
Baseline population data
We have no accurate data
positive impact for all
on transgender populations.
protected characteristics
including transgender.

What further action
or mitigation is
required?
Proposed vision to
reflect consultation
feedback and
evidence base

Vision priorities demonstrate
positive impact, (for the
following numbered ambition
of particular relevance)
when mapped against
transgender:
Connected Communities
We will:
(3.2) Victims of crime will
have easy access to the
services and support they
require
(3.6) Ensure our
communities remain
welcoming, accept one
another and build new
relationships to support one
another

Section Three: Conclusion and Review
Summary
Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics.
Partnership working has ensured that the vision represents the breadth of
stakeholder opinion. Consultation strategies captured the views of people not
14
EIA Template October 2015

Page 44

Appendix 3: Vision: Equality Impact Assessment
generally engaged with the council to ensure the proposed vision is as inclusive
and representative as possible.
The proposed vision will promote our commitment to the public sector equality duty
as it aims to provide positive outcomes across all protected groups which will
advance equality of opportunity and contribute towards fostering good relations.
This impact assessment has drawn out areas of the vision particularly relevant to
specific protected characteristics. In particular, it is evident there are benefits
across all age ranges and in terms of health and disability which is reflective of the
emerging findings document.

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how?
Yes, the vison aims to promote positive relations between geographical
communities and communities of interest.

Action Plan
Action

Responsibility

Timescales for In which plan will
implementation the action appear?

Proposed vision to reflect
consultation feedback and
evidence base.
Vision to receive approval
and adoption by County
Durham partnership and
wider partnerships.

Review
Are there any additional assessments that need to be
undertaken? (Y/N)
When will this assessment be reviewed?
Please also insert this date at the front of the template

N

Sign Off
Lead officer sign off:
Tom Gorman, Scrutiny and strategy manager
Service equality representative sign off:
Mary Gallagher, E&D Team Leader

Date:
5 August 2019
Date:
5 August 2019

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward
a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk
15
EIA Template October 2015

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Welfare Reform and Poverty Issues
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Angela Surtees, Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To update Cabinet on:
(a)

the implications of the government’s welfare reform programme
and the impacts on the county;

(b)

progress with the council and partners’ efforts to address and
alleviate poverty; and

(c)

the development of the poverty action strategy and plan.

Executive summary
2

Welfare reform has been a priority for successive governments since
2010. The main changes initially introduced under the Welfare Reform
Act 2012 included:
(a)

the introduction of Universal Credit (UC);

(b)

the abolition of Council Tax Benefit (CTB) replaced with Local
Council Tax Support;

(c)

changes to Housing Benefit, including the application of a size
criterion in social-sector houses (the so-called ‘spare room
subsidy’ or ‘bedroom tax’);

(d)

the abolition of the Social Fund;

Page 47

3

Page 48

(e)

replacing Disability Living Allowance (DLA) with Personal
Independence Payments (PIP);

(f)

the introduction of a cap on the total benefits to which an
individual or couple is entitled from out of work benefits;

(g)

a four-year freeze on most working-age benefits and tax credits;

(h)

limiting the amount of time that people can receive contributionbased Employment Support Allowance (ESA);

(i)

the abolition of the ‘Youth’ provision, which enabled disabled
young people to qualify for the benefit without paying National
Insurance contributions;

(j)

limiting the amount of the child element of UC paid for third or
subsequent children.

Since the last update to Cabinet, the main policy developments include:
(a)

a delay to the planned "managed migration" process for UC,
which will now start next year rather than this;

(b)

the introduction of a range of measures to offer more support to
UC claimants including a revised approach to advances and
delays in payment;

(c)

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) funding for Citizens
Advice to provide a new ‘Help to Claim’ service to support
vulnerable claimants up until their first full UC payment coinciding
with the withdrawal of funding to local authorities for previous
support arrangements;

(d)

reversal of the decision to bar 18- to 21-year-olds from receiving
housing benefit;

(e)

a move to join-up the assessment processes for PIP, Employment
and Support Allowance (ESA) and UC;

(f)

a lighter touch review programmes for people receiving Personal
Independence Payments (PIP) who have reached State Pension
age;

(g)

the inclusion of questions on food buying and eating habits in the
annual Family Resources Survey;

(h)

the removal of free TV licences for the over 75 year olds;

(i)

access to free sanitary products for all girls attending secondary
schools from this year, and primary schools from next;

(j)

a new and revised remit for the Low Pay Commission, with a
report and recommendations on tackling low pay anticipated this
autumn.

4

The government’s welfare changes are affecting people in the county
however it is difficult to distinguish between changes resulting from
welfare reforms and the continuing impact of wider economic trends
associated with recession and recovery and Brexit, all of which affect
the underlying issues of poverty and wealth.

5

Previous reports on welfare reform highlighted the lack of a cumulative
impact assessment of the various components of welfare reform at
national level and drew from a number of sources to understand the
potential impact in the county. This remains the case however, the
government has announced that new analysis for poverty based on the
work by the Social Metrics Commission will be developed. These
experimental statistics will be available in the second half of 2020.

6

Since 2010, the council has been monitoring the impact of welfare
reform and benefit changes on the residents in the county. Compared
with our initial estimate, the overall number of households affected by
the transition to Universal Credit has reduced over the last seven years,
in part due to increases in employment but also due to delays and
changes to the rollout of the welfare reform changes introduced by the
government.

7

In 2012, we estimated that 109,500 households would be affected by
UC; we now estimate that this will be 85,400 households, with the
proviso that 63,200 households are still to migrate to UC due to the
delay in the rollout programme. There will therefore be an even more
significant impact on the numbers of working age families affected,
when the 63,200 households migrate across to the new benefit.

8

The county experiences higher rates of poverty amongst children and
working age people than national averages. The one exception is
poverty amongst older people which is around the same level as the
country as a whole, in part due to the protection the government has
given to pensioners through its welfare changes.

9

The council plans and coordinates its work with partners to mitigate
poverty. The council has an overarching Poverty Action Steering Group
to oversee and co-ordinate its approach and has developed a
comprehensive network of statutory, voluntary and community
organisations who work together to provide advice services across the
county through the Advice in County Durham Partnership.
Page 49

Considerable progress has been made implementing the existing
poverty action plan, as outlined in appendix 2.
10

The steering group has developed a new poverty action strategy, the
vision for which is to “improve the standard of living and daily lives of
those residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing
poverty; and to help alleviate issues that can lead households on low
incomes to experience poverty”.

11

To achieve the best possible outcomes for residents experiencing
poverty, the strategic aims of the strategy are:
(a)

to improve our understanding of the types of poverty and its
impacts on County Durham residents;

(b)

to increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
for residents;

(c)

that residents receive the best support and advice available
concerning their financial situation; and

(d)

that children, young people and families have the resources to
meet their basic needs including accessing opportunities to take
part in society.

12

To realise the strategy, the poverty action plan has been reviewed and
revised in order to improve and develop service provision and
assistance to people in need. The revised action plan is attached as
appendix 3.

13

Financial pressures on lower-income households have increased
considerably in recent years. A combination of depressed real wage
growth, the government’s programme of welfare reforms, and longer
term challenges in the labour market are creating serious financial
problems.

14

The economic uncertainty caused by Brexit and anticipated impacts on
employment and prices, together with the impending migration of
significant numbers of households onto UC, means that hard-pressed
individuals and communities in the county are likely to be particularly
vulnerable while the country adjusts to life outside of the European
Union.

15

The council will therefore continue to work closely with partners to
anticipate and manage impacts and support individuals and
communities vulnerable to poverty in the county.

Page 50

Recommendation(s)
16

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the progress being made by the council and its partners in
addressing welfare reform and the wider poverty issues in the
county;

(b)

agree the draft updated Poverty Action Strategy and Poverty
Action Plan included in the report.

Page 51

Background
17

On 13 September 2017, Cabinet considered the most recent report on
the implications for the government’s welfare reform programme and
the progress being made by the council and its partners in addressing
welfare reform and the wider poverty issues in the county.

18

This report provides an aide-memoire on the raft of changes introduced
by government to reduce spending on welfare and an update on recent
policy announcements and changes. It focuses in particular on the most
recent welfare, economic and poverty indicators for the county and the
council’s response to date including the review of the council’s Poverty
Action Plan, and a revised approach to addressing poverty in County
Durham building on the achievements and learning to date.

19

The financial pressures on lower-income households have increased
considerably in recent years. A combination of depressed real wage
growth, the government’s programme of welfare reforms, and longer
term challenges in the labour market is creating serious financial
problems.

20

The government’s flagship Universal Credit (UC) was supposed to be
up and running by April 2017, but is now not expected to be fully
operational until December 2023, however full plans for the next stage
of UC rollout, including managed migration (transferring those residents
still claiming legacy benefits to UC) have yet to announced by the
government, and the full impacts are yet to be seen by our residents.

21

In November 2017, the Local Government Association commissioned
the Learning and Work Institute and Policy in Practice to review the
cumulative impact of welfare reform on people, communities and
services. It concluded that “the average working-age household will be
on average £40.52 per week worse off by 2020 as a result of welfare
reform, while a total of 2.14 million working-age households, more than
half of which are in work will be facing losses of over £50 per week”.
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The-cumulativeimpacts-of-welfare-reform-a-national-picture_full-report.pdf

22

However, the resources available to councils to help address the
financial problems of low-income residents are now severely
constrained. Local councils face a £5.8 billion funding gap in the next
two years (https://www.local.gov.uk/local-government-financesettlement-2018).

23

On 10 July 2019, Cabinet considered an update report on its Medium
Term Financial Planning forecasts. In that report it was highlighted that
local government continues to operate in a period of significant financial
uncertainty brought about by a combination of on-going austerity,

Page 52

significant budget pressures in social care and special educational
needs and disability services and other unfunded pressures arising from
demographic and pay and price inflation.
24

The financial outlook for the council is forecast to continue to be
extremely challenging for the foreseeable future.

25

There continues to be significant uncertainty in terms the financial
settlements for local government in the future and how available funding
will be shared between local authorities. The government was expected
to publish a Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in summer 2019
covering a three year period however this has been delayed and we will
only receive a one year settlement for 2020/21.

26

The delay in the CSR is driven by lack of clarity on the outcome of
Brexit and the views of the new prime minister. It was also expected
that the outcome of the Fair Funding Review (FFR) including the move
to 75 percent Business Rate Retention would be published during 2019.
In line with the delay in the CSR the outcome of the FFR will not now be
published until 2020.

27

The lack of clarity in relation to the CSR and FFR, are exacerbated by
uncertainties in relation to future council tax referendum levels, the
Improved Better Care Fund, delays in the publication of the Social Care
Green Paper, short term funding provided to local authorities in 2019/20
for adult and children social care pressures and funding for the High
Needs Dedicated Schools Grant. This level of uncertainty is making
financial planning extremely difficult and requires the council to be
flexible and adaptable in its financial planning.

28

The strong financial position of the council will ensure that the council is
well placed to react effectively to any outcome, however planning with
this level of uncertainty is not conducive to effective long term decision
making.

29

Our financial planning at this stage assumes that the council will lose a
further £10 million of government funding over a five year transition
period as a result of the FFR implementation in 2021/22. This position
primarily reflects ongoing concerns regarding the expected utilisation of
the Advisory Council for Resource Allocation (ACRA) methodology for
apportioning Public Health Grant which would result in a loss of £18
million of funding. It has been assumed, that the £4.8 million of one off
funding received in 2019/20 for Adult and Children’s social care
pressures will continue on a recurrent basis.

30

The MTFP forecasts reported to Cabinet in July showed savings of
£34.2 million were required to balance the budget over the 2020/21 to
2023/24 period. Despite the funding constraints that we face, we
Page 53

remain committed to providing help and support for residents in financial
difficulty as part of our vision for County Durham. It is important that the
council and its partners continue to respond through the comprehensive
approach we now have to welfare reform and poverty issues, overseen
by the council’s Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG).

Changes to welfare
31

Since 2010, welfare reform has been a major theme of government
policy and a raft of changes to reduce government spending on welfare
have been introduced. The changes, which are intended to encourage
people to support themselves through work rather than welfare, have
seen people affected by reductions in benefit entitlements as well as the
amount of benefit people may receive. People of pension age continue
to be protected from many of the wider reform changes.

32

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 consolidated a raft of changes intended
to reduce government spending on welfare by £18 billion by 2015 (and
summer budget statement in July 2015 committed to reduce welfare
spending by a further £12 billion by 2018) by encouraging people to
support themselves through work rather than welfare.

33

The main changes already introduced include:

Page 54

(a)

the introduction of Universal Credit (UC), a single benefit to be
paid on a monthly basis, to replace Income Support, incomebased Job Seeker’s Allowance (JSA), income-related
Employment and Support Allowance, Housing Benefit, Child Tax
Credit, and Working Tax Credit. The effective date for the
introduction of Universal Credit in Durham for new claimants was
21 September 2015;

(b)

the abolition of Council Tax Benefit (CTB) which was
administered by local authorities on behalf of the Department for
Work and Pensions (DWP). The Act replaced centralised support
for CTB with local Council Tax support with effect from 1 April
2013, with funding from un-ringfenced grants paid directly to local
authorities. Government funding was reduced by 10 percent
before being devolved to local authorities to implement locally;

(c)

changes to Housing Benefit, including the application of a size
criterion in social-sector houses, with any working-age household
deemed to be under-occupying their home having part of their
Housing Benefit removed (the so-called ‘spare room subsidy’ or
‘bedroom tax’) and abolishing automatic entitlement for housing
benefit for 18-21 year olds (this was reversed in 2018);

(d)

the abolition of the Social Fund with effect from 31 March 2013,
which used to fund ‘last resort’ benefits such as crisis loans, and
its replacement with a ‘one off’ non-ring fenced welfare assistance
grant paid to local authorities to fund local schemes;

(e)

replacing Disability Living Allowance (DLA) for all working-age
claimants with a new Personal Independence Payment (PIP);

(f)

the introduction of a cap on the total benefits to which an
individual or couple is entitled from out of work benefits. The cap
was introduced in April 2013, and set at £26,000 a year (a
maximum of £500 per week) for lone parents and couples with or
without children, and around £18,000 a year (a maximum of £350
per week) for single people without children or whose children for
whom they have responsibility do not live with them. These
amounts were reduced to £20,000 and £13,400 in November
2016;

(g)

the 2015 Budget introduced a four-year freeze on most workingage benefits and tax credits. This meant that in 2016 and onwards
their value remained as it had been in 2015 rather than rising with
inflation;

(h)

limiting the amount of time that people can receive contributionbased Employment Support Allowance (ESA) to 365 days for
those claimants in a work-related activity group or in the
assessment phase;

(i)

the abolition of the ‘Youth’ provision, which enabled disabled
young people to qualify for the benefit without paying National
Insurance contributions;

(j)

limiting the amount of the child element of UC paid for third or
subsequent children born on or after 6 April 2017 (there is
provisions for exceptional circumstances like "multiple births").

Policy update
34

The government has continued with its policy of welfare reform and has
made further welfare and benefits policy announcements since the last
report to Cabinet in September 2017. Key headlines include:
(a)

the planned "managed migration" process for UC is now due to
start in 2020 rather than 2019, following the Government's
announcement that it plans to first run an initial pilot with 10,000
claimants this year. Benefit claimants in Harrogate who still
receive old style benefits will be the first people moved onto UC
under this pilot;

Page 55

(b)

the introduction of a range of measures to support UC claimants
including:
(i) revising the approach to advances;
(ii) removing the seven waiting days;
(iii) providing an additional transitional payment of two weeks
of Housing Benefit;
(iv) changing how claimants in temporary accommodation
receive support for their housing costs;
(v) the maximum rate at which deductions can be made from
a Universal Credit award from 40 percent to 30 percent of
the standard allowance, with the period over which these
recoveries are made extended from 12 to 16 months in
October 2021;
(vi) payment of Income Support and the income related
elements of Employment and Support Allowance and
Jobseeker’s Allowance will continue for two weeks after a
claim for Universal Credit has been made, effective from
July 2020;
(vii) from April 2019, there will be a £1,000 increase in work
allowances;
(viii) working parents on UC can have up to 85 percent of their
childcare costs reimbursed with additional flexibility on
support for up front childcare costs.

Page 56

(c)

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) now fund Citizens
Advice and Citizens Advice Scotland to provide a new ‘Help to
Claim’ service from 1 April 2019 to support vulnerable claimants
in making a claim to UC - up to their first full UC payment.
Funding previously provided to local authorities for local support
was withdrawn in April 2019 to coincide with these new
arrangements;

(d)

the government has reversed its year-old decision to bar 18- to
21-year-olds from receiving housing benefit and announced that
all people in this age group would qualify for the housing element
of Universal Credit;

(e)

from 2021 the DWP will combine the separate assessment
processes for PIP, Employment and Support Allowance (ESA)
and UC into one integrated service;

(f)

people receiving Personal Independence Payment (PIP) who
have reached State Pension age will no longer have their awards
regularly reviewed, instead moving to a light touch review every
10 years; and

(g)

the DWP will add 10 questions about food buying and eating
habits to its annual Family Resources Survey, which will be sent
to 20,000 UK households in April. The data will be reported
publicly in March 2021;

(h)

the BBC will remove free TV licences for the over 75 year olds;

(i)

access to free sanitary products for all girls attending secondary
schools from September 2019 and primary schools from 2020

(j)

Low Pay Commission to receive a new remit beyond 2020, with
the ultimate objective to end low pay in the UK. The government
will engage with employers, TUC and the commission to gather
evidence and listen to views with report and recommendations to
be made by October 2019.

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017
35

Homelessness legislation introduced in 1977 gave households in
‘priority need’ a right to statutory assistance and an offer of settled
accommodation, but in doing so excluded most single homeless people.

36

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (the Act) came into force on 3
April 2018. It places new legal duties on English Local Authorities and
some public bodies, with a focus on preventing homelessness. In a
significant change, anyone who is homeless or at risk of homelessness
will be able to access support, regardless of their priority need status.

37

The key measures in the Act are:
(a)

an extension of the period ‘threatened with homelessness’ from
28 to 56 days;

(b)

a new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible applicants
threatened with homelessness, regardless of priority need;

(c)

a new duty to relieve homelessness for all eligible homeless
applicants, regardless of priority need; and

(d)

a new ‘duty to refer’ - public services will need to notify a local
authority if they come into contact with someone they think may
be homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.

Page 57

38

There are no specific duties on housing associations and the Act
requires local authorities to develop homelessness strategies based on
a review of all forms of homelessness in their district and outlining how
local partners will work together.

Rough sleeping strategy
39

On 13 August 2018, the government published a policy paper laying out
the government’s plans to help people who are sleeping rough now and
to put in place the structures to end rough sleeping by 2027. The rough
sleeping strategy takes a three-pronged approach to ending rough
sleeping through prevention, intervention, and recovery.

40

The government committed to updating the Rough Sleeping Strategy
annually, as well as developing a new separate strategy to tackle
homelessness in its wider forms.

Increases to social housing rents
41

On 4 October 2017, Department for Communities and Local
Government (DCLG) announced that "increases to social housing rents
will be limited to CPI plus one percent for 5 years from 2020."
Consultation on a new rent direction took place between September
and November 2018. The response to the consultation was published
on 26 February 2019 – the government confirmed the October 2017
announcement.

Intensive Personalised Employment Support (IPES)
42

On 10 December 2018 the DWP announced a new employment support
programme to start in 2019 for people living with a disability who are
unlikely to move into work within the next year or longer and may need
additional support. The Intensive Personalised Employment Support
(IPES) programme will provide highly personalised packages of
employment support for people who are at least a year away from
moving into work. The support comes from a new £40 million fund and
is expected to benefit 10,000 people.

43

People on the scheme will get a dedicated key worker who will work
with them to overcome complex barriers which may be preventing them
from entering work, ensuring they have a personal support network in
place. It is thought that the programme is aimed at jobseekers who
need more intensive support than is offered through the Work and
Health Programme but who would not be eligible for the current
Supported Employment Proof of Concept.

Page 58

44

The voluntary scheme will be rolled out across England and Wales in
2019, and applicants will receive support for up to 21 months, including
six months of in-work support for those who get a job.

Brexit
45

Following the outcome of the European Union membership referendum
in 2016, the country is heading towards exiting the European Union.
Since 2017 when the government triggered the Article 50 process, the
government and parliament have been consumed with what approach
to take to managing and negotiating the exit process.

46

The immediate impact of this has been parliamentary and policy
preoccupation with Brexit, which has overshadowed consideration of
other policy issues including welfare reform.

47

In addition, the economic uncertainty caused by the referendum
outcome and lack of progress in agreeing the terms of the UK’s exit
from the Union have impacted on the economy.

48

Depending on the outcome of the Brexit process, it is probable that the
county will experience wider impacts during the transition period, as
businesses adjust and the government negotiates new trade
agreements and economic accords outside of the EU framework.

49

A number of studies have suggested that the North East including the
county is one of the most vulnerable parts of the country to Brexit, likely
to experience detrimental impacts before the economy adjusts and
recovers. In part this is due to the strength and competitiveness of the
regional economy as is, and its reliance on sectors and employment
likely to be most affected by Brexit.

50

In addition, concern has been expressed about the impact of
suppressed growth, devaluation and potential price rises on individuals
and communities already experiencing economic hardship.

51

Government contingency planning has primarily focussed on
contingency planning for a ‘no deal’ Brexit and how to manage and
respond to the immediate impacts when the country leaves the EU.

52

As part of this, the council and its partners have been assessing local
risks and developing contingency plans, which have included
consideration of how we can support vulnerable individuals who may be
more affected by price and cost increases and supply issues.

53

While the government is tending to focus on immediate contingency
planning, the council and its partners are also taking a longer term
focus, conscious that hard-pressed communities and individuals in the

Page 59

county may experience detrimental impacts over a longer period of
time. This has been taken into account in the development of the
poverty action strategy and action plan outlined below.
54

With the change in leadership of the government and the formation of a
new Cabinet, this is a very fluid situation. While the new Prime Minister
has asserted his commitment to exiting the EU with or without a deal on
31 October 2019, it remains to be seen how the EU responds and also
whether there are any moves in parliament to take a different approach.

55

Although the situation is very uncertain, the council and its partners are
planning as best they can.

Impacts on the county
56

The government’s welfare changes are affecting people in the County
however it is difficult to distinguish between changes resulting from
welfare reforms and the continuing impact of wider economic trends
associated with recession and recovery, all of which affect the
underlying issues of poverty and wealth.

57

Previous reports on welfare reform highlighted the lack of a cumulative
impact assessment of the various components of welfare reform at
national level and drew from a number of sources to understand the
potential impact in the county.

58

In May 2019, the government announced that new analysis for poverty
based on the work by the Social Metrics Commission will be developed
and improved further to increase the value of statistics to the public.

59

DWP will publish these experimental statistics in the second half of
2020 after and in addition to the government’s annual official
Households Below Average Income (HBAI) publication. The HBAI
figures are based on households’ incomes and will continue to be the
main measure of poverty in the UK whilst these experimental statistics
are developed.

Welfare impacts
60

Since the Welfare Reform Act was introduced in 2012, the council has
been monitoring the anticipated impacts on residents and the local
economy. Our latest assessment is attached as appendix 2. Our
principal conclusions are as follows:

Universal credit
61

Page 60

Compared with our initial estimate, the overall number of households
affected by the transition to Universal Credit has reduced over the last
seven years, in part due to increases in employment but also due to the

rollout of welfare reform changes introduced by the government.
Initially we estimated that almost half all households in County Durham
could be affected by the transition to UC. Our latest estimate, largely
based on 2018 data, shows this estimate has fallen by over a fifth to
around 83,900 claimants – principally because of the delayed rollout to
UC, increases in employment and a reduction in the number of families
claiming in-work benefits (Tax Credits).

Impact of uprating caps and freezes since 2010
62

Since 2010, successive government budgets have implemented various
uprating caps and benefit freezes, which have had the effect of
restricting increases in many benefits. Trends show that many DWP
benefits and Tax Credits paid to working age families have not kept
pace with long term inflation and earnings increases.

63

In March 2019, the Joseph Rowntree Foundation reported in its briefing
“end the benefit freeze to stop people being swept into poverty” that
after three years of the freeze, “people in poverty are on average £340
a year worse off than they would have been had this support not been
eroded by the freeze” and if the freeze does not end until April 2020 (as
currently planned), people living in poverty will be on average £560
worse off, equivalent to around three months of food shopping for an
average low-income family.

Employment Support Allowance/Incapacity Benefit (ESA/IB)
64

In February 2014 the number of County Durham residents claiming
ESA/IB1 fell to 25,700 claimants, the lowest number claiming sickness
related benefits since comparable records began. The number of
claimants then increased to 28,300 in November 2015 but fell back to
24,700 claimants in May 2018 (the most recent data). This might
indicate people returning to sickness-related benefits in due course after
being moved onto ESA following their work capability assessment.

Housing Benefit
65

The number of working age HB claims in County Durham has not varied
greatly since 2011.

66

While the number of claimants has fallen to 25,600 by October 2017
from a recession peak of over 30,000, it should be noted that
anecdotally, social landlords are now starting to report an increase in
rent arrears for those tenants who are claiming UC compared to before.

DWP Benefits, Working age client group – ESA/IB/Income Support, accessed via
www.nomisweb.co.uk
1

Page 61

Other Welfare Reform Changes
Personal Independence Payments/Disability Living Allowance
67

Just before Personal independence Payments (PIP) were rolled out in
2013 there were around 23,100 people on Disability Living Allowance
(DLA) aged 16-64. Since then, this number has fallen, but not by as
much as PIP has increased. The DLA caseload fell by over 7,200 with
the corresponding PIP figure rising to 14,700, (November 2016).
However, the latest data shows 25,900 people are now claiming PIP
(July 2018).

Spare Room Subsidy
68

The total number of tenants under occupying as at April 2013 was
8,001. Over the years, this has decreased significantly to 5,971 in April
2018, a reduction over five years of 2,030 households. As at April
2018, the number of under-occupiers (5,971) has reduced by 505 since
April 2017.

Benefit cap
69

The government’s latest reductions to the Benefit Cap were announced
in November 2016. Initial indications from DWP were that
approximately 620 families may be affected in the county. The reduced
cap came into effect in January 2017 and as of July 2017, there were
424 active claims in the county with a cap applied. The average
amount benefits were capped by was £37.62.

Economic trends
Gross Disposable Income and Earnings
70

Gross Disposable Household Income (GDHI) per head of population in
County Durham stood at £15,445 in 2017 – 79.1 percent of the UK
average of £19,514. GDHI has grown in the county by 13.5 percent
since 2011, almost the same rate as for the North East region (13.6
percent) but at a slower growth rate than the UK (17.8 percent growth).

Earnings from Employment2
71

2

The average full-time weekly wage for County Durham residents in
2018 was £503. This was slightly lower than the regional average
(£507), but much lower than the national average which stood at £575.

Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings – Median Wage

Page 62

72

The average part-time weekly wage for County Durham residents in
2018 was £194, slightly higher than regional average (£187) and higher
than the national average of £188.

73

Local part time wages have increased by 28.9 percent since 2011,
higher than the North East region at 25.4 percent growth and higher
than the UK increase at 22.4 percent.

74

Further information can be found in the Annual Survey of Hours and
Earning factsheet on www.durhaminsight.info

Poverty trends
75

In the North East one in four children (25 percent) live in a household in
relative poverty, i.e. with a weekly household income of £304 per week
or less. This is five percentage points higher than the national average
at 20 percent. If housing costs are considered, the proportion rises to
more than one in three: 35 percent, which is four percentage points
higher than the national average of 30 percent.

76

In the region, just under a fifth of working age people (18 percent) live in
a household in relative poverty, higher than the national average of 15
percent. If housing costs are taken into account, the proportion rises to
around one in four, or 23 percent, which again is higher than the
national average of 21 percent.

77

In the North East just under a sixth of pensioners, or 16 percent live in a
household in relative poverty compared with the national average of 17
percent. Taking into account housing costs, the proportion decreases
to 15 percent compared with 16 percent nationally.

78

In 2018, new Minimum Income Standard (MIS) research3 took an
alternative approach to measuring poverty and has recalculated from
scratch the minimum budgets for pensioner and working-age
households without children, while reviewing the budgets set in 2016 for
families with children.

79

MIS is based on the items that members of the public think UK
households need to be able to afford in order to meet material needs
such as food, clothing and shelter, as well as to have the opportunities
and choices required to participate in society.

80

The main finding is that benefit levels and incomes available to lowerearning working households have not kept up with rising costs, and

Joseph Rowntree Foundation ‘A Minimum Income Standard for the UK in 2018’.
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-uk-2018
3

Page 63

these barriers are preventing people from reaching a decent standard of
living. In 2018, benefits provide only a third of what working-age adults
without children need, down from 42 percent in 2008.

Employment trends
81

Overall, the employment rate has been improving steadily in County
Durham but remains significantly below national levels. However, latest
data show just under three in four of the 16-64 population are in
employment in County Durham (74.2 percent) compared to just over
three-quarters nationally (75.5 percent).

82

Employment rates vary considerably between different population
groups and further information can be found in the Employment
Factsheet on www.durhaminsight.info.

Unemployment trends4
83

Unemployment levels have improved over the last three years. Latest
data5 show 10,500 people were unemployed in the period between April
2018 to March 2019. This is equivalent to 4.2 percent of the 16-64
population, lower than the regional rate of 5.8 percent and the same as
the national rate of 4.2 percent. It should also be noted that
unemployment is now lower than pre-recession levels (which averaged
around 5.4 percent between 2004 and 2007). Further information can
be found in the Economic Inactivity Factsheet on
www.durhaminsight.info.

Economic inactivity
84

4

Since 2004, levels of economic inactivity have been greater in County
Durham than in England and Wales, with a slight downward trend over
this period. Economically inactive people are defined as being outside
of the labour market, as they are either not actively seeking work or are
not currently available for work. This could be for a variety of reasons,
commonly including being a full-time student, retired from work (but not
yet reached state pension age), looking after a family and being unable
to work because of sickness or disability.

ONS Employment Rate aged 16-64, Annual Population Survey extracted from NOMIS, for the latest
period April 2018 to March 2019. The unemployment rate differs in its calculation from Employment
rate as the denominator used is the economically active population rather than the 16-64 population.
5
ONS, Annual Population Survey extracted from NOMIS, for the latest period April 2018 to March
2019

Page 64

Zero hours contracts
85

The latest Office for National Statistics (ONS) for zero hours contracts
covers the period April to June 2018 with comparison data from the
previous year6. During this period 2.2 percent of people in employment
in the North East were on ‘zero hour’ contracts totalling 26,300
contracts - a fall from 3.7 percent (44,600 contracts) from the previous
year.

86

This data gives the North East the second lowest rate out of all English
regions in April to June 2018 and is lower than the England rate of 2.5
percent (671,400 contracts) and the UK rate of 2.4 percent (779,600
contracts). However, nationally the percentage and number has fallen
from 2.8 percent (757,800 contracts) in England and 2.8 percent
(883,500 contracts) in the UK in the period April to June 2017.

Wider poverty and social impacts
Shoplifting
87

It is difficult to identify whether there is a link between trends in
shoplifting and rollout of Universal Credit without DWP data. However,
working with Durham Constabulary, we have examined localised crime
data in relation to shoplifting, compared with the phased roll out of
Universal Credit and concluded that although there were increases
within a number of areas coinciding with the roll out of UC, in the main
they were either not significant or after initial increases, returned to
normal levels of variance. Two areas demonstrated significantly higher
levels of shoplifting compared with previous years and continuing
increasing trends as opposed to initial spikes: Crook and Spennymoor.

Foodbanks
88

The Durham Foodbank report they have provided enough food to feed
16,004 people (10,432 adults and 5,572 children) in the 10 month
period to 31 January 2019. Based on the average use of the foodbank
being 1.6 times, this would give a total of 10,000 unique individuals
receiving food parcels in the first 10 months on this year. This is a 10
percent increase year on year.

89

The FEED project which operates in East Durham has distributed 1,375
food parcels in the 10 month period to 31 January 2019, which is a 44
percent increase year on year.

6 ONS - People in employment on a zero-hours contract:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/d
atasets/emp17peopleinemploymentonzerohourscontracts

Page 65

Public Health funerals
90

Under the National Assistance Act 1948 and the Public Health (Control
of Disease) Act of the same year, the council has a duty to dispose of a
deceased body, if the person who died has no assets or if there are no
relatives who can make funeral arrangements.

91

Since the roll out of Universal Credit in 2017 and 2018 the number of
unrecovered public health funerals has remained relatively static,
compared with previous years. However, because the numbers are so
low, it is not possible to draw any correlation between the incidence of
such funerals and the introduction of UC.

The council’s response
92

The council is in the front-line of responding to these challenges through
the services we provide and our network of Area Actions Partnerships
(AAPs) supporting local action. Working with our partners, we are at
the heart of our local areas and interact with residents lives on a daily
basis and are committed to achieving greater social mobility, fairness
and community cohesion.

93

We have a direct financial relationship with our residents: collecting
council tax payments, administering benefits and other discretionary
payments. This provides us with an opportunity to identify households in
financial difficulty and provide them with support and to manage the
nature of that relationship in a way that supports financial inclusion.

94

The council has taken a lead through a strategic and co-ordinated
approach to the changes made to the welfare system and the impacts
of poverty to date, including how the funding available from government
has been used to support people affected by the changes. This has
identified the benefit of joining services across service groupings. In
doing so, it has become apparent that alongside the welfare reform
changes there are areas of work already being delivered which are
complementary and collectively address the underlying issues around
the county.

95

To provide clear political stewardship for this work, the council has also
created a specific Cabinet portfolio for social inclusion which includes
responsibility for welfare reform and impact.

96

The council’s response to the welfare changes has been shared widely
with the County Durham Partnership and has involved working closely
with many key partners.

97

The council’s PASG co-ordinates the delivery of a range of new and
existing policy work which seeks to achieve a much broader

Page 66

understanding of the issues affecting residents, resulting from
continuing changes to welfare and other issues which mean that
residents can experience poverty. Building on this understanding, the
group will seek to identify actions to support residents and help address
identified inequalities.
98

The council has a number of key policies such as the Discretionary
Housing Payments Policy, Welfare Assistance Scheme and Residential
and Non-residential charging polices, which are approved by Cabinet. In
the review of the council’s Constitution in January 2019, Cabinet agreed
that the Corporate Director of Resources will now have delegated
authority to make minor changes to these policies in consultation with
the relevant portfolio holders, removing the requirement for Cabinet
approval.

99

There is a comprehensive network of statutory, voluntary and
community organisations who work together to provide advice services
across the county through the Advice in County Durham Partnership.
This is underpinned by comprehensive communications programme to
ensure that claimants understand changes and are signposted to the
most appropriate sources of advice, help and support, and council
employees, particularly those in customer-facing roles, receive regular
information and training to help them understand the changes to welfare
and poverty issues and how the council and partners can help.

100

The council has commissioned Policy in Practice (PinP), a software and
consulting company with a social focus to analyse the data held by the
council and other partners which will allow for the targeting of take up to
be directed at our most vulnerable residents who are either in crisis or
at risk of being in crisis. The aim is to make the welfare system simpler
to understand and importantly to identify past, current and future
impacts on individual households. This will then assist in the planning
for future service requirements and have application aligned to the
Poverty Action Plan.

101

In addition, as a matter of course when the council considers policy
changes or service restructurings, it undertakes thorough impact
assessments to understand the effect of proposed changes and to
identify what could be done to mitigate any detrimental effects on
disadvantaged communities and vulnerable groups, where possible.

102

This is particularly important as the recession and public spending
reductions have disproportionately affected northern and poorer areas
such as the county, which have lower levels of economic growth, higher
rates of benefit dependency and disproportionately higher levels of
public sector employment.

Page 67

103

Reductions in welfare support, at a time when public sector employment
is falling and private sector growth has yet to create sufficient numbers
of replacement jobs, present the county and local partners with a
significant and major challenge.

104

The council has worked closely with many key partners since 2011 to
help County Durham residents cope with the changes to welfare and
issues relating to poverty. In recognition of the wider impact of the
changes on the county, the scope of the PASG was broadened in 2015
to take a more comprehensive overview of the poverty issues, and the
council’s first Poverty Action Plan was approved by Cabinet in October
2015.

Poverty Action Plan
105

The action plan aimed to “work together to reduce and prevent poverty
as far as possible across County Durham” and Members agreed that
the council should work with partners to focus on the following themes:
(a)

Attitudes to poverty and raising its profile;

(b)

Focus on child poverty;

(c)

Credit and debt;

(d)

Further welfare reform and benefit changes; and

(e)

Work and personal wellbeing and sense of worth.

106

New sub-groups of the Poverty Action Steering Group, such as the
‘Child Poverty Working Group’ and ‘Universal Credit Working Group’
etc., were established to deliver some of the actions where necessary,
although a lot of the activity and initiatives were delivered through
mainstream service budgets and existing resources and organisations.
Working with our partners across the public, private and third sector
was key to underpinning our approach.

107

To help deliver actions, where possible, additional discretionary funds
such as prior years’ underspend from the council’s Welfare Assistance
Scheme budget have also been made available, for example:

Page 68

(a)

£120,000 to Managing Money Better project;

(b)

£1 million to employment initiatives scheme;

(c)

£840,000 to AAP projects and initiatives helping with welfare
and/or poverty;

(d)

£100,000 to the Durham Foodbank;

(e)

£64,000 to the Wheels to Work Scheme; and

(f)

£5,400 to East Durham Trust Feed project.

108

Delivery of the actions was monitored by the council’s PASG and
progress and achievements were regularly reported to Cabinet and
partners.

109

Appendix 3 provides a summary of progress against the five themes in
the action plan, the highlights of which include:
(a)

a comprehensive internal and external communications
programme including the training of front-line customer-facing
staff;

(b)

50 organisations and over 400 delegates engaged through a
programme of poverty and welfare conferences;

(c)

the establishment of the Advice In County Durham (AiCD)
partnership, bringing 180 organisations/advisors together with
advice and assistance provided to over 11,500 people to date;

(d)

the council’s Welfare Rights service and Citizens Advice County
Durham have assisted claimants to secure over £25.66 million of
benefits claims in 2018/19;

(e)

over 80 welfare and poverty related projects delivered through the
council’s AAPs, supporting over 21,000 beneficiaries. The
£840,000 provided by the council to of support to this work has
attracted £1.38 million in match funding;

(f)

the introduction of a triage process by Housing Welfare Reform
Group to help tenants affected by the under-occupancy charge;

(g)

initiatives to address child poverty including ‘cutting the costs of
the school day, promotion of Free School meals take-up and the
introduction of ‘holiday hunger’ schemes

(h)

the council’s Local Council Tax Support Scheme, its Discretionary
Housing Payments (DHP) policy and Welfare Assistance Scheme
which have had a positive impact on preventing people falling into
rennet arrears and being at risk of eviction and helping those that
fall into financial crisis;

(i)

the County Durham Energy and Fuel Poverty Partnership which
since 2013 has assisted over 9,100 residents with over £13.4
million worth of energy saving solutions.

Page 69

(j)

the Durham Savers project which raises the profile of credit
unions as an alternative to loan sharks and payday lenders

(k)

collaboration with foodbanks in the county including financial
support to Durham Foodbank and the FEED project;

(l)

work to improve employability and employment opportunities as a
route to economic independence.

Review
110

A review of the Poverty Action Plan was undertaken by the PASG
earlier this year which included attendees from across council services
attending a practical workshop. The workshop was facilitated by our
Partnerships and Community Engagement team and looked back on
what we have delivered and achieved so far and identified new/revised
practical interventions that would mitigate or prevent the impacts of
poverty and help shape the revised action plan.

111

There were a significant number of examples of good practice
mentioned by attendees, particularly those which highlighted joint
working across council services such as the targeted work in
preparation for the introduction of the spare room subsidy by the
Housing Solutions and Revenues and Benefits teams, and, the
provision of free healthy snacks and free holiday activities during the
2018 summer holiday period by teams in the council’s One Point
service, Culture and Sport and Direct Services.

112

Attendees recognised the importance of working with our partners and
examples of good practice noted included: support to, and promotion of
Credit Unions as a safer and more cost-effective alternative to payday
lenders; the ‘Routes out of Poverty’ sessions which promote awareness
of council and partners’ service provision to frontline staff and
volunteers; and the UC working group which saw partners from council
services, DWP, Citizens Advice Bureau and the voluntary and
community sector work together to ensure that those residents affected
by the roll out of UC in County Durham received sufficient levels of
advice, support and guidance. Our approach to the rollout of UC has
been recognised by DWP as an exemplar model of best practice.

113

Attendees also highlighted the positive impacts we had seen by using
intelligence more effectively and combining data to better target people
and intervene before people get into crisis, for example: the council’s
Welfare Assistance Scheme and Discretionary Housing Payments; the
council’s benefits take-up campaign; and Employment Initiatives etc.

114

Some attendees identified some positive impacts seen as a result of
changes to welfare which they described as including increased

Page 70

community spirit and increased volunteering opportunities. However
there was also recognition that UC has still yet to be fully rolled out for a
large number of the population and therefore impacts will inevitably get
worse.
115

Through group discussions it was apparent that many actions have
been adopted as permanent ways of working i.e. ‘business as usual’ as
they complement and help collectively address the underlying issues
around the county, such as the council’s work on financial inclusion, fuel
poverty and child poverty etc. Gaps in current service provision, projects
and initiatives were also highlighted and new priorities and actions were
identified and discussed.

116

The importance of utilising data to proactively identify groups that have
been affected by welfare reforms, or are experiencing poverty related
issues to provide immediate assistance was noted, however it was
agreed that more robust data collection and evaluation needs to be
done to inform more proactive, preventative approaches which may be
more cost-effective than dealing with residents at crisis point.

117

The review concluded that responding to welfare reforms and the
impacts of poverty cannot be responded to cost effectively by a single
service. We therefore need to strengthen our systems, to further
coordinate and join up services and partners to support residents and
make it everyone’s business to respond to poverty and the risk to
financial exclusion and homelessness.

Poverty Action Strategy
118

Clearly, many of the drivers of poverty - such as the strength of the
economy, employment, wage rates and inflation - are beyond the
council’s control, so we have developed a poverty action strategy to
help us mitigate the effects and make some of the impacts less severe,
where possible. The strategy aims to provide focus and direction on the
priorities for improving services and opportunities for residents in
County Durham who are experiencing poverty and will cover a two-year
period up to 2021.

119

We want to do more than just support residents to claim benefits and
pay their rent. We want to improve our evidence and analysis to make
it everyone’s business to support residents and mitigate the impacts of
welfare reforms and poverty. We aspire to develop a compassionate
coherent culture that seeks to maximise the value of our collective
resources and appreciates the obstacles that internal and external silos
create to supporting vulnerable residents.

Page 71

120

Our vision is to “improve the standard of living and daily lives of those
residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing poverty;
and to help alleviate issues that can lead households on low incomes to
experience poverty”. To achieve the best possible outcomes for
residents experiencing poverty, our strategic aims are:
(a)

to improve our understanding of the types of poverty and its
impacts on County Durham residents;

(b)

to increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
for residents;

(c)

that residents receive the best support and advice available
concerning their financial situation; and

(d)

that children, young people and families have the resources to
their basic needs including accessing opportunities to take part in
society.

Revised action plan
121

The strategy is underpinned by a revised Poverty Action Plan which
focuses on new actions and commitments which will enable us to
deliver the key priorities we have identified as being most important for
reducing poverty levels in County Durham and achieving our vision.

122

The revised plan is attached at Appendix 3. These new actions
complement existing projects, initiatives and services and will be
delivered alongside to further enhance and improve outcomes.

123

The existing relevant services, projects and initiatives from the first
action plan will continue to be monitored and reported via the
appropriate service reporting channels and also regular updates will be
given to the PASG, which will be fed into updates for the poverty action
strategy. Annual updates for the strategy will be provided for Cabinet,
the County Durham Partnership, AAPs and other partners etc. The
strategy will be reviewed in 2021.

Conclusion
124

As expected, the government intends to continue with its programme of
welfare reform in order to tackle what has been described as a
dependency culture and to reduce public spending on welfare.

125

Since the welfare reforms commenced in 2012, the council and its
partners have experienced increases in demand for welfare-related
services, including advice and assistance, applications for Discretionary
Housing Payments and Welfare Assistance, foodbank and charity

Page 72

referrals and personal financial action planning. It is expected that this
trend will continue.
126

The forthcoming migration of residents currently claiming the old style
benefits to Universal Credit in the county will have a further impact on
residents and communities in the county.

127

In such circumstances, it is vital that the council maintains its
partnership-based approach in delivering its’ Poverty Action Strategy
and Action Plan to ensure we make it everyone’s business to respond
to poverty and the risk to financial exclusion and homelessness.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
•

Cabinet report, Welfare reform and poverty issues, 13 September 2017

•

Cabinet report, Welfare reform and poverty issues, 21 October 2015

Contact:

Emma Gardner

Tel: 03000 268054

Page 73

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
There are no direct legal implications arising out of this report, which is
provided by way of update to Members. The UK’s exit from the European
Union will have significant legal implications. The nature and extent of these
implications are dependent on whether we leave with or without a deal.
Officers continue to monitor changes in primary legislation and Brexit
proposals to assess the likely impact on the council and residents of the
county.

Finance
The council supports welfare provision and poverty alleviation through a
number of service budgets across the council, such as the Welfare Assistance
Fund and Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) policy which are
administered by the council’s Revenues and Benefits Service. The council
also offers discretionary County Tax relief to individuals and households in
financial hardship and has protected residents from government reductions in
Council Tax Benefit through the approach it has taken to local Council Tax
Support.

Consultation
The review of the Poverty Action Plan was informed by feedback following
consultation events at poverty conferences and the Health and Wellbeing
Board’s ‘Big Tent Event’. Views of practitioners and partners were also taken
into account during the review process.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme, Discretionary Housing Payments
policy and Local Council Tax Support Scheme have been subject to equality
impact assessments where appropriate.

Human Rights
Note applicable.

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable.

Staffing
There are no staffing implications.

Page 74

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Not applicable.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 75

Appendix 2: welfare reform and poverty impacts in County
Durham

Welfare impacts
1

When the Welfare Reform Act 2012 was being introduced, the council
evaluated the anticipated impact on residents and the local economy.

UC impact on individuals and families
2

Compared with our initial estimate, the overall number of households
affected by the transition to Universal Credit has reduced over the last
seven years, in part due to increases in employment but also due to the
rollout of welfare reform changes introduced by the government.

3

Table 1 sets out the estimated number people affected by the transition
to Universal Credit based on number of households claiming relevant
DWP benefits and Tax Credits. In total we estimated that almost half all
households in County Durham could be affected by the transition to UC.
The latest estimate, largely based on 2018 data, shows this estimate
has fallen by over a fifth to around 83,900 claimants.

4

Over this period there has been substantial increases in employment
both nationally and locally as the country recovered from recession. For
2018 the employment rate in County Durham showed that almost three
out of four people aged 16-64 were in employment (74.6 percent). This
is a 9.8 percentage points higher than in 2012, narrowing the gap with
national employment rates which have grown at half our pace. Locally
this is the equivalent of an additional 35,000 people in employment.

5

Such a large increase in the employment could explain the fall in the
number of out of work benefits claimants, which reduced by 9,000
claimants over the same period. However, the estimates below suggest
that the largest driver of this reduction overall, is the drop in the number
of families claiming in-work benefits (Tax Credits).

Page 76

Table 1: Estimated number of families affected by UC

7

Total Tax Credits families
UC claimants-in work8

2012
53,200
-

2018
34,000
6,600

Total in-work benefits

45,500

29,600

UC claimants - out of work4
JSA9
ESA10

11,700
4,300

15,600
2,300
23,500

Incapacity Benefits/SDA6

24,100

600

Income Support6

16,500

6,000

Out-of-work benefits claims

56,700

47,800

UC eligible Housing Benefit claims11,
of which;
Social Rented
Private Rented

32,500
19,400
13,100

23,300
14,000
9,300

Non-passported working age HB

7,300

6,500

-

10,500

UC Claims with a Housing12
Entitlement;
Of which;
Social Rented
Private Rented
Estimated number of households
affected by UC13

6

4,600
5,900

109,500

83,900

While this may seem counter-intuitive, given there are more people in
work it should be noted that there have been significant policy changes
to tax credit eligibility over this period. Most notably the removal of the

7

Personal tax credits: finalised award statistics - geographical statistics 2017 to 2018,
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/personal-tax-credits-finalised-award-statistics-geographicalstatistics-2017-to-2018
8 People on Universal Credit estimate Nov 2018, https://statxplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/dataCatalogueExplorer.xhtml
9 Jobseekers Allowance Nov 2018, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/, Nov 2018
10 DWP Benefits, Aug 2018, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/, Aug 2018
11 Housing Benefits, Aug 2018, https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/dataCatalogueExplorer.xhtml
12 Household on Universal Credit, Aug 2018, https://statxplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/dataCatalogueExplorer.xhtml
13 These estimates are not definitive and offer an indicative guide to the number of households
affected

Page 77

second income threshold14 from April 2012 onwards, meant that over a
million ‘middle income’ families were no longer eligible for tax credits.
7

It should also be noted, that despite of the wider rollout of UC in the
county over the previous 18 months, around three quarters of those
eligible for Universal Credit have yet to migrate to the new benefit.

8

New claims to UC were supposed to begin from October 2013 onwards,
with full migration to UC by October 2017. The rollout was however,
delayed due to a number of policy and operational issues. Initially, UC
roll out was limited to new claims from single claimants who were fit to
work, without children, and who could claim UC with or without housing
costs (not mortgages) and have savings under £6,000. This ‘live
service’ was introduced to 10 jobcentre offices in the county in
September 2015.

9

From May 2016, a national roll out of a ‘full service’ UC commenced.
The roll out across County Durham was initially scheduled to take place
in three tranches – East Durham, North/Central Durham and the rest of
Durham (principally the A167 corridor) over a six month period starting
in October 2017. However, the schedule was revised15 with rollout to
the most populous area (rest of Durham) delayed until June 2018.

Universal Credit Starts
10

A ‘starter’ to Universal Credit is defined as an individual who has
completed the Universal Credit claim process and accepted their UC
claimant commitment.

14

The change in the rules from April 2012 means that the second income threshold (£40,000 in
2011/12), which protected the family element until income reached a certain level, has been
scrapped.
15

The progress was scheduled to be complete in March 2018, however the third tranche was delayed
to June 2018.

Page 78

Chart 1: UC rollout in County Durham
Tranche 1

Tranche 2

1400

Tranche 3

1200
1000
East Durham
800
North/Central Durham

600

Rest of Durham

400
200
0
October
2015

April 2016

October
2016

April 2017

October
2017

April 2018

October
2018 (p)

11

From the introduction of UC in the county in September 2015 to the roll
out of the first tranche of full service UC in October 2017, there were
over 8,000 ‘starts’ to UC. This number then increased to nearly 27,000
in the latest data, October 2018 (see Chart 1).

12

As part of the new benefits regime, the government strengthened the
use of benefits sanctions to encourage compliance with its new policy.
While the number of adverse sanctions rose to over 1,000 in February
2017, the rollout of UC has been associated with a fall in the number of
adverse sanctions since then – for example, the number of sanctions
applied in May 2018 stood at 363.

Impact of Universal Credit on Unemployment Statistics
13

Under Universal Credit, a broader span of claimants are required to look
for work than under Jobseeker’s Allowance. This has the effect of
increasing the Claimant Count and Office for National Statistics (ONS)
have stated that the figures are no longer a reliable economic indicator.

14

To address this, the new recently released Alternative Claimant Count
(ACC) statistics measure the number of people claiming unemployment
benefits by modelling what the count would have been if Universal
Credit had been in place since 2013 with the broader span of people
this covers.

15

The statistics provide a consistent measure of local levels of
unemployed claimants over time and across areas and a better
indication of labour market change. These statistics do not replace the
Page 79

Claimant Count but, given the implementation of Universal Credit and
the natural increases to the Claimant Count that this brings, the
statistics do provide a consistent unemployed claimant series and a
better indicator of local labour market change over time, than the
Claimant Count.
16

The Claimant Count is a measure of the number of people claiming
unemployment related benefits. Before 2013 this was simply the
number of people claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance.

17

Since the introduction of UC from April 2013, the Claimant Count is
measured as the number of people claiming Jobseeker’s Allowance and
the number of UC claimants placed in the ‘Searching for Work’
conditionality group.

18

However, as more people were brought within the coverage of UC, the
Claimant Count started to rise noticeably over time. This happened
irrespective of how the economy has performed and is a feature of the
design of Universal Credit which brings additional groups of people into
‘Searching for Work’ conditionality (for example partners of claimants,
people who previously only claimed Housing Benefit or Child Tax
Credits).

19

As a result, the ONS withdrew the Claimant Count from their national
Labour Market Statistics Bulletin in March 2017, stating that the
Claimant Count was no longer a reliable economic indicator. ONS
stated that the change in composition of the count could leave users
with a misleading representation of changes in the labour market. To
address this, these new statistics show the number of people claiming
unemployment related benefits comprising Jobseeker’s Allowance;
Universal Credit – Searching for Work conditionality (excluding those on
the health journey pre-Work Capability Assessment); and estimates of
those additional claimants who would have been Searching for Work
under Universal Credit had it existed over the entire time period from
2013.

Page 80

Chart 2: Alternative Claimant Count in County Durham

20

The impact of UC on local Claimant Count statistics in the county has
been considerable. Chart 2 above sets out the modelled historical trend
of the ACC plotted alongside the previous claimant count, the number of
Jobseeker Allowance claimants and the subcategory of UC claimants
who are searching for work.

21

As might be expected, when the rollout begins the number of JSA
claims fall and the number of UC claims increase at a similar rate. The
Claimant Count also increases sharply at full-service rollout reflecting
ONS analysis about these trends.

22

There is also a notable that difference between the ACC and the official
Claimant Count. At the time of the ‘live service’ rollout in the county in
September 2015, the then official Claimant Count figures indicated that
there were 6,920 residents in the county claiming JSA. Conversely, the
ACC data series indicates that 12,510 people fitted the UC model
criteria to count as an unemployment statistic: 81 percent higher than
the official figure.

23

The implication of this is that under the new UC regime, vastly more
people will be subject to job searching conditionality than under the
previous DWP regime. More detailed breakdowns of the ACC data
show that this group of additional job seekers has a different
composition. In the two years prior to the ‘live service’ rollout, on
average two-thirds of JSA claimants (67 percent) were male. The

Page 81

gender balance of the additional claimants over the same period is
almost reversed with 58 percent female.

Impact of uprating caps and freezes since 2010
24

In addition to changes in eligibility and the rollout of Universal Credit,
various successive government budgets implemented various uprating
caps and benefit freezes from 2010 onwards. These measures had the
effect of restricting increases in many benefits, the consequence of
which would have far reaching impacts for many people on working age
benefits. Using analysis produced for the house of Commons Library16
Table 2 sets out changes in typical amounts paid for selected benefits
and Tax Credits based on the following changes:
• Autumn Statement 2010: Working Tax Credit: freeze in the basic
and 30-hour elements for three years from 2011-12
• Autumn Statement 2011: Working Tax Credit: freeze in the
couples and lone parent element for one year (2012-13)
• Autumn Statement 2012: Working age discretionary benefits and
tax credits: increase by one percent for three years from 201314
• Summer Budget 2015: Uprating: freeze working-age benefits, tax
credits and Local Housing Allowances for 4 years from 2016-17

16Real

value of working age benefits versus inflation and earnings, House of Commons
Library, https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/CBP-8458

Page 82

Table 2
Benefits (£ per week)
Basic State Pension
Individual
Couple
Pension Credit
Individual
Couple
ESA, Income Support, JSA
Personal allowances (selected rates):
Single under 25/lone parent under 18
Single 25+ / lone parent 18+
Couple (both over 18)
UC - Standard allowances
Single under 25

2011/12

2017/18

£
£

102
163

£
£

122
196

£
£

137
210

£
£

159
243

£
£
£

53
68
106

%
change

Tax Credits (£ per year unless stated)
Child Tax Credit
19.7% Family element
19.7% Child element
Disabled child element
16.0% Severely disabled child element
16.0%
Working Tax Credit
Basic element
Couples and lone parent element
8.3% 30 hour element
8.3% Disabled worker element
8.4% Severely disabled adult element
50+ return to work payment (16-29 hrs)
50+ return to work payment (30+ hrs pw)

£
£
£

58
73
115

£

58
73
115
29
37

Childcare element (£ per week)
Maximum eligible costs allowed
8.6% Eligible costs incurred for 1 child
13.0% Eligible costs incurred for 2+ children
Percentage of eligible costs covered

106

12.9%

Single 25+
Couple, one or both over 25
Work-related activity group
Support Group component

£
£

27
32

£
£
£
£

Incapacity Benefit
Long-term

£

94

£

Severe Disablement Allowance
Basic rate + higher age-related

£

77

£87

12.9%

Benchmark
CPI
RPI
Earnings

%
change

2011/12

2017/18

£
£
£
£

545
2,555
2,800
1,130

£
£
£
£

545
2,780
3,175
1,290

0.0%
8.8%
13.4%
14.2%

£
£
£
£
£
£
£

1,920
1,950
790
2,650
1,130
1,365
2,030

£
£
£
£
£
..
..

1,960
2,010
810
3,000
1,290

2.1%
3.1%
2.5%
13.2%
14.2%

175
£

300
70%

£
£

175 0.0%
300
0.0%
70%

% increase 2011/12 to 2017/18
12.2%
16.5%
11.5%

Page 83

25

Generally, these trends show that many DWP benefits and Tax Credits
paid to working age families have not kept pace with long term inflation
and earnings increases. For example, in 2011/12 a single person aged
over 25 (or a lone parent aged over 18) claiming Income Support was
entitled to a weekly personal allowance of £68. By 2017/18 this
allowance had increased by 8 percent to £73 (also the equivalent
personal allowance under UC). However, when compared with inflation
and earnings, which grew by 12.2 percent and 11.5 percent respectively
over the same period, we can see benefits for this claimant group
growing slower than cost of living measures.

26

Some on disability related out-of-work benefits did fair better, as
benefits tended to grow at around the same rate as inflation. But this
specifically applies to those in the Support Group component of ESA
(and UC), and the small number of residual claimants on long-term
Incapacity Benefits or Severe Disablement Allowance. Those people
who have been assessed and judged capable of some work, as part of
the Work Related Activity Group have seen their personal allowances
grow at a rate similar to those on income support, which as outlined
above has not kept pace with inflation and earnings growth.

27

Tax Credits have increased in a similar way. Those entitled to disability
elements of Child Tax Credits and Working Tax Credits have seen
around inflation level increases but non-disability elements have
increased at much lower rates, particularly for Working Tax Credit.

28

By way of comparison, the basic state pension has grown by around
almost 20 percent, well above inflation and earnings. This is because of
the policy stance of successive governments to increase this allowance
by the same rate as inflation, or earnings or by 2.5 percent whichever is
greater (known as the ‘triple lock’).

29

In March 2019, the Joseph Rowntree Foundation reported in its briefing
“end the benefit freeze to stop people being swept into poverty” that
after three years of the freeze, “people in poverty are on average £340
a year worse off than they would have been had this support not been
eroded by the freeze” and if the freeze does not end until April 2020 (as
currently planned), people living in poverty will be on average £560
worse off, equivalent to around three months of food shopping for an
average low-income family.

Employment Support Allowance/Incapacity Benefit (ESA/IB)
30

In February 2014 the number of County Durham residents claiming
ESA/IB17 fell to 25,700 claimants, the lowest number claiming sickness

DWP Benefits, Working age client group – ESA/IB/Income Support, accessed via
www.nomisweb.co.uk
17

Page 84

related benefits since comparable records began. The number of
claimants then increased to 28,300 in November 2015 but fell back to
24,700 claimants in May 2018 (the most recent data). This might
indicate people returning to sickness-related benefits in due course after
being moved onto ESA following their work capability assessment.
31

The number of people claiming ESA/IB has fallen by 1,900 or 7.2
percent since August 2017, to represent 7.6 percent of the working age
population. These benefits have been subject to a long-term transition
where claimants have moved from Incapacity Benefits or Severe
Disablement Allowance to ESA which is almost complete.

Housing Benefit
32

The number of working age HB claims in County Durham has not varied
greatly since 2011. Numbers peaked in April 2013 at around 50,300
claims (21.5 percent of dwellings). Since then the gap between local
and national housing benefit claims has widened slightly. The number
of claims in the county in February 2017 was 46,400; 20.8 percent of
dwellings, but nationally the rate dropped by 1.1 percentage points to
17.7 percent of dwellings.

33

Since October 2017 the number of housing benefit claims has fallen
from 30,900 to 25,600, a fall of nearly 5,300 claims or 17 percent. This
fall is greater than the falls regionally (10 percent) and nationally (11
percent) which are still in the process of rolling out a full UC service.

34

It should be noted that anecdotally, social landlords are now starting to
see an increase in rent arrears for those tenants who are claiming UC.

Other Welfare Reform Changes

Personal Independence Payments/Disability Living Allowance
35

Just before Personal independence Payments (PIP) were rolled out in
2013 there were around 23,100 people on Disability Living Allowance
(DLA) aged 16-64. Since then, this number has fallen, but not by as
much as PIP has increased. The DLA caseload fell by over 7,200 with
the corresponding PIP figure rising to 14,700, (November 2016).
However, the latest data shows 25,900 people are now claiming PIP
(July 2018).

36

Since September 2015 onwards, DLA claimants living in DH (Durham)
postcodes have been contacted by DWP to be invited to apply for PIP
20 weeks before the claimant DLA entitlement ends. These transitional
arrangements were completed by 2017, but it is not yet clear when DLA
claimants in other parts of the county will be invited to claim.

Page 85

37

Overall this means around 16,000 residents in County Durham currently
on the DLA caseload were likely to move over to PIP over the next two
years. The first independent review of the PIP assessment published in
December 201418 noted that the PIP assessment process “gives a
disjointed experience for claimants” and that improvements are required
in the short-term. As part of their evidence to the Independent Review,
the Citizens Advice Bureau19 (CAB) reported serious delays in the end
to end process with PIP, from making a claim to getting a decision.

38

Ministry of Justice statistics for tribunal appeals from October to
December 201620, identify that PIP accounted for 85 percent of all
Social Security and Child Support (SSCS) appeals during the period. In
October to December 2016, 46,230 SSCS appeal cases were disposed,
up 24 percent when compared with the same period in 2015. Of these
disposals, 39,696 (86 percent) were cleared at hearing and of these 63
percent were found in favour of the customer. The overturn rate varied
by benefit type, with PIP having 65 percent in favour of the customer
and DLA having 56 percent.

Spare Room Subsidy
39

The total number of tenants under occupying as at April 2013 was
8,001. Over the years, this has decreased significantly to 5,971 in April
2018, a reduction over five years of 2,030 households. As at April
2018, the number of under-occupiers (5,971) has reduced by 505 since
April 2017.

Benefit cap
40

The government announced further reductions to the Benefit Cap and
these changes took effect from 7 November 2016, when the total
amount a household could claim in benefits (outside London) would be
capped at:

18

Gray, Paul, An Independent Review of the Personal Independence Payment Assessment,
December 2014, https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/Migrated_Documents/corporate/citizensadvice-pip-first-independent-review-response.pdf
19 CAB, Response to Personal Independence Payment (PIP) Assessment – first Independent
Review, September 2014,
https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/Migrated_Documents/corporate/citizens-advice-pip-firstindependent-review-response.pdf
20 Ministry of Justice, 9 March 2017, ‘Tribunals and Gender Recognition Statistics Quarterly, October
to December 2016 (provisional)’,
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/597905/tribunal-grcstatistics-q3-2016-2017.pdf

Page 86

41

•

£384.62 a week for couples (with or without children living with
them). This equates to £20,000 per annum, a £6,000 reduction
per annum or £115.38 per week on the previous Cap level;

•

£257.69 a week for single people, which equates to £13,400 per
annum, a £4,800 reduction per annum or £92.31 per week on the
previous Cap level.

Initial indications from DWP last year stated approximately 620 families
may be affected in the county. The reduced cap came into effect on 9
January 2017 in County Durham and as at 3 July 2017 there were 424
active claims with a cap applied. The average amount benefits were
capped by was £37.62.

Economic trends
Gross Disposable Income and Earnings
42

Gross Disposable Household Income (GDHI) per head of population in
County Durham stood at £15,445 in 2017 – 79.1 percent of the UK
average of £19,514. GDHI has grown in the county by 13.5 percent
since 2011, almost the same rate as for the North East region (13.6
percent) but at a slower growth rate than the UK (17.8 percent growth).

43

Further information can be found in the Gross Domestic Household
Income factsheet on www.durhaminsight.info.

Earnings from Employment21
44

The average full-time weekly wage for County Durham residents in
2018 was £503. This was slightly lower than the regional average
(£507), but much lower than the national average which stood at £575.

45

Local full-time wages have however, increased at a faster rate than the
regional and national averages and at a rate above growth in inflation.
Wages in the county have increased by 20.7 percent since 2011,
compared with around 13 percent for the North East and the UK. Over
the period, inflation increased by around 14 percent.

46

The average part-time weekly wage for County Durham residents in
2018 was £194, slightly higher than regional average (£187) and higher
than the national average of £188.

47

Local part time wages have increased by 28.9 percent since 2011,
higher than the North East region at 25.4 percent growth and higher
than the UK increase at 22.4 percent.

21

Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings – Median Wage

Page 87

48

Further information can be found in the Annual Survey of Hours and
Earning factsheet on www.durhaminsight.info

Poverty trends
49

For children and working age people relative poverty is high in the north
east. Relative poverty has been a key measure produced by DWP for a
number of years and is defined as those in households living on an
income of less than 60 percent of median income22. For 2017/18 the
poverty line was set at a household income of £304 per week and if
housing costs are taken into account, £262 per week.

50

In the North East one in four children (25 percent) live in a household in
relative poverty, i.e. with a weekly household income of £304 per week
or less. This is five percentage points higher than the national average
at 20 percent. If housing costs are considered, the proportion rises to
more than one in three: 35 percent, which is four percentage points
higher than the national average of 30 percent.

51

In the region, just under a fifth of working age people (18 percent) live in
a household in relative poverty, higher than the national average of 15
percent. If housing costs are taken into account, the proportion rises to
around one in four, or 23 percent, which again is higher than the
national average of 21 percent.

52

In the North East just under a sixth of pensioners, or 16 percent live in a
household in relative poverty compared with the national average of 17
percent. Taking into account housing costs, the proportion decreases
to 15 percent compared with 16 percent nationally.

53

In 2018, new Minimum Income Standard (MIS) research23 took an
alternative approach to measuring poverty has recalculated from scratch
the minimum budgets for pensioner and working-age households
without children, while reviewing the budgets set in 2016 for families
with children.

54

MIS is based on the items that members of the public think UK
households need to be able to afford in order to meet material needs
such as food, clothing and shelter, as well as to have the opportunities
and choices required to participate in society.

22

Households Below Average Income Series, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/householdsbelow-average-income-199495-to-201718
23 Joseph Rowntree Foundation ‘A Minimum Income Standard for the UK in 2018’.
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/minimum-income-standard-uk-2018

Page 88

55

A single person must earn £18,400 a year to reach MIS; each parent in
a working couple with two children must earn £20,000. The minimum
wage remains too low to reach MIS, with widening shortfalls for some
groups. A lone parent with two children, working full-time, had
disposable income 4 percent below MIS in 2008 but 20 percent below
today.

56

Benefit levels and incomes available to lower-earning working
households have not kept up with rising costs, and these barriers are
preventing people from reaching a decent standard of living. In 2018,
benefits provide only a third of what working-age adults without children
need, down from 42 percent in 2008.

57

Despite tough economic times, the minimum household requirements
identified by members of the public have remained mainly similar over
the past decade.

Employment trends
58

Overall, the employment rate has been improving steadily in County
Durham but remains significantly below national levels. However, latest
data show just under three in four of the 16-64 population are in
employment in County Durham (74.2 percent) compared to just over
three-quarters nationally (75.5 percent):
Employment
rate April
2018 to
March 2019

59

Change in
employment
rate since 2012

More people in
employment
since 2012

County
Durham

74.2%

8.6

25,900

North East

71.1%

4.8

67,200

UK

75.2%

4.5

2,434,400

With regards to long term employment trends, the position in the county
has improved at a faster rate than the region and the country as a whole
since 2012, latest figures (April 2018 to March 2019) estimate that 74.2
percent (239,900 people) of the county’s 16 to 64 population are
employed. This is higher than the regional level of 71.1 percent but
lower than national level of 75.2 percent.

Page 89

60

Male employment is at a high of 78.9 percent (125,400 people) and
higher than the pre-recession peak of 77.6 percent almost 10 years
ago, (124,000 people, April 2007 to March 2008). The county rate is
similar to the national average at 79.8 percent.

61

Female employment is also at a high of 69.7 percent (114,500 people),
higher than the regional average at 68 percent but lower than the
national average at 70.7 percent.

62

The employment rate of younger people (16-24 age group) is 57.3
percent (31,100 young people), an increase from a 2012 low of 38.3
percent. Levels have remained stable over 2015 and 2018 after years
of post-recession volatility. This rate ion the county is now above the
regional average of 50.3 percent and the national average of 53.7
percent

63

Employment levels in the 25 to 49 age group are the highest out of all
the age groups, currently standing at 83.7 percent (137,300 people).
This is one of the highest levels recorded over the last 12 years.

64

68.1 percent of people aged 50 to 64 (71,400 people) were in
employment in the period April 2018 to March 2019, which was similar
to the regional level (67.5 percent) but lower than the national level at
72.0 percent.

65

Employment in the 65 plus age group has traditionally been low, but has
steadily increased since 2004 from 3.0 percent to 9.1 percent. However
it is still lower than national levels and is currently 1.6 percentage points
behind the England & Wales level of 10.7 percent.

66

Between 2013 and 2016, part-time employment in the county grew,
peaking at 28 percent during the period July 2015 to June 2016, of all
resident based employment in the county. It has since fallen to 24.4
percent more recently.

67

The change in part-time employment has meant that the proportion of
employed residents in full-time employment in the county has risen to a
post-recession high of 75.6 percent from a low of 71.2 percent in 2016
and is now above both the regional (74.3 percent) and national (75.3
percent) averages.

68

Currently 75.6 percent of employed residents in the county (187,900
people) work in the private sector, which is a slightly higher proportion
than the region (75.4 percent) but lower than the national average (79.0
percent).

69

The employment rate in County Durham for those with an Equality Act
(EA) core or work limiting disability is 47.7 percent, much lower than the

Page 90

rate for those without a disability (83.7 percent). Locally, for those with
no disability, the employment rate in the county is slightly higher than
the equivalent national average of 81.1 percent, however the
employment rate for disabled residents in the county is 6.5 percentage
points lower than in England & Wales where over half of those with an
EA core or work-limiting disability are employed (54.2percent). Since
2014, the local gap increased from 37 percentage points to 46.6
percentage points in 2016, but has now fallen to 36 points, while the
national gap has remained stable at around 27 percentage points.
70

Further information can be found in the Employment Factsheet on
www.durhaminsight.info.

Unemployment trends24
71

Unemployment levels have improved over the last three years. Latest
data25 show 10,500 people were unemployed in the period between
April 2018 to March 2019. This is equivalent to 4.2 percent of the 16-64
population, lower than the regional rate of 5.8 percent and the same as
the national rate of 4.2 percent. It should also be noted that
unemployment is now lower than pre-recession levels (which averaged
around 5.4 percent between 2004 and 2007). Further information can
be found in the Economic Inactivity Factsheet on
www.durhaminsight.info.

Economic inactivity
72

Since 2004, levels of economic inactivity have been greater in County
Durham than in England and Wales, with a slight downward trend over
this period. Economically inactive people are defined as being outside
of the labour market, as they are either not actively seeking work or are
not currently available for work. This could be for a variety of reasons,
commonly including being a full-time student, retired from work (but not
yet reached state pension age), looking after a family and being unable
to work because of sickness or disability.

73

The latest data (Annual Population Survey extracted from NOMIS April
2018 to March 2019) show that the level of economic inactivity in the 16
to 64 population had fallen to 22.6 percent (72,900 people) from a 12
year peak in the mid-recession period of 29.5 percent (96,500 people,
April 2009 to March 2010). Corresponding figures for the North East

24

ONS Employment Rate aged 16-64, Annual Population Survey extracted from NOMIS, for the latest
period April 2018 to March 2019. The unemployment rate differs in its calculation from Employment
rate as the denominator used is the economically active population rather than the 16-64 population.
25 ONS, Annual Population Survey extracted from NOMIS, for the latest period April 2018 to March
2019

Page 91

and England and Wales were 24.5 percent/27 percent and 21.2
percent/23.6 percent respectively.
74

Another aspect of this dataset is the difference between those people
economically inactive who want a job and those who do not. In County
Durham, nearly four fifths of the economically inactive, (79.2 percent or
57,800 people) do not want a job. Although this is a fall from 84.9
percent in April 2004-March 2005 it is now similar to the share across
the region (80.7 percent) and lower than nationally (79.5 percent).
Further information can be found in the Economic Inactivity Factsheet
on www.durhaminsight.info.

Zero hours contracts
75

There is no single agreed definition of ‘zero-hours contracts’. While
some contracts are explicitly called zero-hours contracts, there are
other definitions available and used in published statistics. The
common element to the definitions is the lack of a guaranteed minimum
number of hours. This common element is used by the Office for
National Statistics (ONS) in their business survey to estimate the
number of ‘zero hours’ contracts in use with data being available from
the national level down to the regional level.

76

The latest data from this survey covers the period April to June 2018
with comparison data from the previous year26. During this period 2.2
percent of people in employment in the North East were on ‘zero hour’
contracts totalling 26,300 contracts - a fall from 3.7 percent (44,600
contracts) from the previous year.

77

This data gives the North East the second lowest rate out of all English
regions in April to June 2018 and is lower than the England rate of 2.5
percent (671,400 contracts) and the UK rate of 2.4 percent (779,600
contracts). However, nationally the percentage and number has fallen
from 2.8 percent (757,800 contracts) in England and 2.8 percent
(883,500 contracts) in the UK in the period April to June 2017.

Wider poverty and social impacts
Shoplifting
78

It is difficult to identify whether there is a link between trends in
shoplifting and rollout of Universal Credit without DWP data. However,
working with Durham Constabulary, on an area by area basis, we have
examined localised crime data in relation to shoplifting, compared with

26 ONS - People in employment on a zero-hours contract:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/d
atasets/emp17peopleinemploymentonzerohourscontracts

Page 92

the phased roll out of Universal Credit. Although there were increases
within a number of areas coinciding with the roll out of UC, in the main
they were either not significant or after initial increases, returned to
normal levels of variance. Two areas demonstrated significantly higher
levels of shoplifting compared with previous years and continuing
increasing trends as opposed to initial spikes: Crook and Spennymoor.

Public Health funerals
79

Under the National Assistance Act 1948 and the Public Health (Control
of Disease) Act of the same year, the council has a duty to dispose of a
deceased body, if the person who died has no assets or if there are no
relatives who can make funeral arrangements.

80

Where no one is prepared to accept responsibility for the funeral or
estate, the council deals with the matters and seeks to recover the costs
if there are sufficient funds available.

81

Table 2 shows the number of such ‘public health funerals’ and the
number where costs were not recovered.

82

Since the roll out of Universal Credit in 2017 and 2018 the number of
unrecovered public health funerals has remained relatively static,
compared with previous years. However, because the numbers are so
low, it is not possible to draw any correlation between the incidence of
such funerals and the introduction of UC.
Table 2: Public health funerals in 2013-2019

Year

No. of public health funerals

No. unrecovered

2013

14

11

2014

15

12

2015

18

11

2016

11

7

2017

23

13

2018

25

12

2019

3

3

Page 93

Appendix 3: Key achievements against the poverty action plan

Attitudes to poverty and raising its profile through partnership with
agencies and individuals with direct involvement in poverty
1

The Council’s response to the welfare changes and poverty issues across the
county has been shared widely with the County Durham Partnership and has
involved working closely with many key partners.

2

A communications programme has been delivered to ensure that claimants
understand proposed changes and are signposted to the most appropriate
sources of advice, help and support when new changes were implemented
e.g. the reduction in the benefit cap in 2016 and the introduction of Universal
Credit (UC) from 2015.

3

Council employees, particularly those in customer-facing roles, have received
information and training to help them understand the changes and how the
council and partners can help, and sessions such as the ‘Routes out of
Poverty’ events continue to be delivered to continue to raise the awareness
and understanding of frontline staff on welfare and poverty issues.

County Durham Partnership
4

The council and the County Durham Partnership held four conferences
themed around welfare reform and poverty issues in 2012, 2013, 2014, and
2016.

5

All conferences include market places for display stands highlighting the work
of over 25 organisations and schemes across the county already helping
residents. Representatives from these organisations were also available to
talk about their innovative work and the impact on local communities.

6

The conferences focused on:

7

Page 94

(a)

issues faced by communities managing the impacts of welfare
reform;

(b)

examples of good practice from around the county;

(c)

identifying gaps and building on partnership working; and

(d)

issues around changing employment opportunities.

Approximately 400 delegates from over 50 organisations attended the four
conferences in total.

8

All events were well received and feedback was presented to the County
Durham Partnership and comments and suggestions relating to the Poverty
Action Plan were captured and fed into the plan where appropriate/practical.

Advice in County Durham Partnership
9

The partnership seeks to bring together statutory and community and
voluntary sector organisations under a ‘no wrong door’ approach, to improve
the co-ordination of advice services and ensure agencies work together to
support the needs of our communities.

10

To help co-ordinate and develop capacity to provide welfare and poverty
advice in the county, the council has worked with partners to support the
Advice in County Durham Partnership (AiCD).

11

In 2014 the council initially agreed to allocate £70,000 over two years to fund
a partnership co-ordinator and take a more active role in the Advice in County
Durham Partnership. Following this initial period, this role has now been
included into the council’s permanent staffing structure and the council has
granted additional funding of £90,000 over two years to fund a
Partnership/Network Development Officer, employed by Citizens Advice
County Durham, to help develop the partnership further. This has allowed the
partnership to grow considerably.

12

There are now 180 members of the AiCD partnership, and there have been
over 11,500 referrals via the AiCD partnership to date.

13

In January 2019 the AiCD were successful in securing £43,195 from the Big
Lottery’s Reaching Communities Fund to develop a new portal and updated
website.

14

The AiCD regularly facilitate network meetings, training courses and held a
conference on UC in 2018. Sessions such as the ‘Routes out of Poverty’
sessions, delivered in partnership with the council’s Housing Solutions team,
and designed to highlight the work of different organisations and services in a
table talk format are always well received with positive feedback from all
attendees.

15

Demand continues to be high for all events with nearly 700 attendees to the
29 events delivered in 2018-19, including representatives from Durham
Constabulary, MP Offices, NHS, social housing landlords, and the voluntary
and community sector.

Citizens Advice
16

The council currently commissions advice services from Citizens Advice
County Durham. The Service Level Agreement covers the core advice
services provision, plus three specific commissions from: Housing Solutions;
One Point; and Public Health. Monthly liaison meetings take place with CACD
and quarterly reports are presented to the council and summarised in reports
to the PASG.

Page 95

17

Generally there continues to be good outcomes being achieved across all
these areas, with significant financial outcomes being secured through
additional income and through management/write off of debt.

Area Action Partnerships
18

Many of the council’s 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) had previously
identified welfare reform and/or poverty as one of their key priorities and had
already supported various projects in their areas, focussing on the issues
which are particularly relevant to each local community.

19

The council has provided to date £840,000 of additional funding to each of the
14 AAPs from the Welfare Assistance Scheme in the form of an annual grant
of £10,000 since 2014.

20

This has helped to ensure a vast range of varied interventions across the
county, including projects linked to employability, training, helping residents
with transport for work, and helping residents cope with welfare changes or
poverty, such as access to guidance on benefits, foodbank projects and food
provision for children during school holidays.

21

To date the AAPs have delivered 86 projects reflecting the diverse needs of
the county’s residents and have attracted £1,381,000 of match funding.
These projects have supported over 21,000 beneficiaries.

22

These projects are designed to tackle issues at a local level such as
employability, food poverty, fuel poverty, housing and isolation etc. Projects
included:

Page 96

•

Derwent Valley AAP – financial support to the foodbank provision
in Consett to provide additional advice for clients attending the
foodbank on money and budgeting;

•

Weardale AAP – financial support to fund a rural advice worker to
provide home visits to help residents check benefit entitlement
and make claims;

•

Bishop Auckland and Shildon, and Spennymoor AAPs – financial
support to employability skills projects to assist unemployed
individuals on the road to future employment;

•

Great Aycliffe and Middridge Partnership AAP – financial support
to the Pioneering Care Trust to deliver a series of community
roadshows in partnership with statutory and voluntary partners
which aim to support local people affected by welfare reform and
the associated issues; and

•

East Durham AAP – funding to provide activities and meals for
families with children during the school summer holiday period.

Social justice pilots
23

During 2014-16, partnership work in the Crook area and East Durham area
improved understanding of how the new benefits regime was affecting
individuals. Through a greater awareness of how benefits are processed and
the requirement to avoid sanctions, support agencies are better informed and
are helping to improve welfare and wellbeing outcomes for customers
receiving DWP benefits and ensure that clients do not lose their entitlement,
particularly those who are vulnerable and/or have particularly challenging
circumstances.

24

The approach took a ‘customer centric’ view of the support that customers
may receive at the same time from different organisations and considers
whether relevant agencies can improve the effectiveness of this support for
individual customers. This helped identify the impact on individuals with
mental health issues, drug and alcohol dependency and recent offending.

25

Participants in the project included the DWP Regional Office, local Jobcentre
Plus, Probation Service, NHS, Salvation Army, Citizens Advice Bureau, and
council service teams including the area action partnership, Housing
Solutions, Revenues and Benefits, Stronger Families and Welfare Rights.

26

A number of issues were identified by partner agencies including a lack of
basic skills within some customer groups, increasing numbers of people with
financial difficulties and debt problems, travel and transport difficulties for
customers in attending venues where support is available, the impact of
benefit sanctions and the difficulties some customers with chaotic lifestyles
experience in prioritising appointments.

27

The project raised awareness amongst partner agencies of the support
available locally. This included Jobcentre Plus briefings, a Jobcentre Plus
open day, a benefit sanctions workshop and mapping of local resources.

28

Building on the work undertaken, formal complaints to the Department for
Work and Pensions concerning clients in the area decreased and there was
now a sense of shared responsibility amongst the organisations involved to
work together, particularly between the voluntary and public sectors.

Housing providers
29

The Housing Welfare Reform Group was established in 2012 and has worked
successfully to understand and plan for the changes brought about by welfare
reform and to monitor the impact. It provides an opportunity for the larger
social landlords in County Durham to come together and share best practice,
coordinate their work, monitor the impact and plan for the future, and is
facilitated by the council’s Housing Solutions and Revenues and Benefits
teams.

30

The group continues to work together in relation to the poverty agenda and
the impact on housing in County Durham, and it supports the delivery of the
Poverty Action Plan through activities such as the ‘triage’ process which was

Page 97

adopted in 2012 and is still delivered by the group to help advise and support
tenants in achieving positive outcomes for their personal circumstances. The
outcomes can include maximising income, addressing and resolving debt, and
gaining employment.
31

As a result of this partnership working, the expected rise in rent arrears has
generally been prevented and there have been no evictions where the arrears
were as a result of the under-occupancy charge only.

Focus on child poverty
Child poverty workshop at ‘Big Tent Event’
32

The Health and Wellbeing Board hosted a Big Tent Engagement Event in
2016 to gather the views of stakeholders.

33

The event was well attended by stakeholders ranging from service users,
patients, carers, representatives from the voluntary and community sector and
other NHS and local authority partners.

34

The PASG facilitated a workshop at the event on child poverty. This
workshop looked to share information and gather views from participants in
relation to the partnership actions to reduce child poverty, with a particular
focus on health.

35

Feedback from this event was extremely positive and captured and fed into
the Poverty Action Plan where appropriate/practical.

‘Cutting the cost of the school day’
36

This group is currently delivering the ‘Cutting the cost of the school day’
programme which aims to: raise awareness of child poverty within schools
and educational establishments in County Durham; identify where costs are
negatively affecting low income families and increasing financial pressure; and
provide guidance and suggestions to how to reduce all costs associated with
sending a child to school.

37

The original target was to deliver this training to 100 schools during the
2018/19 academic year, however it is expected that approximately 140 will
have accessed training by end of July 2019. Feedback to date is very
positive.

Child Poverty Charter
38

Page 98

A ‘Child Poverty Charter’ has been developed by the Child Poverty Working
Group in consultation with partners and young people, and will be rolled out
from September 2019. We will be asking all partners across County Durham
to join together to mitigate the effects of poverty on children and young people
by signing this charter, and committing to a series of actions to help ensure
we meet our aim “children, young people and families have the resources to
their basic needs including accessing opportunities to take part in society”.

Family Centre offer
39

The council’s family centres have increased their offer to help cater for the
more practical needs of their residents who may be experiencing poverty
issues. For example, all 15 Family Centres now provide:

•

access to a community pantry with free non-perishable foods;

•

signposting and awareness raising of community fridges and food
banks;

•

clothes rails including winter coats, smart clothes suitable for
interviews etc;

•

personal hygiene packs, including Red Box period poverty packs;
and

•

access to Citizen Advice Bureau, Credit Unions and budgeting
training programmes.

Head teachers conference
40

The council’s Education Development Service held a conference in 2016 for
County Durham head teachers and other school staff on child poverty and
transforming the lives of vulnerable children.

41

The event focussed on poverty-proofing the school day and ensuring best
effective use of the pupil premium.

Review of take-up of Free School Meals
42

The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee
conducted a review of the take-up of free school meals (FSM) during 2016-17.

43

Take-up in primary schools remains consistently high and there is universal
provision of free school meals in key stage one (reception, year one and year
two). However, in secondary schools there has been a decreasing roll number
and academies are not required to report their meal figures to the local
authority. Information presented to the Children and Young People’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in February 2016 suggests that there is a
lower take up of free school meals by secondary school pupils.

44

Feedback on the FSM checking system operated by the authority was sought
from schools to identify benefits and where improvements may be needed,
and a campaign was delivered to schools, parents, carers and frontline staff to
promote the council’s eligibility checking system to help increase the take-up
of free school meals and remove the stigma associated with FSM.

45

Since 2013, children in all families moving to Universal Credit have been
eligible for free school meals. The government introduced this as a temporary

Page 99

measure, which expanded eligibility, and in April 2018 introduced a new
income threshold to replace this.
46

Government guidance for schools is clear that during the roll-out of UC, once
a child is eligible they do not lose entitlement to free school meals and no
further eligibility checks will be required. Therefore during the run up to this
change, colleagues in Children and Young People’s Service targeted schools
and families to ensure that residents applied for free school meals, even
during a short period of eligibility, as this will give their child ongoing
entitlement for the next four years or more.

Free 30 hours’ Early Years places
47

In September 2017, the government introduced 30 hours a week free child
care for three and four year olds to support working parents, with childcare
being available anytime between 6.00am and 8.00 pm, seven days per week
(to support shift workers).

48

In September 2019 the take up figure of children accessing a 30 hour place is
3,735 which represents an increase of 11.13 percent term on term.

49

Initial concerns that the provision of additional 30 hour places would
potentially negatively impact on the availability and take up of places for
disadvantaged two year olds has not happened, with the number of two year
olds accessing a place for September 2019 coming in at 1,982 which is only
slightly down on the 1,993 accessing in September last year. In fact the
numbers of eligible children provided by the DWP has gone down recently so
we have done very well to maintain the numbers accessing, and on the basis
of the most recent list for June 2019 we are showing an up take of 96 percent.

Early Years Pupil Premium
50

Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) is a grant that gives providers of early
years education extra funding to support disadvantaged three and four year
olds. Early years providers use this extra funding to improve the quality of
education for disadvantaged children and it is the equivalent of an extra 53p
per hour on the funding rate or £302 per year for each qualifying child.

51

Providers have been encouraged to ensure that they claim the grant on behalf
of parents with eligible children. and the take up for this additional grant has
increased from 1,462 children claiming in September 2018, to 1,665 children
claiming in September 2019.

Financial awareness in schools
52

Page 100

Staff in Regeneration and Local Services are also currently working with
schools to establish ‘financial literacy champions’ to raise financial awareness
and promote a savings culture in conjunction with work already being
delivered around credit unions. Over 2,500 children have started saving with
credit unions and staff are also working with Durham Housing Group and
Leisureworks to engage with any schools which they work with.

Holiday Hunger
53

The Child Poverty Working Group has been looking at the issue of holiday
hunger. Its sub-group, the Holiday Activities with Food Group’s work has
included: capturing and publicising holiday activity provision (with or without
food); joining up and co-ordinating activities within local areas; and delivering
a programme of activities and healthy food provision for some of our most
vulnerable children and young people during 2018’s six week summer school
holiday and October half term.

54

Whilst the focus has been on holiday hunger there are additional benefits of
doing this work around promoting healthy activity and encouraging children to
get involved in group/social activities.

55

In 2018 we: gave out 76,800 healthy snacks to children and young people
using our leisure centres and libraries; provided week long activities and
lunches for 74 young people; provided 369 complimentary swim sessions for
children and young people; and 260 children and young people benefitted
from free healthy lunches whilst they attended our week long FISCH
programme (Family initiative supporting children's health).

56

Despite being unsuccessful with a recent bid for Department for Education
funding to co-ordinate the delivery of summer 2019 holiday activities with
food, the council has continued to support and develop work with providers
across County Durham for the 2019 summer holidays, focussing mainly on
co-ordination and support. The group has also secured £150,000 from the
PASG to support and enhance the co-ordination, delivery and evaluation of
sustainable, universal, food and holiday activity provision across County
Durham for the period July 2019 to September 2020.

Credit and Debt
Council Tax Reduction Scheme
57

Through our Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, the council continues to
protect economically vulnerable working age people from the 10 percent
national cut which was made to Council Tax Support. This scheme has been
extended for a further year into 2019/20 in order to maintain the same level of
benefit support provided before the scheme was changed in 2013, providing
valuable support to many in need. Durham County Council is now the only
local authority in the North East to provide residents with this same level of
support.

58

The policy has protected vulnerable residents at a time when welfare reform
changes have had a significant adverse impact with over 27,000 of all
claimants currently receiving 100 percent council tax discount. Since 2013,
the following levels of financial support have been offered through council tax
reductions:

Page 101

59

Year

Amount awarded

No. of claims

2013

£52,420,852.28

77962

2014

£52,220,575.09

75938

2015

£51,571,814.20

73583

2016

£51,739,546.83

71981

2017

£52,899,286.12

70034

2018

£54,639,371.30

69277

2019

£57,435,186.15

62972

In 2017 Cabinet agreed the introduction of a care leavers' Council Tax
reduction scheme, aimed at helping young people adjust to living on their
own. This policy means that anyone aged under 25 and leaving care will not
have to pay council tax if they are the only person paying the bill. Additionally,
any care leaver who moves into another household will see the bill reduced by
50 per cent. Since 2017, Since 2013, the following levels of financial support
have been offered to care leavers through council tax reductions:
Year

Amount awarded

No. of records

2017

£55,268.37

129

2018

£102,837.97

219

2018

£138,181.98

200

‘Triage’
60

Page 102

A ‘triage’ process was adopted in 2012 and is still delivered by the group to
help advise and support customers in achieving positive outcomes for their
personal circumstances. These outcomes can include maximising income,
addressing and resolving debt, gaining employment and finding affordable
alternative accommodation. Since the triage process was introduced almost
12,000 tenants and residents in poverty have been assisted and supported by
housing providers and staff within Housing Solutions.

Private rented tenants
61

There are currently four posts within the council’s Housing Solutions service
whose role is to support tenants affected by welfare reform and poverty
issues. These posts are funded up until March 2020 and the staff are mainly
engaging and working with tenants in the private rented sector. The staff
support approximately 1,000 clients per year who contact Housing Solutions
stating they are in financial difficulty.

62

From April 2018 to June 2019 over 357 cases dealt with by Housing Solutions
have resulted in positive outcomes, in addition to the 220 cases which are
either ongoing or require advice only.

Discretionary Housing Payments
63

Through its Discretionary Housing Payments policy, the council has made
awards to over 8,400 tenants, which has helped towards meeting their
housing costs during the period 1 April 2013 and 7 July 2019.

64

The policy has been monitored closely and detailed regular forecasts
presented to the PASG to assess levels of expenditure and demand on
budget. Where necessary the policy has been reviewed and revised to
ensure it reaches those most in need.

65

Since 2013 the council has overspent its government grant and topped up
from council funding such as the Welfare Assistance Scheme to ensure that
no residents are turned down due to lack of budget. To date we have added
circa £544,000 to the DHP budget from council funding, and in total will have
spent over £8.6 million helping tenants who have a shortfall in their housing
benefit by the end of this financial year.

Welfare Assistance Scheme
66

The council continues to provide its Welfare Assistance Scheme, which
provides emergency and crisis support to fill the gap left by the termination of
the government’s Social Fund and Crisis Loans. In April 2015, the scheme
was brought in-house and is now being delivered directly by the council, using
existing service teams in Revenues and Benefits, with a £1 million budget
(including administrative costs).

67

Since April 2013, the council has awarded over 5,920 daily living expenses to
residents to help with their daily living costs, and over 3,920 settlement grants
to help residents settle or remain in the community. This equals nearly £3.4
million of awards made to County Durham residents.

68

The scheme is kept under review to ensure it as accessible as possible for
those who need it. Recent changes have been made to provide additional
support for those affected by UC and to include items such as baby milk,
nappies and hygiene products with the daily living expenses element.

Page 103

69

Research released in September 2018 by Greater Manchester Poverty Group
Action shows there has been a collapse in crisis support in some parts of the
country and that local authorities across England are struggling to maintain
well-funded effective Welfare Assistance Schemes. This research recognised
that Durham County Council’s scheme is one of a few across the country to
be still in operation and providing a similar level and type of support to the
government’s Social Fund and Crisis Loans.

70

This research commented “funding for Durham County Council's scheme has
been held constant in each of the last three financial years and the number of
applications for support has remained steady.”

Benefit take-up and income maximisation initiatives
71

The council’s Welfare Rights Campaigns Team has been and continues to run
a core take-up campaign aimed at County Durham residents aged 75 or over.
The goal is to reach out to potential claimants in that age group to ensure that
they are in receipt of all benefits which they are eligible for, and to aid with any
appropriate claims identified.

72

In the 2018/2019 financial year, the team raised £1,012,400, including arrears
or £848,050 excluding arrears. In April 2019, the team have recorded gains of
£241,603 including arrears, or £217,157 excluding arrears in relation to the
same.

73

In addition to this team, a further Welfare Rights post has been funded, from
PASG reserves, to work with Children and Young People’s Services to
support care leavers. During the last quarter appointments have taken place
with 82 young people. The outcomes from this work have resulted in a total
value of awards for care leavers amounting to £28,187, bringing the total
value of awards secured to date for care leavers to £160,977.

74

Overall, the council’s Welfare Rights service and Citizens Advice County
Durham have assisted claimants to secure over £25.66 million of benefits
claims in 2018/19.

Fuel poverty
75

The County Durham Fuel Poverty Strategy and Action Plan co-ordinates
actions with partner organisations to reduce levels of fuel poverty in County
Durham and is co-ordinated by the County Durham Energy and Fuel Poverty
Partnership.

76

As well as the promotion of government initiatives, included in the action plan
are a number of projects delivered by the council to help address fuel poverty
by: providing energy switching guidance; energy debt advice and support; and
fuel poverty grant application process support etc.

77

Since 2013, the County Durham Energy and Fuel Poverty Partnership has
assisted over 9,100 residents with over £13.4million worth of energy saving
solutions.

Page 104

78

Included in this figure is the council’s Managing Money Better project which
commenced in 2017 and in the first two years the Energy Advisor has carried
out over 1,000 home visits to residents and achieved over £132,500 savings
on energy bills, fuel debt write-off and Warm Homes Discount grants.

79

This project also received national recognition when Lynne Grange, Managing
Money Better Energy Advisor was presented with a Heat Hero award at
Westminster by NEA, the national fuel poverty charity, for helping residents
reduce their home energy bills and writing off fuel debts for vulnerable
households.

Financial Inclusion
80

The Durham Savers project continues to raise the profile of the credit unions,
and staff savings with the credit unions are over £1,770,000. The project also
continues to work with local business and so far 30 businesses are engaging
with the project, most recently Banks Group, Learning Curve and Taylor Made
Timber.

81

The council continues to work closely with the local credit unions and training
around financial awareness, dangers of using doorstep and payday lenders
and credit union promotion has been delivered to frontline staff in the council’s
Housing Solutions, Public Health, Customer Services and Think Family
teams. A new training programme for the council’s People and Talent
Management teams rolls out in September 2019.

82

Following the review of the Welfare Assistance Scheme in 2017/18 Cabinet
agreed to allocate £10,000 to the NE First Credit Union to augment the
settlement grant element of the Welfare Assistance Scheme and to help
prevent residents turning to payday lenders etc. The £10,000 was provided to
under-write the provision of low-cost loans for replacement white goods and
furniture. The Council effectively acts as guarantor for the loan to the applicant
for the purchase of the goods from a nominated supplier.

Adult learning and skills/community learning provision
83

The council’s Adult Learning and Skills Service uses its community learning
grant to support learners to develop new skills, increase their confidence, and
improve their health and well-being. During 2018/19 the service delivered
learning through 31 sub-contractors, the majority of which are small VCS
providers, to almost 7,000 learners. The service prioritises individuals who
are disadvantaged and least likely to participate in learning, including those
who are unemployed; have learning difficulties and/or disabilities; have mental
health issues; are experiencing poverty; do not have English as first language;
are Care Leavers; are recovering from substance misuse; and are
experiencing domestic violence.

84

For the first time in 2018/19 the service commissioned holiday activities to
support the delivery of the Child Poverty Action Plan. Activities, which focus
on healthy lifestyles and include the provision of food, supported
approximately 800 adults and over 1,000 children this summer just gone.

Page 105

Foodbanks
85

The provision of support to foodbanks has been an element in a significant
number of AAP projects since 2014, both in providing foodbank assistance,
but also in building on the delivery of food assistance to offer vulnerable
clients additional services.

86

The Durham Foodbank report they have provided enough food to feed 16,004
people (10,432 adults and 5,572 children) in the 10 month period to 31
January 2019. Based on the average use of the foodbank being 1.6 times,
this would give a total of 10,000 unique individuals receiving food parcels in
the first 10 months on this year. This is a 10 percent increase year on year.

87

The FEED project has distributed 1,375 food parcels in the 10 month period to
31 January 2019, which is a 44 percent increase year on year.

88

In 2018 Cabinet also agreed to provide financial support to the foodbanks, for
example:

89

•

The Durham Foodbank – £50,000 annual grant to fund part of their
core countywide infrastructure, on the basis that this complements
and augmented the Daily Living expenses provided under the
Welfare Assistance Scheme;

•

FEED Project (East Durham Trust) – £2,700 annual contribution to
increase capacity/ability to support residents in East Durham, on
the basis that this complements and augmented the Daily Living
expenses provided under the Welfare Assistance Scheme and via
the Foodbank coverage in this area.

Staff at the council tirelessly support many good causes year after year, and
beneficiaries include some of the organisations which are helping those
residents impacted by the government’s changes to welfare and austerity.
This includes providing much needed donations of basic food items and
Christmas treats to the Durham Foodbank.

Further Welfare Reform and Benefit Changes
90

The Poverty Action Steering Group is overseeing the council’s response to the
change and where possible we work closely with our partners including the
DWP to understand who is affected, the level of impact and the dates when
the changes will be introduced.

91

This has helped us deliver targeted work with partners to ensure that we
support those residents affected, through our ‘triage’ process and the use of
Discretionary Housing Payments to provide short term financial support,
where required etc.

Page 106

Under Occupancy
92

While the total number of tenants under occupying as at April 2013 was 8,001,
there have been no evictions where the rent arrears were as a result of the
under-occupancy charge only. In part this is due to the targeted proactive
support and intervention the council and its partners delivered prior to April
2013, and the introduction of new protocols including ‘triage’ which still remain
in place to intervene and assist tenants to prevent eviction. The total number
of tenants under-occupying was decreasing slowly and in May 2016 stood at
6,733 however we are now unable at the moment to track those tenants who
are claiming UC as this data is now held by DWP.

Benefit Cap
93

Residents impacted by the benefit cap, and the reduced cap were also
targeted in advance of implementation to offer advice and support from the
council’s Welfare Rights team for benefit maximisation purposes and the
Housing Solution team visited affected household to discuss the changes and
to offer help and support such as advice on more affordable housing,
budgeting to help tenants manage their household income, and employment
and training advice. No County Durham residents have been evicted solely
due to the benefit cap.

Independent Living Fund
94

In County Durham, it was agreed that all council service users receiving ILF
(114 people) would have a social work review prior to the end of June 2015
and that the same level of service currently being received via ILF and the
council would continue until a full review has been undertaken later in
2015/16.

95

All service users with ILF have been reviewed and these services have been
incorporated into individual care plans.

96

All funding has been ring-fenced to those individuals already accessing it, but
all services will be subject to review in the future in line with the Care Act and
eligibility criteria.

Disability Living Allowance to Personal Independence Payments
97

The Welfare Rights Service undertook a campaign to assist people with
learning disabilities with their transition from DLA to PIP. They identified
people living in Shared Lives Placements and Supported Accommodation who
would be financially better off by electing to claim PIP and completed the work
with Shared Lives placements. Any new placements coming forward are
checked and migrated over if appropriate. All those migrated received an
increase in their Daily Living component and the majority have received an
increase in the mobility component payable.

Page 107

Universal Credit
98

The strong collaboration and partnership both internally within Durham County
Council and with key stakeholders including the DWP, local housing
providers, Citizens Advice County Durham and Advice in County Durham
Partnership has led to the council’s approach in planning for the roll out to UC
in County Durham being identified as a best practice model by the DWP.

99

As a result of the adopted approach of delivering a comprehensive action
plan, complimented by a comprehensive communications and engagement
plan and a separate training plan we were able to ensure that:

Page 108

(a)

all UC claimants entitle to Council Tax Reduction were made aware
and have reclaimed - we have not seen a reduction in our Council Tax
Reduction caseload as many authorities have;

(b)

process maps were developed to illustrate how we closed the Gateway
for Housing Benefit claims. These processes have been used by both
the Customer Services and Assessment teams to successfully support
claimants and mitigate the impact of incorrect applications;

(c)

to mitigate the impact of the Council Office closures over the Christmas
period, 25 December 2017 to 2 January 2018 and in light of the fact
that Jobcentres were open during this period. Pre-emptive action was
taken to mitigate delays;

(d)

since the roll out of Universal credit, we provided support for claimants
across the County. With funding provided through the DWP we
provided vital face to face and telephone support for over 6,000
claimants. We assisted 2,060 people in making their online claim; given
general advice to 3,529; dealt with 406 change of circumstances;
signposted 41 to foodbanks; helped 29 to get advice on debt
management; advised 162 on information relating to the services of the
DWP; and offered personal budgeting support to 75;

(e)

we deployed skilled and well-trained Digital Assistants into communities
through our libraries, leisure centres and customer access points as
well as working with partners including housing provider’s jobcentres
and Citizens Advice Bureaus (CAB);

(f)

a conference on Universal Credit in September 2017 was organised
and hosted by the Advice Partnership prior to roll out which
emphasised the Council’s commitment to partnership working, and it
made it clear that Universal Credit was a multi-agency issue and that
every organisation was part of the delivery solution; and

(g)

the training and development strategy was delivered and proved to be
both successful and well received by colleagues in all service areas
and partnership organisations.

Work, increasing employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth
Employment and Employability Initiatives
100

Using employment initiatives as a way of responding to the changes to the
welfare system, the PASG set up to £1.65 million from the Welfare Assistance
Scheme budget to develop a specific employability and wage subsidy scheme
to help disadvantaged people into work. The overall aim of the project was to
support individuals affected by welfare reform and either support them in
becoming closer to the employment market or to assist those who would like
to explore self-employment as a route to improving their life chances and
achieving a positive outcome.

101

The scheme provides access to training and work-based learning, skills
provision, financial support, wage subsidies for employers and targeted
discretionary support where required. To July 2019, the scheme has provided
skills training to 920 individuals, assisted 1010 individuals into employment
and supported 70 people into self-employment.

102

Some examples of the skills training provided include: HETAS 03 (Registered
installer of solid fuel, wood and biomass heating solutions); CPCS Dumper
Truck; 17th Edition Electrical Installation; LGV Class 2; Gym Instruction;
CPCS Crane Supervisor; Slinger and Signalling; Site Management; Level 3
Education and Training; Cytech Bicycle Mechanics; and ADR Transporting
Hazardous Goods.

103

Examples where the discretionary spending has been used include licences,
food and fuel subsistence until salary payments begin, rent and council tax
payments, DBS applications, personal protection equipment, tools, a moped
to support travel to employment in a rural area with poor transport links and
travel to work.

104

The self-employment strand of the programme was managed by Business
Durham but delivered through County Durham Enterprise Agencies:
Derwentside; Chester-le-Street; South Durham; and East Durham. The key
elements of the project were an initial diagnostic to assess eligibility and the
type of support needed, vouchers to buy one-to-one personalised support and
advice (which can be used pre and post start) and access to a small start-up
grant if needed.

The County Durham Apprenticeship programme
105

The County Durham Apprenticeship programme was funded from November
2011 to January 2017 and provided comprehensive support to help young
people progress into apprenticeships and to ensure that young people had the
skills that local businesses needed. The initiative supported 1,073 young
people into apprenticeships.

Page 109

DurhamWorks
106

The DurhamWorks Programme has been led by Progression and Learning
team with the Children and Young People’s Services working with a number
of delivery partners including the Economic Development (Employability)
team. The programme is aimed at the progression of young people (16-24
years old) into employment, education and training. DurhamWorks has grown
into a £29 million programme which is seeking to support almost 10,000
unemployed 16-24 year olds by summer 2021. To date, it has engaged with
6,072 participants of which 3,166 have completed the programme. Of those
who have completed, 88.1 percent have progressed, the majority into
employment. The success of the programme was recognised when it was
granted an extension and a further £12 million of funding last year. Further
programme funding applications are in hand, which if successful, would
enable the scheme to continue to the support unemployed young people in
the county through to the end of 2023.

Durham Advance
107

The Durham Advance initiative was launched in July 2018 and provides
support to unemployed residents (25 years and older) who have health
conditions and specifically to over 50s with other barriers to employment. To
date, 396 participants have been registered to the programme and 108 have
moved into employment or self-employment. The programme is funded until
March 2021.

Community Led Local Development
108

The Community Led Local Development (CLLD) programmes – North Durham
Assist and Employability Mentoring were approved in October 2018 and
support unemployed residents (25 years and older) in the specific areas of
Spennymoor, Bishop Auckland, Chester-le-Street and Stanley. To date, 175
participants have registered with the programme and 69 have moved into
employment, training or job search activities. The CLLD initiatives are
approved until September 2021.

L!NKCD
109

Page 110

The L!NKCD initiative has been approved from 1 July 2019 until 30 June
2022. This is a £3.3million programme to support unemployed housing
tenants, ex-offenders, homeless and members of the Gypsy Roma Traveller
community. The project is delivered through internal and external partners:
LIVIN Housing; Karbon Homes; Changing Lives; and Housing Solutions. The
aim of the programme is to support individuals into employment, training,
education or volunteering and will support over 1,200 participants.

Appendix 4: Durham County Council – Poverty Action Steering
Group
Poverty Action Strategy 2019-21 v1.1

Purpose
This is our Poverty Action Strategy (PAS) which aims to provide focus and direction on the priorities
for improving services and opportunities for residents in County Durham who are experiencing
poverty. This strategy covers a two-year period to September 2021.
For those responsible for delivering services, any future work programmes should contribute to
achieving the aims set out in this strategy.

Introduction
The Council has worked closely with many key partners since 2011 to help County Durham residents
cope with the changes to welfare introduced by the Welfare Reform Act 2012. In recognition of the
wider impact of the changes on the County, the scope was broadened in 2015 to take a more
comprehensive overview of poverty issues.
The council’s Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG) co-ordinates the delivery of a range of new and
existing policy work which seeks to achieve a much broader understanding of the issues affecting
residents, resulting from continuing changes to welfare and other issues which mean that residents
can experience poverty. Building on this understanding, the group seeks to identify actions to
support residents and help address identified inequalities through our Poverty Action Plan (PAP).
The PAP was approved by Cabinet in October 2015 and progress on delivery has regularly been
reported to Cabinet and to our partners via the County Durham Partnership and our 14 Area Action
Partnerships (AAPs).
Following regular progress updates to the council’s Cabinet and partners, we have recently revised
this PAP. This provided us with the opportunity to consider whether our current approach is the
right one, and whether the strategic aims we had in place enabled us to deliver our goal of working
with our partners to reduce and address poverty as far as possible across County Durham.
We know there are considerable challenges ahead if we are to deliver on our vision. In order to
overcome these challenges, we have introduced a new Poverty Action Strategy which includes the
revised Poverty Action Plan (PAP) and sets out what needs to be achieved in the next two years, in
relation to each of our key priorities. The PAP includes a renewed focus on ensuring our strategies,
policies, plans and programmes all link together to ensure a consistent and ongoing focus on our
residents who experiencing poverty. It includes new actions and commitments which will enable us
to deliver the key priorities we have identified as being most important for reducing poverty levels in
County Durham.

Page 111

Vision
Our vision is to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in County Durham
who are currently experiencing poverty; and to help alleviate issues that can lead households on low
incomes to experience financial pressures.

Strategic Aims
The reduction in local authority funding is set to continue and over the next few years will inevitably
impact further on frontline services. We therefore need to continue to increase our understanding
of the local impacts of change, so that when we have to reduce spending and service delivery, we
can continue to mitigate the impacts where we can, through well thought-out and targeted
approaches. To achieve the best possible outcomes of our vision for residents experiencing poverty,
our strategic aims are:
•
•
•
•

To improve our understanding of the types of poverty and its impacts on County Durham
residents;
To increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth of residents;
Residents receive the best support and advice available concerning their financial situation;
and
Children, young people and families have the resources to meet their basic needs including
accessing opportunities to take part in society.

Key Priorities
Underpinning our strategic aims are the key priorities and detailed actions in our revised Poverty
Action Plan 2019-2021. This plan ensures we build on improvements already made and deliver new
initiatives required to support our residents experiencing the various types and levels of poverty.

Resources
New working groups will be established to deliver some of the actions where necessary, although it
is expected a lot of the activity can be delivered through existing resources and organisations.
Working with partners from across the public, private and third sector will continue to underpin our
approach. The council has consistently recognised we cannot reduce poverty on our own:
collaboration and a focus on delivering common outcomes remains a top priority.

Governance
The council’s Poverty Action Steering Group will continue to provide leadership and direction in
delivering against the PAP.

Page 112

The PASG will:
•
•
•
•

Monitor the situation across the County;
Make practical recommendations for policy and action to address the issues identified;
Improve co-ordination and co-operation between service groupings and organisations
working to address poverty at a local level; and
Monitor the delivery of the PAP established to respond to the issues identified.

Monitoring and Review
Annual reports will be provided to the council’s Cabinet and the County Durham Partnership, as well
as updates to partners and other organisations.
The PAS will be subject to review every two years when the aims and priorities are revisited, and the
strategy and action plan will be revised to ensure that it is current and reflects the communities in
County Durham and what our residents are telling us.

Page 113

Page 114

Poverty Action Steering Group

Poverty Action Strategy Plan on a Page 2019-2021

Vision: to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in County Durham who are currently experiencing poverty; and to help
alleviate issues that can lead households on low incomes to experience financial pressures.

Strategic
Aims

Key
Priorities

1. To improve our
understanding of the types of
poverty and its impacts on
County Durham residents

1.1. Have a greater understanding
of population needs, pooling all
data/intelligence across a broad
range of services/partners and
analysing data to inform practice
and use of resources.
1.2. All staff providing frontline
services and Members understand
poverty and how it affects
communities and families within
County Durham and information is
easily available to help residents.
1.3. All partners work collectively
and think about how their work can
help address the issues associated
with poverty.

2. To increase employability,
personal wellbeing and sense
of worth of residents

2.1. Have a greater understanding
of inequalities in employment and
analyse data to identify increased
opportunities to support residents
into training and/or work.
2.2. Residents who experience
health/mental health issues and are
affected by poverty/changes to
welfare receive the most
appropriate advice and support
from DCC.

3. Residents receive the best
support and advice available
concerning their financial
situation

3.1. Durham County Council
continues to provide financial
support for residents affected by
poverty and/or changes to welfare
where it can.
3.2. Residents receive the financial
support which they are entitled to
(i.e. non DCC financial support.
3.3. Young people in County
Durham have a high level of
knowledge for basic personal
finance.
3.4. Residents are aware of the
dangers of using pay day and
doorstep lenders and have access
to alternative means of support.

4.Children, young people and
families have the resources to
meet their basic need,
including accessing
opportunities to take part in
society
4.1. Narrow the gap in access to
culture, leisure, sport and health for
children and young people.
4.2. Raise aspirations and
resilience of children and young
people in County Durham making
the move into work easier so they
reach their full potential.

Durham County Council – Poverty Action Steering Group
2019-2021 Poverty Plan v1.1

1.

To improve our understanding of
the types of poverty and its
impact on County Durham
residents

Aim

Key priorities

Actions

1.1. Have a greater
understanding of
population needs,
pooling all
data/intelligence
across a broad
range of
services/partners
and analysing data
to inform practice
and use of
resources.

1.1.a. Produce Joint Service Needs Assessment (JSNA)
factsheets on poverty and share via Durham Insights to help
inform practice/service development/partnership working
etc.
1.1.b Use internal and where available external data to
develop insight and profiles of groups (including housing
data), likely to be impacted by poverty in order to improve
communications and engagement with target groups.

Due date
Refreshed six monthly:

Owner
Michael Fleming

March 2020
September 2020
Full programme
completed by March
2021

Paul Darby

Page 115

Page 116

Aim

Key priorities
1.2. All staff
providing frontline
services and
Members
understand
poverty and how it
affects
communities and
families within
County Durham
and information is
easily available to
help residents.

Actions

Owner

1.2.a. Develop content for induction programme and
existing employees and Member communications covering
poverty in the county, impacts on residents, alleviation
measures and signposting to advice and support, so that
staff are able to spot poverty and know what to do to help

December 2019

Emma Gardner/Alison
Lazazzera/Michelle
Atkinson

1.2.b. Include financial wellbeing in the council’s Better
Health at Work Award programme

December 2019

Amanda Healy

March 2020

Michelle Atkinson

March 2020

Victoria Murray

1.3.a. Research and develop poverty alleviation measures
including the Durham Living Wage through social value
provisions in procurement contracts. Promote through
procurement processes and Business Durham business
liaison.

March 2020

Darren Knowd

1.3.b. Develop toolkit for local organisations to help their
employees, for example signposting information, promotion
of salary savings schemes with local credit unions, access to
ICT to make online claims.

March 2020

Graham Wood/Brian
Archer

1.2.c. Review and revise information and correspondence on
council tax, benefits and concessionary support to reduce
jargon, simplify and make more customer friendly (in line
with the council’s ‘outside-in’ principle).
1.2.d Review and revise customer service procedures and
processes in order to join-up welfare advice and support at
the first point of contact with a resident. To provide a
holistic support offer for residents

1.3. All partners
work collectively
and think about
how their work
can help address
the issues
associated with
poverty.

Due date

1.3.c. Promote and increase Durham Living Wage
accreditation among employers in County Durham.
1.3.d. Coordinate a partnership with landlords to share best
practice and understand the impacts of poverty.

Brian Archer
September 2020
June 2020
Marie Smith

2. To increase employability, personal wellbeing and sense of worth of residents

Aim

Key priorities

Actions

2.1. Have a greater
understanding of
inequalities in
employment and
analyse data to
identify increased
opportunities to
support residents
into training
and/or work.

2.1.a. Undertake a health and social needs analysis including
case studies of people not in or at risk of not being in
education, employment or training to overcome barriers to
work and improve employability.

2.2. Residents who
experience
health/mental
health issues and
are affected by
poverty/changes
to welfare receive
the most
appropriate advice
and support from
DCC.

2.2.a. Include specific objectives and actions on poverty
alleviation in the reviewed Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

2.1.b. Review baseline mapping exercise to identify holistic
support available for basic skills and employability. Refresh
programme of support, in the light of findings of the
mapping exercise.

2.2.b. scope which appropriate frontline health and social
care staff, housing staff could provide welfare advice and
signposting as part of their core remit e.g. primary care,
health visitors. Develop workforce training sessions to
increase skills and competence to do the brief intervention.
2.2.c. Understand the needs and assets of older people and
the impact poverty has. Develop actions from identified
needs and assets.
2.2d. Develop joint working practices between housing and
health team to assist homeless people and those threatened
with homelessness where people experience mental health
issues.

Due date

Owner

March 2020

Graham Wood/Michael
Fleming/Michelle
Baldwin

June 2020

Graham Wood

March 2020

Amanda Healy

June 2020

Gill O’Neill/Michelle
Baldwin

March 2020

Michael Fleming/ Jane
Sunter

June 2020

Marie Smith

Page 117

3. Residents receive the best support and advice available concerning their financial situation.

Page 118

Aim

Key priorities

Actions

3.1. Durham
County Council
continues to
provide financial
support for
residents affected
by poverty and/or
changes to welfare
where it can.

3.1.a. Develop an early identification and support
programme to prevent residents falling into financial
hardship.

3.2. Residents
receive the
financial support
which they are
entitled to (i.e. non
DCC financial
support.

3.2.a. Research feasibility of a multi-agency advice/support
service to work generically with family.

Due date

Owner

June 2020

Graham Wood/Paul
Darby/Lynn Hall

March 2020

Martyn Stenton

June 2020

Paul Darby

March 2020

Paul Darby

3.3.a. Produce a baseline of financial literacy training
available to primary and secondary schools and the FE
sector.

March 2020

Graham Wood/Richard
Crane

3.3.b. Develop a coordinated programme of financial
literacy and personal finance training to the above.

June 2020

See also:
1.1.b.
1.2.c.

3.2.a. Continue to train frontline staff across DCC and
partners to use AiCD portal.
3.2.c. Undertake feasibility study of using AiCD portal for all
poverty-related referrals.
See also:
1.1.b.
1.2.d.

3.3. Young people
in County Durham
have a high level of
knowledge for
basic personal
finance.

Graham Wood

3.3.c. Develop learning materials for primary and secondary
schools to improve financial literacy and personal finance.

June 2020
June 2020

Graham Wood/Richard
Crane

Aim

Key priorities

Actions

Due date

3.3.d. Develop a financial literacy and personal finance
module for inclusion in the DCC apprenticeship programme,
with a view to rolling out to other employers.

June 2020

3.3.e. Explore feasibility of DCC providing Looked After
Children with a credit union account and a nominal annual
payment.

June 2020

Graham Wood/Alison
Lazazzera

Karen Robb/David
Tinmouth
Graham Wood

3.3.f. Working with training providers to build personal
resilience amongst trainees.
3.4. Residents are
aware of the
dangers of using
pay day and
doorstep lenders
and have access to
alternative means
of support.

Owner

3.4.a. To work with partner agencies to deliver a programme
of multi-agency community roadshows across the county
(six per year).

March 2021

3.4.b. Explore feasibility of restricting access to payday
lender webpages from DCC public access computers, linking
instead to credit union lenders.

December 2019

Joanne Waller/Graham
Wood

Alan Patrickson

Page 119

4. Children, young people and families have the resources to meet their basic needs,
including accessing opportunities to take part in society.

Page 120

Aim

Key priorities
4.1. Narrow the
gap in access to
culture, leisure,
sport and health
for children and
young people.

Actions
4.1.a. Undertake a health equity audit of who is currently
accessing council leisure facilities to understand how we
target our offer better to reduce inequality of access and
opportunity.

Due date

Owner

June 2020

Karen McCabe

June 2020

Helen Fergusson,
Martyn Stenton and
Steve Howell

4.1.c. Explore the funding options for the provision of
personal male and female hygiene products to young people
through primary, secondary schools, One Point centres and
family centres etc.

March 2020

Michelle Baldwin

4.1.d. Review and evaluate pilot of family centres providing
food, clothing, personal hygiene products etc.

March 2020

Karen Davison

4.1.e. Review and evaluate pilot of free activities with food
provision during 2019/2020 school holidays and undertake a
feasibility study of establishing a budget for future provision.

September 2020

Karen Davison

March 2020

Richard Crane

4.1.b. Undertake a feasibility study of establishing a budget
to support improving access to leisure facilities (e.g.
discounts, promotion and transport) for children and
families referred by social care and health agencies

4.1.f. Explore linkages with ‘Cutting the cost of the school
day’ project.
See also:
1.1.a.
1.1.b.

Aim

Key priorities
4.2. Raise
aspirations and
resilience of
children and young
people in County
Durham making
the move into
work easier so
they reach their
full potential.

Actions
4.2.a. Develop ‘My Future is Durham’ initiative into a wider
programme for schools and colleges.

Due date

Owner

June 2020

Michelle Atkinson

4.2.b. Explore the development of specialist careers advice
and pathways for Looked after Children, Care Leavers and
SEND to enable young people to realise their aspirations.

June 2020

Helen Fergusson

4.2.c. Explore future funding options to further develop
DurhamWorks programme.

December 2019

Stuart Timmiss

December 2019

Alison Lazazzera

4.2.d. Review options to encourage career development and
aspirations through DCC’s apprenticeship programme for
2020/21.

Page 121

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Local Safeguarding Children Board
Annual Report 2018/19
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children & Young People’s Service
Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and
Young People's Services

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To present the final Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report
2018/19. This is the final report prior to transitioning to the new statutory
partnership arrangement known as the Durham Safeguarding Children
Partnership (DSCP).

Executive summary
2

In 2018 partner agencies of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board
undertook a process of transition to new local safeguarding arrangements that
were compliant with statutory guidance, Working Together to Safeguard
Children 2018.

3

Throughout this period of transition an Executive Group was established but
the Board and the LSCB Business Team continued to work in parallel to the
new arrangements, progressing the work of the safeguarding partnership and
continuing to fulfil all of its statutory functions.

4

The LSCB Annual Report 2018/19 demonstrates the extent to which the
functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set out in the

Page 123

earlier national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children’
(March 2015), have been effectively fulfilled.
5

The report describes the work undertaken against the LSCB’s 2018-19
priorities and describes local governance arrangements and links to other
strategic partnerships across County Durham.

6

The report provides an overview of performance monitoring as well as
providing a summary of the use of restraint in secure centres; Serious Case
Reviews; Child Death Reviews; and the LSCB’s provision of multi-agency
training provision.

7

This Annual Report is the last for the LSCB and the first for the Independent
Chair of the Board. The report includes achievements in LSCB priorities,
information relating to the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) which
occurred in 2018 and the transition to the DSCP. This report will be shared
with partners and made available on the DSCP website.

Recommendation(s)
8

Cabinet is recommended to:

Page 124

(a)

Note the content of this report.

(b)

Endorse the 2018/19 Annual Report of Durham Local Safeguarding
Children Board.

Background
9

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) was a statutory body
established under the Children Act 2004. It was independently chaired (as
required by statute) and consisted of senior representatives of all the principle
stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young people in
County Durham.

10

The LSCB’s primary responsibility was to provide a way for local organisations
that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they work
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in County Durham
and to ensure that they did so effectively.

11

Statutory Guidance from Working Together to Safeguard Children (2015)
required each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish an
Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.

Transition to New Arrangements
12

The LSCB, in accordance with statutory guidance, transitioned to new
safeguarding arrangements during 2018/19. The transition project ensured
that the new partnership was compliant with legislation and able to fulfil its
responsibilities.

13

During the transition period an Executive Group was established, and
Safeguarding Partners identified the Relevant Agencies required to support
local safeguarding arrangements. The Transition Project co-ordinated five
work streams: Governance, Data and Legal; Serious Case Reviews; Child
Death Overview Panel; Performance and Quality; Training and
Communications.

14

A report outlining the transition to new safeguarding arrangements were sent
to Cabinet for approval in April 2019.

Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation
15

The LSCB continued to facilitate a multi-agency Missing and Exploited Group
(MEG) sub group. This group has reported that funding has been secured in
relation to ERASE and PCSOs. The MEG has joined with the equivalent
group in Darlington and will be re-named Child Exploitation Group to reflect its
wider focus of County Lines and Modern Day Slavery.

16

The LSCB training programme increased the reach of the Exploitation and
Grooming and partner training including bus companies and fast food outlets
for the first time. Partners also reported progress relating to operations
Artemis and Makesafe disrupting offenders and targeting hotspot locations.

Working Together
17

During 2018/19, the Working Together sub group have focussed on the efforts
of partners seeking to reduce the average length of time a neglect case is
‘live/open’, to increase the timeliness of Initial Health Assessments submitted
for Looked After and increase the number of recorded challenges in cases.
Page 125

18

The Working Together group also commissioned a survey of practitioners,

undertaken by the LSCB Business Team, and used the learning to review and
revise several key documents and operational tools available from the LSCB
website.

Tackling Neglect
19

The Neglect sub group, in conjunction with Public Health England, established
a working group to raise awareness of the impact of poor oral health and
dental neglect. The Neglect group identified the need to create a pathway for
children who miss medical appointments to raise awareness of neglect by
changing the recorded event from “Did Not Attend” to ‘Was Not Brought’ and
identifying subsequent action.

20

Partners shared progress on initiatives relating to tackling neglect such as the
review and relaunch of the Home Environment Assessment Tool and the
introduction of the Signs of Safety practice model. This model addresses the
needs of children and families by identifying their strengths and supporting
their development to improve the wellbeing of children affected by Neglect.

Empowering Young People
21

The Empowering Young People sub group is a new group bringing together a
range of partners to create a ‘scorecard’ to enable services to define and
develop improvements in their service approaches to engaging with young
people.

22

The group looked at identifying what is required to increase confidence in
young people who have safeguarding concerns, to improve the recognition of
current engagement practice and improve the influence of the voice of the
child in processes such as child protection conferences. To increase young
people’s awareness of safeguarding issues a safeguarding engagement
module was co-produced between local authority officers, partner agencies.
teachers and young people in schools.

23

The LSCB renewed its subscription to the Investors in Children recognition
scheme and the Empowering Young People group identified that there was
greater scope for the development of initiatives that encourage meaningful
participation by children and young people in 2019/20, ensuring feedback from
young people fed into the work of the new partnership arrangements.

Professional Challenge
24

Durham LSCB have instigated five Serious Case Reviews in 2018/19 and
published one Serious Case Review Report. The LSCB has introduced a
series of short documents called 7-Minute Briefings, to improve the
communication of learning from Serious Case Reviews. The Annual Report
identifies the following recurrent themes of published serious case reviews:
• Bruising / Injuries to non-mobile babies
• Sexually Harmful Behaviour
• Non-compliance with Child Protection Procedures

Page 126

• Blockages in Communication and Information Sharing
• Lack of Holistic and Robust Assessments
• Lack of Professional Curiosity and Triangulation of Information
25

The LSCB hosts an annual Serious Case Review learning conference to share
learning and improve understanding of issues, concerns and themes identified.

26

The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington publish a
separate annual report regarding key learning from child deaths and the
completion of recommendations following reviews. In 2018/19 there were 38
sudden or unexpected child deaths in Durham.

27

Preparations were made for the implementation of new Child Death Review
arrangements from April 2019.

Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance
28

The LSCB Business Team provided quarterly performance reporting to the
LSCB based on a range of indicators identified by partners. The indicators
reported related to the LSCB’s priorities and this was supported by single and
multi-agency auditing to review practice in relation to CSE, strategy meetings
and child protection plans.

29

The LSCB also completed a “Section 11” audit which contained more than
5600 separate pieces of information including responses from more than 138
schools and academies from across County Durham. 90% of the schools who
contributed to the Section 11 said that they used the audit to prepare for their
own Education reviews. Agencies identified a total of 63 separate actions
which, with the findings of the audit, were compiled into a report and submitted
to the LSCB.

30

The LSCB has responsibility for ensuring multi-agency participation in the
completion of the JTAI Action Plan created after the multi-agency safeguarding
review on the theme Domestic Abuse. Findings from the JTAI inspection,
which includes inspectors from Ofsted, Care Quality Commission (CQC), Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate
of Probation (HMIP), led to more than 100 actions being identified to address
specific areas for improvement.

31

The LSCB also monitors, through the Quality and Performance Group, the use
of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre. There was a total of 520
incidents which required restraint during 2018/19 resulting in 94 injuries. This
is a slight reduction compared to the previous annual report and has been
achieved during a period of increased occupation at the Centre.

Policy and Procedures
32

The LSCB continues to provide six-monthly reviews to maintain the multiagency procedures and ensure the information reflects local and national
changes. The Child Death Overview Panel has been reviewed to include a
GP at each meeting, and lay member engagement during thematic reviews.
Page 127

33

Procedures updated in 2018/19 were:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Tackling Neglect Strategy
Neglect Practice Guidance
Thresholds Document
Children's Services Referral Form (New)
Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool (HEAT) and Guidance
HEAT Analysis and Action Plan (New)
Children and Families Outcomes Framework and Practice Toolkit

Training and Communication
34

The LSCB offered 10 core courses in 2018/19 as part of the multi-agency
training programme and 22 bespoke training events were delivered to single
agencies. A total of 98 multi-agency training events were delivered and
attended by a total of 1,854 with 93% of attendees marking the training as
good or excellent.

35

The LSCB provide access to a full range of e-learning courses and in 2018/19,
6,665 e-learning courses have been completed with 97% of those completing
evaluations stated they would recommend the course to a friend or colleague.
An analysis of overall training impact showed that 66% of participants believed
that training provided by the LSCB had improved outcomes for the children
and families.

36

The LSCB Website is the main communication channel and access point for
local safeguarding information and materials. Pages on the website have been
viewed more than 14,137 times by more 27,000 users.

Background Papers

Contact:

Page 128

Gordon Elliott, Head of
Partnerships & Community
Engagement

Tel: 03000 263605

Appendix 1: Implications

Legal Implications
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) was a statutory body
established under the Children Act 2004. Working Together to Safeguard Children
2015 (Statutory Guidance) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to
produce and publish an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding
in the local area
Finance
Yearly financial contributions to Durham LSCB are received from partner agencies
and are detailed in the LSCB Annual Report.
Consultation
Consultation with partner agencies and stakeholders has been undertaken as part
of the development of the LSCB Annual Report.
Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty
The LSCB Annual Report identifies the actions to safeguard the needs of
vulnerable children and young people.
Crime and disorder
The LSCB Annual Report reflects priorities and action that impact positively on
crime and disorder in County Durham. The report shows effective partnership
working with the Safe Durham Partnership.
Staffing
The priorities identified in the LSCB Annual Report will be delivered using existing
resources. Durham County Council will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in
partnership with other responsible authorities.
Accommodation
No adverse implications.
Risk
No adverse implications.
Disability Issues
No adverse implications.
Page 129

Page 130

Annual Report
2018 - 2019
Safeguarding Children
In County Durham
www.durham-scp.org.uk

8

Safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility

Contents
1. Foreword by Independent Chair ................................................................................ 11
2. Introduction ................................................................................................................ 12
3. Local Data .................................................................................................................. 13
Local Safeguarding Data 2018/19 (Provisional) ........................................................ 14
4. Governance and Structure ......................................................................................... 15
Local Safeguarding Children Board ............................................................................................................ 15
Consultation with Children and Young People ..................................................................................... 16
Working across Partnerships .......................................................................................................................... 17
5. Achievements against 2018/19 Priorities ................................................................... 18
Professional Challenge ....................................................................................................................................... 18
Examples of Professional Challenge.......................................................................................................... 19
Progress on LSCB priorities 2018/19 ......................................................................................................... 20
LSCB Priorities 2018/19 ..................................................................................................................................... 20
Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation .................................................................................. 20
Priority 2 – Working Together ......................................................................................................................... 22
Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect ......................................................................................................................... 23
Page 131

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People .................................................................................................... 24
9

Page 132

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance ....................................................... 25
Multi-agency Audits ............................................................................................................................................... 26
Joint Targeted Area Inspections ................................................................................................................... 27
Restraint ....................................................................................................................................................................... 27
Serious Case Reviews ........................................................................................................................................ 29
Policy and Procedures......................................................................................................................................... 30
7. Training and Communication ..................................................................................... 31
Marketing and Communications Activity .................................................................................................. 32
8. Future Priorities .......................................................................................................... 33
Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership ................................................................................... 34
Durham LSCB Membership ............................................................................................................................. 34
LSCB Advisors ......................................................................................................................................................... 35
Contact Details ......................................................................................................................................................... 35
Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget ....................................................................... 36
Staffing .......................................................................................................................................................................... 36
LSCB Budget ............................................................................................................................................................. 36
10

1. Foreword by Independent Chair
“Hello and welcome to the very last Annual Report of the Durham
Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB)! This is because over the
past year, the LSCB, in addition to focussing on its usual priorities of
safeguarding children and promoting their welfare, has transitioned
into the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership in fulfilment
of the legislative requirements of the Children and Social work Act
2017 and its underpinning guidance, Working Together to Safeguard
Children 2018. During last year the LSCB was subjected to a Joint
Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI), alongside its statutory partners,
and therefore also was required to focus on the resulting
recommendations.
This report therefore covers three main areas, namely:
• Achievements against 2018/19 LSCB priorities
• JTAI recommendations, action plan and achievements
The transition from LSCB to DSCP
In addition to the above, the report will outline the context in which
the LSCB operated, its governance and structure, performance
monitoring and quality assurance, together with a breakdown of the
partnership budget. It will also provide an overview of Serious Case
Reviews finalised during last year, and Child Death Reviews
undertaken.

Page 133

If every child in County Durham is to flourish, achieve their potential
and live life in abundance, then their safeguarding and welfare are
the bedrocks on which this will be built. Our focus as Durham LSCB
has been on such outcomes, so that ‘Every child and young
person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from
harm’.

I would like to thank the many partner organisations and their
representatives who were members of the LSCB. They were part of
a successful partnership which we will use as a platform for greater
multi-agency working and integrated services benefiting our children
and their families. I would particularly like to thank those people who
lead our subgroups which focussed on LSCB priorities; our Lay
Members who gave their time and talents as volunteers, and our
Children and Young People Portfolio Holder, the latter two bringing a
further level of independent scrutiny. Finally, I would like to thank all
those partners involved in the management of the transition process
to Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership, and particularly the
LSCB Business Unit whose collective talents continuously support
the operations of the partnership.
It has been quite a year and I hope this report sheds a little light on
the last year of the Local Safeguarding Children Board”.

Michael Banks
Durham LSCB Independent Chair

11

Page 134

2. Introduction
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to
prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our
partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people.
Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local agencies
that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how
they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children and to ensure that they do so effectively.

Lastly, Section 8 identifies the priorities which the new Durham
Safeguarding Children Partnership will take forward into 2019/20.
The Annual Report 2018/19 demonstrates the extent to which the
functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set
out in the national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to
Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) have been effectively fulfilled.

Section 3 of the report highlights some statistical information about
County Durham and provides a local context for our work.
Section 4 describes the local governance arrangements and
structure of Durham LSCB. It also provides information on the new
Safeguarding Arrangements that were introduced in 2018/19 through
the Children and Social Work Act 2017.
Section 5 highlights some of the achievements and the progress
that has been made in the last year as well as reporting on the work
undertaken against the 2018/19 priorities.
Section 6 covers our Performance Management Framework and
describes the multi-agency audits we have undertaken. It also
provides an overview of Serious Case Reviews and the use of
restraint in Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.
Section 7 outlines our multi-agency training provision and describes
the marketing and communication activity undertaken by the LSCB.

The information presented in this Annual Report is drawn from a wide range of
sources from across the County Durham Partnership. These include the County
Durham Integrated Needs Assessment; Lessons Learned from local Serious Case
Reviews; the Child Death Review Annual Report; and a range of Durham LSCB
strategy documents and action plans.

 More Information:
Find out more information by clicking here - Durham Insight

12

3. Local Data
County Durham stretches from the rural North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty in the west to the Heritage Coastline in
the east and is home to a range of national treasures including
Durham Cathedral, a UNESCO World Heritage Site.

The county has a very diverse combination of communities ranging
from some of the most sparsely populated rural areas in the country
through to the larger towns and Durham City; each area with its own
needs and aspirations.

There are an estimated 526,980 people living in
County Durham (ONS mid 2018 population estimates).
Since the previous release (mid 2017 estimates) the
population of County Durham increased by 3,318
(0.6%) from 523,662 to 526,980.

The under 18 population in the County has been
relatively stable since 2011 at around 101,000.

County Durham is a largely rural county
comprising of 21 settlements with an estimated
population of over 5,000 people (estimated from the
ONS Mid-2017 Output Area Population Estimates).

Although levels of deprivation in County Durham
have improved we are ranked the 75th most
deprived area out of 326 local authorities in
England
Child poverty in County Durham is higher than
the England average, with 21.8% of children
under 16 years living in poverty (2016).
Data source: Office for National Statistics (ONS)

Page 135

13

833 Children are in the Looked After

438 children were subject to a Child Protection Plan (50 per

system.

10,000 population aged 0-18). A continued reduction from previous
years figures.

12 children were in Private Fostering

Page 136

Local Safeguarding Data 2018/19 (Provisional)

833

arrangements during this period.
Children on a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time,
within two years of the previous plan is

10.3%

65 children and young people were reported missing from home
in County Durham more than once.

Neglect continues to be the most frequent reason for
children being placed on a Child Protection Plan in 2018/19.

79.7% of children who were made subject of a Child Protection
Plan under five years old were made so due to neglect. This is an
8.1% figure increase from the previous year.

Domestic abuse (21%) continues to
be the main parental risk factor leading to
children becoming subject of a Child
Protection Plan. Mental Health (17%),
Neglect 16%),
Substance Misuse (13%)
and Parental Capacity (10%) are
also, significant factors.

Parental
Capacity
10%

Domestic
Abuse 21%

Substance
Misuse 13%

Neglect 16%

148 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)
referrals. This figure has fallen from previous
years and reflects a heightened awareness.
Of those targeted the majority are girls.
Online Grooming is the most common model of
CSE.

5 Serious Case Reviews
commenced, and 1 Serious Case
Review published.

27,745 unique users visited the
Mental
Health 17%

LSCB website in 2018/19 with over

114,137-page views.
98 multi-agency training
courses and events were delivered
and attended by 1,854 staff and volunteers.
A total of

14

4. Governance and Structure
The functions of the LSCB were:

Local Safeguarding Children Board
Each local area is required by Law to have a Local Safeguarding
Children Board. The LSCB is a statutory body established in
legislation (Children Act 2004) and works according to national
guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’.

What is safeguarding?

What does the LSCB do?

What does it mean for me?

We promote the welfare of
Agencies including the
Safeguarding is about
children and young people,
Councils’ Children and
keeping children and
safeguarding them from
Young People’s Services, the
young people safe and
harm and protecting those
Police, Schools and Colleges
protecting them from
children who are at
and Health Services such as
harm, while making sure
significant risk of harm or
GPs, Hospitals and Health
they grow up in a safe
neglect.
Visitors are all here to help.
environment.
Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm

Page 137

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board is chaired by an
independent person and meets quarterly. The Board held two
development sessions in 2018/19 taking the total number of meeting
to six a year. Durham LSCB is supported by the LSCB Business Unit
which is hosted by Durham County Council.

•

To develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and
promoting the welfare of children in the local area

•

To communicate and raise awareness of the need to
safeguard and promote the welfare of children

•

To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by
the local authority and their Board partners individually and
collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children
and advise them on ways to improve

•

To participate in the planning of services for children in the
area of the authority

•

To undertake reviews of serious cases and advising the local
authority and their Board partners on lessons to be learned

Throughout 2018/19, in accordance with the requirements of the
Children and Social Work Act 2017 and its supporting guidance
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018, LSCB partnership
arrangements were changed and the new Durham Safeguarding
Children Partnership was established on 1st April, 2019.

 More Information: Find out more information about
Durham Safeguarding Children
Partnership

15

Page 138

The new local safeguarding arrangements have been established,
led by three Safeguarding Partners and supported by Relevant
Agencies. New Child Death Review arrangements were put in place.
Safeguarding Partners are identified as:
• Local Authorities
• Chief Officers of Police
• Clinical Commissioning Groups
Child Death Review Partners are identified as:
• Local Authorities
• Clinical Commissions Groups
During the transition period an Executive Group was established and
Safeguarding Partners identified the Relevant Agencies required to
support local safeguarding arrangements. These include agencies
that were former members of the LSCB, but also reach out further to
other agencies with safeguarding children responsibilities.
A Transition Project Board was established to co-ordinate five work
streams: Governance, Data and Legal; Serious Case Reviews; Child
Death Overview Panel; Performance and Quality; Training and
Communications.
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board continued to carry out all
of their statutory functions, until the new Durham Safeguarding
Children Partnership became operational on 1st April 2019.

 More Information: Find out more information about
Durham Safeguarding Children

Consultation with Children and Young People
During the development of the new safeguarding
partnership arrangements the partners sought to
understand the concerns of children, young
people and families from across County Durham.
Partners consulted with a range of young people
engaged with their service areas such as looked
after young people and police cadets. Investors
in Children were commissioned to hold two
consultation sessions, known as Agenda Days,
which were led by young people in the community and a report of the
findings by the lead young people was submitted to the LSCB.
Through direct engagement with groups and reviewing recent
consultations already undertaken the LSCB was able to identify
recurring themes in the concerns of children and young people such
as,
•
•
•

Cyber Safety – specifically social media, online grooming and
bullying
Emotional Wellbeing - Low mood and Anxiety, mental health
Risky behaviour threatening personal Safety (substance
misuse and criminality own or
parents)

It is the intention of the new
Safeguarding Partnership to utilise this
awareness to inform priorities in 20192020.

Partnership
16

Working across Partnerships
Durham LSCB worked with a wide range of themed partnerships.
Together they form the overarching County Durham Partnership and
work towards an ‘Altogether Better Durham’.
Each of the five thematic partnerships has a specific focus:
•

The Children and Families Partnership – Works to ensure
effective services are delivered in the most
efficient way to improve the lives of children,
young people and families.

•

The Health and Wellbeing Board –
Promotes integrated working between
commissioners of health services,
public health and social care services,
to improve health and wellbeing.

•

The Safe Durham Partnership –
Tackles crime, disorder, substance
misuse, anti-social behaviour and to
reduce re-offending.

•

•

The Environment Partnership –
Improves, transforms and sustains the
environment to support the economy and
the wellbeing of local communities.
The Economic Partnership – Works to make County
Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and

•

visit; whilst enabling residents and businesses to achieve their
full economic potential.

Durham LSCB continued to engage and challenge these
partnerships where appropriate to safeguard and promote the
welfare of children in County Durham.
We have strengthened our joint working with a
range of partnerships on shared or similar priorities.
Examples include:
Working with the Safe Durham Partnership in
respect of domestic abuse, alcohol misuse,
substance misuse and counter terrorism
(PREVENT duty). Aligning and improving work
within sexual violence, sexual exploitation and
female genital mutilation.
Joint working with the Children and Families
Partnership to increase the voice of the child
through work that includes the student voice
survey and the Children’s Commissioner’s
Takeover Challenge.
Greater integration of the mental health and
wellbeing agenda with the Health and Wellbeing Board and the
development of a range of support aimed to reduce self-harm and
suicide.

Page 139

 More Information: Find out more information about
County Durham Partnership
17

Page 140

5. Achievements against 2018/19 Priorities
Professional
Challenge

18

Professional challenge and critical reflection within safeguarding is a
professional responsibility. It is a sign of good professional practice,
a healthy organisation and effective multi-agency working.
Challenging decisions, practice or actions when concerns arise may
alter the professional response when ensuring the safety or wellbeing of a child or young person or their family.

identified recurring themes which required strategic and operational
intervention.
The LSCB monitored and challenged agencies following s.11 audits
which gave assurance that they were complying with their
safeguarding responsibilities.
The Joint Targeted Area Inspection in July 2018 challenged how
agencies worked together on the front line. It highlighted areas of
good practice, but also 46 areas for improvement. The resulting
action plan identified 108 actions to improve professional practice.
Professional challenge also takes place at a senior level through a
Chief Officers Safeguarding Group which includes the LSCB
Independent Chair, Durham County Council, local Clinical
Commissioning Groups, Probation organisations, local NHS
Foundation Trusts and Durham Constabulary.

The LSCB risk register and challenge log is a well-established tool
that was used to ensure partners provide mitigating actions to reduce
identified risks and acts on challenges made to agencies. This is
reviewed at each LSCB Board meeting.

This forum allows the opportunity to challenge and share information
on safeguarding issues including:
•
•
•

Examples of Professional Challenge

•
•

Learning and recurring themes from Serious Case Reviews
and Child Death Reviews
Quality, impact and development of frontline practice
Outcomes of multi-agency audits and action plans
Emerging safeguarding concerns or trends
Development of new Safeguarding Arrangements

Page 141

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) challenges agencies if
agreed actions are not progressed within timescales and escalation
processes are in place. Similarly, the Board monitors actions for
learning following a Serious Case Review to ensure actions are
progressed and implemented. During 2018 a review of SCR’s
19

Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation

Page 142

Progress on LSCB priorities 2018/19

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

LSCB Priorities 2018/19

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child
abuse

In setting the priorities for 2018/19 the LSCB Board reviewed the
progress on previous priorities and decided to continue to focus on
Child Sexual Exploitation; tackling Neglect; Empowering Young
People and Working Together.

• It can happen to anyone who is persuaded, bullied or
forced into having sex or sexual activity such as
taking and sharing naked photos of themselves
• This can be in return for things like alcohol, money,
drugs or other gifts

Click on the tabs below to take you to each priority section in the
report.

• It can happen online and face to face
• It ruins lives and has serious long-term effects on
young people and their families

Reducing Child
Sexual
Exploitation

Working
Together

Tackling
Neglect

Empowering
Young
People

Multi-agency work is coordinated through the LSCB Missing and
Exploited Group (MEG). Its remit is to monitor partner activity and
improve the services and responses to reported missing and absent
children and the multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation.
Over the past year partner agencies have continued to prove their
multi-agency and single agency commitment to this work.
Mainstream funding for ERASE Support Workers and PCSOs have
been secured. All work is intelligence lead and is coordinated
through the Durham LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy across
the following three strands:
•

Preventing CSE from happening

•

Protecting those who may be at risk

•

Pursuing those who may be offending against children

20

We have widened our Exploitation and Grooming training to
agencies not traditionally associated with safeguarding but who
come into regular contact with vulnerable children. This include
some innovative work with Arriva Bus Services and Go North East.
In addition, we have also engaged with taxi drivers as part of existing
licenses. McDonald’s restaurants across County Durham benefited
from police training in Child Sexual Exploitation.
Operation Artemis focuses on tackling and
disrupting offenders and dangerous
perpetrators. This complements the work
of Operation Makesafe targeting hotspot
locations and awareness raising work protecting young people. Staff
from six hotels have been trained and posters distributed to other
hotels and pubs.

The LSCB has supported the police funded
Child Advocacy Centre pilot aimed at
children who are victims of sexual abuse
and is intended to improve the victim’s
journey from report to court and beyond. In
addition a new ‘team around the child’ to
provide a seamless therapeutic service.

In 2019 we will increase our focus on boys and young men at risk of
CSE and identify ways to encourage them to report such abuse. We
also recognise that parents want more information to protect their
children and we will develop actions to support this.
The Missing and Exploited sub-group of LSCB joined forces with
their counterparts in Darlington during 2018. This year it will be renamed Child Exploitation Group to reflect its wider focus of County
Lines and Modern Day Slavery.

Some of the work we are doing to tackle CSE

• Support the ERASE brand - website, media campaign
Erase support workers, education materials
• Increased intelligence around Missing From
Education / Permanent Exclusions / Home Educated

Learning Point
Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about the risk factors of
Child Sexual Exploitation.

• National Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day
• Awareness sessions held on County Lines;
exploitation involved in sex working; and how CSE
affects boys and men

• Philomena Protocol launched. Its aim is to protect
children who go missing from care homes.
• Annual Childrens Homes conference held

 More Information: Find out more information about
Missing and Exploited Children

Page 143

21

Page 144

Priority 2 – Working Together

What is Working Together?
• The aim is to achieve excellent partnership working across
all areas of LSCB business
• Drilling down into problems and finding solutions that work
for every agency
• Changing agency culture to improve multi-agency practice
following learning from Serious Case Reviews

The Working Together sub-group, having analysed the Practitioner
Survey (2018), delivered on the following actions:
•
•
•
•

Revised and relaunched the Thresholds Document
Reviewed and revised Thresholds Training
Revised the tools for Focused Intervention
Launched ‘You said…we did’ communication.

The Thresholds Document is to be reviewed again in 2019 to reflect
the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership arrangements.
Practitioner Survey 2019 This was conducted to ensure that the
voice and experience of the practitioner is heard and barriers
removed to assist with practice.

During 2018/19, our focus was on the following key measures:
• Reduce the average length of time a neglect case is
‘live/open’
• Increase the number of Initial Health Assessments submitted
for Looked After Children within agreed timescales
• Increase the number of recorded challenges in cases

Some of the work to support Working Together
• Thresholds: Strengthen agreed shared thresholds across
the partnership
• Focused Intervention: Assurance that children receiving
support as a child in need, receive focused intervention in a
time appropriate to the child
• Removing Barriers: Understanding the blockages,
implementing lessons learnt and improving outcomes
• Improve Information Sharing: Understanding the barriers
to local information sharing and mitigating issues

Learning Point
The Working Together group have
also been working to implement
learning from Serious Case Reviews.
This two-minute video asks you to
re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications.
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)

22

Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect

The Tackling Neglect Strategy is aligned to four strategic objectives:

What is Neglect?
• Child neglect is a failure to look after a child and could
result in poor health or development
• Children (including unborn babies), need food, water,
shelter, warmth, protection and health care to grow
and develop

•

Understand Neglect – To understand the local picture of
neglect and the thresholds for intervention.

•

Early Identification – To improve the recognition and
assessment of neglect for children to ensure the most
appropriate response is given.

•

Effective Provision – To offer effective, evidence based
interventions that reduce neglect before statutory intervention
is required and to act decisively where these do not result in
change for the child.

•

Family Focus – To use the experience of our families and the
voice of the child in the development and delivery of services.

• Children need their parents or carers to love and care
for them
• Neglect can also include physical abuse, emotional
abuse and sexual abuse
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018 defines neglect as
“The persistent failure to meet a child’s basic physical and/or
psychological needs, likely to result in the serious impairment of the
child’s health or development”. In 2018/19 71.2% (312 of 438) of
children on a Child Protection Plan was due to neglect.

Neglect is the
greatest single cause
of children needing
protection and care
in County Durham

Some of the work to tackle Neglect
• Signs of Safety practice model was implemented in
2018. To date over 300 childrens services practitioners
have been trained in the model and 600 partners have
attended briefing sessions
• The Home Environment Assessment Tool (HEAT) has
been revised and relaunched to incorporate analysis and
action plan
• Analytical support from Public Health Intelligence has
provided a local profile of children affected by neglect,
child poverty and deprivation. The profile has been shared
with the Child Poverty Working Group who have developed
and implemented a wide range of interventions.

Page 145

23

Page 146

The Neglect Group in conjunction with Public Health England has
established a working group to raise awareness of the impact of poor
oral health and dental neglect. A ‘Was not brought’ pathway is to be
developed and embedded.

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People
What is Empowering Young People?
• To increase the voice of the child to make sure that
services take young people's views and opinions
into account when they plan services

The Neglect Group is building on the learning from a National Joint
Targeted Area Inspection on Neglect of Older Children. A strategy is
under development for working with older children affected by
neglect utilising a trauma informed approach.

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-skilling'
opportunities for young people in safeguarding and
risk awareness

Where the right support and intervention is provided to a child or
young person it can have a dramatic positive effect on them and their
life opportunities.

Learning Point
Neglect Video: Michelle's Story
This is the story of Michelle and
her experience of neglect as she
was growing up. Click the picture
to watch the video.
Durham LSCB recognise that although good progress has been
delivered by services to tackle neglect we need to continue this focus
to support children and young people who suffer the consequences
of growing up in neglectful circumstances. The Neglect Action Plan
and performance framework has therefore been reviewed for
2019/20 for the new Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership.

 More Information: Find out more information about
Neglect

• Staff working with children and young people want
to know what they think and how things can be
made better for them

The Empowering Young People subgroup brought many partners
together to create a ‘performance scorecard’ that enables services to
define and develop better ways of engaging with young people.
The subgroup considered the question: “What does good look like?”
and took steps to identify what changes needed to take place to
achieve good in terms of the following key areas:
•
•
•
•

What is required to increase confidence and assurance of
C&YP who have safeguarding concerns
Improved current engagement practice is identified and shared
by partner agencies
The influence of the voice of the child is improved in processes
including child protection conferences
The influence of the voice of the child in relation to neglect and
other key priorities (eg: bullying) is improved.

24

The subgroup worked to
principles rooted in Article 12
of the United Nations
Convention on the Rights of
the Child: “you have a say in
decisions that affect you.”
Our work with children and
young people continues to be
recognised by ‘Investors in
Children’ as good practice.
To increase young people’s
awareness of safeguarding issues a safeguarding engagement
module for C&YP was co-produced between local authority officers,
partner agencies and teachers and children in schools.
It was trialled between December 2017 and February 2018 and is
now available via the LSCB website for use in all schools.
The group identified greater scope for the development of initiatives
that encourage meaningful participation by children and young
people in the academic year 2019/20.
We continue to increase the visibility and voice of the child and
this year we have focused on improving the influence of children in
the Child Protection processes, challenging services to develop and
evidence new approaches to engaging young people in the
conference process.

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance
Durham LSCB continually monitors the quality, timeliness and
effectiveness of multi-agency practice through the Performance
Management Framework.
Where gaps are identified, implications for the LSCB are considered
and any agreed actions are monitored through the LSCB risk register
and challenge log.
The LSCB sub groups (aligned to priorities) have an agreed action
plan and performance scorecard. Performance and progress is
reported at the sub group level and collated through the Quality and
Performance Group up to the LSCB Board to monitored and
challenge.
Ongoing Quality Assurance
• Monitor partner compliance with the statutory
requirement to have effective safeguarding
arrangements in place (Section 11)
• Carry out multi-agency audits and identify lessons to
be learned and make recommendations for future
improvement and feeding into LSCB training
• Multi-agency audit reports to inform the LSCB Board of
the quality of work being undertaken and its impact on
outcomes for individual children and young people
• Overview of multi-audits to monitor and review
practice
• The use of a series of performance scorecards

Page 147

25

Page 148

Serious Case Reviews are published on the Durham LSCB website
for a period of 12 months. There is currently one published Serious
Case Review on the website.
Outcomes and findings feed into our performance structures to
promote a culture of continuous learning and improvement across
the partner agencies of the LSCB.
The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington share
their key learning from child deaths. They monitor and challenge
agencies for the completion of recommended identified actions and
publish a separate annual report. Find out more information about
Child Death Reviews.

Multi-agency Audits
Last year the LSCB returned to calling multi-agency partners
together to review records of practice.

from more than 138 schools and academies from across County
Durham.
90% of the schools who contributed to the Section 11 said that they
used the audit to prepare for their own Education reviews. 52 GP
Practices also responded to the Section 11 with 92% of their
answers confirming relevant safeguarding expectations were met
and Named GPs for Safeguarding offering support to enable further
improvements
Agencies identified a total of 63 separate actions which, with the
findings of the audit, were compiled into a report and submitted for
review and monitoring by the LSCB.
To free up resources to support the JTAI audits the LSCB Board
agreed to conduct Section 11 audits on a two yearly cycle with the
next Section 11 audit to be completed in 2020/21.
Other multi-agency audits undertaken in 2018/19

Partners agreed that this process should be led by a practitioner
related to the specific issues being audited to assure and challenge
responses received.
A Section 11 Audit is Durham LSCB’s primary audit to examine the
safeguarding arrangements within a broad range of organisations
and provides the Board with assurance that agencies are doing
what they can to ensure the safety and welfare of children and
young people.

• Child Sexual Exploitation Cases
• Straegy Meetings
• Child Protection Plans
• Practitioner Survey
• Section 11

The Section 11 audit conducted in 2018/19 utilised a web-based
method for collecting 200 audit responses from GPs, schools and the
member organisations of the LSCB. This collated audit contained
more than 5637 separate pieces of information including responses
26

Joint Targeted Area Inspections
This is a new multi-agency inspection to assess how agencies work
together in an area to identify, support and protect vulnerable
children and young people.
A ‘JTAI’ includes inspectors from Ofsted, Care Quality Commission
(CQC), Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) and Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) and reaches across the
partnership.
The JTAI reviewed safeguarding on the theme of Domestic Violence
and findings from this inspection led to an action plan with more than
100 actions to address specific areas for improvement.
The LSCB has responsibility for the oversight of the action plan and
to ensure multi-agency participation.

Restraint
In conjunction with Durham County Council, Durham LSCB monitors
the use of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.
Many of the young people at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre are
placed there by Local Authorities and Courts outside of the Durham
area. Since 2011 and in line with ‘Working Together’ guidance we
have reported on the use of restraint.
County Durham is amongst a small number of Local Authorities
who have secure services within its boundaries.

Aycliffe Secure Services Centre houses a changing population of
young people (aged 11-17) with complex and challenging
behaviours. The Young People have been referred through the
courts because they are a risk to themselves or others, or because
there is a concern about their involvement with criminal activities.
Injuries as result of restraint are graded using a set criteria
• Level 1 – Minor Injury - such as red marks on the skin,
welts, superficial cuts and scratches, bruises which do not
require medical treatment, including first aid
• Level 2 – Minor Injury - such as significant cuts,
scratches, grazes, bloody noses, concussion, serious
bruising and sprains where medical treatment is given by
staff/nurse
• Level 3 – Serious Injury requiring hospital treatment includes serious cuts, fractures, loss of consciousness and
damage to internal organs

Aycliffe’s implementation of a Restraint Minimisation Strategy
continues alongside a range of alternative approaches to minimise
the use and impact of restraint. As a result of these initiatives the
majority of injuries are graded at Level 1.
There was a total of 520 incidents which required restraint during
2018/19. This is down from 531 in 2017/18. There were 94 injuries
because of restraint, down from 108 in the previous year. There was
also a slight increase in the average monthly occupancy during
2018/19.

Page 149

27

Page 150

Analysis shows an
increased level of
restraint and
associated injury
occurred in first six
months of 2018/19.
69% of all injuries
occurred in this
period. This is due to
a combination of an
improved reporting
process that captures more information and an increase in
occupancy with a higher proportion of young people accommodated
for welfare reasons.
These young people often have more complex needs including
emerging mental health and personality disorders.
The number of restraints reduced during the following six months
and was lower than the same period during the previous year. The
number of injuries as result of restraint also reduced by more than
half during this period and included
one level 2 and one level 3 three
injury.

Throughout 2017/18 a Senior Manager from the Secure Centre has
provided a quarterly restraint report to the LSCB’s Quality and
Performance sub group and plans for further scrutiny of individual
incidents are in place for 2019/20.
Residents at Aycliffe Secure Childrens Home
• Youth Justice Board – Sent by a Youth Court to fulfill
an order received as a result of offending behaviour.
• Welfare – Resident in a secure environment, usually as
a result of a court order but not necessarily relating to
offending behaviour. These young people are 'Looked
After' by the local authority but they have additional
needs that require a secure environment or facilities
outside the scope of care options available within a
non-secure care environment.

79% of restraints were applied to young people who are resident at
Aycliffe under the category of ‘Welfare’. This group also accounts for
76% of the injuries sustained because of a degree of restraint being
applied.

93% of injuries were graded at
Level 1, with 3% graded at Level 2
and the remaining 4% at Level 3
There were four Level 3 restraint
related injuries.

 More Information: Find out more information about
Aycliffe Secure Services Centre

28

Serious Case Reviews
Durham LSCB have instigated five Serious Case Reviews in 2018/19
and published one Serious Case Review Report.
The introduction of “7 minute
briefings”, short documents available
on the LSCB website outlining key
aspects of specific issues, provided
an opportunity for professional and
critical reflection of key messages
from published Serious Case
Reviews.
This year we have developed new guidance and supporting
materials to comply with the new arrangements as outlined in
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018

The LSCB continued to implement the recommendations from
Serious Case Reviews. Action plans are monitored by the LSCB
Business Unit and reviewed by the LSCB Board through the sixmonthly update report. Going forward this function will be carried out
by the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership Executive group.

Recurrent themes of published SCRs
• Bruising / Injuries to non-mobile babies
• Sexually Harmful Behaviour
• Non-compliance wit Child Protection
Procedures
• Blockages in Communication and
Information Sharing
• Lack of Holistic and Robust Assessments
• Lack of Professional Curiosity and
Triangulation of Information

We will continue to host an annual Serious Case Review themed
learning conferences to contribute to the professional development
of staff and improve their understanding of local safeguarding
concerns and themes.

 More Information: Find out more information about
Page 151

Serious Case Reviews
29

Page 152

Other procedures and guidence updated in 2018/19

Policy and Procedures

• New Tackling Neglect Strategy

The online version of the Durham LSCB Multi-Agency Child
Protection Procedures provides a web based solution that is fully
searchable and allows the user to access content from a wide range
of devices. We undertake reoccurring six-monthly reviews to keep
the procedures up-to-date with local and national changes.

• Updated Neglect Practice Guidance

Website link - www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb
Professionals should add the link above into work related phones,
smartphones, tablets and computers to link directly to the procedures
when needed.

• Updated Thresholds Document
• New Children's Services Referral Form
• Updated Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool
(HEAT) and Guidance
• New HEAT Analysis and Action Plan
• Updated Children and Families Outcomes Framework
and Practice Toolkit

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse
We have engaged with the Independent Inquiry
into Child Sexual Abuse and supplied information
on the work we do to protect children.
The Child Death Overview Panel has been reviewed and is
compliant with new Working Together to Safeguard Children
guidance 2018. Membership has been reviewed to include a GP at
each meeting, and lay member engagement during thematic
reviews. To ensure robust scrutiny and challenge, Public Health
England has agreed to work across four CDOPs in the north East of
England, undertaking thematic reviews of: suicide and deliberate
self- harm; sudden unexpected deaths; trauma and neonatal deaths.
Also, County Durham and Darlington CDOPs will share joint learning
with Tees Valley CDOP via twice yearly challenge review meetings.

In addition, we have actively promoted the Truth Project; this offers
the opportunity for victims and survivors to share their experience
and be respectfully heard and acknowledged. By doing so, they are
helping the inquiry to better understand the long-term impact of
abuse.
Learning Point
Watch a two-minute video
about the Truth Project.

30

E-learning Courses

7. Training and Communication
Durham LSCB offered 10 core courses in 2018/19 as part of the
multi-agency training programme. 22 bespoke training events were
delivered to single agencies.

•

A total of 82 courses were
delivered in 2018/19. The courses
were attended by a total of 1,670 staff
and volunteers.

•

A full total of 98 multi-agency
training events were delivered and
attended by a total of 1,854.

The training courses received very positive feedback with 93% of
attendees marking the training as good or excellent.

Impact Analysis – Of the
responses received 86%
confirmed the learning
from the course had
impacted on their practice
and 66% believed that it
had improved outcomes
for the children and
families they work with

Durham LSCB provide access to a full
range of e-learning courses through the
Virtual College ‘total package’.
This allows partners the ability to offer up-to-date safeguarding
training to all staff through the unlimited licences available for each
course. Courses include:
•

Safeguarding
Children and
Young People from
Abuse by Sexual
Exploitation

•

Domestic Abuse

•

Awareness of Child
Abuse and Neglect

•

Collaborative
Working: A Whole
Family Approach

‘This
training day
has helped
me to
understand
the single
assessment
process and
what a good
assessment
looks like.’

In 2018/19:
•

6,665 e-learning courses have been completed

•

97% of those completing evaluations stated they would
recommend the course to a friend or colleague

 More Information: Find out more information about
Page 153

LSCB Training Programme
31

Page 154

Marketing and Communications Activity
Marketing and communications work is delivered
through the Durham LSCB Website and is the main
channel and access point for local safeguarding
information and materials and to support local and
national campaigns.

Website stats - April 2018 to end of March 2019

Campaigns we supported in 2018/19
• Children’s Commissioner’s Takeover Challenge
• Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day
• Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse Truth
Project
• Internet Safety Day
• World Social Worker Day

• 27,745 users

• Alcohol Awareness Week

• 46,198 sessions / visits

• International Day for Elimination of Violence Against
Women and Girls

• 114,137 page views

Printed materials to raise awareness of safeguarding children were
distributed to contact points such as Customer Access Points, GP
surgeries, Libraries, Children Centres, Day Nurseries, Police
Stations and the Neighbourhood Watch Network.

2018/19 was a transition year from LSCB to DSCP. The consultation
process included two LSCB partnership development days to inform
the vision and values; structure and meetings model; and scrutiny
arrangements for the new partnership.
Two awareness sessions and consultation events were held for
Relevant Agencies. The website was updated to reflect the
anticipated changes to the partnership. Quarterly LSCB newsletters
provided partners and service users with updates and future plans.

The LSCB website is the main. Content is refreshed regularly with
the Toolkits and Guidance for Practitioners page, making a Referral
page and Training Programme being the top three pages visited.

Learning Point
Watch Chris speak about the
storyline and how it has helped to
raise the issue of child sexual
exploitation across the country.

32

8. Future Priorities
A balanced scorecard of indicators, based on our Vision and Values, will incorporate, for example how we monitor our
performance against priorities such as neglect and child exploitation.

Page 155

33

Page 156

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership
Durham LSCB Membership
•

The Board is chaired by an independent person
commissioned by the Durham County Council Chief Executive

•

National Probation Services – represented by the Head of
Durham NPS

•

•

•

Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company –
represented by the Head of Services County Durham and
Darlington

•

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
– represented by the General Manager Nursing and
Professional Standards

•

Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust – represented
by the Head of Safeguarding Children

•

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust –
represented by the Associate Director of Safeguarding

•

Cafcass (County Durham) – represented by the Service
Manager

•

County Durham Council represented by:
- Corporate Director, Children and Young People’s Services

North Durham, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield
Clinical Commissioning Groups – represented by the
Director of Nursing (Vice-Chair of Durham LSCB)

- Head of Early Help, Assessment & Safeguarding
- Head of Adult Care

Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked After
Children

•

Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children

•

NHS England – represented by the Director of Nursing for the
Clinical Commissioning Groups

•

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust –
represented by the Associate Director of Nursing
(Safeguarding)

•

County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust –
represented by the Associate Director of Patient Experience &
Safeguarding

- Head of Education
- Strategic Manager – Children’s Services Reform & Youth
Offending Service
- Director of Public Health County Durham
- Strategic Manager – Housing Solutions
•

National Offender Management Service – represented by
the Regional Safer Custody Lead

•

Durham Constabulary – represented by the Force Lead for
Safeguarding (Superintendent Level)

•

The Voluntary & Community Sector – represented by the
Voluntary Sector Representative (Durham Voice)

34

•

Schools – represented by:
- Durham Association of Secondary Heads
- Durham Association of Primary Heads
- Durham Association of Special Schools

•

Further Education – represented by:
- Head of Student Services, Bishop Auckland College
- Advice Support Careers Manager, New College Durham

•

Lay Members – represented by three members of the
community whose remit is to challenge the LSCB on the
accessibility by the public, children and young people of its
plans and procedures

•

Lead Member – represented by the Portfolio Holder for
Children and Young People’s Services (participant observer)

•

Faith Communities – represented by the Safeguarding Lead
for Durham Diocese

LSCB Advisors
The Board is advised by:
•

A member of Durham County Council Corporate & Legal
Services nominated as the Board’s legal advisor

•

The Durham LSCB Business Manager

•

Head of Partnerships & Engagement, Durham County Council

•

Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Durham County Council

Contact Details
Durham LSCB
Durham County Council
Durham Constabulary
County Durham & Darlington
NHS Foundation Trust
North Durham Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)
Durham Dales, Easington &
Sedgefield CCG
Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys
NHS Foundation Trust
North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust
Harrogate & District NHS
Foundation Trust
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS
Foundation Trust
NHS England North
Cafcass (County Durham)
Durham Tees Valley Community
Rehabilitation Company
National Probation Service
North East Division
National Offender Management
Service
Schools and Colleges
Voluntary and Community Sector

03000 265 770
03000 260 000
101
0191 333 2333
0191 389 8600
0191 371 3222
01325 552 000
01642 617 617
01423 885 959
0191 565 6256
0113 825 1609
0300 456 4000
0808 168 4848
01325 246 260
0300 047 6325
web link only
web link only

Page 157

35

Page 158

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget

LSCB Budget
The financial contributions from partner agencies are as follows:

Staffing

Partner

The LSCB is supported by the following officers:
•

LSCB Business Manager

•

LSCB Quality & Performance Coordinator

•

LSCB Strategy and Development Officer

•

LSCB Training Coordinator

•

LSCB Admin Coordinator

•

LSCB Administrator

•

LSCB Admin Apprentice

2017/18

2018/19

Contribution

Contribution

Durham County Council

£171,604

£171,604

Clinical Commissioning Groups

£95,097

£95,097

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS
Foundation Trust

£2,680

£2,680

County Durham & Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust

£2,680

£2,680

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS
Foundation Trust

£2,680

£2,680

Harrogate and District NHS
Foundation Trust

£2,680

£2,680

Durham Constabulary

£29,285

£29,285

Durham Tees Valley Community
Rehabilitation Company

£1,340

£1,340

National Probation Service

£2,032

£2,032

Further Education Colleges

£2,100

£2,100

£550

£550

£312,728

£312,728

Cafcass
Total

36

Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017 / 2018 / 2019 - Safeguarding Children in County Durham
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our partners
safeguard vulnerable children and young people in County Durham. Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local organisations
that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and
young people in County Durham and to ensure that they do so effectively.
The children and young people of County Durham are at the heart of what all LSCB partners do and our vision of ‘Every child and young
person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm’ continues to drive services forward.
This Annual Report gives an account of the Board’s work over the past year to improve the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.
The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups against its priorities for 2018/19. It covers the major changes and improvements
of our partners’ service delivery, where they link with the Board’s overall strategies and the impact it has had. It also reports on the Serious
Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities to be taken forward into 2019/20.

Equality and Diversity
Durham LSCB strives to promote equal access to safeguarding services, particularly
for those children who are unable to communicate, due to their age, disability or first language.

DSCP Business Unit
County Hall
Durham
County Durham
DH1 5UJ
Email: dscpsecure@durham.gov.uk
Tel: 03000 265 770

A copy of this report is available on www.durham-scp.org.uk

Page 159

37

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Quarter One, 2019/20
Performance Management Report
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the
council’s corporate performance framework.

Performance Report for quarter one, 2019/20
2

The performance report for quarter one 2019/20 is attached at Appendix
2. It is structured around a set of key questions aligned to the six priority
themes of the Altogether framework and includes the key performance
messages from data available this quarter along with visual summaries
and data tables for each priority theme.

Future Performance Reporting
3

As our current vision, which forms the basis of this performance report,
is over nine years old and many of the original aims have been
achieved, we are developing a new set of proposed ambitions that
better reflect the needs and opportunities of County Durham. This new
vision will be launched in the autumn and the format and content of this
performance report will be modified to align to the new ambitions.

Page 161

Executive summary
4

Key performance messages for quarter one, by priority theme:

Altogether Wealthier
(a)

Our focus on investment that creates more and better jobs
continues. Three further inward investments were confirmed this
quarter and we are developing new business sites with the
potential to create thousands of jobs, creating new infrastructure,
investing in our roads so they are on par with those nationally,
and building on our growing tourism and cultural activity. We have
put in place effective programmes to engage and support both
businesses and people across the county, and we are
successfully accessing additional funding to maximise our impact.
Although the medium-term employment rate remains positive and
the employment rate for young people (aged 16-24) is higher than
regional and national levels, we are concerned about the
employment gap between those with a disability and those
without, and the relatively low employment of older people (5064).

Altogether Better for Children and Young People
(b)

Page 162

There are many positives in this area. Strong multi-agency
delivery through our Early Help Strategy and the stronger families
programme is helping to drive opportunity, address inequalities
and secure better outcomes for children, young people and their
families. Schools across the county have maintained their
success from last year and there has been significant
improvements in the academic performance of disadvantaged
pupils in relation to Attainment 8. Caseloads across children’s
social care have improved, and there is improving performance in
a number of areas. Improvements in practice are also being
supported through more detailed review and analysis of
performance information, as well as continued
development/refinement of data reports and dashboards following
the migration to Liquidlogic. There are however still a number of
challenges: poverty pressures across the county, the proportion of
secondary schools rated as ‘requires improvement’ or
‘inadequate’ and the comparably high rates of teenage
conceptions and alcohol-specific hospital admissions for under18s. We are mitigating these concerns by reviewing educational
provision across the county (including elective home education),
strengthening our links with Ofsted and educational
establishments, implementing initiatives and interventions that
support physical and mental wellbeing of children and young
people and improve their life chances.

Altogether Healthier
(c)

Health continues to be a challenging area. Inequality across the
county and between County Durham and the rest of the country
remains unacceptably high, in particular the difference in healthy
life expectancy (19 years across the county). More than two in
ten children starting primary school have excess weight, which
increases to almost four in ten at the start of secondary school,
and further increases to almost seven in ten adults, which is
higher than regional and national rates. Smoking prevalence
appears to have stabilised at a lower level, where we are on par
with the rest of the country, but tobacco dependency in pregnancy
remains a concern with rates higher than both the national and
regional averages and with geographical variation across the
county. We are working with partners to address these
challenges; running campaigns and initiatives that encourage
people to quit smoking, reduce excess weight and improve oral
health, supporting mothers in their communities and local
businesses to be breastfeeding-friendly, helping organisations
achieve the Better Health at Work Award and working with
pharmacies to promote NHS health checks. We continue to
perform extremely well in preventing delayed transfers of care and
the latest survey of adult carers shows satisfaction across the
county is higher than the England and North East averages.

Altogether Safer
(d)

Although crime and anti-social behaviour levels have remained
static, we are concerned about increases in specific crime areas
(repeat ‘violence without injury’, alcohol-related violence,
possession of a weapon or drugs and shoplifting) along with an
increase in domestic violence referrals. We are continuing to
address our concerns, through the Safe Durham Partnership, via
specific actions which include the continuation of countywide
multi-agency risk assessment conferences (MARACs) so
domestic violence cases are heard quicker and joint actions
identified sooner, multi-agency screening of medium risk domestic
violence cases to speed up processing times, a new streamlined
process for referrals to mental health services and mapping child
casualties to better target road safety training.

Altogether Greener
(e)

Although overall environmental cleanliness levels remain good,
there has been some deterioration, especially relating to detritus,
and we have noted increases in some enviro-crime categories
(graffiti, bonfires, drug paraphernalia (incl. needles). Across the
county, carbon emissions are reducing significantly as we

Page 163

generate more energy from renewable sources. Having declared
a climate emergency and set a target to become carbon neutral
by 2050, we have developed a new action plan, building on
current activity, that sets out how we will address the issues.
However, almost one fifth of kerbside recyclate is contaminated
and cannot be reprocessed. A range of campaigns is underway to
improve both the level and the quality of recycling.
Altogether Better Council
(f)

Our transformation programme continues to make a difference to
the way we work and the services we provide. Having recognised
the need to strengthen our approach to workforce development,
we have enhanced training and development opportunities,
produced a new suite of HR guidance documents, further
simplified HR policies and rolled-out our new digitised
performance appraisal scheme. These changes are helping us
achieve our objectives whilst retaining and developing staff. We
are also continuing to develop and use digital tools, techniques
and processes to make our internal procedures more efficient and
effective, and our integrated customer services initiative, to
develop a customer-focused, one-council approach to service
delivery, is underway. Targeted interventions appear to be
impacting positively on attendance management. Although,
performance relating to Freedom of Information (FOI) and
Environmental Information Regulations (EIR) remains below
expectation we expect our new FOI/EIR system will drive
improved performance.

Risk Management
5

Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda.
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and
improvement projects. Appendix 3 summarises key risks in delivering
the ambitions for each priority theme and how we are managing them.

Recommendation
6

That Cabinet considers the overall position and direction of travel in
relation to quarter one performance, and the actions being taken to
address areas of underperformance.

Contact:

Page 164

Jenny Haworth

Tel: 03000 268071

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and
financial planning.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring
process.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has
been included to monitor staffing issues.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is
integrated into the quarterly performance management report.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 165

This page is intentionally blank

Page 166

Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Performance Management
Report
Quarter One, 2019/20

Page 167

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 168

1. Do residents have good job prospects?
Gross Domestic Household Income (GDHI) - 2017

% working age population (16-64) in employment

 1.8%
compared
to 2016

(rolling year averge from Annual Population Survey)

75.5
74.2
71.1

72.7
68.6
68.4

% 16 – 17 year olds
NEET / Not Known

England

North East

County
Durham

2.9 2.5

4.6

1.7

5.3

NEET

1.4

NK

Key employment
rate stats:

Mar-19

Dec-18

Sep-18

Jun-18

Mar-18

Dec-17

Sep-17

Jun-17

Mar-17

Dec-16

Sep-16

Jun-16

Mar-16

Dec-15

Sep-15

Jun-15

Mar-15

County Durham
Confidence Interval
North East
England and Wales

National

(Apr 18-Mar 19)

County
Durham

Male

78.9%

80.1%

Female

69.7%

70.8%

Private sector

75.6%

79.0%

Part-time

24.4%

24.6%

Without a disability

83.7%

81.1%

With Equality Act core or
work limiting disability

47.7%

54.2%

Additional employment rate information available
via Durham Insight and Index of Deprivation in
County Durham (Employment Domain)

2,312 jobs created
& 117 jobs
safeguarded*
as a result of
Business Durham
activity during
quarter one

1,106 people registered &
285 people supported into
employment / selfemployment via
Employability Programmes
to date

*Job safeguarded: must be a
permanent, paid, full time
equivalent (FTE) job which is at
risk

Altogether Wealthier
1

The priority theme of Altogether Wealthier is structured around the following five key
questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Do residents have good job prospects?
Is County Durham a good place to do business?
Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Is it easy to travel around the county?
How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Do residents have good job prospects?
2

The employment rate has remained relatively static at 74.2% and continues to
exceed our target (73%). However, as the rate is an estimate from a sample survey
it is possible that the increase since June 2018 is due to random sample variation,
as it is within the estimated confidence intervals (+/- 2.8%). We will be closely
monitoring the data over the coming months.

3

However, the employment rate varies across population sub-groups. A 36
percentage point gap exists for the employment rate of those with an Equality Act
core or work limiting disability and those without. This is the 17 th highest of 125
authorities. Currently a Disability Confident Employer, we will apply to become a
Disability Confident Leader in autumn 2019. Our proposed leadership action plan
sets out how we will enhance support for our staff and how we will support local
businesses to become disability confident. This will include engaging with local
employers (especially SMEs with limited capacity), sharing good practice and
providing bespoke support to help local employers attract and retain their disabled
staff.

4

The employment prospects of young people (16-24) have steadily improved since
2012. In 2019, almost three in five young people (57%) are employed, compared to
two in five (38%) in 2012, and is above the national (54%) and regional (50%)
averages. However, the rate is lower than other age groups and its pre-recession
rate of 61%.

5

The increased proportion of young people not in education, training and/or
employment (NEET) is partly due to figures being at a transition point, as academic
programmes close and young people have yet to confirm a new destination, i.e.
employment or continuation of training.

6

All young people who are NEET are referred to DurhamWorks which specialises in
helping vulnerable young people, including those with Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND), care leavers and those supervised by the Youth Offending
Service. To date, 6,245 young people have been supported and, of the 52% who
have completed their supported intervention, 88% have progressed to EET.
Page 169

Page 170

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?

Apr-Jun
19

Business Durham Activity

3 inward investments secured

compared
Apr-Jun 18



3

businesses received intensive support

28 received
86.1% Business Durham floor space occupied
£12.6 GVA from jobs created/safeguarded (million)

96.2%
major planning applications
determined within
13 weeks
(target 90%)

Businesses
Supported
(quarter
one)




3.7pp
£1.5m

County Durham Plan

Submitted to Planning Inspectorate in
June.
Examination in Public to commence
October 2019.

£690,000 grant

Finance Durham (FD)

request submitted to
European Regional
Development Fund
(ERDF) in May 2019
for a new project to
support ambitious
business start-ups

To date:

£3.4m investment in business

12 investment deals through
FD fund

LEADER Programme - EU initiative to support
rural business to create jobs and support the economy

Durham Coast & Lowlands
40 projects worth £1,308,042 approved
to date (91% of programme allocation).
If approved, 3 projects at full application
stage will commit remainder of
programme allocation.

11 as a result of Development and Housing targeted business
improvement schemes

15 through Community Economic Development Team who
provide advice, grant support and access to training

Additional information on businesses is available via Durham Insight

North Pennines & Dales
43 projects worth £1,611,305 approved
to date (83% of programme allocation).
6 projects at full application stage.
If approved, 2% of budget to allocate by
end quarter two.

7

Having recognised more action is required to further increase young people in EET,
we have undertaken various consultative activities including peer led discussions
with young people and workshops involving key stakeholders. Feedback has helped
develop a new vision and key aims for a revised partnership plan.

8

Employment across the 50 to 64 age group, where there is a relatively lower
number of workers, is 68%. This is comparable with the regional rate but lower than
nationally (72%).

9

Three inward investments were confirmed during quarter one: Orchidsoft Limited
(an intranet software specialist), Maveco Stone Machinery Ltd and a company that
wishes to remain confidential.

10

Work on our new headquarters commenced in August, paving the way to develop
Aykley Heads as a multi-million pound business district, creating up to 6,000 jobs
and boosting the local economy by £400 million.

Is County Durham a good place to do business?
11

Bishop Auckland has been shortlisted for the second phase of the government’s
‘Future High Street Fund’, which aims to renew and reshape town centres, and will
bid for a share of £675 million. In addition, the masterplan for Bishop Auckland town
centre has now been approved. It sets out how key spaces are used, how to access
and navigate the town centre and the impact of developing visitor attractions on its
infrastructure.

12

Forrest Park in Newton Aycliffe, with the potential to create more than 3,000 jobs, is
one of 11 projects selected by the Department for International Trade to showcase
Britain’s key business sectors and investment opportunities at an international
level.

13

The LEADER funding programme, helping businesses and organisations develop,
diversify and grow in rural areas across the county, is delivered through two area
based schemes (Durham Coast and Lowlands and North Pennine Dales).
Examples of success are: Taylored Fit Physio renovated and adapted an unused
chapel in Langley Park into a new physio and health centre (£56,388, created five
jobs); Moorcock Inn, Weardale constructed a glamping site with 12 camping pods,
facilities block, café and shop selling local produce (£124,763, created five jobs);
and, Parlourmade, Teesdale purchased and installed a new cheese store / ripening
room and washing facility (£5,695) and a robotic milking system (£65,636).

Page 171

Page 172

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Empty properties brought back into use following LA intervention

Housing advice and support
(Apr–Jun 19, compared to same period last year)

properties improved, adapted or brought

 6%

Net homes
completed
(Apr-Jun 19)

401

532
affordable
homes
delivered
(2018/19)

 20 (5%)

167
prevention

203

186
Mar-19

2018/19

Jun-19

187
Dec-18

209
Jun-18

196

198
Mar-18

2017/18

Sep-18

195

152
Jun-17

Dec-18

136
Mar-17

193

120
Dec-16

Sep-17

112

141
Jun-16

Sep-16

2016/17
12 months ending

2019/20

2019/20 target

100 shared ownership
Additional housing
information available
via the Durham
Insight – Housing
factsheet

15.4
Number of
households
supported under
Homelessness
Reduction Act
(HRA) during
quarter one

177

2015/16

234 rental units

198 affordable rent and
development
management properties

compared to same
period last year

Mar-16

Jun-15

households helped to move to alternative

249 accommodation

206

 29%

Dec-16

260 households helped to stay in their homes

259

 3.5%

Sep-15

3,019 households accessed Housing Solutions

200

245

546 back into use

125

7

relief

main duty

(within 56 days)

(to secure
accommodation)

County Durham median house price by lower
layer super output area (year ending Dec 18)
Source: ONS

Average days
spent in
temporary
accommodation
(Apr-Jun 19)

 2.6 days from
same period last
year

No data available
£25,000

£420,000

Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
14

Feedback received from consultation on the Housing and Homelessness Strategies
has been considered and, where appropriate, included within the final documents
which have now been approved. We included an additional section in the Housing
Strategy relating to support, adaptations and housing products for people with
disabilities, a section on ‘health’ as a cross-cutting theme, and health and housing
related case studies.

15

We are continuing to work on a business case to widen selective licensing across
the county. The scheme will require private landlords to obtain a licence for each of
their properties. Data collection and cleansing is complete, and we are now
analysing the findings which will be reported to Cabinet in October ahead of
consultation.

16

An Assessment Centre (based at the Fells, Plawsworth) and a Stay Safe Hub have
now opened following a successful bid for regional funding. The initiative gives
rough sleepers immediate access to accommodation and supports them in finding a
more permanent place to stay. Once housing is secured, the funding allows for
tenancy support, helping vulnerable people maintain their tenancy through regular
visits, assistance with bills, cleaning and establishing the tenancy.

17

We have also been successful in securing almost £250,000 of funding from the
Rapid Rehousing Programme to establish a lettings agency that will help secure
housing for homeless people.

18

The definition of affordable housing1 has widened, and grant rates increased, in
response to government legislation. It is now defined as social rented, affordable
rented and intermediate housing provided to specified eligible households whose
needs are not met by the market, and can be a new build or private sector property
purchased for use as an affordable home. Increased partnership working with
registered providers and Homes England has contributed to the high number of
affordable homes delivered.

19

The Chapter Homes development at Eden Field, Newton Aycliffe is scheduled for
completion in August 2019. The final phase has been released and only six of the
143 homes are yet to be reserved.

20

Fewer properties have been improved, adapted or brought back into use due to a
33% decrease in Disabled Facilities Grants, which are demand led and dependant
on internal referrals. However, 145 future adaptations are committed and 151
applications in progress.

1

See Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework

Page 173

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 174

4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Good /
stable

Overall condition of A, B & C roads

55/148

National Highways and Transport Survey: satisfaction with…

national
rank

Overall (local)

Highway
maintenance

Street lighting

Durham

57%

53%

62%

North East

56%

51%

67%

National

53%

51%

65%

91/116
Declined

national
rank

Overall condition of unclassified roads

Confidence interval – 3%

Highways Maintenance Backlog

(£ millions)

191.7

Bridge Stock Condition - Principal roads

187.6
178.0

179.6

181.0

2013

2014

2015

80.7%
(+0.7pp)

179.7

177.0

Good to
fair
2012

Good to
fair

2016

Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan
2019-29
Renovations and improvements to the
A167 cycle path running from Cock o'
the North roundabout to Merryoaks are
now complete.
Work included; resurfacing, signage
improvements and the closure of a
layby to make the area safer.

2017

79.9%
(-1.1pp)

Bridge Stock Conditions - Non-principal roads

2018

Local passenger journeys on the bus
network
(compared to 2016/17)
2016/17 - 23.52
million
2017/18
2018/19
-142,444
-273,895

Is it easy to travel around the county?
21

The latest Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) 2018, which sets out our long
term plan for managing highways, indicates our maintenance backlog is decreasing
which is, in part, due to investment made in carriageways and footways resurfacing.

22

The condition of A, B and C roads has improved and is now rated close to the
national average. Structures such as bridges and tunnels are generally in 'good to
fair' condition and the backlog has now stabilised after increasing in recent years
mainly due to collection of improved data.

23

Whorlton Suspension Bridge is closed to traffic (but not pedestrians or
cyclists) following a routine inspection which identified a safety issue. As a
scheduled monument, the repairs require permission from Historic England, so the
duration of the closure is not yet known. Engineers have also started repairing a
large sinkhole that unearthed a Victorian railway bridge alongside the A691 at
Blackhill in Consett. Works are expected to take two to three weeks.

24

Having retained our maximum Department for Transport Band 3 efficiency rating in
2019 (only two of 119 Highway Authorities in England achieved this) we will
continue to access maximum funding from the DfT’s Incentive Fund going forward.

25

Construction works to create a 139-space car park and bus stops at Horden Rail
Station has started. Work to develop the station, which will feature two 100-metre
platforms with shelters connected by an accessible footbridge, will begin in
September.

How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local
economy?
26

£1.3 million grant from the Coastal Communities Fund will go toward the £2.2
million project to create a Crimdon Coastal visitor and events hub, which will consist
of a café, public toilets, and a community, educational and volunteer space. The
council will provide match funding.

27

Despite the first day of Seaham Food festival being cancelled due to strong winds
and torrential rain, almost 15,000 people attended the second day and traders
reported selling two days of produce in a single day and town centre businesses
reported a bumper day’s trade.

28

Unfortunately, the Velo North Series, scheduled to take place in September 2019,
has been cancelled as it was unable to attract sufficient riders to justify the event
going ahead.

Page 175

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 176

5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?

Durham Pride (May 2019)

Number of visitors (million)
18.1

18.7

19.3

19.7

• 6th Pride event in Durham
• Around 20,000 attendees

17.9

Seaham Food Festival (June 2019)

2.93

2.97

3.07

3.16

3.23

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

• 15,000 attendees
• 100+ traders

Pyjamarama (June 2019)

Total - County Durham

new library members

(2018/19)

Durham County Records Office
During 2018/19:

1.1m interactions with archive
77 groups visited
80 outreach activities undertaken

• 3 matches held at Durham County Cricket Club
• Durham hosted one of
eight city fan zones

£866.7m

11,682

4.9%

 4.7%

93% satisfaction with visitor information network

services

Cricket World Cup (July 2019)

Employed
in tourism

Durham Coast

• Book trust event encouraging children to read
bedtime stories

• 778 children and 284 adults attended
• 48 events and activities held
• 46 children signed up to become a

Generated by
the visitor
economy

36 exhibitions staged

 2pp
compared to
2017/18

Durham History Centre
Mount Oswald Manor House will be
brought back into use, adding a high
quality, visually appealing extension.
Phase 2 consultation ended
28 July 2019.
Feedback from 193 respondents will
be used to develop the project.
More information is available here.

29

Peterlee leisure centre and library has re-opened following a £2 million
improvement programme. This included refurbishing the pool changing rooms,
reception space, parking facilities and the creation of the new library facility.

30

New ticket prices have been introduced at the Gala cinema, including a £20 family
ticket and £5 cinema tickets regardless of the day or time.

31

Consultation on plans for a new Durham History Centre closed in July 2019. We are
currently analysing feedback from 193 respondents, but initial findings suggest the
majority of respondents like the design. The project will bring into one central
location historic records, photographs and objects, bring Mount Oswald Manor
House back into use, provide space for exhibitions, activities and events and
provide enhanced registration services. It is anticipated that a planning application
will be submitted in autumn 2019.

Altogether Better for Children and Young People
32

The priority theme of Altogether Better for Children and Young People is structured
around the following four key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services
appropriately supported?
Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services
appropriately supported?
Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services
appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Are we being a good corporate parent for looked after children?

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal and early
help services appropriately supported?
33

We are developing, with key partners, an updated strategic approach to early help
to ensure effective, targeted and co-ordinated ‘early help’ that promotes opportunity,
addresses inequalities and secures better outcomes for children, young people and
their families. Feedback from parents, carers, children and young people helped to
shape its approach. Key actions over the coming year include implementation of
Early Help Guidance and Support meetings which will provide an environment for
professionals to discuss those children and families in need of early help and decide
on best possible solutions in order to provide the right support to the child and
family, developing a Quality Improvement Framework across Early Help, Inclusion
and Vulnerable Children services and developing programmes to support children
young people and families affected by parental conflict.

Page 177

Page 178

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
Are (1) children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported and (2) are children, young people
and families in receipt of early help appropriately supported?
Schools judged good or outstanding
(as at 30 June 2019)

100%

90%

64%

Early Years

Primary

Secondary

Click here for the relationship
between secondary school Ofsted
ratings and indices of deprivation.

401 children and young people known to be
electively home educated (as at June 19)

cases open to One Point (as at 30 Jun 19)

2,210

2,885 families
have achieved significant
and sustained outcomes
(as at end June 2019).

Early help assessments completed within
45 working days (Apr-Jun19)

88%

66% of May 2020 target

Hospital admissions as a result of self-harm
per 100,000 (10-24 years)
458

Teenage
Pregnancy
Prevention
Framework

% EHCP completed within 20 week timescale
421.2

Durham
(Jan-Jun 19)

North East
(2018)

England
(2018)

Target

64%

82%

60%

90%

350.1

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

County Durham

Student Voice Survey (spring 18/19)

3,111 pupils from 74

5,625 pupils from 29

primary schools

secondary schools

Detailed results will be available during quarter two.

Alcohol
specific
hospital
admissions
for under18s (rate per
100,000)

2016/17

North East

2017/18
England

Durham

North East

National

(2015-2018)

(2015-2018)

(2015-2018)

53.1

62.7

32.9

 3.1 from
12 months
earlier

 2.1 from
12 months
earlier

 1.3 from
12 months
earlier

Under-18
conception rate
is higher than
the same
period last
year, lower
than the North
East & higher
than England

better than last year
worse than last year

Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal and early
help services appropriately supported?
34

One in every five children (20%) across the county is eligible for, and claiming, free
school meals (compared to one in seven (15%) nationally) and although the take-up
rate (based on eligible children taking their free meal on census day) has decreased
nationally, it has remained relatively static across the county (at 80%).

35

As at 30 June 2019, more than 8,000 families were engaged with our Stronger
Families Programme. One of only 14 councils with Earned Autonomy (EA) status,
and therefore eligible to receive all of the funding over 2018/19 and 2019/20 from
the Troubled Families programme, we are working collaboratively to a ‘whole family'
approach to ensure children, young people and families with a range of multiple and
complex needs can access effective early help.

36

We have made progress in several key areas: redesigning our One Point Service;
providing more targeted early help and outcome focussed working; implementing
the Voluntary and Community Sector Alliance programme; and, providing specialist
social care services such as the Pre-Birth Intervention Service and Supporting
Solutions (Edge of Care Service).

37

To date, we have evidenced that 2,885 families have achieved significant and
sustained outcomes through our Stronger Families programme which equates to
two-thirds of our March 2020 target.

38

Across the county, eight in ten pupils (81%) attend a primary or secondary school
rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. Although slightly higher than the North East
average (79%), it is below the England average (84%). Ofsted has now piloted its
new school inspection framework prior to full implementation from September 2019.

39

Ofsted is refocusing inspections of schools, early years settings and further
education and skills providers. Inspectors will spend less time looking at exam
results and test data, and more time considering how a nursery, school, college or
other education provider has achieved their results. Schools will be empowered to
put the child first and be actively discouraged from negative practices, such as ‘offrolling’, where schools remove pupils in their own best interests, rather than that of
the pupils. Such schools are likely to find their ‘leadership and management’ judged
inadequate under the new framework.

40

More than 9,600 schools across England have voluntarily registered to participate in
the Reception Baseline Assessment pilot this autumn. Schools will complete the
assessment within six weeks of the children starting school. It will be an activitybased assessment of pupils’ ability in language, communication and literacy and
mathematics. It will be used as the baseline for measuring the progress primary

Page 179

schools make with their pupils. This is a voluntary pilot and it is not yet known which
County Durham primary schools are participating.
41

The overall attainment 8 score (formerly GCSE) for pupils in County Durham has
risen again to 44.7 from 44.4 last year. This is a measure of a pupil's average grade
across a set of eight subjects. Disadvantaged attainment 8 has improved
considerably to 40.4 compared to 35.5 in 2018.

42

The proportion of pupils achieving success at grade 4 and above in both English
and maths is 60%. This matches last year's performance, which was an
improvement from 56% in 2017. The average attainment score for both subjects
has also increased. (A level 4 is deemed as a 'pass' which is similar to the old 'C'
grade).

43

The A-level overall point score is now 35.4 compared to 31.9 three years ago, and
the average attainment grade has increased to B-. This is higher than the national
average of C+.

44

Pupils who did not receive the grades they hoped for and those looking for careers
advice are supported by DurhamWorks to find apprenticeships, recruitment and
training for 16 to 24-year-olds across the county.

45

The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee is undertaking
a review of elective home education, focusing on education standards, protecting
children from harm and the support available for children and their families.
Evidence gathering will commence in September 2019 and recommendations
considered in early 2020.

46

Although better than the national level, our performance in relation to completing
Education Health & Care Plans (EHCP) for children and young people with Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) within 20 weeks has deteriorated. This
stems from the significant increase in demand for EHCPs in early 2019. Identifying
placements for children with complex needs remains both a local and national issue
and is a consistent factor in EHCPs going out of timescale.

47

As part of our work to improve the mental health of our children and young people in
County Durham, and in response to the new theme of the Ofsted led Joint Targeted
Area Inspection around mental health, there are a number of activities planned as
part of the Children and Young People Mental Health and Resilience Local
Transformation Plan.

48

We are participating in the national rollout of the Mental Health Services and
Schools and Colleges Link Programme (MHSSCLP), a ground-breaking initiative to
help CCGs and local authorities work with schools and colleges to provide timely
mental health support to children and young people. It works to empower staff by

Page 180

brokering contact, sharing expertise and developing a joint vision for CYP mental
health and wellbeing in each locality.
49

We are also delivering the Durham Resilience programme (DRP) to develop greater
awareness and understanding of resilience within schools and to promote working
practices that support resilience in both pupils and staff. The Youth Aware Mental
Health (YAM) programme which, to date, has reached 2,253 year 9 pupils across
14 schools continues to be rolled out.

50

A recent consultation event with children, young people and their families at
Durham Cricket Ground, gathered views on the Mental Health Support Teams
(MHST) within schools. Feedback will be used to inform our ‘Trailblazer’ bid which
was successful in securing funding for the three MHST across County Durham.
There is over £1 million coming into Durham from NHS England and Public Health
are complementing this funding for the next three years. The funding will support 518 year olds within up to 60 educational establishments which includes three
colleges in a North, South and East team structure.

51

We have introduced a children, young people and family-focused physical activity
offer within the context of the developing wellbeing model. It will be introduced via a
locality-based stepped approach between September 2019 and August 2020.

52

Across the county, tooth decay remains a concern. Phase 3 of the tooth brushing
“train the trainer” scheme, available to the top 30% deprived areas across the
county with the County Durham Integrated Needs Assessment for Oral Health
indicating the priority areas, started at the end of April. An additional 14 settings,
with the combined potential to reach 540 children, have accepted this offer.

53

A County Durham Oral Health Neglect Conference, held in early May 2019, raised
awareness of dental decay being a significant factor in neglect. Feedback from the
conference will help develop an action plan led by the neglect sub-group.

54

Although teenage conceptions across the county have greatly reduced, they remain
higher than nationally. To help young people make informed choices and in
preparation for the introduction of statutory Relationship and Sex Education (RSE)
in September 2020, a range of interventions, co-ordinated through the Teenage
Parent Steering Group and delivered by key stakeholders, has been put in place.
The Integrated Sexual Health Service (ISHS) delivered by County Durham and
Darlington Foundation Trust (CDDFT) are increasing their offer for young people
particularly in areas where conception rates are consistently 20% higher than the
Durham average. The ISHS have recently consulted service users with the aim of
improving the service offered this includes the following;
(a) Increase in the numbers of community-based evening Teen Plus
Contraception and Sexual Health (CaSH) /GUM clinics;
(b) Ensure that weekend provision of CaSH/GUM is made available;
Page 181

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
Page 182

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
 2% in enquiries

 19% in referrals

 39% in single assessments

compared to Jun 18

compared to Jun 18

compared to Jun 18

Number of children by level of need
Level 3/2
Level 4 (statutory cases)
One Point Service,
LAC, CPP, Children in Need
Early Help

lower

higher

Journey of a child

40,000
35,000
30,000
25,000
20,000
15,000
10,000
5,000
0

7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0

Referrals / assessments

Enquiries

Enquiries, Referrals and Assessments (rolling 12 months)

Jun-17

3,624

Jun-18

3,478

2,350

Jun-19

3,470

2,210

Social Worker - Caseload Distribution
57%
33%

Enquiries

Referrals

2,382

34%

26%

9% 29%

0% 13%

25-29

30+

Assessments
Under 20

91% social work assessments completed within 45 working days (Apr-Jun19)

20-24
Jun-19

Jul-18

Highest ever in June 2019 at 96%

Quality of case work

Number of children on a Child Protection
Plan (CPP)

Collaborative audits
(Jan-Mar19)

% of Initial Child Protection Conferences held within
15 days of Section 47 investigation commencing
93

487
446
353

471

86%
368

358

22% fewer children on
a CPP than Jun 2018
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19 2019/20

case files given a
scaling score of 6
or above

84
77

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Q1 201920
Durham
Nearest statistical neighbour
England

(c) Increase in the number of community-based walk in Teen Plus CaSH clinics;
(d) Increase in the number of school-based CaSH clinics.
55

The Student Voice Survey was carried out in early 2019 for the third year.
Responses were received from 3,111 pupils attending 74 primary schools and
5,625 pupils attending 29 secondary schools across County Durham. Analysis of
these results is ongoing and will be reported later this year; key topics include
achievement and quality of teaching, safety and bullying, use of technology, careers
advice, and wellbeing, including eating habits, mental health, alcohol and drugs and
culture and sport.

Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work
services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
56

As at 30 June 2019, our statutory social work teams were supporting 3,470 children,
including 368 children on a child protection plan and 873 children in care.

57

During quarter 1, around nine in ten children’s case files audited were scored as six
or above. Detailed analysis of our collaborative audit work is routinely reported to
our social care Quality Improvement Board and corrective action and support put in
place where the need for improvement is identified. We have commissioned
external peer review of our audit process. Improvements in practice are also being
supported through more detailed review and analysis of performance information,
as well as continued development / refinement of data reports and dashboards
following the migration to Liquidlogic.

58

The move to a new case management system was driven by a recommendation
from our 2016 Children’s Services Ofsted inspection to “continue with the plan to
review existing recording systems to ensure that children’s case records are
organised in such a way that they present a coherent, accurate and easily
accessible picture of a child’s journey”. Moving to a new children’s social care case
management system is a significant and complex project which is providing many
modernising improvement opportunities to process and present performance data
and management information in new ways as well as develop our understanding of
outcomes for children and families.

59

Some significant performance improvements are evident, supported by the
introduction of monthly performance clinics across the social care service.
Highlights include the timeliness of assessments and initial child protection
conferences.

Page 183

Page 184

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?
Children’s Commissioner Stability Index 2019
Number of Children Looked After
873
791

820

709
601

642

 6%

CLA with 0 Social
Worker changes over
12 months

CLA with 0 placement
changes over 24
months

CLA with any school
changes in 1 year

46%

57%

14%

39% England

53% England

43% Statistical

52% Statistical

17% England
16% Statistical

Neighbours

Neighbours

Neighbours

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19 2019/20

Average time between a child entering care and moving in
with its adoptive family (2015-18)

The Stability Index is an annual measure of the
stability of the lives of children in care. It was first
launched by the Children’s Commissioner in
2017 to shine a light on the issue of stability…
and ultimately drive improvements in stability for
children in care. (Data relates 2017/18)

Where do our children in care live?
%
In-house foster care 48.0
Friends and family 16.4
Independent Fostering Agency 14.4
Placed with parents 7.7
In-house residential 3.6
(incl. children's homes)

External residential (incl. children's homes and res school)
Placed for adoption
Independent living (incl. supported lodgings)
Secure (incl. YOI and prisons)

4.0
3.2
2.3
0.2

60

A reduction in children on a child protection plan (CPP) is evident. Initial analysis
has begun which shows that of those CPPs closed in less than three months the
most common reason was the child becoming looked after (four in ten children)
but for those CPPs closed in over three months the main reason was that
“threshold of significant harm no longer being met”. We will continue to provide
updates on our findings.

61

Signs of Safety, which continues to be implemented across the service as the
model for practice, has been positively received by social workers, children, young
people and families. This is in addition to a new system of collaborative audits,
making practitioners, children, young people and families central to the audit
process. Social workers value the feedback and learning the process provides.
The quality of the case files, which were audited during the quarter, has improved
and reflects ongoing improvements.

62

In the last six months, eight agency workers have been employed on permanent
contracts and a further four are currently undergoing pre-employment checks for
new posts. This is part of a strategic investment in children’s social care and, as a
result, caseloads have reduced, with no Social Workers now having a caseload of
30 or more, assisting us in our aim to create an environment where good quality
social work practice can flourish.

Are we being a good corporate parent to Children Looked After (CLA)?
63

As previously reported, the number of children in care increased in Durham from
2016 and then stabilised at around 800, this has however begun to increase again
since summer 2018. Increases in CLA are evident throughout most of the North
East and regional analysis has been undertaken. This analysis is intended to
inform and support a deep dive of children looked after numbers, primarily
examining if any trends or features can be identified which can explain the
recognised increase in children looked after which will be led by the regional
Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS). Despite the more recent
increasing trend our rate of children in care per 10,000 children aged 10-17 is
lower than the North East average and is third lowest in the region based upon
provisional 2018/19 data.

64

It is encouraging to note that despite an increasing number of children in care,
around eight in ten children in care live in foster care and the national Children’s
Commissioner Stability Index 2019 identifies placement stability, social worker
changes and school moves as better than national and statistical neighbour
averages.

65

Linked to our increase in children in care, care proceedings across the county
increased by 24% in 2018/19, whilst decreasing by 5% nationally. Durham has the
21st highest rate of care proceedings in the country. Regionally, only one council
Page 185

was not in the top quartile of care proceedings nationally. The family courts used
by the council, and other North East councils, regularly do not meet the 26 week
target for care proceedings, with high levels of demand in the region prevalent. We
continue to work closely between our children’s social care service, legal team,
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) and the
courts to achieve the best outcomes for children and their families. Fortnightly
legal panels are well established to ensure as little drift and delay as possible for
children and their families.
66

The next key foster carer recruitment period, our main campaign activity, will be in
September. The ‘empty nester’ campaign is time marked by the start of a new
academic term which heralds changes in family life and family composition. Last
year, our highest number of enquiries were in September.

67

There were 48 children adopted from care in the 12 months to August 2019.
Adoption timeliness is positive with the average time between a child entering care
and moving in with its adoptive family in 2015-18 reducing from 2014-17 and lower
than the England and statistical neighbour average.

Altogether Healthier
68

The priority theme of Altogether Healthier is structured around the following two
key questions:
(a)
(b)

Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and
independent lives?

Are our services improving the health of our residents?
69

Since 2011 there has been a continued reduction in smoking prevalence across
County Durham. However, the latest data (Tobacco Control Profiles) shows a
slight increase in the prevalence rate. As the rate is calculated from a sample
survey and remains within the estimated confidence intervals (+/-2.3), we do not
believe this increase is significant but rather due to random sample variation. We
will continue to closely monitor the data.

70

The government plans to eradicate smoking in England by 2030 by cracking down
on the industry and pledging to help smokers quit or move to reduced risk
products like e-cigarettes. In the meantime, Stop Smoking Services continue with
various activities to reduce smoking. Campaigns such as the Fresh Quit16 which
highlights that smoking causes 16 types of cancer, and the Take Seven Steps
campaign to reduce exposure to second-hand smoke, are included in training
sessions for midwives, health visitors and other children and family’s workforce.

Page 186

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER
1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Smoking Prevalence – aged 18 and over

Mothers Smoking at Time of Delivery

Mental Health

 18.7

DCC participated in
awareness week in
May. Staff were
encouraged to talk
about mental health

16.6
22.2

2012

22.1

20.3

2013
2014
County Durham

19.0

17.9

2015
2016
North East

14.7
14.3

15.0

2017
2018
England

10.9

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

20178/18

North East 16.0%
England 14.4%

29,000 fewer smokers
than in 2012

County Durham

Target

North East

England

Breastfeeding Prevalence at 6-8 weeks
44.5

41.6
32.8

Page 187

England 62.0%

Almost seven in ten adults in
County Durham have excess weight

26.8

28.2

29.9

29.1

28.9

29.2

29.6

28.4

28.6

28.3

33.8

29.8

32.5

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Q1

16/17

North East 66.5%

47.3

26.1

31.2

45.0

28.8

68.0 68.3 68.3 69.2 70.4 71.7 72.5
60.8 62.2 64.9 64.9 66.7

Q4

2018/19

Excess weight in adults (2017/18)



Q3

More than 80 staff
have signed up to
become Time to
Change
Champions.

17/18

County Durham

18/19

North East

England

19/20

71

Reducing smoking in pregnancy remains a major priority. Not only are our smoking
at time of delivery (SATOD) rates higher than both regional and national rates, there
is wide geographical variation across the county. Sedgefield locality has the highest
SATOD rate (20.6%) and Durham City the lowest (13.1%). Furthermore, analysis
(pooled for the period 2014/15-2016/17) shows a clear social gradient across the
county for SATOD. It is higher in the most deprived areas. We have identified those
areas where SATOD is at least 20% higher than the average rate for the county to
inform commissioners of where need is greatest and where resources should be
targeted.

72

We also used this analysis to develop a three-year plan, for the County Durham
Tobacco Dependency in Pregnancy steering group, with an overarching aim to
reduce tobacco dependency in pregnancy to 6% or less by 2022. We are
developing a 12-month action plan which includes a place based pilot in Shildon
where Stop Smoking Services will be present at midwife clinics.

73

Latest provisional data shows that breastfeeding prevalence within County Durham
remains lower than both national and North East averages. It has remained
consistently under 30% for a number of years and is lower than national and
regional data

74

As at the end of June, 155 businesses had signed up to our Breastfeeding Friendly
scheme. Beamish Museum and East Durham College have received training and
are now fully accredited. Training is also being discussed with our local Fire and
Rescue Service and both of our Clinical Commissioning Groups to ensure a positive
environment for staff returning from maternity leave. We are hoping Dalton Park
Shopping Centre will become the first breastfeeding friendly shopping centre in the
county. Plans are underway for a Big Latch On event in Dalton Park and Wharton
Park in August 2019.

75

During Mental Health Awareness Week in May, we encouraged our staff to hold
conversations about mental health, and more than 80 colleagues agreed to become
Time to Change (TTC) champions, actively tackling stigma and discrimination in the
workplace and promoting good mental health.

76

During quarter one, we supported 63 organisations across the county to achieve the
North East Better Health at Work Award. Organisations included Citizen’s Advice,
Durham Constabulary, DDES CCG, North Durham CCG, Hitachi, HM Passport
Office and Northumbrian Water.

77

We are developing an ‘approach to wellbeing’ and held a stakeholder event to
determine how the wellbeing approach can be incorporated into the commissioning
of future services. The Wellbeing for Life service, supported by 40 trained health
champions, has seen 888 clients on a one-to-one basis between April and June
2019.

Page 188

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER
2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
31.8%
29.2%

31.2%

Survey of adult carers in England: satisfaction with the
support or services you and the person you care for have
received from social services in the last 12 months?

23.9%

22.0%

/

15.9%

14.8%
10.4%

7.2%
4.3%
0.9%

I am extremely
satisfied

I am very satisfied

I am quite satisfied I am neither satisfied
nor dissatisfied

Durham

196.7

87.2%

adults aged 65+

of patients discharged into
reablement/ rehabilitation
services still at home after
91 days

per 100,000 population

admitted to residential
or nursing care on a
permanent basis

(Jan-Mar 19)

I am quite
dissatisfied

3.2%

I am very
dissatisfied

1.4%

4.0%

I am extremely
dissatisfied

England

2.0

95.7%

daily delayed transfers
of care, per 100,000
population

of individuals achieved their
desired outcomes from the
adult safeguarding process

(May 2019)

(Apr-Jun 19)

(Apr-Jun 19)

Page 189

 compared to last
year (199.5)

 compared to last
year (85.9)

better than national
(9.2) and regional
(5.9)

 compared to last
year (97.7)

78

The Joining the Dots project, providing support to adults with cancer, has now
engaged with 252 clients: 147 clients with cancer, the remainder being carers,
families or friends.

79

A review of the NHS Health Checks programme is underway to ensure clear
pathways into lifestyle / behaviour change support are fully embedded. In addition, a
pilot involving 22 pharmacies, held between February and August 2019, will identify
irregular pulse and give brief advice and/or signpost to primary care. An evaluation
of the scheme later in the year will determine if this is to be rolled out as part of the
community element of the health checks programme.

80

We are reviewing the catering and vending offer inside leisure facilities and a trial
(started May 2019) will offer a canned water only vending machine in Freeman’s
Quay Leisure Centre. This not only aligns to reducing single use plastic but also the
sugar reduction agenda, as a mechanism to tackle obesity and poor oral health.

Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and
independent lives?
81

The latest survey of adult carers in England shows 51% of carers in County Durham
are either ‘extremely’ or ‘very’ satisfied with the support or services they and the
person they care for have received from social services in the last 12 months. This
is an improvement on the 43% in the last survey in 2016/17. The result is also
statistically significantly better than the England average of 39%. In Durham, only
2.3% of carers were ‘extremely’ or ‘very’ dissatisfied with the support or services
received. This is an improvement on the 6% in the 2016/17 survey and is also
statistically significantly below the England average of 7%.

82

96% of individuals achieved their desired outcomes from the adult safeguarding
process. Although a slight deterioration from 98% over the same period last year, it
is an improvement on the end-of-year 2018/19 performance of 95%.

83

Targets for the following two Better Care Fund (BCF) indicators have not yet been
set for 2019/20, as the national planning guidance was not released until 20 July
2019:
(a) 65+ permanent admissions to residential / nursing care
(b) the percentage of people still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into
reablement / rehabilitation services.

84

Page 190

The BCF planning submission from the Health and Wellbeing Board is due by 27
September 2019, so provisional targets will be available at quarter two. National
BCF reporting will now not take place for quarter one. Both indicators have
improved compared to the same period in 2018/19.

ALTOGETHER SAFER
How effective are we at tackling (1) crime and disorder, and (2) anti-social behaviour?

Durham Constabulary has been congratulated on ‘excellent performance’
in its annual police effectiveness, efficiency and legitimacy (PEEL) report

13,125
crimes

25.8 crimes per
violence
against the
person

1,000 population

27,122
ASB incidents

- 47
other crimes
against
society

- 1%

13,536

+299

council reported

(+2%)

13,586

- 1,450

police reported

(- 10%)

+4

-222
+ 12%

theft
offences

You can view County Durham Crime
benchmarking data and the level of
crime in your area online by Durham
Constabulary crime map

all recorded crime

+ 0%

- 139
robbery

- 1%

-2
-5%

criminal
damage &
arson

- 11
sexual
offences

- 1%

- 41
- 10%

1 July 2018 – 30 June 2019

Page 191

Compared to same period the previous year
*Now includes Environmental Health & Consumer Protection Noise

85

County Durham continues to perform extremely well in preventing delayed transfers
of care. The data for May 2019 show that we recorded an average of 2.0 daily
delayed transfers per 100,000 population, which is better than the England (9.2)
and North East (5.9) averages.

Altogether Safer
86

The priority theme of Altogether Safer is structured around the following five key
questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse,
child exploitation and radicalisation?
How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?

How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder, and Anti-Social
Behaviour (ASB)?
87

‘Violence against the person’ (VAP) is the most frequently recorded crime, this
mainly consists of ‘violence without injury’. Recent analysis shows that most violent
crime is single episodes (70%), with repeats making up the remainder. Further
analysis is underway to look at repeat victims of VAP crimes. Crime victims can
potentially be victims of both ‘violence with injury’ and ‘violence without injury’.
Consideration is being given to target victim care/support/prevention activities on
victims of ‘violence without injury’ to address the one category of recorded crime
that has increased so markedly in volume over the last two reporting years.

88

Although overall theft, the second most frequently reported crime, has remained
static, shoplifting continues to increase. The Safer and Stronger Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to review shoplifting as part of their 2019/20
work programme to determine if poverty could be an underlying factor.

89

Although ‘possession of weapons’ accounts for less for 1% of all crimes, we are
concerned about the year-on-year increases over the last two years (69% and 41%
respectively).

90

Council reported anti-social behaviour now includes ‘noise complaints’ reported to
Environmental Health and Consumer Protection, as these ‘complaints’ are not
included in previous data sets, the nuisance category of ASB has increased by
13%.

Page 192

ALTOGETHER SAFER
How well do we (3) reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?

17%

Successful completion of treatment…

1 Apr 2018 - 31 Mar 2019

8.2 pp

violent crime
alcohol related

(Nov 17 to Oct 18 with reps to Apr 19)

Compared to same period
the previous year

16.1%

-305

1.5%

ASB* alcohol
related

incidents
(-12%)

ASB* drug
related

-13
(- 20%)

(12 months rolling total)

•

0.18

16.7%

0.17

16.1%

•
•

15.2%

0.15

•

0.14

•

0.13

Q2

Q3

Page 193

17/18

• 27.7% (207)
• Target 26.4%
• England 34.9%

Alcohol

Opiates

Nonopiates

CLeaR self-assessment tool helps partnership areas to assess local
arrangements and delivery plans for reducing alcohol-related harm and
identify opportunities for further development

% alcohol related anti-social behaviour

Q1

• 5.3% (80)
• Target 6%
• England 6.0%

Alcohol CLeaR Assessment

*police figures only

0.16

• 29.5% (303)
• Target 28%
• England 37.9%

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3
18/19

Q4

Q1
19/20

Recognises our robust partnership arrangements with political
and senior officer buy-in
Commends how active the public health team is across the
alcohol agenda
Highlights concerns regarding the lack of strategic engagement of
NHS partners
Identifies the need to refresh action plans and recognised
opportunities for more integrated or joint working in areas such
as alcohol licensing, information sharing and commissioning.
Following the assessment, Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction and
Alcohol CLeaR action plans are currently being consulted on with
partners.

How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
91

During quarter one, both alcohol related violent crime and alcohol related domestic
violence increased. Alcohol remains a key driver in recorded crime and incident
demand.

92

Drug offences account for only 2% of overall recorded crime and show only a slight
increase compared to the same period last year. ‘Possession’ shows the most
significant longer term increase. We have also seen increases in the number of
reports of drug paraphernalia (including needles) within our 'enviro-crime' figures.
Further geographical analysis is being undertaken to identify and understand
hotspot areas.

93

We expect the government to publish a new National Alcohol Strategy for England
in 2019. We anticipate it will include preventing and reducing harmful drinking
(preventing dependency, improving pathways into treatment, preventing reoffending), tackling vulnerability and changes to the licensing regime.

94

We are reviewing our Statement of Licensing following public consultation which
ended in May 2019. Feedback, where appropriate, will be used to develop the new
document which will be launched in October 2019.

95

Training courses are available to our staff, through County Durham Drug and
Alcohol Recovery Services, in relation to drug and alcohol including Cannabis and
Brief interventions, opiate awareness and performance and image enhancing drugs.

How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic
abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?
96

Following continued increases over the past three years, domestic violence
incidents reported to the police have fallen this quarter by 7%.

97

Repeat referral to the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and
Harbour, a charity working with families affected by domestic violence, continue to
show a longer-term increasing trend. Despite fewer referrals to MARAC, there has
been a 77% increase in repeat cases, compared to the previous year.

98

Process reviews have been undertaken by the police to improve efficiency against
increasing demand in relation to several areas of multi-agency safeguarding work.
Improvements included introducing multi-agency screening to medium-risk domestic
abuse cases (thereby saving time sharing research / information). This has reduced
processing times from 7-10 days to 1-2 days. A sifting process for adult referrals,
avoiding duplication of referral to mental health services, was also introduced. As
was a six-month pilot to hold ‘dynamic’ MARAC meetings twice weekly: received

Page 194

ALTOGETHER SAFER
How well do we (4) tackle abuse of vulnerable people?

Domestic
Violence

incidents

 3.2pp in DV
incidents classified
as crimes

 5.6% of DV

 6.6pp in

referrals received
high risk

repeat referrals to
Harbour within 12
month period

 7% in

(Jun 19)

 19.6% in
incidents involving
alcohol

(quarter four)

Operation
Encompass in

every County

Reported violence against the person (VAP)
crimes with a domestic abuse qualifier
(rolling total)

36.6%

37.0%

38.9%

Q1

Q2

Q3

2017/18

38.3%

36.7%

Q4

Q1

39.4%

40.2%

38.6%
33.4%

Q2

Q3

2018/19

Q4

Q1
2019/20

Durham school
Preventing
Modern Day
Slavery

No. of child sexual exploitation referrals
(12 months ending)

207

197

preventing modern slavery in County Durham
To find out more about the charter, click here.

169

167

We have approved a new Modern Slavery
Charter which outlines our commitment to

128

 42 (-24%)

More information about the Get Safe
Online in Durham campaign can be found
here.

compared to same period last year

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
Page 195

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19 2019/20

Apr/Jun 19 compared to same period the previous year
unless stated

positively from all agencies, the more action focused meetings are leading to more
prompt joint agency visits improving outcomes for victims.
99

Fewer young people have been identified as at risk of or subject to child sexual
exploitation (CSE). The decrease is mainly attributed to better understanding, which
has led to more appropriate referrals. The strategic Missing and Exploited Group
(MEG) is developing a scorecard which evidences gender, age and risk level of
young people on discharge from the service.

100

Durham Constabulary is refreshing the Child Sexual Abuse Exploitation Profile;
findings are expected by the end of September.

101

Multi-agency training and awareness sessions have been delivered to police and
partner agencies, following the adoption of the Police’s initiative ‘Intervene to
Protect a Child’. Agencies include frontline professionals such as health, fire
service, education, social services, scouts, brownies and swimming coaches with
more is planned in the future. Training will be also be incorporated into the Police’s
Specialist Child Abuse Investigators Development Programme.

102

The Police’s Street Triage Team, deployed to incidents requiring a mental health
assessment to reduce officer time, is currently being evaluated. The Force Control
Room is changing the process for identifying incidents tagged as mental health
related. Control room staff are undergoing training to better define what mental
health demand looks like.

103

The Vulnerability Intervention Pathways (VIP) programme, for adults with no
parental responsibility who require a multi-agency response, aims to reduce adults
coming to the attention of the Safe Durham Partnership agencies because of
presenting problems, support needs, and repeat requirements for service. The
programme has been evaluated and, of sampled clients, 70% had a reduction in
total reported incident volumes. 95% had improvement in combined total
assessment scores across ten problematic areas. Across 59% of the sample, there
was a perceived improvement by the referrer. Mental health was identified as a key
problematic area for VIP clients.

How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?
104

Both water safety forums, responsible for managing water safety in the city centre
and countywide, continue to meet.

105

Throughout the year, the City Safety Group reviews incidents within the city centre
to assess the effectiveness of existing safety measures. Following a number of
incidents last quarter, involving individuals with poor mental health where self-harm
or suicide were factors, the group has worked with partners to identify any required
actions. There were fewer incidents during quarter one.

Page 196

ALTOGETHER SAFER
5. How do we keep our environment safe including roads and waterways?

209

People killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions*

28

+35

16 fatalities
193 injuries

(20%)

+8

0 fatalities
28 injuries

(40%)

Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic collisions*

Fatalities (rolling year)
26

by Dec 2019

16/17

17/18

193

16

11

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Road Safety
'Slow to 20'

compared Jul 17 - Jun 18

194
16

15/16

Jul 18 - Jun 19

Serious injuries (rolling year)

22

20

14/15

*CRASH recording system allows casualty
information to be updated throughout the year
and as such numbers and severity of injury can
change. 2018 data has been verified and can be
used for comparative analysis, published by the Dft
in June 2019

18/19

177

166

158

163

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

19/20

14/15

15/16

16/17

17/18

Waterway Safety

Page 197

Shotton Primary
School, Shotton
Colliery

St. Helen Auckland
Community Primary
School, St Helen,
Auckland

St. Margaret's C of
E Primary School,
Durham

Benfieldside
Primary School,
Consett

St. Patrick's RCVA
Primary School,
Langley Moor

Brandon
Community Primary
School, Brandon

• fourth Dying to be Cool campaign this
year
• more than 15,000 school children
attended sessions
• no water related child fatalities in the
county since 2016
Dying to Be Cool

18/19

19/20

6% reduction
in deliberate
secondary fires
in East Durham
area (from 2017/18
to 2018/19) For
more details,
click here

106

During quarter one, the group undertook a further site visit to the completed
Riverwalk development and arranged for a final assessment following the initial
desktop review by RoSPA. It also arranged the installation of additional fencing at
key parts of the footpath, in the vicinity of Pelaw woods adjacent to the rowing club
and repaired existing fencing. This was completed in advance of the Durham
Regatta.

107

The countywide group carried out a comprehensive review of all water safety
priorities and risk to ensure its approach and use of resources is as effective as
possible prior to summer 2019. Several site visits, in response to safety related
issues, were undertaken and where appropriate additional control measures were
recommended and passed to colleagues in the appropriate area for action.

108

Water safety assemblies were delivered to more than 2,000 primary and secondary
school pupils. These were supported by a range of multi-agency communications,
focusing on the school summer holiday period.

109

Although collisions resulting in injury decreased by 28%, there has been a slight
increase in the number of fatalities and seriously injured. This quarter has also
seen an increase in the number of children seriously injured.

110

A child casualty mapping exercise, combining areas of multiple deprivation with
areas with high child casualties, highlighted Bishop Auckland and Shildon, Chesterle-Street, Durham, East Durham and Stanley AAP areas would benefit from specific
initiatives. Individual analysis is being undertaken and the results reported to the
associated Area Action Partnership throughout September 2019 to assist the
delivery of target road safety education.

111

Six additional sites have been identified as suitable for the Slow to 20 for Safer
Streets initiative and will be in place by the end of December 2019.

Altogether Greener
112

The priority theme of Altogether Greener is structured around the following three
key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Page 198

How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?

ALTOGETHER GREENER
1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?

7,782

7,674

(-11%)

7,941
7,507
7,052

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19 2019/20

Environmental Cleanliness: % of relevant land and
highways assessed as falling below an acceptable standard

Litter

Detritus

5.83%
16.22%

During quarter one;

Reported and responded to fly-tipping incidents

Top 3 fly-tip categories

 889

24

12 stop and

cameras
deployed

search
operations

451

6 duty of

household black bags

care
warning
letters

4
incidents
caught
on CCTV

271
old furniture

5 producers

6 FPNs

* producers are issued to scrap and waste businesses to
produce their documents to show they are licensed to
collect and dispose of scrap and waste materials.

Graffiti
Incidents

451

Bonfire
Incidents

390

-0.59pp

1
prosecution

issued*

231
mattresses and
carpets

369 further
investigations

 2.6% compared to same period last year

 78.1% compared to same period last year

+3.61pp

181
Dog
fouling

0.45%

-0.63pp

Page 199

(18/19 compared to 17/18)

Reports of
needles and drug
paraphernalia

 2.7% compared to same period last year

66 quarter one
24.5% compared to previous quarter

How clean and tidy is my local environment?
113

Although, litter and dog fouling continue to make up the majority of enviro-crime,
fewer incidents are being reported. However, we have noted increases in bonfires,
graffiti and drug paraphernalia (including needles). Reports of bonfires were
predominantly seen within Crook, Seaham, Stanley and Newton Aycliffe, while
graffiti concerns were mainly within Horden, Peterlee, Bishop Auckland
Spennymoor and Durham. Almost two thirds of graffiti was offensive or racist. Drug
paraphernalia was mainly concentrated within Durham City Centre. We will provide
an update regarding actions taken to address this during quarter two, 2019/20.

114

Most fly-tipping incidents responded to this quarter were household black bags
within the Easington and Durham City areas. Old furniture, mattresses and carpets
were also prominent.

115

During quarter one, our Community Action Team (CAT) tackled a range of housing
and environmental issues at Grange Villa, issuing 81 referrals and 14 legal notices.
Additional patrols were carried out by neighbourhood wardens and the police, the
fire service completed 11 Safe and Wellbeing visits and there were three housing
inspections. Three properties were brought back into use, gates were reinstated to
prevent fly-tipping, gas box covers replaced, weeds cleared, shrub beds improved,
and new bins installed. The CAT team will move to Crook over the summer.

116

In addition, Spruce Up campaigns were carried out in Wolsingham, Grange Villa
and Shotton Colliery. 88% of residents surveyed felt the work was a positive
improvement.

Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
117

Following our declaration of a Climate Emergency on 20 February 2019, we
produced a Climate Emergency Update Report setting out; what we need to do to
achieve our targets; what is required from the county as a whole (working in
partnership) and measures that may be required on a national level. This report
begins a wide consultation process across community, public and business sectors,
as well as setting out some specific measures we plan to take.

118

One project in progress is the development of a solar farm at Tanfield Lea,
expected to be operational from September. We are also seeking funding to
develop an innovative project at the Louisa Centre, Stanley, where a mine water
heat pump will be installed (alongside other energy efficiency measures) to provide
heat for swimming pools and parts of the building.

Page 200

ALTOGETHER GREENER
2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?

-52%*

 4.7%

(2016)
from the
1990
baseline

60

25.1

41.2

39.0

42.0

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

Actual

2014

2015

2016

from
2008/09
baseline

63,459

69,425

80,460

85,217

88,708

97,888

92,767

102,674

106,637

105,769

2020 target
63,461

08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18
CO2 emissions - tonnes

Area
covered

Annual CO2 emissions from
local authority operations

2020 target

Page 201

*Latest available figures from Department for Environment, Food
& Rural Affairs (DEFRA)

Single Use Plastics (SUP)

(2017/18)
compared to
-14
(2016/17)

•Clean and Green Team are
using a new electric bin lift
and road sweeper.
•Overall carbon footprint
for electric sweeper is
approx. one third of
conventional machines.

2030 target

-9%*

-40%

CO2 emissions - tonnes

2020 target

52.3

16.0

2008

49.9

5.6

2007

48.0

5.6

40

•Climate Emergency Plan
adopted by Council 17 July
2019.
•Public consultation on
recommendations will
begin in autumn.

Electric Cleaning
Equipment

from
2015

Climate Change
Emergency

% reduction CO₂ emissions in
County Durham

•The SUP pledge has now
been signed by 73
organisations and
residents.
•11.3 tonnes of plastic
waste (equivalent of 2.8
million plastic bags)
incorporated into 22,477
m2 of road surface at;
•A689 Sedgefield
•Murton
•A68 Toft Hil

Durham Woodland Revival

119

We also recently hosted our first Climate Change Emergency Expo, showcasing
projects, services and technologies from across the region, and providing
information in relation to electric bikes and vehicles, walking and cycling routes,
energy efficiency measures, recycling, woodland and peatland restoration projects
and how to respond to flooding incidents.

120

Our Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project (SLERP), to remove almost 2,000
street lights and retrofit 60,000 more with energy efficient LED lights, has reduced
energy consumption by almost 70% and is responsible for 8% of the reduction in
our baseline carbon emissions, We are now developing a business case to retrofit
an additional 15,000 street lights to further reduce energy consumption and
contribute to our ambition to make the county carbon neutral by 2050.

121

We now use plastic in most of our resurfacing schemes, almost 100 tonnes to date,
which is more than any other authority. This not only provides an outlet for single
use plastic, it reduces bitumen required and carbon emissions produced.

122

The Durham Woodland Revival project, to conserve and restore the woodland
network and improve resilience against disease and the effect of climate change,
has received more than £400,000 of Heritage Lottery funding. Once in place, the
team will provide help and support to woodland owners, people who would like to
help manage their local woods and landowners wishing to plant new woodland.

123

Having completed the work to reinvigorate the existing 'red carpet' area of Chesterle-Street Market Place and create a location that could host festivals and events, as
well as the existing market, the scheme to open up the Cong Burn, and alleviate
flooding, is on target for completion in March 2020.

124

The Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP) has engaged with 259 small and
medium sized enterprises to date. We have submitted a funding application to the
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) which would extend the scheme for
a further three years. We expect to hear the outcome in September.

How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?
125

Page 202

The government is currently consulting on flagship policies linked to its Resources
and Waste Strategy. The strategy, which sets out the ambitions for higher recycling
rates, greater resource efficiency and a more circular economy, is intended to lead
to changes in how we produce, consume and dispose of products and materials.
The policies under consultation relate to reforming the packaging producer
responsibility regulations in the UK, introducing a deposit return scheme for drinks
containers and ensuring consistency in recycling. Updates, including the impact of
these measures on the council, will be provided in future performance reports.

ALTOGETHER GREENER
3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?

95.3% of municipal waste diverted

-1.3pp

from landfill (Apr 18–Mar 19)

(same
period last
year)

+8pp

Proportion of waste collected for recycling
identified as contaminated (12 months ending)

(National
17/18)

27.70%

+2.2pp

-0.9pp

(same period last
year)

(National
17/18)

30.90%

30.80%

Sep

Dec

28.90%

29.40%

42.3% of household waste re-used,
recycled or composted (Apr 18–Mar 19)
Mar

Jun

2017/18

2018/19

Contaminates as a
proportion of waste
(representative months
figures)

Recycling Matters Campaign
• Campaign aims to re-educate residents
about what can/cannot be recycled and
reduce contamination.
• From 25 June, stickers are being attached to all recycling bins
reminding residents that bags (black bin liners, bags for life
etc.) should not be included.

Mar

Fines, 9.58%

Waste, 17.64%
Scrap , 0.46%

Non Ferrous, 0.14%

Stainton Grove Household Waste Recycling Centre
(HWRC)
•175.17 tonnes of material recycled at the site during May 2019
(34% of total tonnage received during 2017/18)

Carrier Bags, 1.40%
Rigid Plastic, 0.68%
Small WEEE, 0.13%

Cable, 0.05%

Page 203

126

Latest waste figures show approximately 29% of the recyclate we collect from the
kerbside is contaminated – 17% is waste that should have been placed in the
general waste bin, and a further 12% is non-target material, e.g. hard plastics.
Campaign stickers, urging residents not to put black bags into their recycling, have
been placed on every household recycling bin and there are early indications that
this is making an impact. During quarter one, waste collection crews received
additional training in relation to contaminated bins and this has led to more bins
being identified as contaminated.

127

Although we request that residents only place pure garden waste (grass cuttings,
small branches, leaves, etc.) in their garden waste bins, we are aware that people
are adding compostable and biodegradable bags. As these decompose at different
rates, they are not suitable for use in the system employed at our current facility.

128

Since Stainton Grove Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) reopened in
March 2019, following a £3 million refurbishment, there has been a dramatic
increase in the amount of material being recycled. The re-use shop is proving
popular and approximately two tonnes of items, that would otherwise have been
sent for disposal, have been sold.

Altogether Better Council
129

The priority theme of Altogether Better Council is structured around the following
three key questions:
(a)
(b)
(c)

How well do we look after our people?
Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for
residents and customers?
How good are our services to customers and the public?

How well do we look after our people?
130

Page 204

During quarter one, in support of our application for gold status for Better Health at
Work Award, we asked staff to complete a survey so we could better understand
the factors affecting their health and wellbeing and develop an appropriate strategy
and action plan. 2,662 people completed the survey and the main findings will be
reported in the next quarter. The five campaigns for the Gold award will centre on;
personal resilience, mental health, physical activity, women’s health and men’s
health.

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
1. How well do we look after our people?

17/18

18/19
210 new apprentices

Apprentice
starts

121

327

% of
workforce

0.72

1.99

219 staff upskilling

(Jul 18-Jun 19)

3 most frequent :

12.30
Per FTE

11.48

11.10
10.32

Q2

63%
level 3

Health & Safety incidents: 1,580

12 month rolling trend: days lost to sickness

Q1

9%
level 2

as at 30 June 2019

28%
level 4/4+

Q3

2015/16

Q4

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17

Q1

Q2

10.17
Q3

Q4

Q1

2017/18

Q2

Q3

2018/19

Q4

6,077

• 412 behavioural (26%)
• 211 physical violence & aggression (13%)
• 178 slips, trips and falls (11%)

days lost to
work related
incidents

Q1

2019/20

59% of posts had no absence. 79% had 5 days or fewer
% Staff Turnover (excl. school staff)

10.17 days lost per FTE equates to 4% of work hours

Page 205

12.6% was
work
related

68% was
long term
(>20 work
days)

34% due to
mental
health

32% due to
'musculoskeletal'

Jun 17-Jul 18

Jun 18-Jul 19

8.4

8.2

17/18
England
Average

13.8*

* include school support staff, but exclude teachers

131

Having recognised the need to strengthen our approach to workforce development,
we have made changes that will help us achieve our objectives whilst retaining and
developing staff. All support and development available to managers is now
captured in one place, and ‘Durham Leadership Way’ which details expectations of
managers at all levels of the organisation will be available shortly.

132

We are expanding our suite of key HR documents. Our Workforce Strategy,
focusing on re-shaping and developing our workforce, building leadership capacity
and being a good employer, will be available later in the year. Our Valuing our
Employees Strategy, consisting of four strands of engagement, recognition,
benefits, ideas/innovation, will be available in the autumn. We are also developing
proposals to take forward succession planning and talent management for key
posts.

133

Simplification of key HR policies, making it easier for both managers and employees
to find the information they need, continued with ‘Recruitment and Selection’ and
‘Mental Wellbeing in the Workplace’ policies.

134

Our new appraisal system, digitised through our Learning and Development
System, has now been rolled out to all staff. Having gathered feedback from those
who have used the system, we have further simplified the process, developed a
short ‘one-off’ digitised transition Performance and Development Review (PDR) and
improved goal setting functionality.

135

By December 2019, all employees will have completed a PDR reflecting on
performance, setting future objectives and identifying learning and development
needs. The digitised PDRs will be live documents, continually updated throughout
the year at regular staff supervision rather than an annual document. Once this first
cycle is complete, we will re-introduce the performance monitoring of appraisals into
the corporate performance report. The new framework includes the offer of a coach,
and our corporate coaching network was launched on 18 April 2019.

136

We have also launched the 2019/20 Corporate Learning and Development
Programmes and allocated a dedicated fit for purpose training room to support their
delivery. The two programmes (Employee Learning and Development Programme
and Leadership and Management Development Programme) will meet all
mandatory training requirements, corporate priorities and development needs.

137

In addition to these programmes, we have introduced two new mandatory elearning courses for managers (coaching as a management style and mental health
awareness) and will continue to provide further employee support to assist
transformation such as the roll-out of Office 365.

138

Each mandatory element will be championed by a member of CMT who will agree,
with the Head of People and Talent Management, the delivery methodology and
content.

Page 206

139

We are also required to meet the government’s target that at least 2.3% of our staff
(averaged between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2021) enrol in an apprenticeship,
whether as a new recruit or part of career development for existing employees
(upskilling). Actions, identified as part of our apprenticeship strategy to ensure the
target is met, include identifying opportunities as part of workforce planning and a
‘grow our own’ approach to addressing skills shortages / hard to fill posts, holding
drop-in sessions to increase awareness of apprenticeships and mapping
apprenticeship standards against job roles. The complete action plan and progress
to date can be found in our Apprenticeship Strategy 2019-2022.

140

We continue to focus on attendance management and are working extensively with
senior managers of services identified as having high absence rates. We are
starting to see improvements in those services identified in April 2019 and, following
a full progress report and sign-off in October 2019, expect to move onto other areas
with high absence levels around December.

141

We continue with initiatives to reduce absence caused by the two most frequent
sickness types of mental health and musculo-skeletal issues.

142

‘Mental Health Awareness’ training has been rolled out to tier four and five
managers. The authority now has 102 Mental Health First Aiders (with another 128
completing their training over the next six months), 89 Time for Change Champions
and 49 Health Advocates. We have also introduced a series of online courses
including mindfulness and Zero Suicide courses.

143

Outcomes of the ‘Get Up and Move’ project include reducing ergonomic related
risks through new ways of working and encouraging employees to work ‘actively’
throughout the day. The two-year pilot project within direct services of early
intervention and improved musculo-skeletal health and wellbeing is ongoing. To
date, 193 employees have attended appointments with Occupational Health.

144

We are working on delivering our 2019 flu vaccination programme, which is in place
to protect both staff and vulnerable residents, and traditionally has a low take-up.
Having gathered staff views via a survey, we have made changes to its delivery to
include management buy-in and myth-busting in relation to perceived side effects.
We are also working in parallel with the NHS flu board to drive vaccination uptake in
the wider eligible population.

Page 207

Page 208

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?

• 335,185 calls
• 93% answered

• 573,921 calls
• 98% answered

Customer
Services
(ACD)

46%

requests logged

Other ACD
lines

of service
requests

73%

Contact through customer services
6%

Self-serve

164,000 self-serve

of waste
permits

129

92%

webforms

of garden
waste joins

135,752

0%
social media:
2,898
email:
41,373

17%

77%

 34%

of bulky waste
collections

(18%)
15%

face to face:
124,062

17%

telephone:
573,921

10%

accounts

34%

e.g. cultural events: timings, ticket availability, prices / recycling: what can be
recycled, what can be taken to HWRC / costs & prices: bulky waste, pest control
e.g. new claims, change of circumstances, discounts,
e.g. bills / payments / unclear correspondence
/ arrears

Customer
services:
top actions

logging service
requests

transferring
calls

providing
information

actioning CT
requests

answering
queries

providing
progress updates

booking
appointments

193,000

130,000

120,000

100,000

80,000

21,000

17,500

Unless stated all data is Jul 18-Jun 19, compared to the same period the previous year

145

The slight increase in reported behavioural health and safety incidents2 followed
further work which encouraged the reporting of incidents within educational and
support establishments and highlighting the mechanisms to report. To assist with
controlling risk, we are continuing to: provide training relative to risk; ensure specific
risk assessments of problematic locations and cohorts; ensure adequate staff
numbers to manage and control risk; work with teaching staff to ensure risk controls
are in place where specific risks emerge; complete accident investigations to ensure
compliance and identify opportunity for improvements.

Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for
residents and customers?
146

As at the end of June 2019, almost 29% of council tax and 35% of business rates
had been collected in-year, both in line with expectation. However, we are aware
that the fluctuating incomes of people on universal credit, which results in multiple
revised bills, is impacting collection rates, both nationally and across County
Durham. We will be investigating the impact throughout the year.

147

Due to proactive promotion, there has been a continued increase in small business
rate relief awards. Introduced in 2019/20, this retail discount, which aims to
encourage small retail businesses, awarded over £2 million during quarter one.

148

Through our transformation programme, we are continuing to use digital tools,
techniques and processes that make our internal procedures more efficient and
effective. In addition, our integrated customer services initiative, to develop a
customer-focused, one-council approach to service delivery, is underway.

149

Having fully mapped our First Point of Contact (FPOC) telephony offer, we are now
widening our use of Automatic Call Distribution (ACD) technologies. This will
standardise our telephony channel (including messaging and call routing), provide a
strong foundation for the implementation of new technologies, and enhance
reporting enabling us to develop a deeper understanding of customer demand and
service performance.

150

We are also harmonising our activity by implementing quality assurance software
across three of our larger contact centres and extending the use of workforce
management software. We are also trialling various communication technologies to
support collaborative and flexible working and improve customer journeys.

2

The behavioural category in relation to Health and Safety incidents refers to service users who have a
physical, learning or mental health disability which could lead to outbursts that are not appropriate for
categorisation as intentional violence and aggression.
Page 209

Page 210

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
How good are our services to customers and the public?

Customer Satisfaction:

75%

from the CRM closure process
(based on 4,093 responses)

satisfied
with service
delivery

Not resolved / not
satisfactorily
resolved
Time taken to
resolve

49%

25%

91%

85%

found it easy
to contact
the right
service

satisfied with
the handling
of their initial
contact

80%

89%

felt they were
provided with
clear
information

satisfied with
time taken to
complete
their task

felt they were
treated with
dignity and
respect

Customer Feedback:
Top 3 reasons people
are dissatisfied

from the CRM including compliments, suggestions and complaints

915
No feedback / poor
communication

80%

19%

Customer experience of
completing online request
(based on 25,797 customers)
•  - 61%
•  - 21%
•  - 10%
•  - 3%
•  - 5%

Unless stated all data is Jul 18 - Jun 19,
compared to the same period the previous year

compliments
(-116)

182

objections to
our decisions
(-103)

220
statutory
complaints (+17)
140 CYPS: 37%
upheld
80 AHS: 54% upheld*

488
suggestions
(-17)

177
comments about
policies and
procedures

10.5 average
working days to
respond

52% of
complaints related
to three issues:

(-138)

Missed collections

123

3,048

dissatisfied with
fees and
charges

corporate
complaints
(+236)

•938
•31% of all complaints
•84% upheld

(+76)

3,018 investigated &
69% upheld*

177
independent
investigation
requests

84
decisions from
the Ombudsman
13 complaints
upheld
(15%)

Issues with correspondence
•476
•16% of all complaints
•92% upheld

Staff practices
•172
•6% of all complaints
•85% upheld

How good are our services to customers and the public?
151

During 2018/19, we sought views of both the public and employees on how
we use digital technology and the areas we need to develop. We have used
this feedback to develop our new digital strategy which will be launched in the
autumn.

152

We held our first Digital Customer Feedback event in June 2019. A small
focus group of six residents, who had all volunteered, provided some very
insightful feedback that mirrors that gained from our satisfaction surveys and
star rating. We are using feedback such as this to develop our website’s home
page and online forms. We are currently working on online forms in a pilot
area (street lighting) and will provide a further update once completed, which
is expected to be in September. Key milestones relating to the home page of
the website will be provided in the quarter two report.

153

Although there has been an increase in recorded corporate complaints, this
can mainly be attributed to a change in the complaints process, which recategorised disputed missed collection service requests as complaints, and
our increased activity to tackle contamination issues.

154

Performance relating to Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental
Information Regulations (EIR) has improved slightly compared to the same
period last year. However, it has deteriorated when compared to the previous
quarter. This is due to a capacity issue as staff are trained to operate our new
FOI/EIR performance system, which will become fully operational in August.
Performance is expected to improve steadily over the following months.

155

More customers are extending council tax payments over 11 or 12 months.
Over 12,000 customers took up this option in quarter one, bringing the total to
28,000.

156

Due to our Digital Durham infrastructure programme, superfast broadband is
now available to 96%3 of residential and commercial properties in County
Durham, which is in line with the rest of the UK. As of May 2019, residential
take up of superfast broadband services for coverage delivered was 58% for
phase one and 46% for phase two - well above the government’s programme
targets of 20% and 30% respectively. We do not currently have figures that
include commercial uptake, but will provide an update (including line speeds,
availability start dates etc) at quarter three.

3

ThinkBroadband – County Durham Superfast and Fibre Coverage

Page 211

157

It is ten years since we formed our Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and
during this time, they have delivered more than 5,000 community projects,
engaged with over 30,000 people and helped secure funding in excess of
£100 million. They have also strengthened links with the towns and villages
they serve, giving residents more say on how funding is spent and the
opportunity to shape their local area.

158

The county has recently welcomed its 50th family under the vulnerable
persons resettlement programme and vulnerable children’s resettlement
programme. The programmes are on track to assist with the resettlement of
250-300 individuals by March 2020.

Page 212

Key Performance Indicators – Data Tables
There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document:
(a)

Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its
partners; and

(b)

Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the
council and its partners.

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2019/20 corporate indicator set. This is available to
view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk
KEY TO SYMBOLS
Direction of travel

Benchmarking

Performance against target

GREEN

Same or better than comparable period

Same or better than comparable group

Meeting or exceeding target

AMBER

Worse than comparable period
(within 2% tolerance)

Worse than comparable group
(within 2% tolerance)

Performance within 2% of target

RED

Worse than comparable period
(greater than 2%)

Worse than comparable group
(greater than 2%)

Performance >2% behind target

National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary
councils.
North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead,
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside,
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils.
Page 213

More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 214

1. Do residents have good job prospects?

Ref

Comparison to
Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

74.2

Apr18 –
Mar 19

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

71.2

75.5

71.1

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

15,166

19,988

15,809

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

1

% of working age population in
employment

2

Per capita household disposable
income (£)

15,445

2017

3

Number of gross jobs created or
safeguarded as a result of Business
Durham activity

2,429

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

379

N/a

GREEN

as at Jun
2019

Tracker

9.8

5.8

7.6

7.7

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

4

% of 16 to 17 year olds in an
apprenticeship

7.8

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

5

Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita
in County Durham (£)

16,718

2017

6

Number of registered businesses in
County Durham

17,150

2018

0

Apr-Jun
2019

7

Value (£M) of new contracts secured

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

16,513

27,430

20,121

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

17,120

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

New
indicator

N/a

N/a

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

No

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
2. Is County Durham a good place to do business?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

8

Value (£M) of GVA growth from jobs
created

9

Number of Inward Investments
secured

10

% of Business Durham business floor
space that is occupied

Latest
data

Period
covered

12.6

Apr-Jun
2019

3

86.1

Period
target

12
months
earlier

10

11.1

GREEN

GREEN

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

0

N/a

GREEN

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

82.4

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Number of properties improved,
adapted or brought back into use

447

546

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

11

N/a

N/a

12

Number of empty properties brought
back into use as a result of local
authority intervention

73

Jul 18–
Jun 19

50

56

GREEN

GREEN
381

401

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

Number of net homes completed

N/a

GREEN

Number of affordable homes
delivered

200

473

532

2018/19

GREEN

N/A

13
Page 215

14

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
Page 216

3. Do residents have access to decent and affordable housing?
Comparison to

Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

15

Number of households accessing the
Housing Solutions Service

3,019

16

Number of households helped to stay
in their home

17

Number of households helped to
move to alternative accommodation

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

3,138

N/a

N/a

260

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

202

N/a

N/a

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

117

249

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
4. Is it easy to travel around the county?

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

2016/17

Yes

2016/17

Yes

2016/17

Yes

Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

18

% of A roads where maintenance is
recommended

2.6

2018

19

% of B and C roads where
maintenance is recommended

4.7

2018

20

% of unclassified roads where
maintenance is recommended

21

2018

21

Highways maintenance backlog
(£millions)

179.7

2018

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

Tracker

2.6

3

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

4.7

6

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

20

17

N/a

AMBER

RED

Tracker

187.6

N/a

GREEN

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
4. Is it easy to travel around the county?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

22

Bridge Stock Condition – Principal
Roads

80.7

2018

23

Bridge Stock Condition – Non-Principal
Roads

79.9

2018

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

80.0

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

81.0

N/a

AMBER

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER
5. How well do tourism and cultural events contribute to our local economy?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

24

Number of visitors to County Durham
(million)

19.71

2017

25

Number of jobs supported by the visitor
economy

11,682

2017

Amount (£ million) generated by the
visitor economy

866.71

26

2017

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

19.3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

11,158

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

806

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

No

No

Page 217

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
Page 218

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Comparison to

Ref

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

Description

Average Attainment 8 score
Average point score per A level entry
of state-funded school students
% of pupils achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (KS2)
% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in
education, employment or training
(NEET)
Gap between average Attainment 8
score of Durham disadvantaged
pupils and non-disadvantaged pupils
nationally (KS4)
% of children in the Early Years
Foundation Stage achieving a Good
Level of Development
Gap between % of Durham
disadvantaged pupils and % of nondisadvantaged pupils nationally who
achieve expected standard in reading,
writing and maths (KS2)

Latest
data

Period
covered

45.0

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

2017/18

Tracker

44.6

46.6

44.9

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

2017/18

Tracker

31.9

32.4

32.5

33.4

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2017/18
67.7

Tracker

64.6

65

68

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

5.1

2.9

4.6

N/a

RED

RED

RED

5.3

-14.5

72.8

-18

Ofsted % of Primary schools judged
good or better

90

Ofsted % of secondary schools
judged good or better

64

*provisional data

Period
target

2017/18

Tracker

-13

-13.5

-15.4

(academic
year)

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

Period
covered if
different

No

No

No

Yes

No

2017/18

64

71.9

71.6

71.5

(academic
year)

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2017/18

Tracker

-18

-20

-16

(academic
year)

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
this
quarter

No

No
N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

92

87

91

N/a

AMBER

GREEN

AMBER

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

61

75

56

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

as at
31 May 19

Yes

as at
31 May 19

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Exclusion from school of all Durham
children - percentage of children with
at least one fixed exclusion

2017/18

36

2.16

Tracker

1.95

2.33

2.81

(academic
year)

N/a

RED

GREEN

GREEN

% of all school pupils eligible for and
claiming Free School Meals (FSM)

Tracker

19.4

15.4

21

37

20.8

Jan 2019

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

38

Under-18 conception rate per 1,000
girls aged 15 to 17

23.7

2017

Tracker

21.6

17.9

24.7

N/a

RED

RED

GREEN

% of five year old children free from
dental decay

Tracker

64.9

76.7

76.1

39

74.2

2016/17

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

40

Alcohol specific hospital admissions
for under 18s (rate per 100,000)

53.1

2015/162017/18

Tracker

56.2

32.9

62.7

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

41

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to
hospital as a result of self-harm (rate
per 100,000)

350.1

2017/18

Tracker

400.8

421.2

458.0

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

% of children aged 4 to 5 years
classified as overweight or obese

2017/18

Tracker

24.1

22.4

25.0

42

25.0

(academic
year)

N/a

AMBER

RED

GREEN

% of children aged 10 to 11 years
classified as overweight or obese

2017/18

Tracker

37.7

34.3

37.5

43

37.1

(academic
year)

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

% of Education Health and Care
Plans completed in the statutory 20
week time period (excl. exceptions)

63.9

90

92.4

60.1

81.7

RED

RED

GREEN

RED

44

Jan-Jun
2019

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different
2016/17
(academic
year)

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

2018

Yes

Page 219

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
Page 220

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?

Ref

45

46

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

Mar 19

Yes

Comparison to
Description
% of successful interventions (families
turned around) via the Stronger
Families Programme (Phase 2)
[number]
% of children aged 0-2 years in the top
30% IMD registered with a Family
Centre and having sustained contact

Latest
data

Period
covered

66
[2,885]

Sep 14Jun 19

90.2

2018/19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

TBC

N/a

49.9

52.5

46.5

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

90

89.4

GREEN

GREEN

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

47

% of statutory referrals received by the
First Contact Team or Emergency
Duty Team processed within 1 working
day

93.1
[1,207]

Apr-Jun
2019

% of statutory children in need
referrals occurring within 12 months of
a previous referral

33.2
[440]

Apr-Jun
2019

90.5
[1,285]

Apr-Jun
2019

36.6
[368]

as at
30 Jun 19

48

49

50

% of single assessments completed
within 45 working days
Rate of children subject to a child
protection plan per 10,000 population
aged under 18 [number of children]

Period
covered

Period
target

Tracker

12
months
earlier
88.1
[1,120]

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
Yes

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

17.9
[232]

21

18

18

N/a

RED

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

75.7
[892]

83

82

86

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

47
[471]

45

66

50

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

as at
31 Mar 18

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work services appropriately supported and safeguarded?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

51

Rate of children in need per 10,000
population aged under 18 (statutory L4
open cases) [number of children]

345.1
[3,470]

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per
10,000 population aged under 18 (One
Point open cases) [number of children]

219.8
[2,210]

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

% of strategy meetings initiated which
led to an initial child protection
conference being held within 15
working days

92.5
[147]

Apr-Jun
2019

% of Social Workers with fewer than
20 cases

52.1

52

53

54

55

% of Statutory Case File Audits which
are given a scaling score of 6 or above

85.7

Period
covered

Period
target

N/a

N/a

12
months
earlier
346.9
[3,478]

N/a

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

National
figure

North
East
figure

341

460

404

N/a

N/a

N/a

as at
31 Mar 18

228.4
[2,291]
N/a

Yes

Yes

75

72.5
[137]

77

83

84

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

as at
9 Apr 19

Tracker

45.5

44.1

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

Apr-Jun
2019

80

New
indicator

GREEN

N/a

2017/18

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?
Comparison to
Ref

Page 221

56

Description

Rate of children looked after per
10,000 population aged under 18
[number of children]

Latest
data

Period
covered

86.8
[873]

as at
30 Jun 19

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

80.5
[807]

64

95

90

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

as at
31 Mar 18

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
Page 222

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?

Ref

Description

57

% of children adopted from care (as %
of total children leaving care)
[number of children]

9*
[7 of 78]

Apr-Jun
2019

77.7
[678]

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

3.6
[31]

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker
N/a

GREEN

94.7

as at
30 Jun 19

Tracker

93.7

88

94

95

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

89.9

88

94

95

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

Comparison to
Latest
data

% of CLA who are fostered

% of external residential placements
% of children looked after
continuously for 12 months or more
who had a dental check
% of children looked after
continuously for 12 months or more
who have had the required number of
health assessments
Emotional and behavioural health of
children looked after continuously for
12 months or more (score between 0
to 40)
Average Attainment 8 score of
Children Looked After
% of CLA achieving the expected
standard in Reading, Writing and
Maths (at KS2)
% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
education, employment or training
(EET)

89.8

15.5

Period
covered

as at
30 Jun 19

36.6
Data being
validated

15
RED

N/a

12 months
earlier

12.5
[10 of 80]
RED
80
[646]
N/a
3.2
[26]

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

13

14

19

RED

RED

RED

73

77

73

N/a

N/a

N/a
Yes

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

N/a

AMBER

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

16.0

14.2

14.1

14.0

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

21.9

18.9

20.8

19.5

2017/18
(academic
year)

2017/18
2017/18

23.2

Period
target

No

No

(academic
year)

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2017/18

Tracker

35

35

44

38

2017/18
(academic
year)

No

2017/18

No

(academic
year)
Data being
validated

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

N/a

64

66

64

N/a

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE
4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children?
Comparison to
Ref

66

67

68

Latest
data

Period
covered

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
education, employment or training
(EET)

Data being
validated

Data being
validated

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in
suitable accommodation

Data being
validated

Data being
validated

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in
suitable accommodation

Data being
validated

Data being
validated

Description

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Tracker

N/a

51

52

58

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

RED

Tracker

N/a

89

93

84

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

N/a

84

91

90

N/a

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

2017/18

No

2017/18

No

2017/18

No

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER
1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

% of mothers smoking at time of
delivery

18.7*

Jan-Mar
2019

70

Four week smoking quitters per
100,000 smoking population
[number of quitters]

N/a**

-

71

Male life expectancy at birth (years)

78.3

2015-17

72

Female life expectancy at birth (years)

81.4

2015-17

Page 223

69

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

14.7

17.5

10.9*

16.6*

RED

RED

RED

RED

N/a

N/a

Tracker

78.0

79.6

77.9

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

81.3

83.1

81.6

N/a

GREEN

RED

AMBER

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Yes

No

No

No

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER
Page 224

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents?
Comparison to

Ref

Description

Latest
data

73

Female healthy life expectancy at birth
(years)

58.7

2015-17

74

Male healthy life expectancy at birth
(years)

58.9

2015-17

75

Excess weight in adults (Proportion of
adults classified as overweight or
obese)

66.7

2017/18

Suicide rate (deaths from suicide and
injury of undetermined intent) per
100,000 population

12

76

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

Tracker

59.0

63.8

North
East
figure
60.4

N/a

AMBER

RED

RED

Tracker

59.1

63.4

59.5

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

Tracker

67.7

62.0

66.5

N/a

AMBER

RED

AMBER

Tracker

12.6

9.6

10.8

N/a

GREEN

RED

RED

Tracker

29.2

47.3

33.8

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Tracker

14.3

14.4

16.0

N/a

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

6.9

8.2

9.1

N/a

RED

AMBER

GREEN

No

Apr-Jun
2019

No

78

Estimated smoking prevalence of
persons aged 18 and over

15.0

2018

79

Self-reported well-being - people with
a low happiness score

8.9

2017/18

80

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: active

58.5%

Nov 17Nov 18

Tracker

63.1

62.6

58.8

N/a

RED

RED

AMBER

Participation in Sport and Physical
Activity: inactive

29.9%

Nov 17Nov 18

Tracker

25.3

25.1

29.5

N/a

RED

RED

AMBER

*provisional data
** quality of data being reviewed

No

2015-17

28.3

81

Period
covered if
different

Yes

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8
weeks from birth

77

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Data
updated
this
quarter

Jan-Mar
2019

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER
2. Are people needing adult social care supported to live safe, healthy and independent lives?
Comparison to
Ref

82

83

84

85

Description
Adults aged 65+ per 100,000
population admitted on a permanent
basis in the year to residential or
nursing care
% of older people who were still at
home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement/ rehabilitation
services
% of individuals who achieved their
desired outcomes from the adult
safeguarding process
% of service users receiving an
assessment or review within the last
12 months

Latest
data

Period
covered

196.7

Apr-Jun
2019

87.2

Jan-Mar
2019

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

12 months
earlier

TBD

199.5

N/a

GREEN

TBD

85.9

82.9

83.9

81.8*

N/a

GREEN

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

97.7

94.2

93.6*

N/a

AMBER

Not
comparable

Not
comparable

87.6

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

86.9

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

63.6

65.0

67.9

66.3*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Tracker

43.3**

38.7

47.2

41.8*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

4.9

9.2

5.9

9.8*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Tracker

73.1

68.2

72.1

69.1*

N/a

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

GREEN

Overall satisfaction of people who use
services with their care and support

66.6

2017/18

87

Overall satisfaction of carers with the
support and services they receive
(Biennial survey)

51.2

2018/19

88

Daily delayed transfers of care beds,
all, per 100,000 population age 18+

2.0

May 2019

89

% of adult social care service users
who report they have enough choice
over the care and support services
they receive

74.9

2017/18

Period
covered if
different

Yes

95.7

86

Page 225

*unitary authorities
** results from 2016/17 survey

National
figure

North
East
figure

Period
target

Data
updated
this
quarter

2017/18

Yes

2017/18

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

ALTOGETHER SAFER
Page 226

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder?
Comparison to
Latest data

Period
covered

First time entrants to the youth
justice system aged 10 to 17 (per
100,000 population aged 10 to 17)

257

91

Overall crime rate per 1,000
population

92

93

Ref

90

94

Period
target

12
months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Jan 17Dec 18

Tracker

371

238

332

251

N/a

GREEN

RED

GREEN

GREEN

25.8

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

25.3

N/a

AMBER

Rate of theft offences per 1,000
population

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

7.1

7.3

N/a

AMBER

Proportion of all offenders who reoffend in a 12 month period (%)

30.6

Oct 16 –
Sep 17

Tracker

32

29.4

35.5

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Proven re-offending by young people
(who offend) in a 12 month period
(%)

Oct 16 –
Sep 17

Tracker

41.6

39.2

41.7

46.3

N/a

RED

RED

RED

Description

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER
2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
Comparison to
Ref

95

Description

Dealing with concerns of ASB and
crime issues (%) by the local council
and police

Latest
data

Period
covered

51.9

Mar 19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

53

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

56.4
Yes

N/a

RED

RED

ALTOGETHER SAFER
2. How effective are we at tackling anti-social behaviour?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

96

Number of police reported incidents of
anti-social behaviour

13,573

97

Number of council reported incidents
of anti-social behaviour

11,585

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

15,058

N/a

GREEN

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

12,495

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER
3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

98

% of successful completions of those
in alcohol treatment

29.5

Nov 17-Oct
18 with rep
to Apr 19

99

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - opiates

5.3

Nov 17-Oct
18 with rep
to Apr 19

100

% of successful completions of those
in drug treatment - non-opiates

27.79

Nov 17-Oct
18 with rep
to Apr 19

101

% of anti-social behaviour incidents
that are alcohol related

16.1

Jun 19

Page 227

102

% of violent crime that is alcohol
related

17

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North
East
figure

28

33.6

37.9

32.7

GREEN

RED

RED

RED

6

6

6

4.6

AMBER

AMBER

AMBER

GREEN

26.4

30.6

34.9

25.7

GREEN

RED

RED

GREEN

Tracker

18.5

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
N/a

GREEN

Tracker

25.2

N/a

GREEN

Jun 19

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER
Page 228

3. How well do we reduce misuse of drugs and alcohol?

Ref

103

Description

Alcohol seizures

Latest
data

Period
covered

194

Apr-Jun
2018

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

398

N/a

GREEN

Comparison to
North
National
East
figure
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

ALTOGETHER SAFER
4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child exploitation and radicalisation?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

104

Building resilience to terrorism (selfassessment). Scored on level 1 (low) to
5 (high)

3

2017/18

105

Number of child sexual exploitation
referrals

128

Jul 18Jun19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

3

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

191

N/a

N/a

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
No

Yes

ALTOGETHER SAFER
5. How do we keep our environment safe, including roads and waterways?
Comparison to
Ref

106

107

Description

Latest
data

Number of people killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

Period
covered

209

-

Number of fatalities

16

-

Number of seriously injured

193

Number of children killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents

Jul 18 –
Jun 19

Number of fatalities

0

-

Number of seriously injured

28

12 months
earlier

Tracker

174

N/a

RED

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Yes

11
163

28

-

Period
target

Data
updated
this
quarter

Jul 18 –
Jun 19

Tracker

20

N/a

RED

Yes

0
20

ALTOGETHER GREENER
1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?
Comparison to
Ref

108

109
Page 229

110

Description
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of litter
that fall below an acceptable level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of
detritus that fall below an acceptable
level
% of relevant land and highways
assessed as having deposits of dog
fouling that fall below an acceptable
level

Latest
data

Period
covered

5.83

2018/19

16.22

2018/19

0.45

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

6.24

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

12.61

N/a

RED

Tracker

1.08

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

2018/19

Yes

ALTOGETHER GREENER
Page 230

1. How clean and tidy is my local environment?

Ref

111

Comparison to
Description

Number of fly-tipping incidents

Latest
data

Period
covered

7,052

Jul 18Jun 19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

7,941

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

*Not directly comparable
ALTOGETHER GREENER
2. Are we reducing carbon emissions and adapting to climate change?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

112

% reduction in CO₂ emissions in
County Durham (by 40% by 2020 and
55% by March 2031)

52.3

% change in CO₂ emissions from local
authority operations

-9

113

Period
covered

2016

Period
target

12 months
earlier

Tracker

49.9

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

-14

N/a

RED

2017/18

National
figure

North
East
figure

Data
updated
Nearest
Period
this
statistical covered if
quarter
neighbour different
No

No

ALTOGETHER GREENER
3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

114

% of municipal waste diverted from
landfill

95.3

Period
covered

Apr 18 –
Mar 19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North East
figure

95

96.6

87.3

92

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

GREEN

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

2017/18

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

ALTOGETHER GREENER
3. How effective and sustainable is our collection and disposal of waste?
Comparison to
Ref

115

Description

% of household waste that is reused, recycled or composted

Latest
data

Period
covered

42.3

Apr 18 –
Mar 19

Period
target

12 months
earlier

National
figure

North East
figure

Tracker

40.1

43.2

34.5

N/a

GREEN

AMBER

GREEN

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered
if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

2017/18

Yes

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
1. How well do we look after our people?
Comparison to
Ref

N/a4

-

Period
target

12 months
earlier

N/a

N/a

N/a

N/a

11.20

11.10

9.25

GREEN

GREEN

RED

% of performance appraisals
completed in current post in rolling
year period (excluding schools)

117

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence
(all services excluding schools)

10.17

Jun 18/Jul
19

% posts with no absence in rolling
year (excluding schools)

57.73

59.13

Jun 18/Jul
19

Tracker

118

N/a

GREEN

119

% of sickness absence which is short
term

13.88

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

13.95

N/a

N/a

% of sickness absence which is
medium term

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

16.15

17.74

N/a

N/a

Page 231

5

Period
covered

116

120

4

Description

Latest
data

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

No

Due to new system introduction
Include school support staff, but exclude teachers. All single / upper tier councils: Local Government Workforce Survey 2017/18

2017/18

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
Page 232

1. How well do we look after our people?

Ref

Comparison to
Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12 months
earlier

121

% of sickness absence which is long
term

63.38

Apr-Jun
2019

Tracker

69.89

N/a

N/a

% of employees having five days or
less sickness per 12 month period

78.57

78.98

Jun 18/Jul
19

Tracker

122

N/a

GREEN

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
2. Are our resources being managed for the best possible outcomes for residents and customers?
Comparison to
Ref

Description

Latest
data

Period
covered

123

% of council tax collected in-year

28.51

Apr-Jun
2019

124

% of business rates collected in-year

34.36

Apr-Jun
2019

Period
target

12 months
earlier

28.86

28.79

AMBER

AMBER

34.53

34.42

AMBER

AMBER

National
figure

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Data
updated
this
quarter
Yes

Yes

ALTOGETHER BETTER COUNCIL
3. How good are our services to customers and the public?
Comparison to
Ref

125

Description
% of Freedom of Information and
Environmental Information
Regulations requests responded to
within 20 working days

Latest
data

Period
covered

76

Apr–Jun
2019

Period
target

12 months
earlier

90

75

RED

GREEN

Customer contacts: telephone

909,106

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

971,918

N/a

N/a
150,252

Customer contacts: face to face

124,062

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

127

N/a

N/a

128

Customer contacts: web forms

135,402

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

107,801

N/a

N/a

129

Customer contacts: emails

41,373

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

50,622

N/a

N/a
4,413

Customer contacts: social media

2,898

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

130

N/a

N/a

Jul 18Jun 19

Tracker

94.8

N/a

GREEN

Tracker

88.6

132

% of calls answered
% of calls answered within 3 minutes

95.9
91.8

Jul 18Jun 19

North
East
figure

Nearest
statistical
neighbour

Period
covered if
different

Yes

126

131

National
figure

Data
updated
this
quarter

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes
Yes

Page 233

Appendix 3: Risk Management

1 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s challenging
improvement agenda, so that any risks to successful delivery can be identified and
minimised. The council’s risk management process therefore sits alongside service
improvement work and is integrated into all significant change and improvement
projects.
2 The key risks to successfully achieving the objectives of each corporate theme are
detailed against each Altogether theme in the relevant sections of the report. These
risks have been identified using the following criteria:
a) Net impact is critical, and the net likelihood is highly probable, probable or
possible.
b) Net impact is major, and the net likelihood is highly probable or probable.
c) Net impact is moderate, and the net likelihood is highly probable.
3 As at 31 May 2019, there were 27 risks on the corporate strategic risk register, one
more than as at 31 December 2018. During this period, two risks were added, and
one was removed. The following matrix categorises the strategic risks according to
their net risk evaluation as at 31 May 2019. The number of risks as at 31 December
2018 is shown in brackets.

Corporate Risk Heat Map
Critical

1

(1)

IMPACT

Major

5

(5)

Moderate

3

(3)

4

(4)

10

(9)

Minor

1

2

(2)

1

(1)

(1)

Insignificant
Remote
Key risks

Page 234

Unlikely

Possible
LIKELIHOOD

Probable

Highly
Probable

4 Two risk were added during the latest review period:
(a)

(b)

Potential violence and aggression towards members and employees from
members of the public. Several incidents of violence and aggression
towards members and employees occur each year. There are various
triggers, for example, the enforcement of regulations and consultation
activity. Other potential factors include the current national and economic
climate, and incitement through social media.
Risk of suspension notice under Regulation 37, Environmental Permitting
Regulations 2016, leading to a partial cessation of operations at Mountsett
Crematorium. With the aim of preventing this risk, officers are in ongoing
communications with the supplier of the cremator to improve the
arrangements for ensuring compliance with the Environmental Permitting
Regulations. Servicing activities and performance of the equipment are
being monitored closely.

5 One risk has been removed:
Potential adverse financial and operational impacts of the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2017 on the Housing Solutions Service. All mitigating actions have
now been implemented and the risk has been downgraded.
6 At a corporate strategic level, key risks to the Council, with their respective net risk
evaluations shown in brackets, are:
(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed MTFP savings
projects, this will require further savings to be made from other areas, which
may result in further service reductions and job losses (Critical / Possible);
There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from
government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive
Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review (Critical / Highly Probable);
Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure
is a factor or issue) (Critical / Possible);
Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious harm (where
service failure is a factor or issue) (Critical / Possible).

7 The implementation of additional mitigation on several risks has enabled the Council
to improve performance, decision-making and governance, and this is detailed in the
relevant sections of the report.
a) Altogether Wealthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this
theme.
b) Altogether Better for Children and Young People: Failure to protect a child
from death or serious harm (where service failure is a factor or issue).
Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in addition to
Page 235

the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage to the council’s
reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To mitigate the risk,
actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and reported to the
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership. Lessons learned are fed into training
for front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This risk is long term
and procedures are reviewed regularly.
c) Altogether Healthier: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this
theme.
d) Altogether Safer: Failure to protect a vulnerable adult from death or serious
harm. Management consider it possible that this risk could occur which, in
addition to the severe impacts on service users, will result in serious damage to
the council’s reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. As the
statutory body, the multi-agency Safeguarding Adults Board has a Business Plan
in place for taking forward actions to safeguard vulnerable adults including a
comprehensive training programme for staff and regular supervision takes
place. This risk is long term and procedures are reviewed regularly.
e) Altogether Greener: There are no key risks in delivering the objectives of this
theme.
f)

Page 236

Altogether Better Council:
i.

If there was to be slippage in the delivery of the agreed Medium Term
Financial Plan savings projects, this will require further savings to be made
from other areas, which may result in further service reductions and job
losses. Management consider it possible that this risk could occur, which
will result in a funding shortfall, damaged reputation and reduced levels of
service delivery. To mitigate the risk, a programme management approach
for key projects has been established and embedded across the council.
Monitoring by Corporate Management Team and Cabinet provides
assurance over the implementation of the agreed MTFP savings projects. It
should be recognised that this will be a significant risk for at least the next
four years.

ii.

There is significant uncertainty in relation to future funding settlements from
government, which will be impacted by the upcoming Comprehensive
Spending Review and the Fair Funding Review. Management consider it
highly probable that this risk could occur, and to mitigate the risk, sound
financial forecasting is in place based on thorough examination of the
Government's red book plans. This will also be a significant risk for at least
the next four years.

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report 2018-19
Report of Corporate Management Team
Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and
Young People’s Services
Councillor Peter Brookes, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report April 2018 – March 2019, for endorsement.

2

The Annual Report was agreed by the Corporate Parenting Panel at its
meeting on 19 July 2019.

3

The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 2 of this report.

Executive summary
4

Following an inspection of Durham County Council’s Children’s
Services by Ofsted in February/March 2016 the service was judged as
requiring improvement. Since this judgement the service has carried
out work to address Ofsted’s recommendations and with the Council’s
Transformation Agenda has made significant improvements in relation
to political oversight of Children’s Services including the revised terms
of reference of the Corporate Parenting Panel.

5

The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference that
the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual
report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.

6

This is the second Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel,
following the changes to political oversight.

Page 237

Recommendations
7

Cabinet are requested to:
• Note the content of the Annual Report
• Endorse the Annual report

Page 238

Background
8

In March 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were
inspected by OFSTED who found that services required improvement.
Their report made fourteen recommendations including: “Review
existing arrangements to ensure that political and senior leaders have
access to improved quantitative and qualitative performance information
that enables them to have an accurate picture of the current practice
delivered to children, so that they can develop strategies to maintain
and improve the quality of front-line practice.”

9

Following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection report an Ofsted
Improvement Plan was developed and was grouped into four themes,
including The Strengthening Political and Management Oversight
theme. Benchmarking was undertaken, and as a result changes were
made to political oversight arrangements, including the functions,
membership, governance and administration of the Corporate Parenting
Panel. Work has also been undertaken to raise the profile of the
Corporate Parenting Panel’s work.

10

Further work has been done following the approval of changes to the
constitution, and terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Panel
were agreed, which incorporates all aspects of the constitutional
changes. The terms of reference include the functions described in the
Constitution with the responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel in
relation to each of the functions clearly set out.

11

The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.

Development of the Annual Report
12

To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate
Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the Children in
Care Council, supported by officers from Transformation and
Partnerships, would develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual
Report for 2017-18.

13

The young people worked on the design, content and language of the
Annual Report to ensure it was easy to read and understand.

14

The Annual Report was well received, and a decision was made to
follow a similar process for the development of the Annual Report for
2018-19.

Page 239

15

To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting
Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing
Team have been involved in the development of the 2018-19 Annual
Report to ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it
uses language and design which is also appealing to young people.

16

The Annual Report will hold a more prominent position on the Durham
County Council website, and will again be hosted on the Investing in
Children Website, and the Children in Care Council website.

17

The Annual Report includes information on:
(a)

What a Corporate Parent is

(b)

The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

(c)

The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference

(d)

Key performance data

(e)

Achievements

(f)

Evidencing the changes made as a result of consultation with
young people ‘You Said – We Did’

(g)

The Corporate Parenting Panel’s priorities for 2019/20

Terms of Reference
The five functions of the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of
Reference, which were agreed by the Panel at the meeting on 14
December 2018 are as follows:

18

• Ensure that the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and
young people in care and care leavers including:
o Children and Young People in residential care
o Children and Young People in foster care
o Children and Young People placed for adoption
o Children and Young People placed at home under Care Planning,
Placement and Case Review Regulations
o Young People who are living in supported lodgings
o Young People in Secure services
o Young People in custody.
• To engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their
carers for whom the Council is the parent.
• To work in partnership with other statutory agencies to drive forward
improvements in care.
Page 240

• To act as the governing body for the Virtual School for looked after
children and young people.
• To act as the governing body for Aycliffe Secure Services, monitoring and
ensuring the quality of secure accommodation.
Next Steps
Cabinet are requested to note the following key dates for the Corporate
Parenting Panel Annual Report:
(a)

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
14 October 2019, for information

(b)

Council: 23 October 2019, for information

Conclusion
19

The Annual Report provides oversight of the work undertaken during
2018-19, and the priorities for the year ahead.

Contact:

Helen Fergusson

Tel: 03000 261663

Page 241

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the corporate
parenting responsibilities of the Council are being met in line with the duties
under the Children Act 1989.
Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local
authority in relation to children looked after by them, to safeguarding and
promoting the welfare of these children, ensuring effective, individualised
support and access to services.
Finance
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email,
and will be hosted on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and
Durham County Council websites to minimise printing and distribution costs.
Consultation
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the
development of the Annual Report.
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line
with legal duties.
Human Rights
Children and young people have been central to the development of the
Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard.
Crime and Disorder
There are no crime and disorder implications.
Staffing
There are no staffing implications.
Accommodation
There are no accommodation implications.
Risk
There are no risk implications.
Procurement
There are no procurement implications.

Page 242

Appendix 2: Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2018-19

Attached as a separate document

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

County Durham

Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report
April 2018 - March 2019

Page 245

What is a
Corporate Parent
If a young person can’t stay
at home safely, it is up to the
local authority to provide the
care, support and security
that they need.
This isn’t just up to the
Corporate Parenting Panel,
everyone should be looking
out for our children and
young people, and every
councillor and council
employee has a role to play
as the eyes and ears of the
community.
Being a corporate parent
means doing whatever we
can to support young
people in our care and care
leavers, to help them to
achieve their full potential
and to have the best
possible outcomes,
including:

3 Progress in school
3 Education, Employment
and training
opportunities
3 Good Physical and
Mental wellbeing

Councillor Peter Brookes

Message from the Chair!
I am pleased to present the second Annual Report of the
Corporate Parenting Panel, and to be able to report the progress
that we have made over the last year.
I would like to thank everyone for their hard work and commitment
over the past year to improving outcomes for our young people. I
look forward to seeing more positive changes as we continue our
work into 2019/20.
In addition, I would like to thank the young people themselves for
being part of the Corporate Parenting Panel, helping us to move
forward and develop.

The Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel
The Corporate Parenting Panel is a group that is part of the
council, which is called a committee. It has 21 councillors as well
as council officers. There are also 10 other members, including
school representatives and a young people’s representative to
make sure there is a broad range of experience and knowledge
and that the voice of children and young people is heard.
Corporate parents have responsibility to act for the children and
young people in our care as a parent would for their own child and
to ask:

3 Suitable accommodation
3 Access to services and
support
3 Preparation for leaving
care and living
independently.

If this were my
child would it
be good
enough for
them?

Page 246

2

If I were that
child would it
have been
good enough
for me?

How could
I make it
even
better?

Corporate Parenting Panel responsibilities
1. Make sure the council acts as a good corporate parent to
children and young people in care and care leavers, including:
l

Young people in residential care

l

Children and young people in foster care

l

Children placed for adoption

l

Children placed at home under Care Planning. Placement and
Case Review regulations

l

Young people who are living in supported lodgings

l

Young people in secure homes

l

Young people in custody

Where are children in
care?
Children and young people
can be in care in a range of
settings, including foster
care, children’s homes and
secure homes – the council is
corporate parent to all of
them.

2. Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and
their carers.

Why are children in
care?

3. Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements
for our children and young people in care.
4. Oversee the Virtual School for looked after children and young
people.

Young people are looked
after for a variety of reasons
including neglect and abuse.
They could also be in care if
their parents are unable to
look after them because of
their own complex health
needs or behaviours. Some
young people have no
parents to care for them, or
they could be
unaccompanied asylum
seekers.

A sub group has been established to lead on this work.
5. Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services
A sub group has been established to lead on this work.

Care Leavers’ Champions
In 2016 Terry Collins introduced ‘an opportunity for every
care leaver’ encouraging our care leavers to join Durham
County Council ‘the family firm’. As part of this initiative a
number of opportunities have been brought in to offer work
experience, internships and apprenticeships to care
leavers’ champion across a number of departments within
the council.
In 2018, Terry asked all service areas to identify a ‘Care
Leavers’ Champion’ to further support this initiative and to
help develop the Local Offer for Care Leavers.
This initiative will ensure we do as much as we can to
assist our young people who are leaving care, to become
the most successful adults that they can be.
Terry also hosts a bi-monthly meeting providing an
opportunity for young people to raise any issues directly
with him.

“

Terry Collins

(Chief Executive Officer)

meets with looked
after young people
regularly

”

Page 247

3

Updates against 2018/19 priorities
What we said we would focus on

Young people’s comments

Continue to improve review
meetings for looked after children
and young people

“I chair my own reviews”
“I talked to my own reviewing officer”
“I made my own smiley face form up”

Make sure more children and
young people have care plans that
they really understand

“Mine is really easy to understand, but it’s a bit babyish”

Improve the experience of children
and young people when coming
into care

“We get foster carer profiles before we go into the placement”
“There is member information available in the homes”
“Young people designed a leaflet that’s given to all young people”

Create more job opportunities for
care leavers

“There’s apprenticeships now”
“looked after children get guaranteed interviews”

Support our care leavers with
council tax costs if they move out of
county

“Young people are supported on an individual basis around
their eligibility, to get the best possible outcomes”

Raising the profile of looked after
children/care leavers in all
departments of the council to
ensure they have a voice in
influencing any decisions that are
being made

Fostering Panel representation
Training for Fostering Panel members
Corporate Parenting Panel representation
Attendance at Health and Wellbeing Board meeting
Attendance at Children and Families Partnership meetings
Looking at having Children and Families Partnership representation
Head of Service/Extended Management Team training delivered
by young people
Children’s Services training delivered by young people
Training on looked after children/care leavers in universities
training delivered by young people
Care Leavers Champions in each service directorate
Training ‘life as a looked after child’

Encourage more people to be
foster carers by spreading the word
of how great and rewarding it is

“Lots of info on this, on buses and posters all over”

Share positive stories of looked
after children in the media

“This has improved a bit but more needs to be done”
“Tracey Beaker was negative portrayal of looked after
children”

Re-launch of the council’s Promise
to Looked After Children and Care
Leavers

“We have done this”

Page 248

4

Children in Care Council (CiCC)
The CiCC is a group for children and young people who are looked after in County
Durham, and is supported by Investing in Children. The CiCC members meet
monthly to talk about issues which are important to them, highlight what works and
share stories of the support they have received. This forum is well established, with
senior managers and elected members who are on the Corporate Parenting Panel,
managers from the independent reviewing officer services, Virtual School staff,
fostering services staff, and looked after children service staff regularly attending
CiCC meetings.

‘If you are not already a member of the CiCC – what are you waiting for . . . . .?’

What difference have we made . . .
“We wanted to make sure that anyone coming
into care, knows what to expect and who will be
working with them”

l Young people are part of the fostering panel
to make sure their views are fed in.
l Survey developed for all looked after children
to get a whole range of views so that this
feeds into service developments.

“It makes you understand what life in care is
going to be about! I like the guide a lot!”

l New care plans have been designed
following feedback from young people, that
are now easier to understand.

l Presentations and training have been
delivered by young people at Extended
Management Team and Children and Young
People’s Services Management Team in July
2018 to enable them to share their
experiences of the looked after system and
help practitioners to think about how they can
improve their practice.

l Supervised contact rooms have had ‘make
overs’ as young people felt these rooms were
not nice places to spend time. The young
people have been involved in redesigning the
rooms and ordering the new furnishings.

“It’s good to do the training to let them know
what it’s like to be in our shoes”

l Councillor information is now hosted on the
CiCC website so that young people can
easily access this
http://www.durhamcicc.co.uk
your-dcc-councillors.html

l Young people have delivered training to
fostering panel members to share their
thoughts and experiences to improve things
for young people coming into care.

l Comments boxes are in children’s homes to
enable young people to feed into the Reg 44
inspection if it takes place when they are out,
or if they do not wish to talk to the inspector.

l IIC revised the council’s complaints
procedure to ensure it is fit for purpose and
easy for young people to access. The new
leaflet is hosted on the CiCC website so that
it is accessible for young people.

l Information on the Reg 44 inspector and the
elected member allocated to each home are
displayed in each home so the young people
know who is visiting. The CiCC has produced
guidance for this.

l In 2018-2019, two complaints (1.5%) were
received directly from a child or young
person, compared with none the previous
year. The number of complaints made by
children or young people through an
advocate decreased to 3.6% in 2018-19
compared with 6.4% in 2017-2018.

l A leaflet has been developed to give young
people information they might need when
they are becoming looked after.

continued on the next page

Page 249

5

What a difference we have made
continued from page 5

Care Leavers Challenge
Could you live on £57.90 a week?
Care leavers, through the Children in Care Council, asked for
the members of the Corporate Parenting Panel to undertake
the ‘Care Leavers Challenge’ by living off a care leaver’s
budget for a week to highlight the difficulties young people face
in their day to day lives.
Cllr Beaty Bainbridge took part in the 2018 challenge and felt
that it was a ‘real eye opener’. The main challenge she faced
was cooking on a budget, even with all of her experience from
52 years of marriage and cooking for her own family.
Cllr Bainbridge found that because of the limited budget, she
had to plan ahead and always needed to make sensible
choices around what to buy, and how to cook it to stretch the
food out to make as many meals as possible. She was
surprised just how little food she could afford and visited the
food bank to source extra supplies.
Cllr Bainbridge was concerned that if young people do not
have some of the life skills she has around cooking and
housekeeping, then they would have a limited variety of
healthy meals, which she felt would lead to a poor diet overall.
This could lead to additional health issues including stress and
poorer mental health.

l Placement risk assessment
forms that foster carers get
before agreeing to the
placement have been
revised after young people
felt the information contained
in them could be very
negative. The information is
more balanced now and
includes lots of positive
information as well. This has
helped to identify good
placements for children
where their needs can be
met.
l Improvements have been
made to the Personal
Education Plan (PEP) forms,
following feedback and
recommendations from
children and young people.
l More opportunities have
been created for care leaver
apprenticeships following
regular meetings with the
council’s Chief Executive.

Cllr Bainbridge felt that without cooking skills and additional
support from food banks, the young people would eat very
little.

l Young people have reviewed
and updated the council’s
Promise to Looked After
Children and Young People.

To support our care leavers we are looking to develop a young
person friendly ‘care leavers hub’ where young people will
have ownership of the space and can ‘drop in’.

l Foster carers have been
asked to produce profiles
about themselves and their
homes following feedback
from children and young
people, wanting to improve
and be more prepared when
moving home.

It is expected that the hub will offer sessions for young people
with support staff, including CAMHS, Youth Offending Service,
The Full Circle etc. It will also run training courses for care
leavers, including cooking and life skills.

l Young people continue to
deliver foster preparation
training to potential foster
carers as part of their
assessment every two
months.
Page 250

6

Local Offer for Care Leavers
We’ve produced our Local Offer for Care Leavers to give care leavers a clear idea of what
services we provide and what can be expected from us, including:

Housing

Support
l
l
l
l
l
l
l
l

l Your options after leaving

Your rights
Stay safe
Someone to talk to
Young Person’s Advisor
Social Worker
Pathway Plan
Reviews
CiCC

Money
l Help with money
l Help with Universal

Credits and Benefits

l Welfare Rights
l Credit Unions, financial

help and debt advice

care
Living on your own
Going to university
Money to set up a home
Care leavers and Council
Tax
l Help to avoid becoming
homeless
l
l
l
l

Education,
Employment & Training
l School holidays and work
l
l
l
l
l

Looking after
yourself
l Health
l Emotional

wellbeing

l Getting involved
l Relationships

experience
Going to sixth form or
college
Going to university
Learning to drive
Help to get a job
Help to get an
apprenticeship or
traineeship

Feedback from the young people is that
they do not like how the Local Offer for
Care Leavers is hosted on the council’s
website, as it is hard to find and is not
young people friendly. In response, we are
working to ensure the information is as
accessible as possible to children and
young people.

Page 251

7

Information about our care leavers
for 2017-2018
82% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in

education, employment and training (EET), in
comparison to the England average of 64% and the
statistical neighbour rates of 64%.

59% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in

education, employment and training (EET), in
comparison to the England average of 51% and the
statistical neighbour rates of 58%.

96% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in suitable
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% and
above our statistical neighbour rates of 89%.

87% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in suitable
accommodation, above the national rate of 84% but
below our statistical neighbour rates of 89%.

There was a 17% improvement in English for grade 4+
and 10% improvement at grade 5+. In 2017 we had
identified that too few of our looked after children
achieved good passes (5+) in English, maths and at the
Basics Measure and therefore we targeted this to
improve outcomes.

Page 252

8

“

Cllr Peter Brookes
and Cllr Olwyn Gunn
(Portfolio Holder for Children
and Young People’s Services)

have offered to let
me to shadow
their work

”

Key performance
l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

l

We want as many of our young people as possible to be
cared for in County Durham or nearby.
Latest data shows that 8% at 28 December 2018 of our young
people were placed over 20 miles away (outside of County
Durham)
We want to have as many of our looked after children and
young people as possible in foster care, rather than in
other types of accomodation
Latest data shows that at 29 March 2019 79% of our young
people were placed in foster care (in house 49%, friends &
family 16%, IFA 14%)
Placement stability for children is really important, as it
helps with school attainment, friendships and emotional
wellbeing.
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 there were 6.9% of
our looked after children with three or more placements during
the year
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019, 86.6% of our looked
after children (aged under 16) were living in the same
placement for at least two years
Children and young people tell us that having the same
social worker can be really important and helps them to
build good relationships
Latest data shows that at December 2018, 22% of our children
had two or more social worker changes in the previous 12
months. This has decreased from 26% in 2017/18.
The health of our children and young people is very
important.
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 91.4% of our young
people had received the required number of health
assessments
Keeping in touch with our care leavers and ensuring they
are supported is a priority:
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 we were in touch with
100% of 17-18 year old care leavers and 95% of 19-21 year old
care leavers
It is important that our care leavers have somewhere
suitable to live:
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 96% of our 17-18 year
old care leavers, and 94% of our 19-21 year old care leavers
live in suitable accommodation
Lots of work is taking place to ensure our care leavers are
in employment, education or training (EET).
Latest data shows that at 31 March 2019 64% of our 17-18 year
old care leavers and 54% of our 19-21 year old care leavers are
in EET

“

Karen Robb

(Strategic Manager Looked After
Children and Permanence)

offered to let young
people shadow her
work

”

Page 253

9

Celebrations of young people and carers
Care Day 2019
#IiCCareDay19

Durham CiCC celebrated life in
care. This year the message
was

“Proud To Be Me –
Celebrate Living in Care!”

‘Ric Flo’, was a special guest at the event. Ric is a care experienced person who uses his creative
lifework to share with the world his experience of growing up in care and campaigning for better rights
and understanding. Ric works as a performer and trains social work professionals within the world of
fostering. He performed some of his work and gave an inspirational talk at the event.
Local young people attended the event to share their experiences of life in care in Durham.

LAC Epic Awards
The third annual Exceptional People in Care
(EPIC) awards ceremony was held during
National Care Leavers Week in November.
Winners included:
18 year old Rachel Calder for education
achievements,
19 year old Connie Jones for volunteering, and 17
year old Andrew Rochester who won the Investing
in Children award for his increased confidence
and the support he gives to others.
Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Durham’s Cabinet
member for children and young people’s
services, said “It is always great to hear stories of
these young people building on the support we give
them to make successes of their lives and it was
humbling to meet some of them at the awards.”

Page 254

10

Foster Carer Annual Awards
Our annual celebration of the outstanding
commitment of our foster carers was another
well attended event.
Held in March, foster carers, their foster children and their
own children are welcomed each year as we mark
long-service, celebrate achievement and hear some very
special stories.
Among those to be honoured were Debbie and John Hinds
from Durham, who have cared for more than 60 children in
their 25 years fostering with us. Three families also
received special recognition for going the extra mile in
caring for children and young people. A further six sons
and daughters of foster carers were given awards for the
part they have played in welcoming children into their
family and home.

Investing in Children Membership Award
This award gives organisations national recognition for their good practice and active inclusion of
children and young people in dialogue leading to change.
To achieve membership, organisations have to demonstrate the ways they listen to children and
young people and the changes made. Children and young people involved in the service have to
agree and all membership reports are read and approved by children and young people involved in
the process.
All of Durham County Council’s looked after children’s services have achieved or are working towards
achieving the Investing in Children Membership Award™.

“We as children and young people are reassured when we visit somewhere and see an
Investing in Children certificate. We know there will be someone there who is actually listening
to you and you will be able to put forward ideas”
Quote from a young person involved in the process.

Page 255

11

Achievements
3 Freedom Cards are available which provide discounted

opportunities to young people to offer opportunities to
participate in social activities with their peers, and alleviate
social isolation. Further work is underway to develop this offer
after recent feedback from young people

3 The Drive Project provides funding for driving lessons, a theory
and practical test for looked after young people 17+ and care
leavers who are the responsibility of the council.

Priorities for
2019/20
l Young people want to be
involved in completing
placement risk
assessment forms, and to
have sight of these forms
before they are submitted

3 46 young people were part of the scheme this year. 10 young

l Review Freedom Cards to
see if additional offers and
discounts can be included

3 Money has been allocated to improve the facilities where

l Work with school settings
so that they better
understand the needs of
looked after children

people passed their theory test and six young people passed
their practical test.

children spend time with their families, across the county. Young
people are involved in the project to ensure the rooms are nice
places for them to spend time.

The makeovers to date have been a success, and
feedback from young people has been positive
“Fab room”

l Subsidised transport costs
for care leavers
l Free leisure activities for
care leavers
l Ringfenced apprenticeship
positions within Durham
County Council for care
leavers

“Love having our own room”
“we like being able to choose
our own toys”

l Opening a children’s home
at Aycliffe Secure Centre
to improve the transition
from secure
accommodation into the
community.

“lots of toys and love the
playdough!”
“it’s nice and calm in here”
We are hoping to make over more
rooms throughout the year.

3 The winter fuel allowance payments are now made to our
care leavers.

3 We are delighted to have welcomed a care leaver into our
Children and Young People’s Services team.

Page 256

12

“

Helen Fergusson

(Head of Children’s Social Care)

helped me loads
with my social work
placement

”

3 Care Leavers Champions are in all service areas within Durham
County Council

3 DCC promise launched officially Friday 26th October 2018.

ple
ise
ung Peo
Our Prom fter Children and Yo

Young People from CiCC have been involved in supporting the
council with the creation of the promise and regularly review it.

3 Following 150 family group conferences, 140 children and

young people remained in their family/living arrangements with
support, and did not become looked after.

3 Children and young people are working on making films that will
explain to other young people what family group conferencing
is, and what to expect.

3 The Supporting Solutions Service worked with 107 young

people on the edge of care, and as a result of offering crisis and
intensive interventions, 100 young people remained in their
family/living arrangements.

To Looked

A

nt.
is differe
t everyone
ember tha
t and to rem
feel safe,
where you
. It will be
can for you
we
e
hom
t
so.
p find bes
ted well.
ok to do
2) To hel
ut and trea
nds if it is
cared abo
ily and frie
with fam
y in touch
you say.
p you sta
on what
3) To hel
try to act
and
you
lly to
en carefu
you well.
say.
4) To list
to know
to what you
r will get
ial worke
and listen
after.
your soc
ng looked
ch with you
5) That
about bei
keep in tou
to change
They will
would like
you
gs
h you.
to thin
nges wit
lly listen
cha
rea
or
re.
To
6)
information
or your futu
share any
t affect you
nges tha
honest and
ns or cha
7) To be
isions, pla
in any dec
you
e
d.
olv
you nee
8) To inv
work.
port that
ning and
help or sup
lege, trai
e you any
school, col
9) To giv
can be at
lt life.
that you
care to adu
the best
move from
p you be
needed to
10) To hel
en
wh
t
.
por
in your life
p and sup
ry change
e you hel
during eve
11) To giv
port you
er and sup
rk togeth
e.
12) To wo
leaving car
cement or
pla
g
vin
le mo
For examp
0 266 593

1)

To treat you

with respec

t
0300
ildren.ne
number
stinginch
- contact
www.inve
Services
307 7030
g People’s
759
Tel: 0191
and Youn
03000 265
Contact:
of Children
act number
e Director
Care - cont
Corporat
’s Social
dren
Chil
Head of

43474

3 Local Offer for Care Leavers has been developed and published
3 Improved foster carer recruitment and retention figures
3 In 2017-2018 we took 321 enquiries from potential foster carers
and successfully approved 26 new carers.

3 Young People from the CiCC delivered training to Durham

County Council’s extended management team to raise the
profile of looked after children and care leavers. This was to
ensure plans are in place to hear their voice and use this to
influence any decisions that are being made..

“If you have a room and a big heart you can be a foster carer.
Even if you just care for one child you can make such a huge
difference to their life.”
Comment from our foster carers

“Thank you for the training sessions over the last few weeks,
we found them very informative and they have definitely
opened our eyes to the world of fostering. If anything it has
made us more determined to do it!”
Someone on our training programme

Page 257

13

Virtual School
l Young people have been involved in meeting
with the Virtual School team and redesigning
Personal Education Plans (PEPs) for primary
and secondary school pupils.

l On average more Durham looked after
children achieved expected standards in their
KS2 SATS in writing and maths than children
looked after across the country.
l Durham looked after children made better
progress between KS1 and KS2 in maths and
writing than all other children in Durham
schools.

l Work with the Music service and Virtual School
has taken place to engage young people who
are looked after children or care leavers who
are not engaging with the CiCC.
l At Durham Virtual School we have been
training schools to help them understand the
impact of attachment and early trauma so that
they can understand and support the needs of
our looked after children.
l Curious Kids was launched in February 2019.
All Durham looked after children in years 2 - 6
are receiving books and activities through the
post to help to encourage a love of reading.
Foster carers attended some training to help
develop reading skills, Children chose the
name Curious Kids and the books are
commissioned by the Virtual School through
Durham Learning Resources. We are looking
at how to provide books for younger and older
children too.

l At KS4 Durham looked after children achieved
much higher GCSE results in English and
made better progress across all subjects than
looked after children nationally.
l Durham looked after children have much
higher school attendance than all other
Durham children.

When asked to “Choose your own words or draw a picture to show how you felt when you
opened your first Curious Kids parcel” these were some of the responses we got:

“Yes, a letter

“Dear Curious Kids I really
enjoyed opening this parcel.
When will I get my next
parcel?”

for me”

“Happy and excited!
p.s. my sister Libby ,
aged 13, wants one!
She is jealous!”

Page 258

14

Residential services for children and young people
We offer residential services for children and young people, giving support and care when
they cannot live at home or when they need a short break away from their family or carers.
We have nine children’s homes in County Durham and offer a range of different services,
including:
l a therapeutic home for children under 12 years
l a provision which can offer respite for young people where families are at risk of
breakdown
l a short-break resource for children who have a disability
l a number of well-established medium to long term children’s homes.

volved in things.”
in
be
to
t
an
w
I
if
d
ke
as
s
“I am alway
“I had input with the décor
“This is a really good hom

of the living room.”

e.”
ow

lenge me in a way that I kn
al
ch
f
af
st
e
th
l
al
…
…
to
e
“it was my destiny to com
w the best it’s ever been .”
no
is
r
ou
vi
ha
be
y
M
e.
m
r
they want the very best fo
they are like my fam ily”
“the staff aren’t like staff,
me to me and it makes
“They make the house a ho
ds and fam ily.”
the staff feel more like frien
t me like their own.”
ea
tr
f
af
st
e
th
e
us
ca
be
,
re
“ I don’t feel like a kid in ca

Page 259

15

Aycliffe Secure Centre

l Myspace meetings continue to be an important
forum in the centre, to gathering views of
young people. Feedback received from these
forums supports decision making and ensures
that views of young people are key in driving
change/improvements.

l Analysis of the new parental survey was
encouraging with 92.5% of parents answering
‘Great or Good’ when asked ‘How well do
you think Aycliffe Secure Centre are
looking after your child?’

l Young people and staff took part in a wide and
varied activity programme including a rickshaw
challenge and tug of war and have raised
money for Children in Need and Comic Relief
throughout the year.

“Staff are always very friendly informative and
helpful. I’m glad my son is in such good care.”
“Staff appear genuinely caring and sensitive to
my child’s needs – they focus on the positives and
this is very reassuring for me as a parent.”

l We continue to increase sporting and leisure
options to further improve the health and
wellbeing of our young people. Recent
additions to the activity programme have
included dance, basketball, personal training,
boot camp and trampolining sessions.

l 100% of parents/carers stated that they had
noticed positive changes in their child since
coming to Aycliffe

l The third annual BBQ in summer 2018 was a
great success, offering parents/carers/workers
the opportunity to spend time in a relaxed way
with the young people, enjoying good food,
good music and good dancing.

“Calmer and more respect”
“Staff are mostly bringing out the good in my son
and he is looking better physically for being here.”
l Over the last 12 months Aycliffe Secure Centre
has appointed 50 new workers to further
increase the level and quality of support
offered to our young people.

l We also had our annual firework display in
November with music and refreshments going
down well - events such as these really bring
the Aycliffe family together.

l Young people have developed a DVD
featuring young people who were new to the
centre. They told their story of admission and
tried to dispel myths about secure
accommodation. This was largely unedited, so
the young people got ‘the real story’. The film
has been positively received, and it has helped
to ease the worries of young people coming
into the centre for the first time.

Education
l Between January to July 2018, 75% of pupils
made one or more levels of progress in
English, and this year achieved 26 Entry
Level, 11 Level 1, and 2 Level 2 qualifications
in Functional Skills.
l In maths, 71% of pupils made one or more
levels of progress and achieved 30 Entry
Level, and 8 Level 1 Functional Skills
qualifications. For this academic year to date,
the combined totals for English and maths
have increased to 88%.

l Young people have been involved in
recruitment for staff at all levels within the
centre, including residential workers and
senior managers.

l Our engagement with local and national
industry has meant that our young people had
the opportunity to meet with employers from a
range of areas including aviation, finance,
business/administration, retail, health and
social care, as well as further education
colleges and apprenticeship providers. Eight of
our leavers went directly onto college
placements to study NVQ courses in a range
of subjects. Three young people successfully
secured apprenticeships or traineeships for
when they left us.

l Young people have hosted some important
visitors including the council’s corporate
director of children and young people’s
services Margaret Whellans, local politicians
including Councillor Olwyn Gunn and MP Phil
Wilson, NHS England researchers, youth
custody monitors and Ofsted inspectors. On all
occasions the engagement from the young
people has been exemplary and it has helped
young people feel part of the centre and to feel
valued for their positive contribution.
Page 260

16

Work of the Corporate
Parenting Panel

l In March we were inspected by an external
verifier from our principal exam board,
Edexcel, whose role is to review our maths
and English accreditation. The report stated
that:

To ensure the council provides the best
possible outcomes for the children and young
people we look after, the Corporate Parenting
Panel has requested presentations from
various sources, to make sure they have a
good overview of the range of services
provided. This has included feedback from:

l “The centre’s accredited education programmes
have some of the best results in the secure estate.”

What our young people said

l Foster carers
l Adoptive families

“I feel that this place has supported me and made me
feel part of a family and I’m so happy!”

l The Full Circle therapeutic support
l Services for looked after children with a
disability

“My case manager has sorted loads of stuff for me
and she has always told me the truth. No matter how
busy she was she always had time to listen to me.”

l The Virtual School
l Young people’s views on mental health

What our Youth Offending team said
“I would love for all young people who have to come
into custody to receive the level of care X received at
Aycliffe”
“X was treated first and foremost as a child and not
as an ‘offender’. Staff made the effort to get to know
him, care about him and guide him to make the right
choices”
“It was clear to see that all of the staff involved in X’s
care did genuinely care for him and went out of their
way to make sure he felt supported”
“X has developed the skills to become a mature and
responsible young person who has with the help of
staff reflected on his life choices when in the
community”

Page 261

17

47120 CYPS

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2019/20 – Period to 30 June
2019
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Alan Napier, Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

2

To provide Cabinet with information on the:
(a)

forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2019/20;

(b)

forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund
position at 31 March 2020;

(c)

forecast use of earmarked, cash limit and general reserves and
estimated balances to be held at 31 March 2020.

To seek approval of the budget adjustments and proposed sums
outside of the cash limit.

Executive summary
3

The 2019/20 projected revenue outturn a forecast cash limit
underspend of £0.049 million plus an underspend on all other budgets
of £1.138 million. This forecast net underspend of £1.187 million
represents 0.3% of the net expenditure budget of £419.581 million.

4

Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves)
are forecast to reduce by £8.769 million in 2019/20, from £209.069
million to £200.300 million.

Page 263

5

The projected capital outturn is £142.663 million.

6

The estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund is a surplus
of £0.132 million. Durham County Council’s share of this forecasted
surplus is £0.111 million, which will be available to support the 2020/21
budget.

7

The estimated outturn for the Business Rates Collection Fund is a
surplus of £2.525 million Durham County Council’s share (49%) of this
estimated surplus is £1.237 million which will be available to support the
2020/21 budget.

Recommendations
8

Page 264

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a)

note the council’s overall financial position for 2019/20;

(b)

agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval;

(c)

agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments;

(d)

note the forecast use of earmarked reserves;

(e)

note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and
general reserves;

(f)

note the position on the capital programme and the Collection
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates.

Background
9

In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed the
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), which incorporates the revenue
and capital budgets for 2019/20, on 20 February 2019.

10

The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly
basis.

11

This report provides an forecast of the revenue and capital outturn for
2019/20, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 June 2019. This
is the first report on forecast financial performance against the 2019/20
budgets this financial year.

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 June 2019
12

The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised
budget. Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3.

13

The following adjustments have been made to the original budget
agreed by Council on 20 February 2019:
(a)

agreed budget transfers between service groupings;

(b)

additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet
consideration and recommended approval);

(c)

planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please
refer to Appendix 4).

Page 265

Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2019/20
Original
Budget
2019/20

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Regeneration and Local Services
Resources
Transformation and Partnerships

123,776
123,639
137,586
21,268
10,784

116,873
131,080
135,385
19,809
24,718

114,223
133,204
136,290
19,344
24,755

-2,650
2,124
905
-465
37

Cash Limit Position

417,053

427,865

427,816

-49

5,161
3,728

2,665
3,924

2,665
3,705

0
-219

NET COST OF SERVICES

425,942

434,454

434,186

-268

Capital charges
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-64,132
-2,400
35,579
16,061

-64,132
-2,400
35,579
16,080

-64,132
-3,319
35,579
16,080

0
-919
0
0

Net Expenditure

411,050

419,581

418,394

-1,187

-222,275
-11,010
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-9
0

-222,275
-19,113
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-437
0

-222,275
-19,113
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-388
1,138

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
49
1,138

0

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves
TOTAL

14

The above table identifies a forecast cash limit underspend of £0.049
million plus an underspend on all other budgets of £1.138 million. This
total net underspend of £1.187 million represents 0.3% of the net
expenditure budget of £419.581 million.

15

The Transformation and Partnerships revenue budget has been
increased in 2019/20 by £14.8 million due to transfers of budget from
other service groupings resulting from the Business Support review.

Page 266

16

Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from, or
transferred to general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be
outside of service grouping cash limits.
Service
Grouping

Proposal

Amount
£ million

All

Increased employers pension contributions
resulting from auto-enrolment

1.112

All

Pension deficit budget reallocation

0.130

CYPS

Extension to ICS Contract to support
Children’s Social Care

0.333

CYPS

Reallocation of transport costs for Pupil
Referral Unit to the General Fund

0.600

Resources

Enhanced Corporate Learning and
Development Programme

0.267

Resources

LCTRS grant adjustment

-0.008

T&P

Communications and marketing additional
support for Fostering and Adoption

0.043

TOTAL

17

2.477

After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised
in the following table.
Type of Reserve

Opening
Budgeted
Balance as at
use at
1 April 2019 1 April 2019
£ million

£ million

Movement
during
2019/20

2019/20
Forecast
of Outturn

£ million

£ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit
Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Regeneration and Local Services
Resources
Transformation and Partnerships

-7.919
0.000
-3.152
-1.572
-0.272

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.009
0.000

-2.448
1.424
1.205
-0.465
0.080

-10.367
1.424
-1.947
-2.028
-0.192

Total Cash Limit Reserve

-12.915

0.009

-0.204

-13.110

General Reserve

-25.106

0.000

-1.138

-26.244

18

The forecasted cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent
one given the forecasted levels of savings the council needs to make of
£34.32 million over the period 2020/21 to 2023/24 with the delivery of
further savings becoming ever more challenging to achieve.
Page 267

19

The table above highlights that CYPS are forecast to have a deficit cash
limit reserve of £2.124 million at the end of 2019/20.

20

The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are
detailed as follows by each service grouping.

Adult and Health Services (AHS)
21

The 2019/20 updated projected outturn for AHS is a cash limit
underspend of £2.650 million, representing circa 2.3% of the total
budget for AHS.

22

The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves.

23

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash
limit and to prepare for 2020/21 MTFP savings requirements. The
outturn position is accounted for as follows:

24

Page 268

(a)

early achievement of a number of future years’ MTFP savings
from management and support service proposals across the
Adult Care and related areas, together with the careful
management and control of vacant posts and supplies and
services budgets across the service, has created a net
underspend for the year of £1.917 million.

(b)

net spend on adult care packages is £0.733 million under budget.
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the
impact of demographic and procedural/operational changes,
where significant MTFP savings have been taken over recent
years.

(c)

net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with
grant allocations.

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £4.983 million relating
to contributions to and from reserves and contingencies has been
excluded from the outturn. £0.105 million has been drawn from
Corporate Contingencies to meet the additional costs of pension auto
enrolment and £0.737 million to Corporate Contingencies as part of the
re-alignment of budgets across Service Groupings in respect of Pension
Deficit Contributions. There has also been a net contribution of £5.006
million to the Adult Social Care reserve linked to system wide
integration and associated NHS contributions and a £0.655 million use
of Public Health reserves.

25

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the transfer
to/from reserves in year the estimated cash limit reserve to be carried forward
for AHS is forecast to be £10.367 million.

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)
26

The 2019/20 projected outturn for CYPS is a cash limit overspend of
£2.124 million, representing circa 1.83% of the total budget for CYPS.
This considers adjustments for sums outside the cash limit, such as
MTFP related redundancy costs, which are met from the strategic
reserve, year end capital entries and contributions to and from
earmarked reserves. The reported net overspend position results from
an overall overspend within Children’s Services of £1.967 million
mitigated in part be an underspend within Education and Operational
Support of £0.543 million. Further details are provided below:

27

The outturn position is accounted for as follows:
(a)

The Education Service is forecast to be £0.157 million over
budget. The net overspend primarily relates to underspending as
a result of alternative funding arrangements for Nursery
sustainability of £0.455 million, over achievement of income
£0.288 million, staff related savings connected to early
achievement of MTFP savings and reduced pension liability £0.1
million. This is offset by a forecast overspend on the home to
school transport budget of £1 million.

(b)

Children’s Services is forecast to be a net £1.967 million over
budget for the year. This is primarily related to costs associated
with children’s placements, both those who have a legal status of
looked after and those young people in permanent placements
that are financially supported by the council (£2.896 million). This
is mitigated in part by savings resulting from vacancies and
supplies and services budgets £0.929 million.

28

The need to increase the budget in children’s social care has been
prevalent over the last few years, as the number of children in the care
system has increased significantly whilst their needs have become
more complex. This budget was increased by £5.5 million in 2018/19
and a further increase in the base budget of £6.5 million was approved
by County Council on 20 February 2019 to cover anticipated care costs
as well as additional costs for staffing in order to meet the expected
challenges and pressures identified for 2019/20.

29

In 2018/19 £1.632 million was transferred from general reserves to the
CYPS cash limit reserve to prevent the service having a deficit reserve
balance carried forward at 31 March 2019 and to balance the CYPS
cash limit reserve to zero. Taking the forecast outturn position into
Page 269

account, there is a forecast £2.124 million negative cash limit position at
year end.

Regeneration and Local Services (REAL)
30

The forecast revenue outturn for 2019/20, based on the position to 30
June 2019, is a cash limit overspend of £0.905 million, after taking
account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the cash limit.

31

The main reasons accounting for the outturn position are as follows:
(a) Environmental Services is forecast to be £1.282 million overspent.
This is mainly as a result of forecast overspends on waste
contracts of £0.720 million, relating to increased tonnages, a
£66,000 overspend following a business rates revaluation at the
Joint Stocks landfill site, a £98,000 overspend in Neighbourhood
Protection following a group regrading and a £0.121 million
overspend at Meadowfield depot following receipt of a trade
effluent water bill which was backdated to April 2016. There are
also unachieved MTFP savings within Fleet Services of £0.204
million and within Clean and Green Services of £73,000;
(b) Culture and Sport is forecast to be overspent by £0.607 million.
This is mainly the result of an overspend of £0.257 million at the
Gala Theatre and a £0.159 million overspend relating to former
Derwentside Culture and Sport. In addition, there are £0.209
million of unachieved MTFP savings pending a service restructure;
(c) Technical Services is forecast to be £0.170 million underspent.
There is a forecast overspend of £0.592 million attributable to
additional policy led expenditure on highways maintenance, mainly
in relation to Category 1 and 2 defects and footway maintenance,
which is offset by additional surpluses generated within the
Highways Services Trading Accounts of £0.627 million. There are
also managed employee underspends of £0.350 million due to
vacancies, but this is partially offset by an overspend of £0.264
million on drainage inspections;
(d) Business Durham is forecast to be £0.244 million underspent due
to increased income across industrial estates and other trading
areas;
(e) Transport and Contracted Services is forecast to be £98,000
underspent. This is mainly due to forecast underspends in
Sustainable Transport of £0.118 million, relating to reduced costs
on local bus routes and the replacement of less economic buses
and efficiency savings in Care Connect of £0.184 million, offset by

Page 270

anticipated additional traffic management costs and reduced
parking income of £0.225 million;
(f)

Development and Housing is forecast to be overspent by £96,000.
This is the result of Durham Employment & Skills (DES) forecasting
an overspend of £0.411 million due to under recovered contract
income, which is substantially offset by additional planning fee
income of £0.157 million, and an underspend in Housing Solutions
of £0.195 million;

(g) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to be £0.567 million
underspent. This is mainly due to managed savings from vacant
posts of £0.257 million, an underspend on utilities of £0.231 million
and additional workloads in Building Services producing an extra
£0.194 million of trading income surplus. These underspends are
partially offset by an £80,000 overspend on the Catering Service
and £35,000 of unachieved MTFP savings, where the anticipated
restructure within this newly created service is currently being
reviewed by the recently appointed Head of Service;
(h) Environment, Health and Consumer Protection is forecast to
overspend by £6,000. This is mainly due to a forecast under
achievement of licensing income of £0.131 million, partially offset
by managed underspends relating to vacant posts of £0.116
million, underspends on transport related expenses of £31,000,
and a £8,000 forecast underspend on supplies, partially offset by
£30,000 of additional costs relating to contamination from the
Evenwood fire.
32

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £3.262 million relating to use
of reserves and cash limits has been excluded from the outturn. The
major items being:
(a)

£1.238 million use of reserves relating to Development and
Housing;

(b)

£0.369 million use of reserves in respect of Culture and Sport

(c)

£0.142 million use of reserves relating to Environmental Services

(d)

£0.131 million use of reserves relating to Business Durham and
Environmental Health

(e)

£0.792 million from Corporate Contingencies as part of the realignment of budgets across Service Groupings in respect of
Pension Deficit Contributions

Page 271

(f)

33

£0.591 million from Corporate Contingencies in respect of
increased pension contribution costs as a consequence of autoenrolment into the Pension Fund

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration and Local Services
is £1.947 million.

Resources
34

The 2019/20 forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit
underspend of £0.465 million. This takes into account adjustments for
sums outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs which are met
from corporate reserves and use of / contributions to earmarked
reserves.

35

The Heads of Service across Resources continue to proactively
manage activity to remain within the cash limit. The projected under
budget position is the net effect of the following items:

Page 272

(a)

Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be
under budget by £97,000, primarily due to a managed
underspend on supplies and services costs in Financial Systems
(£0.129 million). There are also a number of other minor
variances in this service area.

(b)

Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be under
budget by £0.141 million, primarily due to underspends in
employee costs (£56,000) and supplies and services costs
(£55,000) in Financial Management. Revenues & Benefits is
forecast to be under budget by £67,000 due to a managed
overspend on employee costs (£44,000) which has been more
than offset by an underspend on supplies and services (£11,000)
and additional income (£0.100 million). Operations & Data is
forecasting to be over budget by £37,000 due to a managed
overspend on employee costs.

(c)

Digital and Customer Services is forecast to be under budget by
£0.297 million. This is mainly due to a forecast underachievement
of income amounting to £0.300 million in ICT Services which has
been more than offset by a forecast underspend on supplies and
services of £0.566 million in ICT Services. There are also a
number of other minor variances in this service area.

(d)

Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be over
budget by £7,000, comprising of a managed overspend of
£23,000 on employee related expenditure and £2,000 on
transport costs, offset partly by additional income £18,000.

36

(e)

Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be over budget by
£50,000. This includes a £0.328 million managed overspend on
employees which has been more than offset by additional income
amounting to £0.379 million, and a forecast overspend on
supplies and services of £0.111 million. There are also a number
of other minor variances in this service area.

(f)

People and Talent Management is forecast to be over budget by
£13,000, which includes a £29,000 managed overspend on
employees and £29,000 on supplies and services, offset by an
overachievement of income of £45,000.

(g)

There are no material variances in Service Management.

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after some £0.376
million of contributions from reserves and cash limits have been applied
to finance the following items:
(a)

£0.160 million from Corporate Contingencies in respect of
increased pension contribution costs as a consequence of autoenrolment into the Pension Fund;

(b)

£0.267 million from Corporate Contingencies to support the
delivery of the Corporate Learning and Development Programme;

(c)

£0.142 million to Corporate Contingencies as part of the realignment of budgets across Service Groupings in respect of
Pension Deficit Contributions;

(d)

£8,453 to Corporate Contingencies as a result of an additional
allocation of the Localised Council Tax Support (LCTS)
Administration Subsidy Grant for 2019/20.

(e)

£50,663 from the ICT Reserve to support ICT developments;

(f)

£95,012 to the Elections Reserve in respect of the transfer of
funds from unused balances on the election accounts;

(g)

£0.207 million from the Welfare Reforms New Burdens Reserve in
respect of a forecast overspend on Discretionary Housing
Payments;

(h)

£0.238 million to the Welfare Reforms New Burdens Reserve to
help deliver the Welfare Assistance Scheme;

(i)

£79,194 from the Legal Expenses Reserve to fund the costs of
additional legal employees to deal with increased activity arising
from Deprivation of Liberty Standards requirements;

Page 273

37

(j)

£68,542 from the Microsoft Office 365 Reserve to support the roll
out of the new software;

(k)

£4,200 from the Commercialisation Support Reserve to fund legal
expenses in respect of the Milburngate development;

(l)

£13,947 from the Oracle Development Reserve to finance system
development works;

(m)

£7,500 from the Insurance Reserve to cover the costs of
upgrading the insurance claims handling system;

(n)

£2,500 from the CRM System Implementation Reserve to support
the implementation of the new system.

Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the
cash limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit
reserve to be carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £2.028
million.

Transformation and Partnerships (T&P)
38

The forecast revenue outturn for 2019/20 is a cash limit overspend of
£37,000 for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves
and items outside the cash limit.

39

The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive
management of activity by Heads of Service across T&P to try and
remain within the cash limit. A full review of the budgets in T&P is
scheduled to take place in the Autumn of 2019 to identify and deliver
savings to address the ongoing budget pressures as well as T&P’s
share of the MTFP savings. It is fully expected that with more
considered monitoring of budgets, and in particular the management of
vacancies that the small projected cash limit overspend will be
addressed before the end of the financial year.

40

A summary of the forecast outturn position across the service is
provided below:

Page 274

(a)

Partnership and Community Engagement is forecast to be over
budget by £20,000, primarily due to a managed overspend on
employee costs (£11,000) and supplies and services (£6,000).
There are also a number of other minor variances in this service
area.

(b)

Strategy is forecast to be under budget by £39,000, primarily due
to a managed underspend on employee costs.

41

(c)

Communications and Marketing is forecast to be under budget by
£78,000, primarily due to a managed underspend on employee
costs (£71,000) and supplies and services (£64,000), offset by a
forecast of unachievable income (£58,000). There are also a
number of other minor variances in this service area.

(d)

Transformation is forecast to be over budget by £5,000, primarily
due to a managed overspend on employee costs.

(e)

Central Charges is forecast to be over budget by £0.129 million,
primarily due to a managed overspend on employee costs
amounting to £0.113 million. In addition, the Civil Contingencies
Unit is forecasting to be overspent by £16,000 and is made up of
a manged underspend on employee costs (£24,000) and an
overspend on supplies and services (£5,000) and unachievable
income (£35,000).

In arriving at the forecast cash limit outturn position, a net £0.892 million
relating to contributions to and from reserves and cash limits have been
excluded from the outturn and include:
(a)

£67,547 contribution to the Transformation Programme Reserve.
The contribution reflects the forecast underspend on employee
costs in 2019/20 associated with the Transformation Team;

(b)

£1.129 million to the Business Support Reserve in respect of the
forecast underspend on the unitised Business Support function in
lieu of future MTFP savings;

(c)

£80,794 contribution to reserves to support the work of the Local
Safeguarding Childrens Board;

(d)

£37,294 from reserves in respect of employee costs associated
with the Syrian Resettlement Programme;

(e)

£2,500 from reserves in respect of undertaking consultation with
residents;

(f)

£51,303 from the Promoting Durham Reserve to help Durham
raise its profile both regionally and nationally so it can continue to
attract inward investment and build a bright and stable economic
future;

(g)

£27,262 from the My Future is Durham Reserve to support
various initiatives to promote the Council’s successes and career
opportunities for the next generation;

Page 275

42

(h)

£151,505 from the Social Isolation Reserve to support community
led initiatives that meet local needs to improve outcomes for older
people who are socially isolated;

(i)

£0.140 million to reserves to support the work of the Area Action
Partnerships;

(j)

£35,750 agreed contribution from the T&P Cash Limit Reserve in
respect of the Durham County News;

(k)

£7,462 agreed contribution from the T&P Cash Limit Reserve in
respect of the Hardwich Hall Awards Event;

(l)

£7,940 from the Transformation Challenge Grant Reserve to fund
new software developments;

(m)

£45,358 from the EU Exit Funding Reserve to fund the forecast
spend in respect of preparing for Brexit;

(n)

£0.103 million from Corporate Contingencies as part of the realignment of budgets across Service Groupings in respect of
Pension Deficit Contributions;

(o)

£12,159 from Corporate Contingencies in respect of increased
pension contribution costs as a consequence of auto-enrolment
into the Pension Fund;

(p)

£43,000 from Corporate Contingencies to fund additional
expenditure in respect of Fostering and Adoption in the
Communications and Marketing Team.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items
proposed to be treated as outside the cash limit, the total cash limit
reserve forecasted to be carried forward for T&P at 31 March 2020 is
£0.191 million.

Corporate Costs
43

The forecast revenue outturn for 2019/20 for Resources – Centrally
Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £0.219 million. This
takes into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as
the use of / contribution to earmarked reserves.

44

The forecast outturn position is mainly due to reduced expenditure on
bank charges (£23,000), payment card fees (£98,000), corporate
subscriptions (£62,000) and expenses associated with raising loans
(£22,000). There are also a few other minor variances in this service
area.

Page 276

Central Budgets
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing
45

The budget of £35.579 million is unchanged from the budget originally
agreed. At this early point in the financial year the forecast outturn
position is expected to be in line with the budget, meaning there would
be zero budget variance.

Interest and Investment Income
46

The forecast at this stage is an achievement of income of £3.319
million, which is £0.919 million higher than the £2.400 million budgeted
returns on loan investments and council commercial activities. The over
recovery has resulted from higher than forecast cash balances and
short term returns from commercial activity.

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast
47

Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2019, the
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing
balance as at 31 March 2020.

48

A summary of the latest forecast of council reserves (excluding school
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £8.769
million in 2019/20, from £209.069 million to £200.300 million. The
movement in earmarked reserves is explained in the service grouping
commentaries. This utilisation is to be expected as these funds are
applied to the expenditure for which they were earmarked.
Earmarked
£ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2019
Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked
Reserves
Forecasted Earmarked Reserve Balances as
at 31 March 2020

Cash Limit
£ million

Total
£ million

-196.154

-12.915

-209.069

8.263

0.506

8.769

-187.891

-12.409

-200.300

Page 277

Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools
49

The council maintains 226 schools, including nursery, primary,
secondary, special and Alternative Provision (AP) schools. There is
one AP school, which is for pupils who have been permanently
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.

50

For 2019/20, these schools are planning to spend £311 million, funded
by income of £72 million, budget shares of £229 million (from central
government funding), and £10 million of accumulated surplus balances.

Schools’ delegated
budgets (£ million)

Nursery

Alternative
Provision

Primary

Secondary

Special

Original
Annual
Budget

Employees

4.259

3.341

158.458

54.416

24.313

244.787

Premises

0.260

0.143

10.373

4.570

1.091

16.436

Transport

0.021

0.623

0.415

0.948

0.311

2.317

Supplies and Services

0.496

1.681

31.263

11.074

2.918

47.432

-3.714

-1.329

-45.988

-15.960

-4.533

-71.523

1.323

4.459

154.521

55.047

24.100

239.450

-1.067

-4.459

-147.955

-52.990

-22.747

-229.218

0.256

-

6.566

2.057

1.354

10.232

Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Contribution to/from
reserves

51

Schools carried forward balances of £18 million at 31 March 2019 and
are forecasting to carry forward balances of £7 million at 31 March
2020.

52

A summary for each category of school is shown below:
School
budget
plans
2019-20
(£ million)

Gross
expenditure

Gross
income

Budget
share

Transfer to /
from
accumulated
balance

Balance
at 31
March
2019

Balance
at 31
March
2020

Nursery

5.036

-3.714

-1.067

0.256

-0.874

-0.618

AP

5.788

-1.329

-4.459

-

-

-

200.508

-45.988

-147.955

6.566

-18.200

-11.635

Secondary

71.007

-15.960

-52.990

2.057

3.645

5.702

Special

28.633

-4.533

-22.747

1.354

-2.285

-0.932

310.973

-71.523

-229.218

10.232

-17.715

-7.484

Primary

Total

Page 278

53

The balances at 31 March 2019 represented 5.7% of planned gross
expenditure for 2019/20, and the forecast balance at 31 March 2020
represents 2.4%.

54

The table below provides a breakdown of the forecast balances
compared to planned gross expenditure:

Forecast balances at
31 March 2020
(numbers of
schools)

Nursery

Deficit balance

Surplus
balance
compared to
gross
expenditure
is less than:

AP

Primary

Secondary

Special

Total

-

-

7

5

1

13

2.5%

1

1

50

4

3

59

5%

4

-

50

2

3

59

10%

1

-

51

2

1

55

15%

1

-

17

-

1

19

25%

2

-

14

-

-

16

50%

2

-

3

-

-

5

55

It is of note that around half of schools have surplus balances of less
than 5% of planned gross expenditure and three-quarters of schools
have balances of less than 10%.

56

All except four schools prepared budget plans that could be delivered
within available funding. Four schools have had to seek approval of the
council’s S.151 officer to set deficit budgets where planned expenditure
during 2019/20 would result in a deficit balance at 31 March 2020
(known as a licensed deficit).

57

Schools with licensed deficits are shown below:
School
budgets and
forecast
balances (£)
(negative
figures are
surpluses)

Gross
expenditure

Balance
at 31
March
2019

Balance
at 31
March
2020

Forecast
change in
balance

Tanfield School

4,145,000

513,000

503,000

-9,000

Wolsingham
School

4,031,000

1,559,000

1,849,000

290,000

Wellfield School

4,958,000

3,365,000

3,363,000

-3,000

St. Bede's RC,
Peterlee

4,348,000

481,000

1,353,000

872,000

Page 279

58

The council will continue to monitor schools’ spending plans and advise
schools where they need to make savings. All schools will have a
budget review in the autumn, which reviews current spending plans and
also makes forecasts of budgets for the coming financial year.

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block
59

The quarter 1 financial forecasts for the DSG budget show an
overspend of £6.099 million against a total budget of £52.776 million to
year end, which represents a 12% over spend.

DSG Block

Schools
High Needs
Early Years
Central Schools Services
Total

Budget £
million
0.606
18.741
30.573
2.856
52.776

Forecast £
million
0.606
24.840
30.573
2.856
58.875

Over / (Under)
Spend £
million
0.000
6.099
0.000
0.000
6.099

60

The forecast overspend position relates to spending against the High
Needs Block, which is forecast to overspend by £6.099 million. The
pressure on the High Needs block is driven by increasing demand to
meet the requirement of young people with special education needs and
disabilities. This is a demand driven volatile area of activity for which the
authority has a statutory duty to provide.

61

There is an ongoing review into this area of service delivery reviewing
how the needs of these young people are met and routes to secure
additional funding are being explored. A consultation was launched on
17 July 2019 which will run until 17 October 2019 and seeks views on
how the council can ensure it provides the right support, at the right
time, in the right place, based on the money we have available.

62

The council has agreed to fund up to £5.600 million of the overspend on
this area whilst the consultation and reviews are undertaken.

63

The table below shows the DSG earmarked reserve position from 1
April 2017 and the projected position as at 31 March 2020 taking into
account the projections in this report and the use of general reserves.

Page 280

DSG Reserves
Balance as at 1 April 2017
Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2017/18
Balance as at 1 April 2018
Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2018/19
Transfer from COLs
Transfer from PFI re-financing
Balance as at 1 April 2019
Forecast Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2019/20
Contribution from general reserves
Forecast balance as at 31 March 2020

High
Needs
Block £
million
6.070
-4.652
1.418
-7.411
0.384
2.881
-2.728
-6.099
5.600
-3.227

Early
Years
Schools
Block £
Block £
Total DSG
million
million
£ million
2.361
2.728
11.159
-0.286
-1.488
-6.426
2.075
1.240
4.734
-0.705
-0.231
-8.347
0.000
0.000
0.384
0.000
0.000
2.881
1.370
1.009
-0.348
0.000
0.000
-6.099
0.000
0.000
5.600
1.370
1.009
-0.847

64

If the total level of DSG reserve deficit reaches a figure that is in excess
of 1% of the council’s overall DSG allocation (prior to recoupment for
academisation) the council is required to submit a formal deficit
recovery plan to DfE explaining how the council plans to recover the
deficit position over a maximum three-year period.

65

The estimated trigger point for Durham is a deficit of £3.900 million,
which means there is headroom of c. £3.100 million when compares to
the current forecast position for 31 March 2020.

Capital
Background
66

On 10 July 2019 Cabinet received a report which provided details of the
final outturn position of the 2018/19 capital programme. This included a
reprofiling exercise where £46.908 million from 2018/19 was reprofiled
over future years. The existing 2019/20 budget of £134.688 million was
increased by the new 2019/20 capital allocations of £9.882 million
approved by full Council on 20 February 2019 and by £3.430 million for
Land Release Fund Self Build which was approved by Cabinet on 16
January 2019. The 2019/20 budget was reprofiled at May MOWG, with
net reprofiling of £4.528 million being moved into future years. These
changes give an original budget of £143.472 million for 2019/20 which
is shown in the table below

67

The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) that closely
monitors the capital programme has since considered further revisions
to the capital programme, taking into account additional resources
received by the authority and further requests for reprofiling as Service
Management Teams continue to monitor and review their capital
schemes.
Page 281

Current Position
68

The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital
spend as at 30 June 2019.
Service Grouping

Original
Budget
2019/20 as
at May
MOWG

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG

Revised
Budget
2019/20
Quarter 1

Actual
Spend to 30
June 2019

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Adult and Health Services

0.000

0.000

0.000

0.000

Children and Young
People's Services

25.874

-1.885

23.989

3.805

Regeneration and Local
Services

103.761

2.058

105.819

10.250

Resources

10.787

-0.675

10.112

0.636

Transformation and
Partnerships

3.050

-0.307

2.743

0.443

143.472

-0.809

142.663

15.134

TOTAL

69

Since the original 2019/20 budget was agreed the MOWG has
considered a number of variations to the capital programme which are a
result of additions and reductions in resources received by the council
and reprofiling of budgets over future years. The variations of note are
as follows:
Additions and Reductions
(a)

CYPS – a reduction of £90,420 has been made to the School
Devolved Capital budget as the grant received from the
Department of Education is lower than anticipated.

(b)

REAL – the service has received notice of additional funding as
follows:
(i)

Page 282

Economic Development and Housing – £1.377 million
additional funding comprising £0.858 million additional
Disabled Facilities Grant, £0.394 million contributions for
Netpark from NELEP (£0.197 million) and the Business
Durham reserve (£0.197 million). Durham Wildlife Trust
has contributed £0.104 million for the Bright Water –
Bishops Fen to Fishburn scheme. S106 funding of £15,633
has also been received to be used for Freemans Reach.

£5,478 private sector contributions have been received for
two Group Repair schemes.

(c)

70

(ii)

Strategy, Programmes and Performance – section 106
contributions of £19,367 have been reallocated to the
contingency budget.

(iii)

Technical Services – £0.139 million has been received
from a section 106 contribution for street lighting at Salters
Lane, Sedgefield.

(iv)

Transport and Contract Services – an earmarked reserve
of £1.810 million is being used to fund the A1M Junction 61
Capacity Improvements. The original Highways England
funding budget for the Sheraton Interchange scheme has
been reduced by £0.149 million due to an expected
reduction in costs.

(v)

£93,693 has been transferred from T&P to finance various
Member-led initiatives across Direct Services, Technical
Services and Planning and Assets.

T&P – Members and AAPs have requested budget transfers to
REAL totalling £93,693.

Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2019/20:
(a)

CYPS – £1.795 million (net) has been re-profiled into 2020/21 to
match expected expenditure on seven school related schemes,
including £1.192 million for the replacement of heating blocks at
Belmont School.

(b)

REAL - £1.233 million has been re-profiled from 2019/20 across
the period from 2020/21 to 2021/22. The majority of this relates
to A1(M) Junction 61 Capacity Enhancements (£0.75 million) and
Disabled Facilities Grant (£0.458 million).

(c)

Resources – budget of £0.675 million (net) has been re-profiled
to 2020/21 for four schemes, including PC Replacement, ICT
Service Desk Replacement and ICT Performance Management
System.

(d)

T&P – re-profiling of £0.213 million (net) from 2019/20 to 2020/21,
the majority of which relates to expected spend on Middleton-inTeesdale Village Hall (£0.201 million) and Durham History Centre
(£40,500).

Page 283

Capital Financing
71

The following table summarises the recommended financing of the
revised capital programme:
Financed By:

Original
Budget
2019/20

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG

Revised
Budget
2019/20

£ million

£ million

£ million

Grants and Contributions

51.847

0.305

52.152

Revenue and Reserves

8.204

1.257

9.461

Capital Receipts

13.947

0.000

13.947

Borrowing

69.474

-2.371

67.103

TOTAL

143.472

-0.809

142.663

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds
Council Tax
72

Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs (HMRC). Exemptions, reliefs and discounts
are awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and
occupiers’ personal circumstances.

73

The collection rate at 30 June 2019 was slightly below the profiled
target of 28.86%, and 0.28% points below the same position in 2018/19,
reflecting an increased trend of Council Taxpayers choosing to pay over
twelve monthly instalments rather than the traditional ten statutory
instalment periods.

74

The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter one for the current and
last two financial years, are as follows:

75

Page 284

Billing Year

Position at 30 June
Each Year %

2019/20

28.51

2018/19

28.79

2017/18

29.03

The current overall collection rate for 2018/19 council tax liabilities is
now 97.31% (compared to 96.65% at 31 March 2019), and for 2017/18

the rate is now 98.49% (compared to 96.83% at 31 March 2018). The
council continues to recover council tax from earlier years, and currently
the collection rate for all years excluding the current year is 99.57%,
which is line with our medium term financial plan forecasts.
76

The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the
actual cash collected in the year the charges are raised. Likely bad
debts are accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision. The
amount estimated to be collectable is estimated each year by reference
to the actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for
non-collection.

77

Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on
a dynamic day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing
years take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments
mean that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the
estimate.

78

Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into
account the calculated change required in the ‘bad debt’ provision,
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority.

79

At 30 June 2019, the estimated outturn for the Council Tax Collection
Fund is a surplus of £0.132 million as shown in the table below, which
takes into account the undeclared deficit as at 31 March 2019 of £0.124
million. Durham County Council’s share of this forecasted surplus is
£0.111 million, which could be available to support the 2020/21 budget.

Page 285

£ million
Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2019/20

338.999

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments

-57.992

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and
write offs
Net income receivable (a)

-2.184
278.823

Precepts and Demands
Durham County Council

222.276

Parish and Town Councils

13.148

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner

28.680

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority

14.463

Total Precepts and Demands (b)
Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b)
Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit Brought Forward from
2018/19
Estimated Year end surplus

278.567
0.256
-0.124
0.132

80

Prior to each year, the estimated surplus / deficit on the Collection Fund
Council Tax Account is notified to the two major preceptors for inclusion
in the budget setting process for the following year as an additional
income or expenditure item.

81

The council is required to determine and declare the forecast surplus or
deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund for 2019/20 by 31 January
2020. This will then need to be taken into account in the budget setting
process for 2020/21. Any difference between this and the actual
surplus at 31 March 2020 will be carried forward to next financial year
and taken into account in estimating the surplus / deficit position for
2020/21, which will need to be taken into account for 2021/22 budget
setting.

82

Over the last five years, the Council Tax provision for bad debts has
been increasing steadily. This managed approach has been necessary
to minimise the risk of the Council Tax Collection Fund moving into
deficit whilst securing the robustness of the levels of provision held.
The position has now been reached where maintaining the provision at
a prudent level does not prevent the declaration of a surplus.

Page 286

Business Rates
83

2013/14 was the first year of the new Business Rates Retention
Scheme whereby the council has a vested budget interest and stake in
the level of business rate yield, as income generated from Business
Rates is now shared between Central Government (50%), Durham
County Council (49%) and County Durham and Darlington Fire and
Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is not only the accuracy and
timeliness of bills levied and collected that is monitored and audited, but
the level of income anticipated for the year is important and new
monitoring procedures have been devised for this purpose.

84

In 2017/18, following consultation, the Government implemented the
first revaluation of Business Rates since April 2010.

85

The revaluation of the rateable values of all Business Properties was
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency and, along with national
changes to Multipliers, Relief Thresholds and Transitional
Arrangements, came into effect from April 2017. The overall effect of
the revaluation on the Collection Fund saw a decrease of an estimated
£9.3 million in rates yield/ liability when compared to 2016/17. The
revaluation should be cost neutral to Durham County Council and
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority; therefore
compensation arrangements are to be made through adjustments to
Section 31 grants and Top Ups for their shares of losses of income.

86

Bills raised, exemptions and reliefs awarded are examined together with
local knowledge of anticipated changes in reliefs such as Mandatory
Charitable Relief and Discretionary Rate Relief on a monthly basis to
enable a comparison with the January 2019 estimate of 2019/20
Business Rates income that was used for budget setting purposes.

87

At 30 June 2019, the estimated outturn for the Collection Fund Business
Rates is a surplus of £2.525 million, after taking into account the
undeclared surplus position as at 31 March 2019 of £1.289 million, as
calculated in the following table.

Page 287

£ million
Net rate yield for 2019/20 including previous year adjustments

117.572

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals

-3.639

Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and
Write-offs

-1.212

Net income receivable (a)

112.721

Agreed allocated shares:
Central Government (50%)

54.267

Durham County Council (49%)

55.375

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%)

1.107

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to
Durham County Council)

0.736

Total fixed payments (b)

111.485

Net surplus for year (a) – (b)

1.236

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2018/19

1.289

Estimated year end Surplus

2.525

88

Page 288

The in-year estimated surplus of £1.236 million and the total undeclared
surplus brought forward from 2018/19, leaves an estimated surplus of
£2.525 million at 31 March 2020. The surplus/ deficit at 31 March in
any year are shared proportionately between Durham County Council,
Central Government and County Durham and Darlington Fire and
Rescue, Durham County Council’s share being 49%. Durham County
Council’s share of the estimated year end surplus will therefore be
£1.237 million.

89

The payment profile on collection performance is changing due to more
businesses opting to spread their payments over 12 months rather than
ten. The major business rates payers have all opted to take up this
opportunity to re-profile their cash flow. The in-year collection rates at
the end of quarter one for the current and last two financial years, are
as follows:
Billing year

Position at 30
June
Each Year %

2019/20

34.36

2018/19

34.42

2017/18

33.67

90

In year performance to 30 June 2019 shows a collection rate of 34.36%,
which is below the profiled target by 0.17% points.

91

The current overall collection rate for 2018/19 business rate liabilities is
now 98.42% (compared to 97.90% at 31 March 2019) and for 2017/18
business rate liabilities is now 99.50% (compared to 98.42% at 31
March 2018). The council continues to recover business rates from
earlier years and currently, the collection rate for all years excluding the
current year is 99.52%, which is line with our medium term financial
plan forecasts.

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief
92

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under
£15,000 benefit from relief on their rates payable. The Government has
awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the
shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place.

93

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.

94

The Government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt
with as part of the normal rate retention shares. At 30 June 2019, the
gross small business relief awarded against 2019/20 business rates

Page 289

bills and adjustments to 2013/14-2018/19 bills is £15.606 million, and
the council will receive £5.112 million in Section 31 grant, including the
capping adjustment and threshold change adjustments, in this regard.
Other Section 31 Grants
95

In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs,
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. Funding for these schemes is
provided through Section 31 grants.

96

When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs
will have on the Section 31 grants.

Other useful documents
•

County Council – 20 February 2019 – Medium Term Financial
Plan 2019/20 to 2022/23 and Revenue and Capital Budget
2019/20.

•

Cabinet – 10 July 2019 - 2018/19 Final Outturn for the General
Fund and Collection Fund.

Contact:

Page 290

Jeff Garfoot

Tel: 03000 261946

Paul Darby

Tel: 03000 261930

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of
the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report
shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February
2019 in relation to the 2019/20 financial year. The forecasts contained within
this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting
policies and procedures.

Finance
The report details the 2019/20 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and
Capital and details the forecast movement on reserves.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information
supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders. The
projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date,
trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.
This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams

Page 291

and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of
the forecast outturn position.

Procurement
None.

Page 292

Appendix 2: Revenue Summary 2019/20

Original
Budget
2019/20

Proposed
Budget
Revisions

Contribution
to / Use of
Cash Limit
Reserve

Contribution to
/ Use of
Earmarked
Reserves

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Regeneration and Local Services
Resources
Transformation and Partnerships

123,776
123,639
137,586
21,268
10,784

-2,552
-4,316
-4,080
-1,559
14,984

0
0
385
0
43

-4,351
11,757
1,494
100
-1,093

116,873
131,080
135,385
19,809
24,718

114,223
133,204
136,290
19,344
24,755

-2,650
2,124
905
-465
37

Cash Limit Position

417,053

2,477

428

7,907

427,865

427,816

-49

5,161
3,728

-2,496
0

0

196

2,665
3,924

2,665
3,705

0
-219

NET COST OF SERVICES

425,942

-19

428

8,103

434,454

434,186

-268

Capital charges
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-64,132
-2,400
35,579
16,061

19

-64,132
-2,400
35,579
16,080

-64,132
-3,319
35,579
16,080

0
-919
0
0

Net Expenditure

411,050

0

419,581

418,394

-1,187

-222,275
-19,113
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-437
0

-222,275
-19,113
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-388
1,138

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
49
1,138

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
Estimated net surplus on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from(-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves

Page 293

TOTAL

-222,275
-11,010
-2,168
-54,401
-71,613
-27,620
-6,709
-10,423
-4,822
-9
0
0

428

8,103

-8,103

-428

0

0

0

Page 294

Appendix 3: Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income for the period ended 31 March 2020

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies & Services
Agency & Contracted
Transfer Payments
Central Costs
DRF
Other
Capital Charges
GROSS EXPENDITURE
Income
Government Grants
Other Grants and Contributions
Sales
Fees and Charges
Rents
Recharges To Other Services
Other
Total Income
NET EXPENDITURE

Original
Budget
2019/20

Proposed
Budget
Revisions

£'000

£'000

Contribution to /
Contribution to /
Budget Use of Cash Limit Use of Earmarked incorporating
Reserve
Reserves
adjustments

£'000

£'000

£'000

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Corporate
Costs
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecast of
Outturn
(including
Corporate
Costs)

£'000

£'000

£'000

Forecasted
Variance
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance Corporate
Costs

£'000

£'000

530,841
52,991
42,276
120,203
386,622
218,762
92,722
710
0
64,132

6,142
-374
784
-1,632
-2,329
-44,521
-18,160
60
0
0

0
0
0
43
0
0
0
0
385
0

341
0
-13
853
1,421
376
10,422
0
-385
0

537,324
52,617
43,047
119,467
385,714
174,617
84,984
770
0
64,132

534,655
52,245
43,815
121,853
389,303
174,287
85,887
770
2
64,128

354
0
0
1,231
2,169
0
115
0
0
0

535,009
52,245
43,815
123,084
391,472
174,287
86,002
770
2
64,128

-2,315
-372
768
3,617
5,758
-330
1,018
0
2
-4

0
0
0
-219
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,509,259

-60,030

428

13,015

1,462,672

1,466,945

3,869

1,470,814

8,142

-219

645,059
75,516
9,945
106,228
8,637
236,221
6,872

-62,531
287
-1,135
-1,484
120
3,107
-871

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-479
165
0
0
0
4,991
235

582,049
75,968
8,810
104,744
8,757
244,319
6,236

586,291
77,154
8,457
105,546
9,571
245,286
6,824

14
0
150
0
0
0
0

586,305
77,154
8,607
105,546
9,571
245,286
6,824

-4,256
-1,186
203
-802
-814
-967
-588

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,088,478

-62,507

0

4,912

1,030,883

1,039,129

164

1,039,293

-8,410

0

420,781

2,477

428

8,103

431,789

427,816

3,705

431,521

-268

-219

Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 June 2019
EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT
RESERVES

SERVICE
GROUPING

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

TRANSFERS
BETWEEN
RESERVES

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

TOTAL
FORECAST
MOVEMENT ON 2019/20 CLOSING
RESERVES
BALANCE
AS AT 30 JUN
2019
£'000

£'000

1 Social Care Reserve

AHS

-25,406

1,882

-5,006

88

-3,036

-28,442

2 Public Health Reserve

AHS

-4,460

719

0

0

719

-3,741

3 Children's Services Reserve

CYPS

-2,191

592

0

0

592

-1,599

4 Education Reserve

CYPS

-13,872

526

-3

0

523

-13,349

5 Env, Health and Consumer Protection Reserve

REAL

-582

6

0

0

6

-576

6 Neighbourhoods AAP Reserve

REAL

0

0

0

0

0

0

7 Direct Services Reserve

REAL

-2,076

214

-72

0

142

-1,934

8 Culture and Sport Reserve

REAL

-3,633

332

0

0

332

-3,301

9 Technical Services Reserve

REAL

-1,713

0

0

0

0

-1,713

10 Business Growth Fund Reserve

REAL

-604

0

0

0

0

-604

11 Economic Development Reserve

REAL

-13,116

1,461

0

487

1,948

-11,168

12 Planning Reserve

REAL

-1,580

40

0

0

40

-1,540

13 North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve

REAL

-1,467

0

0

0

0

-1,467

14 Employability and Training Reserve

REAL

-57

0

0

0

0

-57

15 REAL Match Fund Programme Reserve

REAL

-1,587

374

0

0

374

-1,213

16 Housing Regeneration Reserve

REAL

-638

208

0

0

208

-430

17 Housing Solutions Reserve

REAL

-2,026

107

0

0

107

-1,919

18 Restructure Reserve

REAL

0

0

0

0

0

0

19 Transport Reserve

REAL

-491

0

0

-450

-450

-941

20 Funding and Programmes Management Reserve

REAL

-478

0

-17

0

-17

-495

21 Customer Services Reserve

Resources

-334

2

0

0

2

-332

22 Resources Corporate Reserve

Resources

-426

0

0

0

0

-426

23 Resources DWP Grant Reserve

Resources

-1,388

201

0

0

201

-1,187

24 Resources System Development Reserve

Resources

-368

14

0

0

14

-354

25 Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve

Resources

-1,141

0

0

0

0

-1,141

26 Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve

Resources

-758

146

0

-80

66

-692

27 Resources Legal Reserves

Resources

-379

79

0

-110

-31

-410

28 Resources Elections Reserve

Resources

-765

0

-95

0

-95

-860

29 Resources ICT Reserves

Resources

-1,477

342

0

0

342

-1,135

30 Resources Registrars Trading Reserve

Resources

-200

0

0

0

0

-200

31 Resources Human Resources Reserves

Resources

-300

160

0

0

160

-140

32 Resources Operations and Data Reserve

Resources

-50

0

0

0

0

-50

33 T&P AAP/Members Reserve

T&P

-1,481

74

-140

0

-66

-1,547

34 T&P Grant Reserve

T&P

-1,088

8

0

0

8

-1,080

35 T&P Operational Reserve

T&P

-2,404

431

-81

0

350

-2,054

36 T&P Transformation Reserve

T&P

-1,690

521

-68

0

453

-1,237

37 Equal Pay Reserve

Corporate

-14,993

0

0

0

0

-14,993

38 Insurance Reserve

Corporate

-9,988

8

0

0

8

-9,980

39 Performance Reward Grant Reserve

Corporate

0

0

0

0

0

0

40 ER/VR Reserve

Corporate

-8,647

642

0

0

642

-8,005

41 Office Accommodation Project Support Reserve

Corporate

0

0

0

0

0

0

42 Budget Support Reserve

Corporate

-29,660

5,488

0

0

5,488

-24,172

43 Office Accommodation Capital Reserve

Corporate

-32,944

0

0

0

0

-32,944

44 Inspire Programme Reserve

Corporate

-886

410

0

0

410

-476

45 Commercialisation Support Reserve

Corporate

-5,800

4

0

0

4

-5,796

46 Capital Reserve

Corporate

-2,510

0

0

0

0

-2,510

47 Feasibility Study Reserve

Corporate

-500

0

0

0

0

-500

48 Business Support Reserve

Corporate

0

0

-1,129

-52

-1,181

-1,181

-196,154

14,991

-6,611

-117

8,263

-187,891

-7,919

0

-2,650

202

-2,448

-10,367

0

0

2,124

0

2,124

2,124

51 Regeneration and Local Services

-3,152

385

905

-85

1,205

-1,947

52 Resources

-1,572

9

-465

0

-456

-2,028

-272

44

37

0

81

-191

-12,915

438

-49

117

506

-12,409

-209,069

15,429

-6,660

0

8,769

-200,300

-7,458

Total Earmarked Reserves
Cash Limit Reserves
49 Adult and Health Services
50 Children and Young People's Services

53 Transformation and Partnerships
Total Cash Limit Reserves
Total Council Reserves
Schools' Balances
Sch 1 Schools' Revenue Balance

CYPS

-17,690

10,232

0

0

10,232

Sch 2 DSG Reserve

CYPS

349

499

0

0

499

848

-17,341

10,731

0

0

10,731

-6,610

Total Schools and DSG Reserve

Page 295

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet
11 September 2019
County Durham Local Safeguarding
Adults Board Annual Report 2018/19
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
Lorraine O’Donnell, Corporate Director of Transformation and
Partnerships
Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and
Health Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To present to Cabinet the County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults
Board (LSAB) Annual Report 2018/2019 (Appendix 2).

Executive summary
2

The Care Act 2014 placed Safeguarding Adult Boards (SABs) upon a
statutory footing with a requirement to produce and publicise an annual
report.

3

This is the fourth LSAB Annual Report, which provides information
about achievements and challenges during the year 2018/19.

4

Provisional key data on safeguarding activity is included based upon 1st
April 2018 to 31st March 2019 (notably full end of year data is not
published until November 2019).

5

The LSAB agreed a 3-year plan in 2018 which includes 4 priorities and
streamlined working groups of the LSAB across 4 key themes:
•

Practice and Implementation Sub-Group priority Prevention and
Early Implementation

Page 297

•

Engagement and Communication Sub-Group priority User/Carer
Voice and Awareness Raising

•

Performance and Governance Sub-Group priority Performance,
Quality and Governance

•

Learning and Improvement Sub-Group priority SAR Learning and
Training.

6

The LSAB Annual Report outlines progress against the peer review
recommendations and voice of adults and practitioners.

7

Key recommendations of the peer review related to revisiting
governance arrangements, risk assessment of Chairing arrangements
and Chair appraisal.

Recommendation
8

Page 298

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the future work of the County Durham Safeguarding Adults
Board;

(b)

note the progress made by the Local Safeguarding Adults Board
during 2018/19 and receive the Local Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Report 2018/19 for information.

Background
9

The Care Act 2014 placed Safeguarding Adult Boards (SABs) upon a
statutory footing with a requirement to produce and publicise an annual
report. The supplementary Care and Support Statutory Guidance
informs that the LSAB Annual Report should have prominence on each
core member’s website and be made available to other agencies.

10

This is the fourth LSAB Annual Report, which provides information
about achievements and challenges during the year 2017-18.

11

The format of the report is in keeping with the Care and Support
Statutory Guidance, and includes evidence (both quantitative and
qualitative) and key messages or impact that relate to:
(a)

community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to
respond;

(b)

analysis of safeguarding data, to better understand the reasons
that lie behind local data returns and use the information to
improve the strategic plan and operational arrangement;

(c)

what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent
to which the outcomes they wanted (their wishes) have been
realised;

(d)

what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and
about their ability to work in a personalised way with those adults;

(e)

better reporting of abuse and neglect;

(f)

evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect;

(g)

feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and
support services and carers, community groups, advocates,
service providers and other partners;

(h)

how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of
the system, for example children’s safeguarding, domestic
violence, community safety;

(i)

the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future
need;

(j)

and, how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating.

Page 299

Summary
12

In April 2018 new chairing arrangements commenced and following
feedback from partner agencies during the peer review, a 360°
appraisal was completed and reported to partners in May 2019.

13

The attached report aims to outline progress against the agreed
strategic plan of 2018 and peer review recommendations of March
2018.

Consideration
14

The LSAB has expanded its reach, developing closer working links
during the year with The Fire and Rescue Service, HMP Durham, and
Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, and
welcomed new partner Durham Community Action who joined the
Board in April 2018.

15

The LSAB has continued its focus on the service user voice to inform
good practice and a deeper understanding of abuse and neglect; it
anticipates the publication of the Service User Story as a booklet with a
DVD for adults at risk with a peer on peer education approach. The
Board will continue its focus on priorities of raising awareness and
improving practice particularly in relation to sexual exploitation, selfneglect, financial abuse, and modern slavery.

16

The LSAB will build its work to hear the practitioner voice into all that it
undertakes, with a consultation early in 2019-2020 to inform a wider
workforce practitioner survey with a steer towards how it feels for frontline staff. The LSAB will continue through its Communication and
Engagement Strategy to work with wider agencies, stakeholders and
partnerships to hear the voice of adults and communities.

17

The LSAB monitors information shared in partner updates and is
pleased to see the development of new roles within DCC Adult and
Health Services Commissioning to support the provider market. The
LSAB looks forward to taking part in an event for providers later in 2019.

18

In 2019-2020 the LSAB will receive updates from its audit activities and
identify any areas it will take forward as part of its continued cycle of
improvement.

19

In County Durham ‘Rethink’ provide a range of advocacy services which
includes advocacy provision for those adults who have experienced
abuse or neglect and whom are currently open to, and involved in,
safeguarding processes. In the year ahead the LSAB will strengthen its
links with Rethink and draw upon their feedback to inform the LSAB
improvement cycle.

Page 300

20

In May 2019, a BBC Panorama Programme exposed concerns for the
safety of adults placed within an Independent Private Hospital in
Barnard Castle. Since the programme, the LSAB has sought assurance
from agencies and identified areas of work it will take forward in the
year ahead, including any legislative requirements. It should be noted
that work is ongoing with DCC and NHS commissioners in respect of
addressing the requirements of the national programmes: Transforming
Care, and Building the Right Support.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
•

Contact:

None

Gordon Elliott

Tel: 03000 263605

Page 301

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Statutory requirement to publicise Annual Reports and publication of an
Annual Report from 1st April 2015 in line with the Care Act 2014 and the
number of Safeguarding Adult Reviews, lessons learnt and any actions
incomplete. The LSAB addressed any implications of the Data Protection Act
2018 and related General Data Protection Regulations.

Finance
Continuing financial pressures on public services remains a challenge for
agencies of the LSAB, particularly in relation to how responses to the
safeguarding agenda are agreed. The LSAB monitors risks and challenges
through its governance arrangements; Durham County Council ensures it
includes any such areas in those arrangements.

Consultation
Report available for all partner agencies. The LSAB shared the annual report
with partner agencies and provides opportunity for single agencies to submit
an annual overview of their contributions to the work of the LSAB.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Adult safeguarding is intrinsically linked and is covered in the LSAB policies
and procedures with equalities impact assessments undertaken when and
where appropriate.

Human Rights
Human rights are the core of the LSAB and its work. The LSAB and relevant
partners within the context of safeguarding and adult protection should ensure
it is embedded in policy and practice.

Crime and Disorder
Adult safeguarding is linked and is covered within the LSAB policies and
procedures. There is a close working relationship to the Safe Durham
Partnership, and review of the Safeguarding Framework outlining working
arrangements across agencies and broader partnerships. Durham
Constabulary is a statutory partner of the LSAB.

Page 302

Staffing
The sustaining of adult safeguarding activities requires continued priority to
staffing to ensure adequate resource is maintained. The continued
contribution to staffing from partner agencies supports the sustainability of
dedicated safeguarding adults’ posts/ functions and there is continued
pressure for capacity within the unit when unforeseen situations arise.

Accommodation
None

Risk
The risks associated with not appropriately managing responses to
safeguarding are extremely high and include risks of ongoing abuse and
neglect and the risk of serious organisational and/or reputational damage to
statutory and non-statutory agencies in County Durham.
The LSAB puts considerable effort into training and awareness raising to
ensure that abuse and neglect is recognised and reported. Screening of all
reported concerns takes place and directed appropriately to ensure the most
appropriate response is taken.
Any risks identified under the umbrella of the LSAB updated within a risk and
challenge log which is reviewed quarterly. The impact of training is regularly
explored and is reported annually. This is an area that the peer review team
highlighted as a potential area for development with continued work in 20182019.

Procurement
The adoption of safeguarding principles in the procurement of health and
social care services is essential. The LSAB and Durham County Council
included as partners in the regionally agreed framework for the commissioning
of authors and panel Chairs for Safeguarding Adult Reviews.

Page 303

Appendix 2: County Durham Safeguarding Adults Board Annual
Report 2018/19

Page 304

Appendix 2

Local Safeguarding
Adults Board
Annual Report 2018/19

Page 305

1

Page 306

Message from the Chair
Introduction
A Local Picture
Our Work
Messages from Service Users, Carers and Advocates
LSAB Working Arrangements
National and Local Updates
Board Assurance 2018-2019
What we have Achieved in 2018-2019
At a Glance 2018-2019
Safeguarding Adult Reviews
Looking Ahead and Summary
Partner Statements

3
5
6
7
11
13
15
17
18
21
24
25
27

2

I am delighted to present this annual report for April 2018 to March 2019 as
chair of the County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB),
having taken up the position in April 2018. The role of the Board and the
work of the partners to support safeguarding adults in County Durham is
increasingly vital with continuing challenges, not least the continued
pressures faced by our communities as well an unchanged climate of
financial constraint across partner agencies. The Board continues year on
year to promote and raise awareness of abuse and neglect and this year is
no exception, with an increase in reported concerns evident this year.

Image to be
added

The year has seen significant progress as the Board has developed its
Lesley Jeavons
action plan building on the positive peer review in the previous year,
LSAB Chair
responding to actions identified including a full review of governance
arrangements, and strengthening the voice of adults, carers and
practitioners in the work of the Board. A number of key events were held throughout the year. Raising
awareness of how to recognise Modern Slavery received emphasis, not least as it is a growing issue
nationally. The LSAB is pleased to be supporting Durham County Council with their Modern Slavery Charter
and wider partners such as Durham Constabulary in understanding this issue locally. The launch of a
refreshed LSAB website made advice and information more accessible to our communities; this work
continues with an additional policy review as part of the continued day to day business of the Board and its
related working groups.
Page 307

3

Page 308

The commitment of partners to safeguarding adults is as strong as ever, and I am pleased to report that the
aim of keeping the person central to the safeguarding process is demonstrated by our performance in
ensuring adults or their representatives are given a voice and asked about the outcomes that they want
from the safeguarding process.
As the new Chair I have taken an active role in shaping and steering the content of the Board’s
development as well as ensuring that the Board continues to scrutinise its own arrangements, and that
challenge exists to ensure the Board continues with a cycle of improvement year on year.
I have been pleased to highlight the positive learning that has taken place within multi agency working
arrangements which will strengthen good practice, and recognise that work needs to continue to maintain
effective arrangements locally.
I’d like to thank all those who took part in the Board’s development opportunities, and for the adults and
carers, professionals and practitioners who served to inform where we need to grow as Board. The input of
our partners and wider stakeholders and their voice is invaluable to the work of the wider partnership
arrangements in Durham.
I salute the service user who shared his experiences and told us of his
own safeguarding story and journey and thank him for his permission to
share his story with a wider audience through an animated video with a
very clear message to ‘think’ and ‘report’. His contribution will I am sure
support a deeper understanding of the effects of abuse and the
positive impact an effective safeguarding response can have when supporting adults.
Lesley Jeavons (Local Safeguarding Adults Board Chair)

4

The Durham Safeguarding Adults Board in line with the Care Act 2014 has a statutory duty to publish an Annual Report

County Durham Local Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) has a statutory duty under the Care Act 2014 to
publish an annual report outlining the achievements of the Board and its partners against its strategic
priorities. The LSAB annual report will be publicised on each core member’s website and will be available to
other agencies. The Care and Support Statutory Guidance tells us that our annual reports should consider
what the LSAB has done locally and draw conclusions from the following areas:
• evidence of community awareness of adult abuse and neglect and how to respond;
• analysis of safeguarding data to better understand the reasons that lie behind local data returns and use
the information to improve the strategic plan and operational arrangements;
• what adults who have experienced the process say and the extent to which the outcomes they wanted
(their wishes) have been realised;
• what front line practitioners say about outcomes for adults and about their ability to work in a personalised
way with those adults;
• better reporting of abuse and neglect;
• evidence of success of strategies to prevent abuse or neglect;
• feedback from local Healthwatch, adults who use care and support services, and carers, community
groups, advocates, service providers, and other partners;
• how successful adult safeguarding is at linking with other parts of the system, for example children’s
safeguarding, domestic violence, community safety;
• the impact of training carried out in this area and analysis of future need; and
• how well agencies are co-operating and collaborating.

Page 309

This annual report outlines what the LSAB has done in County Durham to meet the above, drawing upon a
range of data and information from agencies to illustrate the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in
County Durham.
5

Page 310

In 2018, there were approximately 526,980* people of all ages living
in County Durham covering 862 square miles.

There are 425,940 people over the age of 18 living in County Durham.

There are 317,350 adults aged between 18 – 64 years living in
County Durham.

There are 108,590 adults aged over 65 years living in
County Durham of whom 12,311 are over 85.

By March 2018 2,665 people had home care and 2,583
were people living in a Care Home paid for or arranged
by Durham County Council.
*Data source ONS 2018 mid-year estimate
** DCC LD factsheet using national estimates
Data sources: www.pansi.org.uk www.poppi.org.uk

6

Adults have a right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect. As a statutory partnership the Local
Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) has a duty to assure itself that partners are working together to safeguard
adults and support communities to prevent abuse in County Durham. Partners have agreed a shared vision
for the LSAB:
Our vision: We will support adults at risk of harm to prevent abuse happening; when it does occur, we will act
swiftly to achieve good outcomes.
What adults want to happen to keep them safe is the central outcome of the safeguarding process. The
Board takes steps to hear the voice of adults who may be at risk of abuse or neglect to ensure it is well
informed, and to engage with the practitioners who work directly with adults to support good practice.
The Board hears the stories of adults supported through safeguarding at its meetings.
The Board gains assurance from partners, for example that the rate of conversion of a safeguarding concern
to enquiry is in line with national reporting; and that the number of adults reporting that their outcomes were
fully or partially met is 96.2%, above the national average and higher than last year.
To support continual improvement and address actions from previous development days and an external
peer review held in March 2018, the Board developed a joint action plan which included key tasks to
complete:

Page 311

• the Strategic plan was revised;
• there was further focus on Making Safeguarding Personal;
• safeguarding adults review workshops were held;
7

Page 312

• performance indicators, the LSAB scorecard and escalation reporting path were improved;
• streamlined governance arrangements were approved by the Board;
• LSAB Sub group performance report templates were designed to focus on exception reporting, ‘at a
glance’ infographics, and a narrative explanation.
A focus on raising community awareness is a key part of encouraging reports of abuse and neglect and in
strengthening community resilience, such as tackling isolation. The LSAB has developed an ongoing
programme of events, bite sized sessions, and talks.
The Board revised its Information Sharing Agreement to meet the Data Protection Act 2018 and GDPR.
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking – At a
Glance
The LSAB takes an active role in keeping
abreast of national updates and emerging
agendas, such as Modern Slavery and
Criminal Exploitation.
Early in the year a practitioner’s toolkit was
developed setting out what Modern Slavery
and Human Trafficking is, who the victims are,
and what to do. The LSAB further supported
the messages of Durham County Council and
its Modern Slavery Charter (October 2018).

8

September’s half day development session themes were
Performance, Practitioner Voice, looking at Policy; Working with
Adults and Carers (on prevention and making safeguarding
personal); Information sharing; and Interagency working –
Safeguarding is everyone’s business.
One of the points identified in the session was a need for practical
guidance on sharing information. A good practice toolkit on
collaborative working and information sharing for practitioners was
developed and consulted on with partners following the session, to
be launched the following year.
A practitioner survey was developed as an outcome of the development session to enable the Chair to hear
their voice. Practitioners told us they would like more workshops, LSAB events, legal briefings and Board
Bulletins to help to support them in
their safeguarding practice. In one
comment the Board was
challenged to proactively
cascade information beyond
posting on the website. Throughout
the year the LSAB sought the views
of practitioners and during
Safeguarding Week a practitioner
informed the LSAB they would like:

Page 313

9

Page 314

In response to the practitioner survey and event feedback, the LSAB
held a development session in January 2019 open to practitioners from
a range of disciplines with opportunity to receive a key legal literacy
update. The feedback from the development session told us that it
was well received with all delegates (100%) sharing it was excellent or
very good.

Enhanced awareness of when to apply to Court of
Protection and need for evidence of when capacity
can be assumed (survey response)

The LSAB also supported an event focussed upon Working
Together to Reduce Harm, hosted by Her Majesty’s Coroner in
January 2019.
This event helped to inform the development of a Coroner’s
Protocol and the interface with a range of agencies in relation
to safeguarding practice. The Protocol will be agreed in the
next reporting period.

10

Service user story
In 2018 Durham Safeguarding Adults Board was privileged to have a service user
share his safeguarding experience with partners. The service user story was made
into a video and showcased at Safeguarding week in November 2018.
Carers
It is key for the LSAB to know how well adults are
supported in a wide range of settings. A service user
survey was sent jointly with Durham County Council
during the year. A response by family carers told us:

“

You
said

We
did

“Care home staff reacted immediately and
made sure Dad was ok”

The LSAB Engagement and Communication Sub group is chaired by a Lay Member and its reach was
extended during the year with a new member bringing a link to faith networks.

”

Page 315

A communication plan was agreed by the Board in October 2018 to
support the work of the Engagement and Communication Sub group
in engaging with users, carers, and communities. Engagement
opportunities were taken up by Board partners to increase awareness
in communities and to be the public face of safeguarding. Stronger
links were developed with the Area Action Partnerships across County
Durham. The LSAB website was reviewed with feedback and relaunched in November.
11

Page 316

The Board and Healthwatch Durham together established a route to
enable people who have experienced safeguarding services to have the
assurance of an independent voice for their concerns and comments.
Adult Views

“

Can I please thank you again for all the support you have been, through what has been
the most difficult period of mine and my family’s life. Your approach has been one of
empathy and professionalism and we have been kept up to date with everything that
has gone on.

Advocates

”

“The Care Act came into force in April 2015, creating a new statutory advocacy role. Advocacy under the
Care Act is for those who have a substantial difficulty in understanding and making decisions about their
care and support, including safeguarding processes, and whom have no other appropriate person to help or
assist them with such. A Care Act advocate works with individuals to make sure their feelings and wishes are
heard and that they are actively involved in processes and decisions pertaining to their care and support.”
Wider stakeholders
The views of wider stakeholders are
important to the work of the board
and support the measurement of the
effectiveness of safeguarding
practice and systems, with one
provider informing us that:
12

The LSAB consists of three statutory partners and a number of other partners, all committed to joint
arrangements to safeguard adults in County Durham. Durham Community Action became a new member
to the Board in 2018. Attendance at the Board meeting was 100% for statutory partners and 61% for wider
relevant partners.
Partners have agreed to hold a Safeguarding Adults Board meeting three times a year, and to hold two
development sessions each year focussed on themes. In 2018/19 these were Performance and Practitioner
Voice, and Legal Literacy.
There are four Board Sub committees, each of which have their
own workplan and report to the Board; these were re-branded
in April 2018:
•
•
•
•

Performance and Governance
Learning and Improvement
Engagement and Communications
Practice and Implementation.

In response to the peer review:
• The LSAB Chair, Lesley Jeavons, held meetings with partners to
strengthen risk assessment;
• The LSAB Strategic Plan was refreshed following a governance review;
Page 317

13

Page 318

• The LSAB Chair received high praise from a 360° appraisal (an action from the peer review in March 2018).
With the change in Chairing arrangements some partners had felt that there may be a potential bias;
following appraisal and follow-up feedback it was shared that those concerns had been allayed by the
new LSAB Chair and her approach.
Following the recommendations from the September 2018 Development Session, every year the
Performance and Governance group will produce and ratify a final year-end summary of Performance and
Audits for presentation to the LSAB.
Partnership
The work of the LSAB can only be achieved through partnership working as tackling many areas of abuse
overlaps with the work of others, for instance the LSAB works to tackle
Modern Slavery with the Safe Durham Partnership. Preventing abuse and
neglect from happening at all is a key priority for the Board; promoting the
welfare of adults falls within the remit of the Health and Wellbeing Board. In
the same way, shared effective work to support families which may inform
our work and safeguard adults, falls under the remit of the Children and
Families Partnership. The LSAB has continued to work closely with the
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (formerly Local Safeguarding
Children Board) where cross connectivity exists for example, Modern Slavery,
Criminal Exploitation and County Lines, a growing agenda locally.
Membership
In response to the peer review recommendations. the LSAB
Chair proactively sought to meet with board members
individually to seek their views and to ensure continuity of
board scrutiny and challenge following her appointment.

Chair engagement with partners

11

Meetings
14

The LSAB ensures it receives local and national developments in relation to safeguarding to inform itself and
partners. In 2018 to 2019 these included:
• The Data Protection Act 2018, giving agencies and
individuals the legal basis to report abuse and neglect
enacted in April 2018;
• National Institute for Health and Care Excellence published
guidance April 2018 People growing older with learning
disabilities – our advice about good support;
• Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards
progress of Law Commission Consultation and future
independent review of the Mental Health Act, to LSAB in April
2018;
• The Home Office and Ministry of Justice draft domestic abuse
bill for consultation – (closing May 2018) – to LSAB in April
2018;
• Office of Public Guardian Spring Update and progress on
safeguarding strategy, to LSAB in April 2019.
• Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health
Care Staff, the Intercollegiate Document was published by
the Royal College of Nursing in August 2018;
Page 319

15

Page 320

• Modern Slavery Charter produced by Durham County Council in
October 2018, an initiative to tackle modern slavery;
• Charity Commission guidance “Safeguarding and protecting
people for charities and trustees” replaced Annex 1 to the Charity
Commission’s safeguarding strategy in October 2018;
• National Referral Mechanism Reforms, the government consultation
in 2018 on changes to support for victims of modern slavery
included minimum standards of care – October 2018;
• The Home Office published updated guidance (September 2018)
to help frontline workers identify and protect victims of County Lines
gangs – October 2018;
• The consultation on the revision of the Mental Capacity Act 2005
Code of Practice, on changes to reflect case law and lessons
learned through practice ran from January to March 2019;
• The LSAB and DSCP jointly hosted an update event on the
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) in March 2019 to raise
awareness of the DBS role in safer recruitment;
• The national network of SAB Managers agreed a National
Safeguarding Adults Week to run each year with the LSAB agreeing
to participate in the first week to take place November 2019.

16

Throughout the year the Board continued to receive and seek assurance from partners. Some examples include:

Page 321

The LSAB has continued to strengthen its assurance arrangements following on from the positive feedback
of the peer review in March 2018. Over the last year the LSAB received updates including:
• In October 2018, Ron Hogg (Police and Crime Commissioner) gave recognition at a regional event to
Durham County Council for their work in relation to Modern Slavery.
• The Board continued to receive six monthly updates and a regional overview of national Learning
Disabilities Mortality Review (LeDeR) programme, which is run by the national Healthcare Quality
Improvement Partnership, to identify improvements in the hospital care of people with learning disabilities.
• The LSAB agreed an audit cycle in 2018-2019 moving forward over a 3-year period, first wave of audits
included a single agency audit by North East Ambulance Service with DCC input for Safeguarding
Concerns and a LSAB joint audit of safeguarding enquiries with a focus on self-neglect. Both audits will be
reported in the next financial year with the self-neglect findings to inform further work to compliment a
planned self-neglect event in 2019.
• A report to the LSAB on the joint LSAB and Durham Constabulary training programme delivered for all
practitioners to highlight Sexual Exploitation and the related referral pathways.
• A Risk Remains Task and Finish group explored instances where adults choose to live with chaotic lifestyles
and reported to the LSAB to provide a further level of assurance.
• The Board has received wider agency assurance in 2018-2019 with reports from Durham Community Action
(new member), County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Age UK, Durham Tees Valley
Community Rehabilitation Company, and North East Ambulance Service.
• The Seriously Vulnerable Individual Protocol has been in place since 2010 and is a joint LSAB and DCC
agreement to facilitate multiagency working where an individual adult is at risk of serious harm or death.
The Board and chair of the Board requested that the Seriously Vulnerable Individual Protocol receive review
in consultation with partner agencies. The review ensured the protocol fits with other structures such as
Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference
(MARAC), and Channel / Prevent, and is in line with the relevant legislative frameworks.
17

Page 322



What
we did
well

The Board agreed four priorities at the start of the year as it streamlined governance:
•
•
•
•

Prevention and early intervention
User carer voice and awareness raising
Governance performance and quality
Safeguarding Adult Reviews and learning lessons and improvements

Some of the achievements and impact in relation to the priorities are set out below.
This year the LSAB and DSCP held a joint Safeguarding Week in November
2018. The event was open to partner agencies, wider stakeholders and the
voluntary sector. Key stakeholders supporting the event included Durham
Constabulary, Government Agency Intelligence Network, North East Special
Operations Unit (police led), Durham County Carers Support, the Halo Project
in conjunction with Durham PCVC, East Durham Trust, T-ASC Training, Advice,
Solutions and Consultancy. Impact: Key aims of the week included a joint
social media campaign #TellSomeone, an event for practitioners and providers, and a two-day marketplace
event with 16 stall holders hosting information stands.
Throughout the practitioner event a video telling a
service user’s story was displayed. 146 delegates
attending the practitioner events during the week with
95% of attendees informing they received relevant and
useful information.
18

A joint event was hosted by the LSAB and DSCP in conjunction with the
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) in March 2019 aiming to raise awareness
of the DBS and their role in making safer recruitment decisions. Impact: A
total of 100 delegates from 59 statutory and voluntary agencies attended
the event.
Partner Events
The LSAB is committed to raising the profile of adult safeguarding through its
presence at community events which in 2018 included the Healthwatch annual conference, Fire and Rescue
Service open days at a number of fire stations, the Durham Constabulary and Her Majesty’s Coroner Event in
January 2019, a presence at the World Social Worker Day led by Durham County Council, and at Fulfilling
Lives and People’s Parliament events. The LSAB continually supports a range of General Practitioners learning
events for safeguarding specific topics. In the last year, the LSAB Engagement and Communication Group
has been working towards improved collation of evidence of the impact of engagement activities and
partner support. Impact: An estimated footfall across the events of 1,888 (a rise of 300 on 2017-2018 figure).
Anti-Slavery Day
LSAB promoted Twitter, Facebook and Instagram messages to raise awareness
of Modern Slavery on Anti-Slavery Day on 18 October. Briefings for practitioners
were cascaded to partner agencies and included in Safeguarding Week.
Better governance and performance

Page 323

The LSAB continued to build on the peer review, with actions undertaken including: a 360° appraisal of the
Chair; an improved Performance escalation/exception route; and working with Durham Community Action
and Durham Voice supporting the LSAB to disseminate its information to wider communities. The LSAB
revisited its performance reporting in line with peer review recommendations and it is interrogated at each
19

Page 324

LSAB meeting. Impact: improvements have been to include Modern Slavery and Sexual Exploitation
reporting, along with developing linkage to the 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) which will inform the LSAB
of issues of prevalence and prevention priorities in County Durham.
Website Updates – In November 2018, following a review the LSAB launched
its new look website, making it up to date and more accessible to users.
Impact: There were a total of 38,752 page views this year in comparison to
2017-2018 figure of 34,420, this is a 12.6 per cent increase. Similarly, there was
an increase in unique page views: 25,357 compared to 22,551 in 2017-2018, a
12.4 per cent increase.
Training Programmes – A wide variety of training is accessible to staff and
volunteers across the wider workforce, including face to face training,
workbooks, and e-learning packages. Impact: Training figures submitted to
LSAB show that 30,828 of the wider workforce received some form of
safeguarding training over the last year, in comparison to 20,359 on the
previous year. This is an increase of 51.4 per cent supporting prevention and
early intervention, and continual update of staff/volunteer skills and
knowledge.

13

SAB E-Bulletins – The LSAB cascades a range of information across partners
and the provider network. Over the last year briefings have been cascaded
about Modern Slavery and the launch of national Safe Car Wash mobile
app, County Line guidance, consultations, and LSAB events and related
activities. Impact: The SAB E-Bulletins are cascaded to all 15 partner
agencies of the LSAB and shared more widely through commissioning
networks.

SAB E-bulletins

20

Training
There is an increase of 51.4 per cent from last year in the
numbers of staff and volunteers accessing training as
notified to the Board. This in part reflects the increase in
partnership working and extended reach of the Board, as
more agencies are reporting their training data than
previously.

Page 325

21

Page 326

Advocates
The Care Act tells us that when safeguarding enquiries are
carried out, whether there are family and friends offering
support should be asked about, and advocacy support should
be offered to adults when needed. An adult’s ability to
contribute to decisions about their protection should always be
recorded. In County Durham 93.1per cent of adults who lacked
capacity were supported by family, friends, or advocates during
safeguarding enquiries, an increase on the 90.3 per cent figure
last year.
In the last year Durham County Council Social
Care Direct received 11,262 reports; of those
reports 7,328 were identified as safeguarding
concerns for individuals, with 3,235 Section 42
enquiries being actioned. Of those 3,235
safeguarding enquiries 553 people received a
multi-agency adult protection response. This
illustrates a local conversion rate of 44 per cent
for enquiries completed. It is reassuring to note
that of completed enquiries related to
individuals, the conversion rate is 32 per cent
which continues to be in keeping with national
return data of 38 per cent (2017-2018).
The population of adults and older people in County Durham is 425,940; the 7,328 safeguarding concerns
for individuals equate to 1.72 per cent of the adult population (just under 2%).

22

Repeat Section 42 enquires
Concerted efforts are made to
ensure repeat instances of abuse
are maintained at the lowest
possible levels. This is an indicator
of the effectiveness of safeguarding interventions, of person-centred practice and of achieving good
outcomes. Since 2012-2013 the level of repeat instances of section 42 enquiries has fluctuated between
4.5 per cent and 8.6 per cent; being 7.7 per cent in 2018-2019. The SAB receives audit information
annually of all repeat instances.
Risk removed or reduced
For 80.7 per cent of the 553 safeguarding enquiries receiving a multiagency
response, action was taken and the risk was either reduced or removed; this is
a small reduction from last year’s figure of 84.2 per cent but remains inkeeping with the national average in 2016-2017 of 87 per cent.

Page 327

Publicity Materials
During the 2018-2019 period, there were five events
where our leafless and posters were available on
display. Over that period 231 posters, leaflets, cards
and brochures were handed to attendees at those
events.

231
Total number of leaflets/
cards taken at events
during 2018/19

23

Page 328

Within its annual report the LSAB must provide details of any
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) undertaken, the lessons learned and
actions to be taken as a result of a SAR. This means the LSAB must
identify whether or not cases where someone has died or suffered
significant harm would require a Safeguarding Adult Review. The
main purpose of reviews is to learn lessons that will help to prevent
any risks happening again for adults at risk.
During this year, there were 2 ongoing cases. As the cases are
ongoing the learning and any actions taken will be publicised
within the 2019-2020 annual report.
Work took place during the later part of the year to revise the
Safeguarding Adults Review policy and develop a Coroner
Annex to the SAR policy. These will be taken to the Board and
signed off next year.

24

The LSAB has expanded its reach, developing closer working links during the year with The Fire and Rescue
Service, HMP Durham, and Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, and welcomed new
partner Durham Community Action who joined the Board in April 2018.

“

”

The LSAB has continued its focus on the service user voice to inform good practice and a deeper
understanding of abuse and neglect; it anticipates the publication of the Service User Story as a booklet with
a DVD for adults at risk, using a peer on peer education approach. The Board will continue its focus on the
priorities of raising awareness and improving practice particularly in relation to sexual exploitation, selfneglect, financial abuse, and modern slavery.
The LSAB Business Unit is busy planning for the LSAB annual event with a focus upon self-neglect in April 2019,
working with the Fire and Rescue Service, RSPCA, Northumbria University, Durham County Council and others.
The Information Sharing Agreement was revised and practitioner guidance developed, which will be taken
to the Board to be ratified in April 2019. The guidance includes myth busting about information sharing, and
proactively using the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations to support
practitioners to respond and report abuse and neglect appropriately.
Following great feedback from the development session on Legal Literacy and use of the Mental Capacity
Act, the Board has commissioned further Legal Literacy training, planned for June 2019.
The LSAB will build upon its work to hear the practitioner voice into all that it undertakes, with a consultation
early in 2019-2020 to inform a wider workforce practitioner survey to understand how safeguarding work feels

Page 329

25

Page 330

for front-line staff. The LSAB will continue through its Communication and Engagement Strategy to work with
wider agencies, stakeholders and partnerships to hear the voice of adults and communities.
The LSAB monitors information shared in partner updates and is pleased to see the development of new roles
within DCC Adult and Health Services Commissioning to support the provider market. The LSAB looks forward
to taking part in an event for providers later in 2019.
In 2019-2020 the LSAB will receive updates from its audit activities and identify any areas it will take forward as
part of its continued cycle of improvement.
In County Durham ‘Rethink’ provide a range of advocacy services which includes advocacy provision for
those adults who have experienced abuse or neglect and whom are currently open to, and involved in,
safeguarding processes. In the year ahead the LSAB will strengthen its links with Rethink and draw upon their
feedback to inform the LSAB improvement cycle.
In May 2019, a BBC Panorama Programme exposed concerns for the safety of adults placed within an
Independent Private Hospital in Barnard Castle. Since the programme, the LSAB has sought assurance from
agencies, and identified areas of work it will take forward in the year ahead, including any legislative
requirements. It should be noted that work is ongoing with DCC and NHS commissioners in respect of
addressing the requirements of the national programmes, Transforming Care and Building the Right Support.

“

[Members will hold] more indepth discussion of front-line
practitioners’ work and
understanding of safeguarding.
Development session 2018

”
26

Durham County Council – Adult and Health Services
The procurement process to replace the current adult care IT system is complete.
Several working groups involving representatives from across the adult service have
been established. We continue to work in partnership with the new Provider in ensuring the
new IT system supports streamlined methods of collecting and collating intelligence relating to adult
safeguarding.
Adult and Health Services have seen the introduction of two new roles based within the commissioning
service – a Provider Development Project Manager and a Practice and Commissioning Project Officer.
Introduction of these two roles has supported valuable work and initiatives in supporting the provider market.
Just a few of these initiatives involve:
• working with the NHS Foundation Trust to target areas of hydration in care homes; providing training linked
to reducing admissions to hospital
• production of a ‘GAP Bulletin’ – a practice guide for providers with the aim of bridging the gap between
guidance and practice
• domiciliary care consultation – a number of consultations have taken place to discuss regular issues arising
in practice
• introduction of a ‘Care Academy’ with plans to work with Job Centre Plus, supporting recruitment in the
care sector with a 6 week training course in care skills, and promoting careers in care.

Page 331

27

Page 332

The Principal Social Worker for Adults has and helped plan and develop, in conjunction with Durham
Children and Families Service, a range of information stalls and workshops in celebrating World Social Work
Day 2019. A number of partner agencies hosted information stalls, which included representation from
Harbour, Durham County Council Fraud Team, LSCB, and LSAB.
The Principal Social Worker continues to support and work alongside the Probation Service and MAPPA Lead
in the production of a clear pathway for ex-offenders with care and support needs accessing appropriate
support services on release. A task and finish group involving providers of residential and domiciliary was
organised in working together to produce an information guide for providers and to determine what support
they feel they would need in providing care and support for ex-offenders.
Within the Safeguarding and Access Service, colleagues have been working on a range of projects including
a S42 audit, the outcome of this leading to an alert system to ensure the S42 has been concluded.
Guidance has been produced for Mental Health Teams to support non-DCC Managers in gaining a greater
understanding safeguarding and adult care processes and practice.
Durham County Council - Housing Solutions
Housing Solutions perform a strategic housing and enabling role. The service helps clients to access a home,
assesses entitlement to housing for people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness, assists clients
to stay at home and live independently and assists with property improvement, empty properties and
housing management standards.
Key achievements:
Homelessness Strategy an update and overview of the Homelessness Review and Strategy 2018 – 2021 was
provided to the Learning and Improvement Group. The draft strategy was circulated to partner agencies as
part of post consultation development. The strategy considers impact on vulnerable adults

28

Rough Sleeper Strategy Group an overview of the Rough Sleeper Strategy Group and outreach project was
given at Learning and Improvement Group. Links have been strengthened with Safeguarding Adults in line
with Government guidance on Rough Sleepers and rough sleeper deaths. No deaths have been reported or
recorded however Housing Solutions will continue to update on this regularly.
Safeguarding Leads Safeguarding Leads from Housing Solutions and believe housing attend quarterly
development days and discuss a range of safeguarding topics. Actions and key information from SAB are
communicated to all Housing Providers via the Housing Provider Safeguarding Partnership. Safeguarding
Leads raised concerns around how to manage threats of suicide from tenants and how to safeguard
vulnerable people. A development day in November took place with training from IFUCARESHARE.
Safeguarding Week Housing Solutions had a stall for two days at November’s Safeguarding week. The service
provided information around the Rough Sleeper outreach project (as well as volunteers and outreach worker
with lived street homeless experience in attendance); the private rented sector team and how to access
housing advice and assistance. A number of people visited the stall and feedback was positive with many
stating they did not realise the service delivered so much.
Workforce safeguarding briefings Housing Solutions delivered a number of short briefings around
safeguarding sights and sounds/what to do if there is a safeguarding concern in a housing context to
contractors within DCC Direct Services and believe housing. As part of this briefing adults with care and
support needs were discussed and what to do if contractors suspect abuse or neglect. Often
contractors/maintenance have access to rooms that no other agency has and so are in a unique position to
identify abuse or neglect in vulnerable adults.

Page 333

Areas of good practice identified:
As a result of the Homelessness Review and Strategy the service has identified a need to provide support and
accommodation for adults with complex needs who are experiencing homelessness. Work to deliver a range
of models which will address this need began in 2018/19.
29

Page 334

The Rough Sleeper Strategy Group was established and co-ordinated by Housing Solutions and an outreach
worker who is managed by Changing Lives has been funded. The Multi Agency group consists of key
partners (Police, Probation, Drug and Alcohol services, voluntary sector etc). working together to deliver a
Rough Sleeper Action Plan, identify and reduce rough sleeping in Durham City.
What are the areas of challenge for your agency moving forward into 2019/2020?
• Delivering the Homelessness Strategy
• Understanding support needs of clients and providing appropriate provision to meet these needs
• Overseeing the Regional Rough Sleeper Initiative (following successful Government bid end of March)
• Continued safeguarding development in Housing Solutions and Housing Providers throughout County
Durham
NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups
The Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are statutorily
responsible for ensuring that the organisations from which they
commission services provide a safe system that safeguard
adults at risk of or experiencing abuse or neglect. North Durham (ND) and Durham, Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield (DDES) CCGs are committed to the safeguarding agenda and work closely with provider
organisations to ensure that assurance is sought regarding robust systems and processes.
The CCGs support the work of the SAB in working towards achieving its strategic plan by active contribution
and participation in the work of the board and associated subgroups. It has further supported the SAB by
means of contributions for staffing resources for the period 2018/2019. The Designated Nurse also acts via a
Memorandum of Understanding as a conduit between the North East Ambulance Service and the Local
Safeguarding Adults Board.

30

Over the last year the CCGs have worked with the local authority safeguarding staff in relation to the
executive strategy process, Section 42 enquiries, Safeguarding Adult Reviews and adult protection
investigations. In addition, the Designated Nurse continues to work with NHS England to ensure commissioned
providers are compliant with the requirements of the Prevent agenda.
The CCGs continue to work with primary care colleagues to raise awareness through primary care practice
development sessions, including Safeguarding Leads which have been held throughout 2018/2019. Topics
included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Modern Day Slavery
Beating the Scammers
Court of Protection
MCA/Best Interest decisions
Door stop crime
Power of Attorney
Domestic Violence
Financial Abuse
Dementia
GMC Updates

Areas of good practice identified:
An independent audit of NDCCG safeguarding activity was carried out by Audit One in September 2018. This
concluded that governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level of
assurance. The audit also acknowledged that since joint work plans, and programmes are in place across
North Durham, DDES and Darlington CCGs it also provided some assurance to those partner CCGs.

Page 335

31

Page 336

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
• Effective implementation and monitoring of the training requirements for staff working in a healthcare
“Adult Safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff” RCN 2018
• Implementation of the new Liberty Protection Safeguards system
• Ensuring the “NHSE Best Practice Guidance – Health Responses to Modern Slavery” is implemented
Durham Constabulary
Durham Constabulary is a Service that continues to deliver excellent Policing to the
Communities of Durham and Darlington. The Force has been praised for the way it inspires
confidence in Victims and communities by protecting neighbourhoods, tackling criminals and
solving problems.
Durham Constabulary have a designated Detective Superintendent heading the Safeguarding department.
There continues to be two dedicated Detective Chief Inspectors allowing for management of active
investigations and also the Strategic direction of the Organisation.
Staff from Durham Constabulary understand that Safeguarding is ‘Everybody’s business’ and to support this
all members of staff receive regular structured and ad-hoc inputs as part of continuous development to
ensure we deliver an excellent service to the Public.
During 2018/19 every member of staff has undergone a full days input on Safeguarding which was designed
by a DCI from the Department and covers areas including Domestic abuse, MSHT, sexual abuse child abuse
and adult abuse.
Detectives that have a dedicated role in the Safeguarding Department are ‘Omni-competent’ in all types of
investigations requiring specialist knowledge.

32

Durham Constabulary has been praised in the way that it ‘Problem Solves’ issues and there is a true
understanding with staff around the need to work with partners with prevention being a key focus.
In conjunction with PCVC Office we continue to carry out Victim surveys to understand ways to improve our
response to victims.
We have held multi-agency and partner focus and open days around Modern Slavery and Human
Trafficking.
Durham Constabulary have been awarded ‘Outstanding’ for the fourth year in a row by HMICFRS.
Areas of good practice identified:
• Our victim-focussed investigations continue to gain praise. We listen to victims, identify their vulnerabilities
early and supported them through the process.
• Good practice and highlighted by HMIC as excellent, is the victim and ASB 7 day ring-backs we conduct
with service users, enabling us to identify good practice or areas for improvement and implement change
at an early stage.
• Our response to vulnerable adult missing from homes that ensures we identify early vulnerability and
identify support agencies to reduce likelihood of going missing in the future (Herbert Protocol / ERASE)
• Our organisation has been graded as ‘Outstanding’ for the Fourth year in a row.
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
• Managing increasing demands in times of austerity.
• The ever changing face of Policing, especially around the Digital enabler element.
• MSHT

Page 337

33

Page 338

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT) is the
largest provider of integrated acute and community health services across the North East. We have a
talented workforce of over 7,000 colleagues, making us a major employer in the North East region.
CDDFT work in partnership with the Local Authority and partner agencies, to safeguard adults. We embrace
the principle that any adult at risk of abuse or neglect should be able to access advice, support and
appropriate individualised protection and care interventions, which enable them to live without fear and in
safety.
CDDFT support the work of the SAB and participate in each of the four sub groups in order to work
constructively to support strategic objectives, ensuring patient and client focussed outcomes in line with
Making Safeguarding Personal.
In 2018, resource was restructured to increase capacity within the CDDFT Safeguarding Team allowing for
more targeted support for the most vulnerable people. The CDDFT Safeguarding Team continue to liaise
closely with Local Authority colleagues to investigate Section 42 and adult protection enquiries, ensuring a
robust investigation, timely actions, and lessons are learnt for future vulnerable people within our community.
CDDFT aspire to ensure all staff acquire up to date knowledge and confidence in the safeguarding adult
process. Quarterly point prevalence audits and assurance rounds have been completed across wards and
departments within the Trust. Recommendations and actions are reported via our governance arrangements
at our Safeguarding Adult Group and shared with stakeholders and Trust Board members.
CDDFT continue to provide training support with the SAB, as well as delivering a suite of training sessions for
CDDFT staff, including Prevent training (Basic and Wrap), MCA/DoLS training, safeguarding adults essential
annual training, awareness level training, L1, L2, L3. Further training if offered for domestic abuse, modern day
slavery and Mental Health Act.
34

We have introduced a Safeguarding Adults newsletter – SOAP Box – Safeguarding On A Page, which is
shared three times throughout the year to all Trust staff with the latest updates and contacts. We continue to
monitor the website “hits” and have developed a number of leaflets which have been disseminated across
the Trust.
The year ahead:
We will continue to monitor and update our services in line with statutory implementation and national
recommendations. We continue to work closely with partnership colleagues to deliver the requirements of
the intercollegiate document to offer a robust training package fit for purpose.
We are currently preparing for the introduction of the revised DoLS process to the Liberty Protection
Safeguards (LPS) and acknowledge the challenges ahead whilst awaiting the code of practice – guidance
document.
We as a Trust benefit from our partnership arrangements and will continue to work closely with all partners
and vulnerable people to promote a safe 2019-20.
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) is one of the largest
specialist Mental Health and Learning Disability Trusts in the country and
provides a range of community and in patient specialist services across a large geographical area.
The Trust works in partnership with eight Local Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups, a wide range of
voluntary organisations as well as service users, their carers and the public.

Page 339

Our vision is to be a recognised centre of excellence with high quality staff providing high quality services
that exceed people’s expectations. Providing excellent services working with the individual users of our
services and their carers to promote recovery and wellbeing.
35

Page 340

Key achievements:
2018/19 training compliance: Safeguarding Adults Level 1 = 95% and Level 2 = 94%.
Level 1 training package has been revised and now incorporates both adult and children material to embed
the Think Family approach.
The Trust Safeguarding Adults training portfolio is currently under review in light of the changes required for
the Safeguarding Adults Intercollegiate guidance recommendations.
Compliant with NHS England requirement for Basic Prevent Awareness training = 98% and WRAP = 94.4%.
Domestic Abuse Awareness training is now incorporated into Safeguarding Children mandatory training.
Mental Capacity Act Training is now mandatory for Trust staff.
MCA champions are now in place across the Trust who have been trained at a higher level on MCA/DoLS
and attend regular MCA forums.
The Trusts public facing website now includes a safeguarding section that is open to the public for reference
and supports the work of the SAB through ongoing campaigns.
The Trusts Prevent procedure has been reviewed and now reflects the guidance for mental health services
produced by NHS England.
The Trust has attended and actively participated in the work of the Safeguarding Adults Board and
associated sub groups. The Trust has supported campaigns and events throughout the year and actively
promoted safeguarding adults alongside the Local Authority.
Trust safeguarding activity is monitored internally by the Safeguarding and Public Protection Sub group of the
Quality Assurance Committee which reports to the Trust Board.
The Trust is also monitored by the Clinical Commissioning Groups via the Clinical Quality Review Group in
relation to safeguarding.
36

The Trust has an annual audit programme in place to monitor compliance with safeguarding adult
procedures including Making Safeguarding Personal.
The Trusts workforce understands their roles and responsibilities around the safeguarding agenda through the
Trusts Internal Safeguarding adult protocol and learning and development requirements applicable to each
role. Safeguarding training is mandated through this process and compliance is monitored through both
internal and external arrangements highlighted above. The Trust works collectively with our SAB partners and
contributes to the performance and quality through multi agency audits and self-assessment quality
framework and Safeguarding Adult Reviews. Learning lessons as a result strengthens and supports
improvements to service provision and practice.
Areas of good practice identified:
The mandated safeguarding training compliance remains consistently high. Mental Capacity Act training is
now mandatory, and MCA Champions are now in place across the Trust.
The safeguarding and public protection modules on the Trusts Electronic care record has been further
refined this year and clinical recording processes amended to fully integrate safeguarding and public
protection into everyday clinical practice. This has improved communication and early intervention of
reported concerns as well as providing prompts to practitioners regarding safeguarding decision making and
making safeguarding personal ensuring the user / carer’s voice is heard through the adult protection
processes and widens the workforce’s knowledge in relation to Prevent, Domestic Abuse and MAPPA /
MARAC arrangements.
Safeguarding Adult Supervision protocol has been approved which describes roles and responsibilities, the
various types of supervision and methods of delivery and recording. This has been communicated across
Trust services.
Page 341

37

Page 342

Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
To implement the recent Intercollegiate Guidance, a full review of the current safeguarding adult training
programme is underway to understand the implications for the Trust and plan how best to deliver the
requirements in the most effective and efficient way.
Work to further embed the Safeguarding Adult Supervision Protocol into everyday practice and set up robust
reporting and monitoring systems to capture compliance.
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service
As a fire and rescue service we have a statutory responsibly to proactively
reduce risk in the community and provide an emergency response service. To
ensure we are effective in making people safer, we use a range of information to
identify residents who may be vulnerable or at greater risk and target our resources to support them. We also
work with businesses, providing support, advice and enforcement if necessary, to ensure they comply with
their duty under the Fire Safety Order. This work can result in our crews interacting with people who have
social care and safeguarding needs and helps to deliver against our vision to have the ‘‘safest people, safest
places” wherever people live, work or visit within County Durham and Darlington.
Key achievements:
• Training to staff – All employees across the Service have completed Level 1 training via an e-learning
training package. A number of employees (particularly middle management) also received face to face
level 2 training where it was deemed appropriate to their role.
• Refresher training has been delivered to all operational staff in relation to the safeguarding referral
pathway and signs to look out for whilst interacting with the public.
• Reviewed and updated our safeguarding policy, procedures and information on our website
• All safeguarding documentation including the reporting process is available on front line fire appliances
via a Mobile Data Terminal (electronically) as well as in hard copy format.
38

• Particular focus on promoting issues around modern day slavery and human trafficking, internal
information on bulletins, presentation to staff from Steve Thubron.
• FRS provided an invite to the SAB to attend station open days to promote safeguarding, attended by
Heidi Gibson. (Strategic plan – ‘Practise and Implementation’ and ‘Engagement and Communication’)
• Attended safeguarding adults’ annual event at Ramside, event opened by Keith Wanley and
presentation provided by Rob Cherrie (Strategic plan – Learning and improvement)
• Keith Wanley attended several SAR meetings (Strategic plan - Learning and Improvement)
• FRS continue to deliver over 18,000 Safe and Wellbeing visits focusing on residents who are vulnerable or at
risk and making safeguarding referrals were required (Strategic plan – Practise and Implementation)
• Attendance at a national Safeguarding conference in London earlier this year by Safeguarding leads
within the Service.
Areas of good practice identified:
Since reviewing and refreshing the awareness of the safeguarding referral process and what may constitute
a referral through the use of the threshold tool the total number has increased significantly. The figures below
show that 16 referrals have already been made since the beginning of 2019, whereas we only made a total
of 10 throughout the whole of the previous two years.
➢ Jan 2017 – Dec 2018 10 referrals made in total
➢ Since Jan 2019 16 referrals made so far
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/20:
• Ensuring all new employees complete the level 1 training as part of their induction and all existing
employees revalidate their training on a 24 month basis.
• Ensuring operational crews remain comfortable with and aware of the signs that may constitute a
safeguarding referral and the process by which to refer.
Page 343

39

Page 344

Age UK County Durham
Age UK County Durham is an independent local charity working in the
local community to help older people. We have 22 dedicated staff
and over 100 volunteers (including our Board of Trustee’s) helping us to
deliver services and activities for older people in County Durham.
Our mission statement is ‘To promote the wellbeing of all older people and help make later life a fulfilling and
enjoyable experience’.
Key achievements:
Safeguarding Adults Board meetings have been attended by our Chief Executive Officer, Development
Manager and now our Information and Advice Service Manager attends the meetings, feeding back to the
Senior Management Team on a regular basis.
Areas of good practice identified:
All staff and volunteers are required to complete DCC’s Safeguarding Adults – Alerter Training (Level 1) as
part of their induction to AUKCD. To date, 100 volunteers and 22 staff members have completed this training.
Three senior managers have also completed the Managing the Alert (Level 2) training provided by DCC. As
a result of SAB training in January 2019, provided by Edge (case law update), we are planning tailored
training with Edge for our Information and Advice staff team.
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
Staying abreast of current legislation and ensuring all staff are aware of good practice.

40

Durham Community Action
Durham Community Action (DCA) is a VCS Infrastructure support
organisation (registered charity & Ltd. Company).
Working primarily with the VCSE in County Durham, providing training,
Information, Advice & Guidance, and developmental support for volunteer led groups.
We also provide leadership for VCS networks and partnership working in the County (Advice in County
Durham, Share & Learn, Better Together, Volunteer Coordinators etc).
DCA manages a Centre for Volunteering for the County, brokering volunteer placements, supporting
volunteer involving organisations and promoting good practice.
DCA provides training and mentorship for good practice kitemarks for service providers (Volunteering and
community led services).
Key achievements:
DCA has been able to broker access and engagement to a spectrum of VCS service providers in the
County, both specialist and generic community and social support organisations and groups.
Training: Access to, and dissemination of training about Safeguarding and risk for volunteer trustees and
groups in the sector.
Information share and briefings for sector representatives via network meetings, bulletins and training events.
Detailed briefings for VCS colleagues about new safeguarding governance arrangements and brokering
contacts.
DCA has developed a programme of internal awareness raising and access to training amongst its
Community and Volunteering Teams who deliver information, advice, guidance and training to frontline
groups providing services in communities which has enabled these staff teams to makes connections into
County Durham LSAB.
Page 345

41

Page 346

Areas of good practice identified:
Access to good practice examples and contacts (as a bank, for support and resources) which will help
volunteer leaders in the VCS to build their knowledge, confidence and experience. Opportunities for
networking and/or training which is cross sector, so that statutory service providers can meet and familiarise
with VCS/community based providers.
Opportunities to consult and engage with seldom heard communities of interest via Healthwatch and other
VCS networks which are thriving in County Durham.
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
Increasingly limited levels of resources and capacity to provide consistent level of support, guidance and
opportunities for engagement for VCS groups and organisations.
Fragile Infrastructure of community based VCS organisations in the county with diminishing capacity to
network and be responsive.
Increasing weight of referrals from statutory sector into VCS, for support to be provided for more vulnerable
people with complex needs.

42

Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company
Key achievements:
• Taking part in multi-agency audits
• Review of domestic abuse policy and guidance
• Review of safeguarding policy and guidance
• Mandatory safeguarding training
• Case study training – lessons learned SCR’s
• Lessons learned – 7 minute briefings on serious further offences
• Risk training
• Case file audits
• Quality Assurance Framework developed that looks specifically at all aspects of safeguarding.
Areas of good practice identified:
• Recent HMIP – engagement with service users identified as a strength
• Management identified in HMIP as strength
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
• Raising the standard of risk assessment and management across all grades in the organisation
• Raising the quality of work to excellent across all grades in the organisation
National Probation Service
National Probation Service (NPS) as a directly managed delivery function
within HMPPS, will carry out the critical roles of providing advice to
court, assessing the risk an offender poses to the public and directly
managing those who pose the highest risk to the public, who have
committed the most serious crimes.
Page 347

43

Page 348

Key achievements:
The NPS has chaired a multi-agency group looking at the pathways from Prison to Community for elderly
complex offenders. The work is now reaching completion and has involved working with Prisons, Health, local
authorities and NPS
Areas of good practice identified:
NPS Durham has an active Service User Forum and Service User Involvement is one of the NPS NE priority
areas
Areas of challenge moving forward into 2019/2020:
The NPS is facing further organisational structure change in 2019/20 with the introduction of Offender
Management in Custody and the creation of new regions.
North East Ambulance Service
Throughout the year 2018/19, the North East Ambulance Service (NEAS) has
continued to make significant improvements in how we work to protect Adults at
Risk. Some of our key achievements hare listed below;
Our Audit programme covered themed audits for Domestic Violence, Self-Neglect
and Mental Capacity Assessments, as well as referral quality. Learning from the
MCA audit highlighted a need for an improved design of our MCA Assessment form
and practice guidance for our staff. The forms have been developed and staff are
being trained on how to complete a better quality mental capacity assessment.
We have reviewed and updated several of our policy documents to ensure they capture the ever-changing
duties and responsibilities or Safeguarding Adults at risk. New policies for Safeguarding Adults at Risk,
Capacity to Consent, Allegations Against Staff and our Chaperone Policy have all been approved and
implemented. Our Modern Slavery statement has been updated in line with legal requirements.
44

We have worked hard to improve the quality of referrals made by NEAS. Once more, referral rates have
continued to rise, though this year at a slower rate than previous years (3% increase). In the last five years, the
number of safeguarding referrals has increased by 35%. Many of these referrals are welfare concerns. In order to
make this clear at the outset of the referrals, we have redesigned our referral forms and altered our training to
re-enforce the difference.
In terms of training, the NHS England Intercollegiate Training Competencies Framework has had massive
ramifications for NEAS. We have devised a training plan and new level three safeguarding materials to roll out in
2019/20. We have also arranged a series of Safeguarding CPD events with partner agencies such as
Northumbria and Durham Police, Newcastle Council and regional Special Branch services to provide expert,
multi-agency training session for our staff.
We have identified a concern about referral pathways for adults at risk who are experiencing a mental health
crisis. Work is now underway to develop alternative pathways to the current approach of making a
safeguarding welfare referral.
Training and development work is also raising the focus of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ by ensuring staff seek
consent for welfare referrals and where possible, safeguarding referrals. We have amended our referral forms to
ensure our staff identify early in the process what our Patients want as an outcome when a concern is raised.
The Safeguarding Team have worked closely with our workforce development team to devise a series of training
programmes around Safeguarding, Mental Capacity, Dementia and Mental Health. We have commissioned
independent mental health facilitation and provided train the trainer sessions to upskill our training team. We
continue to report PREVENT training figure which are amongst the highest in the NHS in the North East.

Page 349

Our CQC Well-led inspection highlighted how well safeguarding referral processes and Statutory and Mandatory
Safeguarding training are embedded in practice. Further improvements are needed in terms of the
Safeguarding training given to our Emergency Operations Centre staff which will be developed and rolled out
next year. Once again, NEAS attained an overall rating of ‘Good’.
45

Page 350

46

Agenda Item 11

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Children and Young People’s Services
Commissioning Plan 2019-21
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s
Services and Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and
Health Services
Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children’s
Services and Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for
Adult and Health Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to present the Durham County Council
Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan for 20192021 for the consideration of Cabinet.

Executive summary
2

Strategic commissioning is the process of identifying and analysing the
current and future needs and demands of the local population; working
with relevant stakeholders to design and develop the most appropriate
and cost-effective services to meet those needs and monitoring and
evaluating those services to secure the desired outcomes and impact.

3

The purpose of the commissioning plan is to set out Durham County
Council’s key strategic commissioning priorities and activities for
children and young people’s services over the next two years. The plan
also incorporates commissioning activity that is being undertaken jointly
with Durham’s Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).

4

The plan builds upon the vision set out in the County Durham Children
and Young People’s Strategy (2018/19 - 2020/21):

Page 351

County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to
grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy,
happy and achieving their potential.
5

The commissioning priorities and activities are structured across the
four key aims developed within the above strategy:
•
•
•
•

6

In addition, the plan incorporates commissioning priorities and activities
developed through consultation within the following strategic plans:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

7

Page 352

All children and young people have a safe childhood
Children and young people enjoy the best start in life, good health
and emotional wellbeing.
Young people gain the education, skills and experience to
succeed in adulthood.
Children and young people with special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND) achieve the best possible outcomes.

County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health,
Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Transformational Plan 20152020.
County Durham Public Health Vision and Strategic Plan
North East and Cumbria Transforming Care Model for people with
Learning Disabilities and Autism.
County Durham Special Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND) Strategy 2019-2022.
Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy for Looked after
Children and Care Leavers 2018-2021
‘Think Autism’ in County Durham – Autism Strategy for Children,
Young People and Adults 2018/19 – 2020/22.
Durham Health and Wellbeing System Plan 2019 – 2020

The plan incorporates activity that is underway to address the findings
of the inspection of the local areas’ effectiveness in identifying and
meeting the needs of children and young people who have special
educational needs and/or disabilities (SEND). This is specifically
focused upon addressing the limitations in our understanding of the
impact of local services and how these contribute to children and young
people’s outcomes alongside the need to join up commissioning activity
across the local education, health and care system to secure the
benefits of an integrated approach across County Durham. Both of
these developments have been informed by a recent visit to
Lincolnshire County Council to understand emerging best practice
relating to integrated commissioning and governance arrangements for
SEND.

8

The plan proposes that the performance and impact of commissioned
services should be monitored through the development of service level
impact and evidence statements and that these should be considered
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a quarterly basis to
identify areas of support and challenge and any remedial activity
required.

Recommendation(s)
9

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

Consider the Children and Young People’s Services
Commissioning Plan 2019-21.

Background
10

Whilst many children across County Durham have a happy and healthy
childhood where they grow and develop into independent adults, with
support from their families, primary health care services,
schools/colleges and their communities, the local needs analysis
provided within Durham Insight highlights that inequalities, linked to
children’s wider circumstances, persist for several key performance
measurements and indicators.

11

For a good proportion of these children the support of their families, a
good experience in school and their own resilience will be enough to
ensure that they have happy and fulfilled childhoods; despite adversity.
However, where services fail to identify and respond appropriately to
children, young people and their families who are vulnerable and who
need additional support, problems can become more serious, more
damaging and more difficult and costlier to address.

12

The education, health and care system that supports children, young
people and their families is complex and can be fragmented. Many
different organisations and services are involved in the day to day
delivery of services; identifying children’s and young people’s needs;
helping them and their families to access additional services and
support and providing specialist care and treatment where necessary.

13

Recent inspections and reviews highlight that there remains variation in
the quality of local support and care available across County Durham;
that there are limitations in our understanding of the impact of services
and that different parts of the education, health and care system do not
always work together in a ‘joined-up’ way.

14

In response, joint reporting arrangements have been developed to
ensure performance across the education, health and care system can
be considered jointly by the Integrated Steering Group for Children and
concerns can be escalated swiftly at a senior level. Similarly, health
Page 353

needs assessments are being reviewed jointly with Public Health
colleagues in relation to both children looked after and children with
SEND to support the further development of joint commissioning
intentions across education, health and care.
15

The commissioning plan incorporates further activity that is underway to
address additional identified areas for improvement. This is specifically
focused upon addressing the limitations in our understanding of the
impact of local services and spend and how these contribute to children
and young people’s outcomes alongside the ambition to join up
commissioning activity and service delivery via a ‘place-based
approach’ to secure the benefits of an integrated education, health and
care system across County Durham.

16

The plan also references the strategic planning activity that is underway
to develop local options for an Integrated Strategic Commissioning
function across Durham County Council and Durham Clinical
Commissioning Groups.

17

The plan proposes that the performance and impact of commissioned
services should be monitored through the development of service level
impact and evidence statements and that these should be considered
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a quarterly basis to
identify areas of support and challenge and any remedial activity
required.

Main Implications
Financial
18

Services commissioned by Durham County Council to support children,
young people and their families total in excess of £65 million. Recent
reports to cabinet have highlighted service pressures across Children
and Young People’s Services linked to increases in the numbers of
Children Looked After and their placement needs alongside growing
pressure on the local High Needs Funding Block which supports all
children with special educational needs from early years through to age
25.

19

In response, there is a need to re-evaluate the capacity, strengths and
limitations of local services and provider markets to ensure that services
remain evidence based, able to demonstrate impact, are improving
outcomes locally and are delivered in the most efficient way to offer
value for money.

Conclusion
20

Page 354

Recent inspections and reviews highlight that there remains variation in
the quality of local support and care available across County Durham;

that there are limitations in our understanding of the impact of services
and that different parts of the education, health and care system do not
always work together in a ‘joined-up’ way.
21

A strategic commissioning approach will support the transformation that
is required through the development of a joint understanding of what
generates change, what makes a difference for vulnerable children,
young people and their families and how we will measure service
impact to secure improved outcomes and value for money.

Background Papers
•
•

Appendix 2: Durham County Council Children and Young
People’s Commissioning Plan 2019/21.
Appendix 3: Durham County Council Children and Young
People’s Commissioning Action Plan 2019-2020

Other Useful Documents
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Contact:

County Durham Children and Young People’s Strategy (2018/19
– 2020/21)
County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health,
Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Transformational Plan 20152020.
County Durham Public Health Vision and Strategic Plan
North East and Cumbria Transforming Care Model for people with
Learning Disabilities and Autism.
County Durham Special Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND) Strategy 2019-2022.
Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy for Looked after
Children and Care Leavers 2018-2021
‘Think Autism’ in County Durham – Autism Strategy for Children,
Young People and Adults 2018/19 – 2020/22.
A Review of High Needs Provision for Children and Young
People with SEND in County Durham.

Mark Smith

Tel: 03000 267395

Page 355

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Commissioning activity enables the Local Authority to fulfil a number of
statutory duties through securing services and undertaking activities specified
within the following acts:
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970
Children Act 1989
Children Act 2004
Children and Families Act 2014
Care Act 2014

Finance
Services commissioned by Durham County Council to support children, young
people and their families total in excess of £65 million. Recent reports to
cabinet have highlighted service pressures across Children and Young
People’s Services linked to increases in the numbers of Children Looked After
and their placement needs alongside growing pressure on the local High
Needs Funding Block which supports all children with special educational
needs from early years through to age 25.
There is a need to ensure that services remain evidence based, able to
demonstrate impact, are improving outcomes locally and are delivered in the
most efficient way to offer value for money.

Consultation
The commissioning plan incorporates commissioning priorities and activities
developed through consultation within the following strategic plans:
• County Durham Children and Young People’s Strategy (2018/19 –
2020/21)
• County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional
Wellbeing and Resilience Transformational Plan 2015-2020.
• County Durham Public Health Vision and Strategic Plan
• North East and Cumbria Transforming Care Model for people with
Learning Disabilities and Autism.
• County Durham Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
Strategy 2019-2022.
• Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy for Looked after Children and
Care Leavers 2018-2021

Page 356

• ‘Think Autism’ in County Durham – Autism Strategy for Children, Young
People and Adults 2018/19 – 2020/22.
• A Review of High Needs Provision for Children and Young People with
SEND in County Durham.
The commissioning activity highlighted within the Commissioning Plan will
adhere to the consultation requirements established at a local level via the:
• SEND Participation Strategy
• Children and Young People’s SEND Promise for County Durham
• Durham Children in Care Council: Our Promise to Looked After Children
and Young People
This will ensure that services continue to make improvements based on the
experiences of children young people and their families.
We are committed to listening to children and young people and have
embedded this practice across our commissioning activity. We work in
partnership with a social enterprise called ‘Investing in Children’ who deliver a
range of children’s participation services on our behalf and implement several
schemes through a contract arrangement:
• Facilitation of young people’s participation / reference groups;
• Facilitation of the eXtreme group to ensure that the voice of children
and young people with disabilities are listened to and acted upon;
• Coordination of the Children in Care Council;
• Management and facilitation of the Investing in Children Membership
Programme – services are reviewed annually to ensure that they meet
investing in children criteria.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan fully
acknowledges and seeks to address the vulnerabilities associated with
children with a disability, ill health or developmental difficulties – including
mental ill health and SEND; children who are vulnerable or of concern by
virtue of their identity or nationality or children who care for others.

Human Rights
There are no implications in relation to human rights at this stage.

Crime and Disorder
There are no implications in relation to crime and disorder at this stage.

Staffing
Page 357

There are no implications in relation to staffing at this stage.

Accommodation
There are no implications in relation to accommodation at this stage.

Risk
There are risks associated with the quality of local support and care available
across County Durham alongside the current limitations in our understanding
of the impact of services across the education, health and care system. This
has contributed to poor outcomes from inspections and variable outcomes for
local children, young people and their families.
These risks can be mitigated through a strategic commissioning approach that
will support the development of a joint understanding of what generates
change, what makes a difference for vulnerable children, young people and
their families and how we will measure service impact to secure improved
outcomes and value for money.

Procurement
All commissioning activity will continue to remain compliant with Corporate
Procurement regulations and European Union Procurement Law with all
contractual considerations developed jointly with Durham County Council
procurement colleagues.

Page 358

Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan
2019-2021

Page 359

Page 360

Purpose
The purpose of this plan is to set out Durham County Council’s key strategic
commissioning priorities and activities for children and young people’s services over the
next two years (2019/2020 – 2020/2021). The plan also incorporates commissioning
activity that is being undertaken jointly with Durham’s Clinical Commissioning Group’s
(CCG’s). Commissioning is the process that public bodies use to identify needs and secure
services and support for children, young people and their families. The services that we
‘out-source’ from the independent and voluntary and community sectors complement
the services that we directly provide or will be services that are best delivered
independently of the local authority.
The plan builds upon the ambition set out in the County Durham Children and Young
People’s Strategy (2018/19 - 2020/21):
County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in
and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy and achieving
their potential1
In addition, the plan incorporates commissioning priorities and activities developed
through consultation within the following strategic plans:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and
Resilience Transformational Plan 2015 - 2020
County Durham Public Health Vision and Strategic Plan
North East and Cumbria Transforming Care Model for people with Learning Disabilities
and Autism
County Durham Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Strategy 2019 – 2022
Sufficiency and Commissioning Strategy for Looked After Children and Care Leavers
2018-2021
‘Think Autism’ in County Durham - Autism Strategy for Children, Young People and
Adults 2018/19 – 2020/21
Durham Health and Wellbeing System Plan 2019 – 2020

Context

health care services, schools/colleges and their communities. However, inequalities,
linked to children’s wider circumstances persist for several key performance
measurements and indicators.
Durham Insight provides an evolving analysis of the local needs and pressures faced by
children, young people and families across County Durham2. This shared intelligence,
research and knowledge base for County Durham highlights that the proportion of
children living in poverty continues to be greater than the England average and that this
gap continues to widen.
The conditions and family circumstances into which children are born, grow, learn and
develop can significantly affect their lives and can determine variations in health,
wellbeing, attainment, social mobility and vulnerability. This can be further compounded
for children with a disability, ill health or developmental difficulties – including mental ill
health and SEND; children who are vulnerable or of concern by virtue of their identity or
nationality or children who care for others. This does not mean that all children with
potential vulnerabilities in Durham will have poor lives. For a good proportion of these
children the support of their families, a good experience in school and their own resilience
will be enough to ensure that they have happy and fulfilled childhoods; despite adversity.
However, where services fail to identify and respond appropriately to children, young
people and their families who are vulnerable and who need additional support, problems
can become more serious, more damaging and more difficult and costlier to address.
The education, health and care system that supports children, young people and their
families is complex and can be fragmented. Many different organisations and services are
involved in the day to day delivery of services: identifying children’s and young people’s
needs; helping them and their families to access additional services and support and
providing specialist care and treatment where necessary.
There are local examples of good and outstanding practice that we should celebrate and
learn from. However, recent inspections highlight that there is also variation in the quality
of local support and care and that different parts of the system do not always work
together in a ‘joined-up’ way. As a result, some children, young people and their families
do not always experience the care and support we would want and some fall through the
gaps between services and only appear to become visible at the point of crisis.

Many children across County Durham have a happy and healthy childhood where they
grow and develop into independent adults, with support from their families, primary

It is widely understood that the local education, health and care system is under
increasing strain and this position is mirrored nationally. Whilst this can be attributed to
sustained reductions in national funding or limited financial growth linked to national

1

2

County Durham Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019-2021

www.durhaminsight.info

austerity measures, work undertaken by the Association of Directors of Children’s
Services (ADCS)3 highlights that the financial pressures felt by Local Authorities, CCG’s,
Schools/Colleges and the Voluntary/Community Sector are compounded by a
combination of the following additional challenges:

A strategic commissioning approach will support the transformation that is required by
determining what services are provided in the future and by whom. This will be informed
by the development of service level impact and evidence statements that will support a
greater understanding of how services are improving outcomes for children, young people
and their families.

•

Increasing levels of need

•

Increasing complexity of need

Strategic Commissioning

•

New national legislation and additional duties

•

Increased expectations amongst families

•

Increased expectations from national and local regulatory bodies

Strategic commissioning is the process of identifying and analysing the current and future
needs and demands of the local population; working with relevant stakeholders to design
and develop the most appropriate and cost-effective services to meet those needs and
monitoring and evaluating those services to secure the desired outcomes and impact.

In response, there is a need to re-evaluate the capacity, strengths and limitations of local
services and provider markets and identify the changes needed to respond to these
growing pressures challenges and expectations across the education, health and care
system. Understanding what generates change, what makes a difference for children,
young people and their families and how we will measure impact will be critical to
understanding performance and informing funding and commissioning decisions going
forward.

This activity forms the basis of the commissioning cycle:

The County Durham Children and Young People’s Strategy (2018/19 - 2020/21) provides
focus and clarity on the priorities for improving services and life opportunities for children
and young people through the development of four key aims:

Securing
Services

Page 361

3

ADCS Position Paper: A Country that Works for all Children October 2017

Going forward, local commissioning activity will build upon the strong foundation of
collaborative and joint commissioning arrangements already established within County
Durham via the development of an all age Integrated Strategic Commissioning function
and an emphasis upon place-based commissioning.

The national agenda for public service reform and the integration of health and social care
emphasises the growing requirement for localised responses to the demands and
challenges facing health and social care in particular, and the public sector more generally.
Conventional responses to the complex needs of children, their families and communities
have continued to struggle to reduce inequalities and prevent problems leading to mixed
outcomes. Local authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) must now make
joint commissioning arrangements for education, health and care provision for children
and young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities and there is a growing
appetite to build upon these requirements to join up planning cycles and joint
commissioning arrangements that will benefit children, young people and their families
across the county and secure future outcomes. Joint commissioning arrangements can be
understood across the following continuum:

Integrated Commissioning Function
Since April 2018 a new Integrated Governance Framework has been implemented, with
all groups now established and key meetings chaired by Chief Officers. The local
Integrated Care Board has also expanded its membership to include Primary Care. It is
important to note that the new governance arrangements include an Integrated
Commissioning Group and an Integrated Steering Group for Children.
As part of the new governance arrangements the Integrated Commissioning Group has
been developing the options for an Integrated Strategic Commissioning function. It is
anticipated that the benefits of an integrated approach to commissioning across County
Durham will include:
•
•
•
•

Integrated

Commissioning Integration

Page 362

Commissioning Developments

Faster improvements in education, health care and social care;
Improved education, health and care outcomes across whole populations;
An improved approach to prevention with a focus on joined up solutions;
Less duplication across the system, making it easier to navigate for the public and
staff;
• Maximising the impact of the Durham pound by using collective resources more
efficiently;
• Connecting and supporting people more effectively in their own communities.

Services commissioned through
lead commissioner or other legal
partnership arrangements or
provided as a single service

Joint
Services commissioned/provided in
partnership with other
commissioners/services

Place Based Commissioning

Collaborative

There is an emerging consensus that place based approaches provide the environment to
develop joined-up local systems that are more flexible and responsive to the range of
different and sometimes complex needs experienced by children, families and
communities. The opportunities for integration, targeted joined up funding and cross
sector collaboration that place based commissioning facilitates can result in improved
access to services and a speedier, more coordinated response, better information and
communication, increased involvement of service users and more supportive
communities leading to improved outcomes and greater resilience across communities.

Services commissioned/provided through
engagement with partners

Aligned
Services commissioned/provided
in reference to other
commissioners/services

Autonomous
Services commissioned/provided
in isolation

Service Integration
4

Where we are now
Children and young people in County Durham

Statistically significantly better than England
Not significantly different to England
Statistically significantly worse than England

20.9%. This is statistically significantly
higher than England, but lower than the
North East. Unequally distributed within
County Durham.
30

20

Crude rate
per 10,000

%

49.7 per 10,000 children. Higher in County Durham than
England but lower than the North East.
75
50

Almost

25
0
England

North East

County
Durham

500

Around

10

21,000

0
England

children living in
poverty

children subject of
a child protection
plan

North East

County Durham

408.5 per 10,000 children. Statistically significantly
higher than England (330/10,000) but lower than the
North East (451.6/10,000).

Around

3,500

One Point report an additional 2,500 children
& young people who do not meet the statutory
threshold

children in need

England

80
60
40
20
0
2012/13

2013/14

County Durham

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

72%

of

100,500

81 per 10,000. This rate is rising, showing an increase of
over 50% since 2011, and is statistically significantly
higher than England but statistically significantly lower
than the North East.

Around

children aged 0-17

800

children achieving a
good level of
development at the
end of reception

100
75
50
25
0

children
looked after

Durham

Rate per
100,000

%

Now statistically significantly better than England

England

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

That’s around 10,000 children in County Durham.

Around

10%

10,400

of children have
a diagnosable
mental health
disorder

14.5% of all school pupils. This is not statistically
significantly different from England or the North East.

Page 363

25
20
15
10
5
0

%

young people with
SEN at school
(state funded)

5

England

North East

County Durham

Statistically significantly better than England
Not significantly different to England
Statistically significantly worse than England

Page 364

Pre and post birth

40

Durham

England

%

30

Durham Insight

16.7%, statistically significantly higher than
England, and similar than the North East.

20

10
0
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Around

900

That’s between around 760 and 1020 women in County Durham
(based on around 5,100 women giving birth annually
50
40
30
20
10
0

babies born to
mothers who
smoke

%

15-20%
England

North East

County Durham

The distribution of SATOD across County Durham (by MSOA) is
unequal. It is higher in the more deprived areas.

Around

150
low birthweight
babies born
annually

of women will
experience poor
perinatal mental
health
Around

5,300

3%, similar to
England and the
North East

babies are born per
year
This is statistically significantly lower
than England and the North East.

98%

28%
still
breastfeeding
at 6-8 weeks

of babies are
imunised by
age 1

56%

Statistically significantly higher than England,
and similar than the North East.

%

The distribution of breastfeeding prevalence across County
Durham is not equal. It is lower in the most deprived areas

No change over time

of women
breastfeed
straight after
birth

The distribution of breastfeeding initiation across County
Durham is not equal. It is lower in the most deprived areas.

Insight and Intelligence to inform.

6

www.durhaminsight.info

Durham

England

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

This is statistically significantly lower than England
and the North East. Little change locally since 2011

Durham Insight

100
75
50
25
0

Statistically significantly better than England
Not significantly different to England
Statistically significantly worse than England

Early Years and Primary School

%

This has been rising over time, now
statistically significantly higher than England.

72%

England

achieve a good level
of development at
end of Reception

59%

Durham

57%

KS2 students
meeting expected
standards in
reading, writing
and maths

FSM status achieving
good level of
development at the
end of Reception

33,447

171.3/100,000. Statistically significantly higher than
England. Little change over time locally, compared to
a slow reduction seen nationally.

aged 0-5
Nearly

1,500

hospital admissions
caused by injuries in
children (0-14 years)

26%

35,394
aged 6-11

Around

40
30
20
10
0

England

Durham

38%
of children aged
10-11 are
overweight

Page 365

Durham Insight
Insight and Intelligence to inform.

www.durhaminsight.info

2015/16

2016/17

England

80
60
40
20
0
2012/13

2013/14

County Durham

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

The distribution of DMFT across County Durham is not
equal. It is higher in the more deprived areas
30
20
10

1,400
children aged
4-5 overweight
or obese

2014/15

Not statistically significantly different to England
or the North East. Locally the proportion has
more than doubled over time, faster than the
national improvement.

0
England

North East

County Durham

24.1%. This has been rising over time, now
statistically significantly higher than England.

%

%

That’s over 2,000 year 6 children in County Durham. This has been
rising over time, now statistically significantly higher than England.

of 5 year olds
have decayed,
filled or
missing teeth
(DMFT)

2013/14

Durham

%

200
150
100
50
0

2012/13

%

Rate /100,000

Higher than England (54%) and the North East (57%)

England

80
60
40
20
0

The distribution of excess weight and obesity
across County Durham is not equal. It is higher in
the more deprived areas
7

30
20
10
0

England

Durham

Statistically significantly better than England
Not significantly different to England
Statistically significantly worse than England

Page 366

Secondary School and Transitions

•
•
•
•
•
This has been rising over time, not statistically significantly different to England or the North East.
•
•
•
•
22 per 1,000 teenage conceptions in 2016, the lowest since the
•
1998 benchmark. A decreasing trend locally and nationally. The
294 per 100,000. This is not statistically significantly
young people•
rate is now not statistically significantly different to England
different to England or the North East and has been
gain 5 good •
reducing over time.
GCSEs •
Around
•
•
England
Durham
Durham
England
40
1,000
•
30
first time entrants
750
teenage
conceptions
20
•
to the Youth
500
10
(2016)
•
Justice system
250
0
•
0
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
•
•
•
•
Over
aged
12-16
•
56.2 per 100,000. Decreasing trend locally and
nationally. Statistically significantly higher in
•
County Durham than England
495 per 100,000. Now statistically significantly higher
•
A&E
than England and the North East.
•
under 18s admitted
attendances
aged
17-18
200
to hospital for
•
Durham
England
(15-17 years)
150
alchohol
specific
600
•
100
Durham
England
conditions
50
•
400
0
•
200
•
0
•
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16
Around
•
• 16-17 year olds
401 per 100,000. Decreasing trend locally and the rate is
hospital admissions
now not statistically significantly different to England
• not in education,
a year as a result of
• employment or
self-harm
training
800
•
Durham
England
600
•
400
•
200
That’s around 600 young people aged 16-17. Not statistically
•
0
significantly different to England or the North East.
•
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
•

130

Rate /1,000

173

Rate /100,000

58%

26,231

8,400

Rate /100,000

11,561

6%

Rate per
100,000

216

Durham Insight
Insight and Intelligence to inform.

8

www.durhaminsight.info

Rate /100,000

196

Vulnerability: The scale of the challenge
•
0-5s, how many <12s?
Child poverty is unequally distributed within County Durham.

Around

Around
10% of children in County
Durham

21,000

Approximately 2,500 children and their
families receiving support from the Early Help
Service

6,000
children known to
social care/early help

408.5 per 10,000 children. Statistically significantly
higher than England (330/10,000) but lower than the
North East (451.6/10,000).

of which

3,500

children living in
poverty

•

are children in
need

Around
Around 2,500 CYP
living with a
parent reporting
symptoms of
anxiety or
depression

% of children living in the 30%
most deprived LSOAs, by
County Durham and CCG
locality

10,000
children with a
diagnosable
mental health
condition

And almost

500

100,540

subject of a CPP

children & young
people

2.6% of all school
pupils in County
Durham.

800

school

pupils with social,
emotional and mental
health needs

14.5% of all school pupils. This is now
not statistically significantly different
from England.

Around
Around

12,000 under

children with
SEN
(state school)

16s have having lived
with domestic abuse at
some stage

Page 367

Durham Insight
www.durhaminsight.info

•

74% of children in County
Durham on a child protection
plan were identified as living
or having lived with domestic
abuse

are

looked after

10,400

Insight and Intelligence to inform.

49.7 per 10,000 children. Higher in
County Durham than England but
lower than the North East.

And over

Around

1,600

are

58% of children in need in County Durham were
identified as living or having lived with domestic
abuse

9

81 per 10,000. This rate is rising,
showing an increase of over 50% since
2011, and is statistically significantly
higher than England but lower than the
North East.

Page 368

Durham County Council Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan
Vision: County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy, safe and achieving their potential.
Aim

All children and young people have a safe
childhood

Aim

Objectives
Develop a shared understanding of the current
and future needs and preferences of local
children, young people and their families and
the options available to meet these needs in
the most cost effective and integrated way

Work with stakeholders to design, develop and
mobilise all new or existing services that need to
be procured or transformed and provide day to
day oversight of external providers

Monitor and evaluate commissioned services to
understand their effectiveness and secure the
desired outcomes, impact and service user
satisfaction

Key Actions and Core deliverables
• Develop a local Residential Strategy to
ensure best use is made of DCC residential
settings alongside independent residential
options to meet the needs of children who
require residential accommodation
• Analyse the needs of children, young people
and their families to inform the development
of support options that will secure placement
stability

• Re-procure Children’s Advocacy Service in
preparation for Contract end date
• Work with identified provider to secure 2 x Solo
bedded residential children’s homes
• Procure Framework of Support Services to support
placement stability for children looked after
• Procure framework of supported living for young
people whose behaviour challenges services
• Vary employee support contract to extend support
arrangements to all care leavers

• Review the local Sufficiency Strategy to ensure
sufficient high-quality accommodations options are
available to meet the needs of children looked after
• Evaluate PAUSE pilot programme to inform
commissioning intentions beyond March 2020
• Participate in the regional review of the Independent
Fostering framework
• Evaluate the current Advocacy Service to inform
commissioning intentions beyond March 2020
• Review Young Carers service specification and KPI’s

Enablers
Participation
• The voice of children, young people and
their families is integral to the
commissioning process
• All opportunities for children and young
people’s involvement in the development
and co-production of services is maximised

Partnerships and Collaboration and Integration

Performance Management and Governance

•

• The performance and impact of commissioned
services is captured on a quarterly basis through the
development of impact and evidence statements
• The impact of commissioned services is monitored
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a
quarterly basis

•
•

Strong working relationships with internal operational
colleagues alongside Procurement, Legal and
Communication and Marketing teams
Participation in appropriate regional collaborative
commissioning to secure efficiencies
All opportunities for integrated and place-based
commissioning are maximised

•
10

Durham County Council Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan
Vision: County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy, safe and achieving their potential
Aim

Children and Young People enjoy the best start in
life, good health and emotional wellbeing

Objectives
Develop a shared understanding of the
current and future needs and preferences of
local children, young people and their families
and the options available to meet these needs
in the most cost effective and integrated way

Work with stakeholders to design, develop and
mobilise all new or existing services that need to
be procured or transformed and provide day to
day oversight of external providers

Monitor and evaluate commissioned services to
understand their effectiveness and secure the
desired outcomes, impact and service user
satisfaction

Key Actions and Core deliverables

• Undertake an analysis of the speech,
language and communication needs of
children to inform a whole system response
• Support the health needs assessment of
higher education students attending Durham
University

• Re-procure Health Visiting and School Nursing
service in line with contract end date
• Re-procure One Point Creche Framework in line with
contract ends dates
• Procure digital on-line counselling service to promote
swift access to counselling for young people

• Support Durham Clinical Commissioning Group’s to
evaluate the effectiveness of local preventative
mental health services to inform future
commissioning intentions
• Review the effectiveness of the LGBT Mental
Wellbeing service
• Review the effectiveness of the Resilience Parenting
and Strengthening Families programmes

Enablers
Participation
• The voice of children, young people and
their families is integral to the
commissioning process
• All opportunities for children and young
people’s involvement in the development
and co-production of services is maximised

Partnerships, Collaboration and Integration

Performance Management and Governance

•

• The performance and impact of commissioned
services is captured on a quarterly basis through the
development of impact and evidence statements
• The impact of commissioned services is monitored
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a
quarterly basis
•

•
•

Strong working relationships with internal operational
colleagues alongside Procurement, Legal and
Communication and Marketing teams
Participation in appropriate regional collaborative
commissioning to secure efficiencies
All opportunities for integrated and place-based
commissioning are maximised

Page 369

•
11

Page 370

Durham County Council Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan
Vision: County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy, safe and achieving their potential.
Aim

Young people gain the education, skills and
experience to succeed in adulthood

Objectives
Develop a shared understanding of the
current and future needs and preferences of
local children, young people and their families
and the options available to meet these needs
in the most cost effective and integrated way

Work with stakeholders to design, develop and
mobilise all new or existing services that need to
be procured or transformed and provide day to
day oversight of external providers

Monitor and evaluate commissioned services to
understand their effectiveness and secure the
desired outcomes, impact and service user
satisfaction

Key Actions and Core deliverables

•

•

Work collaboratively with local schools
and alternative education providers to codevelop a shared strategic plan for the
future of inclusion and Alternative
Provision in County Durham
Undertake an analysis of the support
needs of local schools to inform
commissioning of governance, school
leadership and subject specific support
arrangements

• Continue to grow the number of supported
internship programmes for 18-25-year-olds with
SEND to secure preparation for adulthood
outcomes
• Further expand the range of supported
employment opportunities and social enterprise
activities available for 16-25-year olds from
vulnerable groups
• Bid for additional European Social Fund monies to
sustain activity and projects seeking to reduce the
numbers of young people not in education,
employment or training (NEET).

• Review the effectiveness of existing alternative
education provision and approaches to inclusion,
including the work of the Behaviour Partnership
Panels
• Collaborate with the Education Endowment
Foundation to review and re-shape the existing
professional development offer to schools and
secure improvements relating to supporting
disadvantaged students

Enablers
Participation
• The voice of children, young people and
their families is integral to the commissioning
process
• All opportunities for children and young
people’s involvement in the development
and co-production of services is maximised

Partnerships, Collaboration and Integration

Performance Management and Governance

•

• The performance and impact of commissioned
services is captured on a quarterly basis through the
development of impact and evidence statements
• The impact of commissioned services is monitored
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a
quarterly basis

•
•
•

Strong working relationships with internal operational
colleagues alongside Procurement, Legal and
Communication and Marketing teams
Participation in appropriate regional collaborative
commissioning to secure efficiencies
All opportunities for integrated and place-based
commissioning are maximised

12

Durham County Council Children and Young People’s Services Commissioning Plan
Vision: County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in and for Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy, safe and achieving their potential.

Children and young people with special educational needs
and disabilities (SEND) achieve the best possible outcomes
Objectives
Develop a shared understanding of the current
and future needs and preferences of local
children, young people and their families and the
options available to meet these needs in the most
effective and integrated way

Work with stakeholders to design, develop and
mobilise all new or existing services that need to be
procured or transformed and provide day to day
oversight of external providers

Monitor and evaluate commissioned services to
understand their effectiveness and secure the desired
outcomes, impact and service user satisfaction

• Re-procure SEND Mediation Service
• Jointly transform the local Speech and Language
Therapy, Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy
services
• Jointly procure support for educational settings that
improves the inclusion of children and young people
with autism and behaviours that challenge services

• Review the local Short Break/Respite offer to ensure
sufficient high-quality short break options are available to
meet the needs of families
• Support the review of the high needs funding school
allocation model to secure cost-effective use of the High
Needs Block
• Participate in regional collaboration for commissioning of
future hospice care for children
• Review the current arrangements for securing equipment
aids and adaptations

Key Actions and Core deliverables

• Support the completion of Durham’s Joint Health
Needs Assessment for children and young people
with SEND
• Analyse the travel needs of young people to
inform the development of independent travel
training options that will support independence
and access to opportunities

Enablers
Participation

Partnerships, Collaboration and Integration

Performance Management and Governance

• The voice of children, young people and their
families is integral to the commissioning process

•

• All opportunities for children and young people’s
involvement in the development and coproduction of services is maximised

•

• The performance and impact of commissioned
services is captured on a quarterly basis through
the development of impact and evidence statements
• The impact of commissioned services is monitored
by the Integrated Steering Group for Children on a
quarterly basis

•
•

Strong working relationships with internal
operational colleagues alongside Procurement,
Legal and Communication and Marketing teams
Participation in appropriate regional collaborative
commissioning to secure efficiencies
All opportunities for integrated and place-based
commissioning are maximised

Page 371

13

Page 372

Monitoring and Review
The commissioning actions, activities and core deliverables are captured within an operational planning tool that sets out responsibilities, timelines and anticipated impact. Overall
progress against each of the key actions is scheduled to be monitored via the Durham Joint Commissioning Group and Integrated Steering Group for Children.
Reports regarding the progress of specific commissions will provided to the following groups:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Children’s Services Senior Management Team
Education Senior Management Team
Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children Management Team
Public Health Senior Management Team
Commissioning Management Group
SEND Strategy and Accountability Group
Children & Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Group
Durham, Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group and North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group Joint Executive

14

Appendix 3
Durham County Council Children and Young People’s Commissioning Action Plan 2019-2020
Commissioning Priority

Key Actions

Timescales

Governance

Anticipated Impact

Develop a local Residential
Strategy to ensure best use is
made of DCC residential settings
alongside independent residential
options to meet the needs of
children who require residential
accommodation

▪

Review existing residential options and identify gaps in relation to
emerging need
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
And present strategic recommendations for consideration
Develop procure and mobilise new residential arrangements
Review impact

October 2019

CSCMT
CYPSMT

▪

Analyse the needs of children,
young people and their families to
inform the development of support
options that will secure placement
stability

▪

Undertake needs analysis to inform the range of support options
required to meet the needs of vulnerable children and their
families
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Procure a framework of support services which is operational
from September 2019
Review impact

April 2019

Review existing service delivery model to inform options
appraisal
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Procure and mobilise Advocacy Services
Review impact

October 2019

Agree location of 2nd home and property – April 2019
Support planning application – June 2019
Work with Placements and PRP to identify children and young
people who will be placed – August 2019
Progress 3rd home (based on need) – timescales TBC

April 2019
June 2019

Undertake needs analysis to inform the range of supported living
options required to meet the needs of vulnerable young people
whose needs challenge traditional services
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Procure a framework of support living options which are
operational from September 2019
Review impact

April 2019

Vary employee support contract to extend DCC employee
support arrangements to all local care leavers
Promote services to all local care leavers
Review impact

June 2019

▪
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪

Review and reprocurement of the
Children’s Advocacy Service in
preparation for current contract and
date

▪
▪
▪
▪

Continue to work with an identified
provider to implement a further 2 x
solo / two bedded children’s home
in Durham in line with agreed
business case and budget

▪
▪
▪

Commission and procure
supported living 16+ services for
young people who have needs that
challenge services

▪

▪

▪
▪
▪
▪

Build upon best practice identified
nationally to improve the
availability of support options for
local care leavers

▪
▪
▪

December 2019
▪
▪

March 2020
June 2020

CSCMT

▪

June 2019
September 2019

▪

December 2019

▪
Children’s Social Care
Management Team

▪

November 2019
▪

March 2020
June 2020
CSCMT
CYPSMT

▪
▪
▪

August 2019

CSCMT
CYPSMT

▪
▪
▪

June 2019
September 2019

Increased options available to meet the needs of
children looked after who require residential
settings
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Reduction in the numbers of children placed out
of county in independent residential settings

Development of a menu of support / outreach /
respite services available for children, young
people and families on the edge of care or
children looked after to support placement
stability
Contribution to the reductions in the numbers of
children looked after
Reduction in placement breakdowns where the
children are looked after
Develop improved delivery model to meet the
increasing demand for advocacy support for
vulnerable children and young people in County
Durham
Secure the voice of children and young people in
decisions that affect them
Increase in residential provision for children and
young people with complex needs who require
smaller settings
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Local Authority is able to meet its sufficiency
duties for children with complex needs
Increase in supported living options for young
people with complex needs who require smaller
settings
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Local Authority is able to meet its sufficiency
duties for young people with complex needs

December 2019

July 2019
September 2019

CSCMT

▪
▪

Page 373

Increase in the availability of a wide range of selfhelp support options available to local care
leavers
Contribution to improved outcomes for local care
leavers linked to emotional, health and wellbeing,
accommodation, money matters, employability,
independence, relationships

Page 374

Commissioning Priority

Key Actions

Timescales

Governance

Anticipated Impact

Review the local Sufficiency
Strategy to ensure sufficient highquality accommodation options are
available to meet the needs of
children looked after

▪

Undertake needs analysis to inform the range of accommodation
options required to meet the needs of children looked after
Review existing accommodation options to identify gaps in
relation to emerging need and develop proposed accommodation
solutions
Present strategy for consideration
Implement Sufficiency Strategy
Review impact

May 2019

CYPSMT
CMT
Cabinet

▪

Monitor uptake, service delivery and outcomes for the client
group throughout pilot.
Understand how current delivery model could be expanded to
cover County Durham
Explore commissioning options prior to pilot ending in April 2020.

June 2019

Pre-Birth Group
CYPSMT
AHSMT

▪

Agree long term direction for the solution i.e. one regional
solution or split NE7/Tees Valley
Agree uplift rates
Support the procurement of the solution
Support mobilisation of Independent Fostering Agency Solution
Measure impact

May 2019

Regional Strategic
Commissioning Group
CYPSMT

▪

Review of service specification (including carer break’s service)
and key performance indicators
Negotiate changes with existing provider
Issue contract variation

May 2019

▪
▪
▪
▪

Evaluate the impact of the PAUSE
pilot programme to inform future
commissioning intentions

▪
▪
▪

Participate in the regional review of
the Independent Fostering
framework in preparation for
contract end date

▪

Review young carer’s service
specification and KPI’s to capture
impact

▪

▪
▪
▪
▪

▪
▪

July 2019

▪
▪

August 2019
September 2019
December 2019

July 2019

▪

August 2019

July 2019
August 2019
October 20129
January 2020

June 2019
July 2019

▪
▪

Commissioning
Management Group
EHIVCMT

▪
▪
▪

Undertake an analysis of the
speech, language and
communication needs of children
to inform a whole system response

▪

Support the health needs
assessment of higher education
students attending Durham
University

▪

Review and reprocurement of the
existing 0-19 health visiting and
school nursing service

▪

▪
▪

▪
▪

▪
▪
▪

Local Authority is able to meet its sufficiency
duties for children looked after
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Reduction in the numbers of children placed out
of county in independent residential settings

Review existing arrangements for identifying and responding to
children and young people’s speech, language and
communication needs and identify gaps in local service provision
Develop recommendations
Present strategic recommendations for consideration

June 2019

Review existing arrangements for identifying and responding to
children and young people’s speech, language and
communication needs and identify gaps in local service provision
Develop recommendations
Present strategic recommendations for consideration

June 2019

Review the existing service and pathways, including service user
consultation exercise - during 2019
Engage with the provider market
Tender issued January 2020
New contract and service mobilisation

September 2019

CYPSMT
Integrated Steering
Group for Children

▪

July 2019
September 2019
PHSMT
Integrated Steering
Group for Children

▪
▪

July 2019
September 2019

October 2019
January 2020
September 2020

▪

0-25 Procurement Board
PHSMT
AHSMT
CYPSMT

▪

Contribution to reductions in the number of
children looked after.
Improved outcomes for women who have had
two or more children removed from their care
linked to emotional health and wellbeing,
relationships, substance misuse, accommodation
Continued availability of Independent Fostering
options to support local sufficiency arrangements
for children looked after
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Reduction in the numbers of children placed out
of county in independent residential settings
New service specification and carer breaks
specification updated in line with current service
delivery.
KPI’s updated to secure improved understanding
if service impact
Contribution to improved outcomes for local
young carers linked to physical and emotional,
health and wellbeing, relationships and education
Increased understanding of local need and gaps
in services to inform commissioning intentions
and service development activity
Improved outcomes for children linked to earlier
identification and access to support
Increased understanding of local need and gaps
in services to inform commissioning intentions
and service development activity
Improved outcomes for higher education
students linked to emotional health and
wellbeing, relationships, and academic
achievement
New 0-25 commissioned service in place,
improving public health outcomes for young
people and families with enhanced support to
young people who are SEND and vulnerable
young people.

Commissioning Priority

Key Actions

Timescales

Governance

Anticipated Impact

Reprocurement of One Point
Creche Framework

▪

September 2019

EHIVCMT

▪

To continue to allow the One Point Service to
purchase creche services at a cost-efficient rate.

Procure digital on-line counselling
service to promote swift access to
counselling for young people

▪
▪
▪

Review and identify future need to determine if procurement
exercise needs to be undertaken for a new framework to be in
place by 1 April 2020.
Explore the provider market to asses current digital offer options
Commission a Digital Offer for all CYP across County Durham
Monitor uptake, service delivery and outcomes of the
commissioned Digital Offer.

May 2019
October 2019
January 2020

CYPMHLTP

▪

Improved emotional health and wellbeing leading
to reductions in inappropriate referrals to Tier 3
CAMHS services

Support Durham Clinical
Commissioning Groups to evaluate
the effectiveness of local
preventative mental health services

▪

Monitor service delivery and outcomes for existing preventative
Mental Health Contracts (Rollercoaster, CYP Bereavement
Support etc)
Review existing preventative mental health service options and
identify gaps in relation to emerging need
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration

July 2019

CYPMHLTP
PHSMT

▪

Improved emotional health and wellbeing leading
to reductions in inappropriate referrals to Tier 3
CAMHS services

Undertake needs analysis to inform the range of support options
required to meet the needs of children and young people with
SEND and their families and identify gaps in local service
provision
Develop recommendations
Present strategic recommendations for consideration

June 2019

PHSMT
EHIVCMT
Integrated Steering
Group for Children

▪

Increased understanding of local need and gaps
in services to inform commissioning intentions
and service development activity
Improved outcomes for children with SEND
linked to physical and emotional health and
wellbeing, relationships, academic achievement
and progression, independence, employability
and accommodation

Review existing service delivery model to inform options
appraisal
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Procure and mobilise Advocacy Services
Review impact

October 2019

SEND Joint
Commissioning Group
EHIVCMT

▪

Review existing service delivery models to inform options
appraisal
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Transform local Therapy Services in preparation for new
academic year
Review impact

September 2019

Undertake needs analysis to inform the range of travel training
options required to meet the needs of vulnerable children and
young people with SEND
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Review existing short break/respite options and identify gaps in
relation to emerging need
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration
Develop procure and mobilise new short break/ respite
arrangements

▪
▪
▪

Support the completion of
Durham’s Joint Health Needs
Assessment for children and young
people with SEND

▪

▪
▪

Review and recommission SEND
Mediation Service

▪
▪
▪
▪

Jointly transform the local Speech
and Language Therapy,
Occupational Therapy and
Physiotherapy services

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Co-produce and commission an
independent travel service for
young people with SEND

▪
▪

Page 375

Review the local Short
Break/Respite offer to ensure
sufficient high-quality options are
available to meet the needs of
families of children with SEND

▪
▪
▪

August 2019
October 2019

July 2019
September 2019

November 2019

▪

▪

March 2020
June 2020
SEND Joint
Commissioning Group
EHIVCMT
Integrated Steering
Group for Children
CCG Joint Executive
Group

▪

April 2019

SEND Joint
Commissioning Group

▪

June 2019

EHIVCMT
AHSMT

September 2019

CSCMT
CYPSMT

December 2019
July 2020
December 2020

▪

▪

▪

December 2019
▪
March 2020

Develop improved delivery model to meet the
increasing demand for mediation support for
children and young people with SEND and their
families in County Durham
Secure the voice of children and young people
with SEND in decisions that affect them
Develop improved delivery model to meet the
increasing demand for Therapy services for
children and young people with SEND and their
families in County Durham
Improved outcomes for children with SEND
linked to physical and emotional health and
wellbeing, relationships, academic achievement
and progression, independence, employability
and accommodation
Anticipated reduction in young people with SEND
requiring local authority transport
Improved outcomes linked to independence and
employability

Increased options available to meet the respite
needs of families who care for children and
young people with SEND
Reduction in the number of families experiencing
crisis and requiring children services intervention

Page 376

Commissioning Priority

Develop and implement
commissioning and monitoring
process for future allocation of high
needs funding to schools

Key Actions

Timescales

▪

Review impact

June 2020

▪

Develop localised commissioning arrangements delegated to
Communities of Learning.
Agree a selection-criteria against SEND priorities in the allocating
of high needs funding against business cases and demonstrated
needs.
Implement working with Schools Forum.

October 2019

Support regional needs analysis to inform the range of hospice
options required and identify gaps in relation to emerging need
Explore options appraisal with regional colleagues for future
commissioning of hospice care on a regional basis
Develop options appraisal, associated business cases
and present strategic recommendations for consideration

December 2019

Agree long term direction for the solution i.e. one regional
solution or split NE7/Tees Valley
Agree uplift rates
Support the procurement of the solution
Support mobilisation of Independent Fostering Agency Solution
Measure impact

May 2019

▪
▪

Participate in regional collaboration
for commissioning of future
hospice care for children

▪
▪
▪

Participate in the regional review of
the Independent Fostering
framework in preparation for
contract end date

Review the current arrangements
for securing equipment, aids and
adaptations

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Work jointly with stakeholders to over-see a number of
workstreams to complete actions agreed in the Review of
equipment, aids and adaptations including:
Development of clear guidance for professionals to assist in
identification.
Development of guidance with families to publish on the local
offer
Exploring potential streamlining and standardisation of existing
processes to be undertaken.
Considering rationalisation and streamlining of Pathways for the
assessment of EAAA, ensuring that these feed into Education,
Health and Care Plan Processes.
Development of a multi-agency process for the approval of
assessments and appropriate funding of EAAA.
Commissioning exercise to be undertaken to consider demand/
needs of EAAA, development of the provider market and
procurement of an appropriate solution to meet needs.
Development of monitoring and review arrangements to be to
include process for reporting and responding to faults.
Existing processes for the storage and recycling to be reviewed,
and recommendations made for future arrangements that should
achieve future efficiencies.
Transition arrangements to be agreed for EAAA when children
and young people move between settings.
Review impact

December 2019

Governance

Anticipated Impact
Reduction in the numbers of children looked after
with SEND
Appropriate distribution and monitoring of high
needs funding to meet identified SEND priorities
for County Durham

SEND Joint
Commissioning Group
EHIVCMT
Integrated Steering
Group for Children

▪

Reginal Strategic
Commissioning Group
CYPSMT

▪

A regional solution that secures high quality
hospice services that are accessible to families
and demonstrate value for money

Regional Strategic
Commissioning Group
CYPSMT

▪

Continued availability of Independent Fostering
options to support local sufficiency arrangements
for children looked after
Reduction in placement breakdowns
Reduction in the numbers of children placed out
of county in independent residential settings

March 2020

March 2020
July 2020

July 2019
August 2019
October 20129
January 2020

October 2019

September 2020

▪
▪

SEND Joint
Commissioning Group
EHIVCMT

▪
▪
▪

Improved timely access to appropriate equipment
for families
Improved outcomes for children with SEND
linked to physical and emotional health and
wellbeing, inclusion, academic achievement and
progression

Agenda Item 12

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Update on the delivery of the Medium Term
Financial Plan 8
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council and all Cabinet
collectively

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

This report provides an update on the final position of the delivery of the
2018/19 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP8).

Executive summary
2

This report gives detail of the cumulative MTFP savings since 2011 and
confirmation that the savings have been achieved for the MTFP8 period
of 2018/19.

Recommendation
3

Cabinet is recommended to note the contents of this report and the final
position of the savings for MTFP8.

Page 377

Background
4

Cabinet has received regular updates on the progress made by the
Council in delivering the financial targets within the MTFP since
2011/12.

5

MTFP8 savings were agreed by Council in February 2018 and set a
savings target of just under £15 million. This brings the overall savings
target for the period from 2011/12 to 2020/21 to circa £251 million.
MTFP9 savings of just over £10 million were agreed by Cabinet in
February 2019. At the time of writing this report, there is already
significant progress towards these anticipated savings.

Progress to date
6

The delivery of the MTFP is being managed with a very robust
programme management approach being adopted to ensure we take
into account:
(a)

our duties under the Equality Act;

(b)

appropriate consultation;

(c)

the HR implications of the change including consultation with
employees and trade unions;

(d)

communication of the change and the consultation results;

(e)

sound risk management.

7

Through this robust approach we managed the programme to ensure
the savings for 2018/19 were successfully delivered.

8

By the end of the financial year, 2018/19, all the expected savings had
been delivered. We have now made over £224 million of annual savings
including Public Health.

9

Members have been advised of the careful planning and monitoring of
the savings that is carried out, on occasions plans need to change
which could delay when savings are made, but through the ongoing
management of the process we are able to smooth out delivery of
savings using cash limits, ensuring we haven’t missed our overall
savings targets. It is now confirmed that the anticipated savings for
2018/19 have now been achieved.

10

During the year, planned use of cash limits to the value of £376,000
have been used to ensure that services remained in budget.
Assurances are in place that for future years, robust plans have been

Page 378

made for the recurrent savings which limits the use of cash limits to the
2018/19 financial year.

Consultation
11

There has not been any public consultation on MTFP (8) proposals in
the last quarter.

HR Implications
12

During 2018/19 67 employees left via ERVR or VR, we have deleted 0
vacant posts and made 7 posts compulsory redundant.

13

Since 2011, a total of 1581 ERVR applications have been accepted,
704 vacant posts deleted and 593 compulsory redundancies made.

14

Equality data relating to staff leaving through voluntary redundancy,
early retirement and ER/VR during the four quarters of MTFP8 to date
showed that 81% were female and 19% were male. In terms of race,
25.3% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity and the remaining
74.7% stated that they were white British or white English. Regarding
disability status 3.8% said they had a disability, 31.7% had no disability
and 64.5% did not disclose their disability status.

15

The numbers of those leaving through compulsory redundancy are too
low to effectively analyse.

16

Since austerity began in 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving
through voluntary redundancy, showed that 62% were female and 37%
were male. In terms of race, 32% of leavers had not disclosed their
ethnicity, with 67% stating that they were white British or white English.
Regarding disability status 4% said they had a disability, 16% had no
disability and 80% did not disclose their disability status.

17

The higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the exercises
which took place in previous years which focused on traditionally female
occupied professions, (these included the closure of care homes,
reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service and a
restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect).

Equality Impact Assessments
18

Equality impact assessments (EIA) form a key part of the ongoing
MTFP process. A number of initial screenings for new savings and
updated EIAs for ongoing savings were provided to Cabinet ahead of
the budget setting decision in February 2018 and will continue for those
identified for MTFP9. EIA’s are updated regularly throughout the year
to take account of consultation responses and additional evidence and

Page 379

progress against the savings; the updates also include information on
any mitigating actions.
19

The impact assessments and action plans are considered during
decision making processes, for example, updated EIAs are provided
where Cabinet receives a report ahead of consultation and where a
further report is received with any final recommendations.

Developing a New Approach
20

MTFP savings are monitored and managed through a recognised and
robust approach utilising service based savings targets and associated
project plans for their delivery.

21

Through the Transformation Programme, a number of savings for future
years will become more Council Wide and non-service specific due to
cross cutting nature of both efficiency and income generation. In order
to accommodate the changing nature of the savings, the way in which
savings will be monitored and managed will be refreshed for 2019/20 to
include an additional element relating to Council Wide initiatives and
progress towards their achievement. The process will remain
transparent and robust with regular updates to cabinet on progress.

Conclusion
22

We are continuing to plan on the basis that the government’s austerity
plan will continue for several more years. The Council remains in a
strong position to meet the ongoing financial challenges through an
updated and refreshed robust programme management process.

23

For MTFP8 the council has delivered its anticipated savings of £14.8
million and in total we have delivered over £224 million in savings since
2011.

24

Future MTFP monitoring will include an additional element to monitor
progress against Council Wide Transformation based efficiency savings
and income targets.

Recommendation
25

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

Contact:

Page 380

note the contents of this report and that the full anticipated
amount of savings has been delivered during the MTFP8 period.
Andy Palmer

Tel: 03000 268551

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The legal implications of any decisions required are being considered as part of the
delivery of the proposals.

Finance
The delivery of the MTFP involves cumulative saving of approximately
£251million over the period from 2011 to 2021 of which over £224 million has
been delivered to date.

Consultation
A full consultation with a range of stakeholders was undertaken on the MTFP
prior to its agreement and again in 2013 and 2018. In addition, where
appropriate for individual proposals, internal and external consultation plans
are developed so that consultation informs the decision making process.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken for the original 4 year
MTFP plan and additional screening is undertaken for proposals which are
identified for subsequent MTFPs, together with any other changes made to
the original plan. In addition, for each proposal an EIA is undertaken as part
of the decision-making before the proposal is implemented.

Human Rights
N/A.

Crime and Disorder
N/A.

Staffing
Where the proposals affect staff, full consultation is undertaken and the trade
unions consulted. Wherever possible, staff reductions are done through
voluntary means. In addition, there has been a proactive management of
vacancies to lessen the impact on staff and the Council has a redeployment
process which continues to find alternative employment for a number of staff.

Accommodation
As proposals are planned the impact on accommodation is ascertained, with
staff being consulted on any moves as part of the process. The loss of over
2,800 posts from the Authority will mean a requirement for less
Page 381

accommodation and the Office Accommodation Team has built this into the
Office Accommodation Strategy.

Risk
The delivery of the MTFP is highlighted as one of the Council’s strategic risks
and is monitored through the corporate risk management process. In addition,
risks for individual proposals are being monitored through the work
undertaken to deliver the proposal.

Procurement
A number of the proposals involve the changing of existing contracts and this
work is being taken forward through the Council’s agreed procurement
processes.

Page 382

Agenda Item 13

Cabinet
11 September 2019
Council Activity Report
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide
Purpose of the Report
1

To provide an update on work to support some of the council’s key
priorities.

Executive summary
2

The report provides an update on progress towards delivering some of
the council’s key priorities.

3

This month’s report covers:
(a)
(b)
(c)

Welfare assistance
#durham19 Year of Culture update
Regeneration update

Recommendation
4

Cabinet is recommended to note the contents of this update.

Background

5

The council undertakes a great deal of work across the county.

6

This report offers an overview of some key projects.

Page 383

Welfare assistance
7

In County Durham, the council is working with its partners to support
people across the county, some of whom are in work but on a low
income, who are struggling to pay their rent, mortgage or household
bills. Below is an overview of some of the welfare initiatives taking
place.

8

The council’s Welfare Assistance Scheme has an annual budget of
£1million. It has maintained this scheme at a time when many other
local authorities have cut similar support schemes.

9

Most of the scheme’s budget is used to provide short term help to those
in need to meet daily living expenses or housing costs, for example,
those leaving care or anyone who has been made homeless. Last year
the scheme helped 3,436 residents with payments totalling just under
£650,000.

10

The Welfare Assistance Scheme also helps fund projects such as The
Durham Foodbank, the FEED project in East Durham and the NE First
Credit Union. Last year, hundreds of volunteers helped The Durham
Foodbank provide 19,336 food baskets across the county and the
FEED project to distribute 1,742 food parcels.

Page 384

11

The county has different needs across its geographical area, so the
county’s 14 Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) each receive £10,000
from the Welfare Assistance Scheme to fund local projects to help
people into employment, provide financial and benefits guidance and
tackle food poverty. Last year more than 8,000 residents received help
from 16 different AAP projects across the county.

12

The county’s AAPs have also supported struggling families. In 2017/18,
more than four million children in the UK were living in poverty; this
equates to nine children in a class of 30. In County Durham,
approximately 21,000 children (24 per cent) live in poverty, and 18 per
cent live in low-income households.

13

Last year several of the AAPs ran school holiday programmes and
provided healthy meals and snacks, supporting families and helping to
combat holiday hunger when children are not at school and don’t have
access to a daily school meal.

14

Building on this work, the authority’s Poverty Action Steering Group has
recently allocated £150,000 of additional funding for holiday activities
with food from now until September 2020.

15

£140,000 of the money will be divided between the 14 AAPs to allocate
to schemes that provide opportunities for youngsters and families to
socialise, be active and learn new skills, while tucking into healthy
meals and snacks.

16

The remaining £10,000 will be made available for countywide projects
led by the VCS Alliance, our One Point Think Family, culture and sport,
and education and skills services and NHS Harrogate and District
Foundation Trust who provide health and school nurse services for the
council’s schools.

17

The council’s family centres also offer support as well as key family
services. They provide easily accessible clothing swaps and some have
free food collection points with the motto ‘if you need it, take it’.

18

School costs can also be significant. The council offers training to help
schools reduce the costs of the school day for parents, with ideas
such as:
a) Developing a yearly planner of trips to allow families to budget
and plan ahead
b) Introducing pre-loved uniform/swap shop sales
c) Reducing the number of charity events/dress-up days

Page 385

19

The council has many employment initiatives to help the county’s
residents to into work, education and training. July’s Cabinet activity
report featured some of them.

20

The AAPs support the Wheels to Work moped loan scheme, which
helps people to travel to work or training.

21

Since its launch in 2016, the scheme’s fleet of 42 mopeds has been
used to help more than 100 people into employment, education or
training.

22

The council provides help to residents, particularly the over 75s, to
claim any benefits they are entitled to. Four additional welfare rights
officers have been appointed to focus specifically on claims for
Attendance Allowance, Personal Independence Payments, Pension
Credits, Carers Allowance, Working Age and In-Work Benefits and
Early Years support.

23

In the first three months of this year, the council has generated a further
£622,000 in financial benefits for vulnerable people living in the county.
Its welfare rights service also supports people who have been
sanctioned to get what they are entitled to. In 2018/19 we generated
£4.8million in financial benefits through representation at appeals on
residents’ behalf.

Page 386

24

The council’s Housing Solutions team was contacted 12,000 times
last year for help with a range of issues, from landlord disputes to
fleeing domestic abuse. That is an 11 per cent increase from 2017/18.
The team works with people who are at risk of losing their home, to
prevent this happening, and helps homeless people to find a new home.

25

The authority recently secured hundreds of thousands of pounds in
funding to help rough sleepers across the North East.
• £700,000 will be used to recruit rough sleeper coordinators and
workers to help tackle specific problems, such as homelessness
after release from prison or because of drug and alcohol misuse.
• £628,000 will be used to set up assessment centres in Durham
and Gateshead to give homeless people immediate access to
somewhere safe to stay whilst suitable housing is found, and to
employ staff to help vulnerable people to maintain their tenancy.
• £242,498 will be used to establish a lettings agency, which will
help secure housing for homeless people.

26

The council’s housing team also helps residents keep their homes
warm. Fuel poverty occurs when you cannot afford to heat your
household to a healthy temperature. In County Durham 33,500
households (14 per cent of all homes) are in fuel poverty.

27

The council works with public health colleagues to contact residents
with cold related ill health such as Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary
Disease (COPD) and asthma who are living in cold homes. In County
Durham we helped 912 households to claim central heating/boiler
grants worth £2.6 million in 2018/19.

28

The Managing Money Better scheme helps households to access
lower energy tariffs and switch energy providers. In 2018/19, the
initiative helped 386 households to save more than £66,000.

#durham19 Year of Culture update
29

County Durham has seen continued growth and investment in cultural,
sporting and heritage activity during the past few years thanks to
support from the county council and its partners.

30

This year sees the results of this sustained investment with an
unprecedented year of openings, activities, festivals, events and
anniversaries. Designated as the county’s Year of Culture, and badged
as #Durham19, 2019 sees a year-long marketing campaign delivered
by Visit County Durham, Durham County Council, County Durham
Cultural Partnership and partners from across the county.

Page 387

31

The campaign is promoted by a Visit County Durham marketing
campaign which is supported by the council and other cultural partners.

32

The following information is an overview of #Durham19 activity since
the last update was given to Cabinet in June 2019 taking in the period
June to August.

33

On 1 June, Durham Cathedral's central tower reopened to the public
following a three-year renovation project.

34

There was more food on the menu for food lovers in June with the
inaugural Seaham Food Festival on Saturday 8 and Sunday 9 June.
The line-up featured celebrity chefs John Torode and Phil Vickery.

35

Unfortunately, strong winds and torrential rain meant the first day of the
festival had to be cancelled, and with-it John Torode’s appearance, but
thankfully the weather improved dramatically on Sunday and the festival
was able to go ahead as planned.

36

Almost 15,000 people visited on Sunday. The turnout was so great that
many traders sold two days' worth of produce in a single day, with some
selling out altogether. Town centre businesses also reported a bumper
day's trade.

37

Celebrations to mark five decades of partnership between County
Durham and its German twin town, Tubingen, took place in June with an
evening of free entertainment. Tübingen50 featured a programme of
live music, film, poetry and storytelling, all with a German theme, and
was centred in and around Durham City's Millennium Place.

38

In June and July the country watched on as England won the Cricket
World Cup after reaching their first world cup final in 27 years.

Page 388

39

For County Durham the matches played in the county at the Emirates
Riverside Ground in Chester-le-Street were also a major success. An
estimated 70,000 people from around the world flocked to the county to
enjoy the fixtures at the ground and to the fanzone in Durham City.
Almost 70% of visitors were from out of county and even popstar
Rihanna turned up to cheer on her team. The county ground, with the
beautiful backdrop of Lumley Castle, was showcased to a huge global
TV audience.

40

Retailers in Chester-le-Street enjoyed a boost to business with cricket
fans stopping off on their way to and from the ground. More than 27,000
people enjoyed the free-to-enter Cricket World Cup fanzone, split
across Millennium Place and the Market Place in Durham City, enjoying
the cricket on big screens, food, entertainers, music and cricket themed
games and activities.

41

Through the AAPs, 100 tickets were given to community and voluntary
groups across the county and two local heroes, Janice Nokni and Jan
Vincent from Aspire, were chosen to lead the Cricket World Cup out at
the first match, honouring their community work towards women’s
development.

42

Record-breaking crowds experienced the excitement and diversity of
21st century brass thanks to BRASS - County Durham's liveliest
music festival in July.

Page 389

43

More than 40,000 people experienced this year's festival, a ten-day
musical extravaganza which culminated in a free open-air party at
Wharton Park in Durham.

44

During the first weekend of BRASS, the annual Durham Miners’ Gala,
organised by Durham Miners’ Association, drew tens of thousands to
the city. A fantastic celebration of the county’s industrial heritage, it was
great to see our local communities coming together and bringing their
colliery bands and banners to march through the streets of Durham.

45

Since 1915, the home of the Durham Miners’ Association has been the
magnificent Redhills: Durham Miners Hall. In July, the council’s
Cabinet agreed a £1.1 million contribution towards plans to restore it
and transform the historic building into a vibrant community and arts
hub, preserving its rich heritage as a pitman’s parliament and ensuring
that it survives and thrives for generations to come.

46

It was also the Apollo Pavilion’s 50th birthday celebration in July - at
the same time as the anniversary of the moon landings– hence its
name.

47

A free-of-charge musical extravaganza took place at the structure, on
Peterlee’s Sunny Blunts estate, featuring performances from Mr
Wilson's Second Liners and Oompah Brass, as part of Durham's
BRASS Festival, and Barry Hyde, lead singer of the Futureheads, who
worked with local schools to create a new song to mark the occasion.

48

The event was part of a year of activities organised by us to celebrate
50 years of the Pavilion, which have already seen a light installation in
March by artists Mader Wiermann commissioned by Lumiere producers,
Artichoke.

Page 390

49

The Durham City Running Festival took place at the end of the July.
This year it was extended to a three-day celebration incorporating the
annual Durham City 5k and 10k Run and a new family activity event,
headed-up by three-time London marathon winner Paula Radcliffe,
amongst other activities. The festival is delivered by Events of the North
in partnership with the council and a number of sponsors including
Durham University, Prince Bishops Shopping Centre and Atom Bank.

50

Almost 3,000 runners took part in the Durham City Run in sweltering
conditions on what was the hottest day of the year.

51

Other activities over the summer period included:
a) A visit from The Flying Scotsman to Locomotion at Shildon for
just over 2 weeks to celebrate the museum’s 15th anniversary.
b) Spectacular performances of Kynren: an epic tale of England
every Saturday evening until mid - September.
c) Norman Cornish celebrations including a Cornish Trail in
Spennymoor, exhibitions in Norman Cornish’s hometown of
Spennymoor, at the Mining Art Gallery in Bishop Auckland, and at
Gala Gallery in Durham City, all marking the centenary of the
internationally- recognised painter’s birth. Celebratory activity
continues throughout the year, including work at Beamish to
rebuild Cornish’s house as part of the museum’s new 1950s
town.

52

Looking forward to the rest of the year, we can look forward to the
completion of The Auckland Project’s multi-million pound
redevelopment of Auckland Castle.
Page 391

53

September sees a number of agricultural shows taking place including
the biggest of the year at Wolsingham. Last year’s show attracted
almost 30,000 visitors providing a boost to the town’s economy.

54

In October both the Durham Book Festival and The Take-Off Festival
will take place. The Durham Book Festival headliners this year include
Alexander McCall Smith, Joanne Harris and Mark Haddon. This year’s
Big Read is Brooklyn by Colm Toibin. 3,000 copies of the novel will be
distributed to schools, libraries, businesses. prisons and university
buildings.

55

The Take-Off Festival is the country’s leading children’s theatre festival
and returns to the county from Monday 21 to Saturday 26 October with
a week of world-class shows for families which includes over 70
performances in 10 venues across the county and a spectacular Family
Day finale in Durham City.

56

The year culminates with the tenth anniversary edition of Lumiere,
the UK’s largest light festival, which will bring together favourite
installations from past festivals, along with some brand new ones, from
14 – 17 November. The five previous Lumiere events have attracted a
combined total of more than 840,000 visitors and brought joint
economic benefits of £28.7million. Artichoke artists have also worked
with around 5,000 people of all ages across the county as well as
nurturing local talent through the BRILLIANT commissioning
programme.

57

The first programme announcement was made in July with an open call
by the festival’s producers Artichoke inviting piano players of all ages to
perform as part of a spectacular new installation - Keys of Light.
This is an interactive light installation by Dutch artist Mr.Beam.
Triggered by sound, the artwork is co-created by audience members
who will take part in a series of live solo performances.

58

The full festival programme will be announced in mid-October.

Page 392

Regeneration update
59

Durham County Council is committed to ensuring the county is a great
place to live, work and visit, with a thriving economy, good job
opportunities and plenty of places for residents and visitors to relax and
enjoy themselves.

60

A combination of public and private sector investment is crucial to
achieving this and County Durham as a whole is bucking the trend in
terms of investment, with more than £3.4 billion committed across the
county and a range of exciting new developments coming to fruition.

61

The following information is an overview of regeneration and
development activity since the last update was given to Cabinet in June
2019 taking in the period June to August.

62

Central Durham

63

The Riverwalk, a new £40 million development in Durham City, is now
open for business. The development created close to 200 jobs during
construction and a further 120 new jobs in 23 refurbished retail units,
35,000 sq ft of new restaurants and six-screen cinema. The site also
includes 253 student accommodation rooms and a Lane7 bowling alley.

64

Work to further redevelop Durham City’s riverside is continuing, and
construction has formally started on the £150 million transformation of
the former HM Passport Office site. The Milburngate scheme will bring
restaurants, bars and leisure opportunities to the city, along with a 92bedroom hotel and 153 high-quality apartments. The development is

Page 393

expected to create 400 jobs and phase one of construction is scheduled
to be completed in early 2021.

65

Across the river, work has begun on the council’s new city-centre
headquarters which will be a third of the size and more cost effective
than the current County Hall. Initial works on the site began in midAugust and main construction is due to start this month, with an
expected completion date of Autumn 2021.

66

Around 1,000 staff will move to the new HQ building, on the former
Sands car park, helping to boost the city’s economy. A further 850 staff
will relocate to the council’s four other key sites around the county –
Crook, Meadowfield, Spennymoor and Seaham - also helping to boost
the local economy in those areas.

67

During construction, local businesses will have the opportunity to tender
for contracts and approximately 250 new jobs will be created on site by
Kier, who are building the new HQ.

68

The new HQ will pave the way for a new multi-million pound
business district at Aykley Heads, creating up to 6,000 jobs and
delivering a £400 million economic boost.

69

Work has also begun on a multi-million-pound scheme to improve
junction 61 of the A1(M) at Bowburn ahead of the Integra 61
development, which will see 101 acres of industrial units and 270 new
homes constructed in the area.

70

The £4.5 million road scheme, which has been funded by the council,
Highways England and Roadchef, will see new lanes constructed and
the current lanes widened to increase capacity.

Page 394

71

We are supporting an ambitious £377 million bid to transform travel
across the region, which if successful would fund a number of major
improvements to Durham City’s transport infrastructure between
2020 and 2023.

72

The North East Joint Transport Committee, made up of representatives
from the North East and North of Tyne combined authorities, confirmed
the region's outline bid for Government Transforming Cities funding,
a £1.28 billion pot for schemes that encourage sustainable travel.

73

Projects identified within the proposed outline bid include the expansion
of the Durham City park and ride site at Sniperley and the creation of an
additional site in the Stonebridge area, complete with electric vehicle
charging points; improved pedestrian access at Durham Railway
Station, linking the A691 and the southbound platform; demolition and
replacement of Durham Bus Station with improved facilities; the
introduction and extension of bus priority lanes on the approaches to
Durham City and improved walking and cycling routes into the city.

74

The outline bid will now be submitted to the Department for Transport,
with a final business case expected to be finalised by November. A final
announcement about whether the bid has been successful is expected
in early 2020.

75

To the south of the city, designs for a new Durham History Centre,
which will bring together archive, heritage and registration services for
the county, were presented to residents. During a six-week consultation,
residents commented on the look and layout of the centre, exhibition
plans and digital access to services as well as the registration service.

Page 395

76

The centre, which will be run by Durham County Council, will be based
in the Grade II listed Mount Oswald Manor. Subject to planning
permission, it will be restored and refurbished to provide a multi-use
heritage centre where visitors will be able to explore nationally and
internationally significant collections.

77

On the nearby university campus, construction continues on a new
building which will house Durham University’s expanding
Mathematical Sciences and Computer Science departments on the
Upper Mountjoy site. Work on a new £40 million Teaching and Learning
Centre, with state-of-the-art facilities, at Lower Mountjoy, is due to be
completed this month.

78

The university’s £32 million development of an integrated Sports Park at
Maiden Castle is also well underway and is due to be completed this
winter. The university has also announced plans to relocate its Business
School to the former Durham Baths site on Elvet Riverside and is
working on proposals.

79

Planning permission has been granted for £8 million of infrastructure
improvements at the university including improvements to pedestrian,
cycling and road user movement around its campuses and work is due
to begin this autumn.

80

East Durham

81

In July, plans for a new multi-million-pound business park development
on a former colliery and cokeworks near Murton were approved.

82

The first phase of the proposed Jade Business Park development
offers seven industrial buildings with service yards and integrated
offices – all set in an easily accessible location, with the A19 trunk road
providing links to Hartlepool, Sunderland and directly to major motorway
networks.

83

The development has been made possible with almost £14 million of
funding for highway and infrastructure works from the North East Local
Enterprise Partnership and the Highways Agency.

84

Site works began in August and are expected to take around nine
months. The road leading directly from the site to the A19 has already
been completed. The 55-acre site, which will be owned by the county
council and managed by Business Durham, has the potential for up to
750,000 sq ft of space for offices, large scale manufacturing and
distribution tenants.

85

In neighbouring Seaham, a major new housing and development
scheme was given garden village status by the government in June.

Page 396

86

South Seaham Garden Village, a partnership between Durham
County Council, Tolent and Home Group, will bring 1,500 new homes,
half of which will be affordable, to the area, alongside shops, a café, a
new primary school, a park, a village square, and a health and wellbeing community hub, which includes a gym.

87

Planning permission has already been granted for the development on
the outskirts of the coastal town and work is expected to begin early
next year with the first new homes being available by 2020.

88

It is anticipated that the development will create around 1,000 jobs,
including 500 new construction jobs and 300 jobs in the centre of the
village.

89

Work is progressing on a new £10.55 million railway station at
Horden, which is expected to boost the economy and improve transport
links for east Durham, following a ground-breaking ceremony in May.
The scheme, near Peterlee, will link the area into the local, regional and
national rail network and support wider regeneration in the area.

90

Durham County Council has been working closely with Network Rail
and Northern Railway on the project, which is being funded by the
authority, with £4.4 million from the Department for Transport’s New
Stations Fund and a grant from the North East Local Enterprise
Partnership LEP.

91

The station is expected to open to passengers in spring 2020.

92

South and west Durham

93

In July, Bishop Auckland was announced as one of 50 shortlisted
locations hoping to secure funding from multi-million fund designed to
help transform the high street and will receive up to £150,000 to work
up detailed project proposals, based on its initial plans.

Page 397

94

From improving transport and access into town centres to converting
retail units into new homes, the Government’s £675 million Future High
Streets Fund will help local leaders to reinvent their town centres.

95

On 30 July, planning permission was granted for the creation of a £140
million business park with the potential to create up to 3,200 jobs in
Newton Aycliffe.

96

Forrest Park (Newton Aycliffe) Limited will develop a 55-hectare site
located at the southeast of the town for commercial and manufacturing
use, including 1.75 million square feet of business, industrial,
warehouse and trade units, a 60-bed hotel, public house, roadside
restaurant and retail units next to the A1.

97

Forrest Park, a joint venture by the council and the Forrest family,
supported by commercial property developer Richardson Barberry, will
extend Aycliffe Business Park to become the largest in the North East
and has the potential to boost the county’s economy by almost half a
billion pounds over the next 20 years.

98

On 1 August, the new Azuma train, built by the Hitachi Newton Aycliffe
manufacturing team, stopped at Durham station for the first time.
London North Eastern Railway’s (LNER) new fleet was built by Hitachi's
UK manufacturing team at the company’s 700 staff site at Merchant
Park.

99

The arrival of Azuma to County Durham comes just after Hitachi won
the £400 million contract to build trains for the East Midlands Railway.

100

Work is ongoing on an extension to NETPark, the North East’s leading
science and technology park, with a 10-year strategy aiming to create
3,000 jobs and add another £400 million to the region’s GVA.

101

Commercial property specialists Cushman and Wakefield have been
appointed by Business Durham to advise on development options at

Page 398

NETPark Phase 3 with outline plans being developed for an initial
phase of up to 80,000 sq ft of new space for expanding science and
technology businesses.

102

The County Durham science park has been a huge success since
opening in 2004, attracting many innovative companies to relocate to
the region and providing space for university spin-offs.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
Contact:

Michelle Atkinson

Tel: 03000 268049

Page 399

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.
Finance
Not applicable.
Consultation

Not applicable.
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not applicable.
Human Rights
Not applicable.
Crime and Disorder
Not applicable.
Staffing
Not applicable.
Accommodation
Not applicable.
Risk
Not applicable.
Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 400

Agenda Item 14

.

Cabinet
11 September 2019
A Digital Strategy for County Durham
Ordinary Decision/Key Decision No.

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Andrea Patterson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for
Corporate Services and Rural Issues
Councillor Joy Allen, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Transformation,
Culture and Tourism

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To adopt the Council’s new Digital Strategy for the County.

Executive summary
2

In 2014 the Council adopted a Customer First Strategy with three core
objectives:
•

To provide easy to use and effective ways for people to contact
us

•

To provide responsive and customer focussed services

•

To use customer feedback for learning and to improve services.

3

Since that time, and in delivery of the Customer First strategy, the
Council’s digital offer to its customers has seen dramatic improvement.

4

The Council is now delivering an ambitious programme of
Transformation with the overall objectives of:

Page 401

•

Redesigning our services to better meet our customers’ needs at
reduced cost to the Council.

•

Helping communities become more self-reliant and resilient

•

Moving our partnership working from good to great

•

Becoming renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our
employee engagement.

5

Digital is central to the achievement of these transformational goals.

6

The new Digital Strategy sets out the Council’s digital ambitions for the
County. It provides a framework within which these ambitions can be
delivered, and aligns to the interlocking objectives of the Revised
Council Vision and the Transformation Programme.

7

The new strategy is set out under three main themes along with
individual service specific ambitions set out by each service grouping.
The three themes are:
•

Digital Customer

•

Digital Organisation

•

Digital Communities

8

The new strategy has been designed to be a presented and consumed
primarily as digital document and although hard copies will be available
on request, this will be by exception.

9

The full document is included in Appendix 3 and can be viewed at:
Durham County Council Digital Strategy

Recommendation(s)
10

Cabinet is recommended to:
approve the adoption of the new Digital Strategy;
Approve the publication of the Digital Strategy on the Council’s website.

Page 402

Background
11

For most people, digital technology is an essential part of daily life. We
live in an increasingly connected world. The internet has given us
access to a world of information and entertainment. We can shop, bank,
and transact with public services on a 24/7 basis and we can share our
thoughts, opinions and photographs with the world instantly through
social media. Global communication is readily available and
instantaneous.

12

These connections have changed the way people expect to interact with
their Council to request, access and receive our services.

13

To meet these changing expectations the Council continues to enhance
and expand its digital offer. This means getting the most out of
technology to increase choice and improve quality, finding innovative
solutions that allow us to work in better and smarter ways and helping
our communities to thrive in a digital world.

14

In 2014 the Council adopted a Customer First Strategy with three core
objectives:
•

To provide easy to use and effective ways for people to contact
us

•

To provide responsive and customer focussed services

•

To use customer feedback for learning and to improve services.

15

Since that time, and in delivery of the Customer First strategy, the
Council’s digital offer to its customers has seen dramatic improvement.

16

The significant improvements to our website and online services has
resulted in a substantial change in how people contact us. Over one
hundred thousand customers are now choosing to transact with the
Council online through our easy to use ‘do it online’ service along with
more service specific systems in areas such as culture, leisure and
planning. Online is now our most popular contact channel for service
requests in many of our most used service areas.

17

Not only is transacting online easy and convenient for customers, it also
enables us to direct service requests straight to the front line, improving
service response times and increasing efficiency.

18

The way we deliver services has also changed. Mobile digital devices
are now routinely used in frontline service delivery, harnessing the
power of digital and data to provide a better customer experience.
Digital devices and paperless working have also delivered efficiencies

Page 403

and improvements to our administrative and decision making
processes.
19

Customers can now provide much more feedback to us when
completing a request, either through our website, by completing one of
our automated satisfaction surveys or by registering a compliment,
suggestion or complaint. Feedback mechanisms are now embedded in
digital service reviews and service designs, bringing us closer to the
customer.

20

As a result, increasing numbers of people are providing feedback on
their online and service experience. Nearly five thousand fully
automated electronic satisfaction surveys have been completed by
customers. This information is actively used to change and shape
service delivery.

21

In 2017 the Council’s transformation programme was launched with the
objectives to:
•

Redesign our services to better meet our customers’ needs at
reduced cost to the Council.

•

Help communities become more self-reliant and resilient

•

Move our partnership working from good to great

•

Become renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our
employee engagement.

22

Digital is central to the achievement of these goals and the new digital
strategy sets out a framework for delivering against them.

23

This ambitious and exciting work continues across all service areas and
ongoing digital implementation projects in Children’s and Young
People’s Services, Adult and Health Services and Regeneration and
Local Services will bring further enhancements to our digital customer
offer. The new strategy also sets out specific ambitions for each of our
service groupings, demonstrating the breadth and depth of the work in
hand.

24

A public consultation exercise on the Council’s digital interactions was
undertaken in November 2018. The results of this have been used to
inform the strategy and the programmes already underway.

Page 404

A new Digital Strategy for County Durham
25

The new Digital Strategy sets out the Council’s digital ambitions for the
County. It provides a framework within which these ambitions can be
delivered, and aligns to the interlocking objectives of the Revised
Council Vision and the Transformation Programme.

26

While the new document is ambitious in its scope, it is also important to
set digital development within a context of providing more choice to
customers and not less. In this respect the Council will maintain the
position of ensuring that access to services is not dependent on digital
access and that other alternatives, through telephone and face to face
services will be available to those who prefer or need them, and also
that digital assistance will be available for those that require it.

Digital Strategy Themes
27

The strategy is structured around three interrelated themes that, when
progressed together, will enable us to achieve our vision of a digital
county.

28

Theme One: Digital Customer, relates to how we improve people’s
experience of interacting with the Council and sets out the Council’s
commitments to improve access to our services through technology and
to be responsive to people’s needs. It is important also to recognise that
our digital developments remain in the context of increasing choice for
customers and not restricting contact to online methods only. The new
strategy will replace the existing Customer First Strategy when
published.

29

Headline commitments in the Digital Customer theme include to:

30

•

Continue to develop online services that are simple and
convenient to use

•

Use online services to provide better information to those using
them

•

Ensure all interactions are as quick, simple and secure as
possible, ensuring service fulfilment at first point of contact

•

Provide support for those who need extra help using digital
technology

Theme Two: Digital Organisation, relates to how we can use digital
within the Council to improve service delivery, operate more efficiently
and deliver positive outcomes for people in the County. It sets out the
Council’s commitments to achieve these goals.

Page 405

31

Headline Commitments in the Digital Organisation theme include to:
•

Continually improve services and processes based on
comprehensive, available data and evidence - including customer
feedback

•

Continue to use digital practices to mobilise our workforce and
support agile working in order to provide a more flexible,
responsive workforce

•

Develop a one council approach, integrating front and back office
with a range of services dealt with at first point on contact (where
appropriate)

•

Use the information and intelligence we hold in a secure and
effective manner

32

Theme Three: Digital Communities, relates to how the Council can work
alongside and within communities to help the people of County Durham
to get the most from digital. This means working across services and
partnerships to enable residents and businesses in the county to use
digital technology to improve their lives, providing them with access to
devices and the internet as well as developing their digital skills, from
the children and young people in our schools to our elderly residents.
Alongside this is the necessary and important role of the Council in
providing the hard infrastructure to connect even our most rural
communities through superfast broadband investment programmes.

33

Headline Commitments in the Digital Communities theme include to:

34

Page 406

•

Be digital leaders for our community and strengthen our digital
partnerships through collaborative working, shared learning and
best practice.

•

Work with partners to enhance connectivity through further
development of our digital infrastructure.

•

Encourage and enhance data sharing.

•

Develop digital skills in our communities through our adult
learning programmes and working with schools and colleges to
ensure our children and young people have the skills demanded
by future employers.

The Strategy also sets out specific digital ambitions for service areas,
showing how digital is enhancing and improving customer interactions
and service delivery across the full range of council services, including
back office and support services.

Digital Strategy Document
35

The new digital strategy has been designed to be a viewed and
consumed primarily as digital document and although hard copies will
be available on request, this will be by exception. The full document can
be viewed at:
Durham County Council Digital Strategy

36

A static form of the full document is also presented in Appendix 3 of this
report for completeness.

Conclusion
37

38

The new Digital Strategy for County Durham sets out the Council’s
digital ambitions for the future under three main themes along with
service specific ambitions set out by each service grouping. The three
themes are:
•

Digital Customer

•

Digital Organisation

•

Digital Communities

The adoption of the new Digital Strategy provides a framework within
which these ambitions can be delivered, and aligns to the interlocking
objectives of the Revised Council Vision and the Transformation
Programme.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
•

Contact:

None

Alan Patrickson, Head of
Digital & Customer Service

Tel: 03000 268165

Page 407

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Digital Strategy sets out a framework for the delivery of the Council’s
digital ambitions. Delivery within this framework will be managed within a
range of project and programme environments, each with individual legal,
contractual and regulatory positions.

Finance
The Digital Strategy sets out a framework for the delivery of the Council’s
digital ambitions. Delivery within this framework will be managed within a
range of project and programme environments, each with individual financing
provision, monitoring and control.

Consultation
A public consultation exercise on the Council’s digital ambitions was
undertaken in November 2018. The results of this exercise were used to
define the position taken in the strategy document.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The proposed digital strategy will have a positive impact across the protected
characteristics in terms of widening choice of access and communication
channels and will positively contribute to our public sector equality duty.
Impact is likely to be particularly positive in terms of age (younger) and for
some disabled people. There is potential disproportionate negative impact in
terms of age (older), some disabled people and gender (both men and
women) who may be more likely to experience digital exclusion. Availability
through traditional contact methods, for example telephone and face-to-face
will continue to be available, also, customer support in the use of digital
channels and staff training will mitigate any negative impact. Furthermore,
providing alternative channels for those that wish to use them will allow us
more time to spend with those that need to contact us face to face and
through telephone. Reasonable adjustments will be made for disabled service
users, customers and staff where appropriate and in line with our duty under
the Equality Act 2010.

Human Rights
Not applicable

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable

Page 408

Staffing
Not applicable

Accommodation
Not applicable

Risk
Not applicable

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 409

Appendix 2: Link to the Digital Strategy

Durham County Council Digital Strategy

Page 410

Appendix 3: Digital Strategy Document

Attached

Page 411

Appendix 4: Equalities Impact Assessment

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard.

Section One: Description and Screening
Service/Team or Section

Customer services – Digital and Customer
Services

Lead Officer

Victoria Murray – Customer relations manager

Title

Digital strategy consultation

MTFP Reference (if
relevant)

NA

Cabinet Date (if relevant)

11 September 2019

Start Date

July 2018 (pre-consultation), updated August
2019

Review Date

October 2020

Page 412

Subject of the Impact Assessment
Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link):

Digital and customer services have developed a new digital strategy with the aim
of enabling customers to access and receive services and information effectively
from a modern, forward thinking council which uses customer insight and digital
technology to build resilient systems which support staff and partners to deliver
value for money services.

Our proposed digital approach has three priority themes underpinning improved
outcomes for our customer and focusses on commitments that will help us drive
forward effective service delivery as a modern, transforming, council. These are

•
•
•

Digital customer
Digital organisation
Digital communities

We recognise that digital access is an essential part of daily life and advances in
technology are changing the way in which customers want to access and receive
services and information from the Council. Within an environment of reducing
resources, we want to use technology to enable us to work more efficiently so that
we can continue to offer our customers choice in how they have fast, effective and
satisfactory dealings with the council.

We are committed to working with our partners to understand the needs of our
residents, businesses and visitors and to deliver services, which meet those
needs. This means reviewing how we work and ensuring that our staff have the
skills to deliver. We want to be able to deal with the demands on our services
effectively and look innovatively at solutions that allow us deliver in a better and
smarter way.

The strategy will continue to offer customer choice over contact and transacting
with the council but, at the same time, use technology as an enabler to support
customers, employees and partners in communicating in new ways that support
ease of access and digital inclusion so that no-one is left behind.

Page 413

The strategy will aim to deliver council transactions (services) electronically via a
range of digital devices connected to the Internet i.e. mobile telephones, tablets,
personal computers etc thus providing choice and flexibility.

Public consultation took place for six weeks from 17 October to 25 November 2018
to seek public views and digital priorities. To ensure inclusivity, targeted sessions
were held with younger people groups, Disability Partnership and paper surveys
made available at customer access points and libraries. All AAP boards received
updates. Feedback has been used to inform the digital strategy.

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific
clients/service users):

General public: County Durham residents, businesses, visitors and
landowners
-

Employees and Elected Members

-

Prescribed bodies including neighbouring authorities

-

North East Combined Authority

-

Town and Parish Councils

-

Area Action Partnerships

-

Groups with protected characteristics

Screening
Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following
protected characteristics?

Protected Characteristic

Page 414

Negative Impact

Positive Impact

Indicate: Y = Yes,

Indicate: Y = Yes,

N = No, ? = unsure

N = No, ? = unsure

Age

?

Y

Disability

?

Y

Marriage and civil partnership

N

N

Pregnancy and maternity

N

Y

Race (ethnicity)

N

N

Religion or Belief

N

N

Sex (gender)

?

Y

Sexual orientation

N

N

Transgender

N

N

(workplace only)

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment.

The Digital Strategy will not include plans to make any services available online
only as this could have a direct or indirect negative impact for some, in particular,
people with disabilities and older people.

Our availability through traditional contact methods for example telephone and
face-to-face will continue to be available but by providing alternative channels for
Page 415

those that wish to use them will allow us more time to spend with those that need
to contact us face to face and through telephone.

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to:
•
•
•

eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,
advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations between people from different groups?

Strategy outcomes will assist advancing equality of opportunity for all. The aim of
the strategy is to make use of and maximise the potential of digital transformation,
making more services and processes available online to those who prefer, whilst
freeing up officer time to support those customers who are most in need.

It will aim to harness a ‘digital culture’ which provides a focus on innovation, using
customer insight, reviewing the way we handle data and investigating the potential
of tools like automation to improve processes across all contact channels.

It will benefit anyone who is able to access the internet, with particular benefit for
customers who:
•
•
•
•
•

may find it difficult to access the Council offices during usual working hours
i.e. working age people and carers
want more choice on how and when to transact with the Council
have physical access, mobility difficulties or sensory impairments
want choice over the communications channel(s) they prefer i.e. mobile
telephone, PC, tablet etc
use or want to learn about the free internet services in customer access
points, libraries and other customer facing council locations

It is understood that not all individuals or communities will have access to the
internet and digital inclusion will form part of the ‘Digital Strategy’ as well as
continued provision of services by telephone, correspondence and face to face.

Reasonable adjustments will be made for disabled service users, customers and
staff where appropriate and in line with our duty under the Equality Act 2010.

Page 416

Evidence
What evidence do you have to support your findings?
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment.

The following evidence sources, along with public consultation feedback has been
used in the development of the strategy and informed our equality analysis in
section two of this assessment:
•
•
•
•

Existing customer services data – which includes metrics (how, when, why
etc) and satisfaction
Customer feedback, complaints and comments to Ombudsman level
Customer satisfaction surveys
National statistics confirming the take up and demand of digital services

Current usage
We currently offer more than 100 services online, with over 40% of our customers
accessing this facility.

Public Consultation 2018
179 respondents participated in the public survey element of the consultation with
55.3% of respondents confirming that they have used the internet to interact with
Durham County Council in the last year. Link to consultation:
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/19438/Digital-Strategy-consultation

In summary, consultation informed us that people in Durham would like to see:
•
•
•
•

a clear and concise website that’s easy to use
increased availability of self-serve technology, with a simple and
uncomplicated log on process
technology used to improve efficiency
all customer information held in one place

Research and data sources
Since 2011, when the Office for National Statistics (ONS) began recording annual
usage data, internet use in the UK has steadily increased. It currently sits at 90%
for the adult population (age 16 and over). For people aged 16 – 44, it has reached
99%. Internet use by older people is still lower than by younger people, and

Page 417

decreases with age: of those aged 65 – 74, 80% have ‘recently’ (within the last 3
months) used the internet, while only 44% of those aged 75+ have. Internet use is
similar for men and women in younger and middle age groups. Among those aged
65 – 74, men are a little more likely to use the internet than women, but there is a
marked difference in the oldest age group as 51% of men aged 75+ have recently
used it compared to 38% of women.

Research undertaken by Ofcom in June 2017: ‘The real digital divide?
Understanding the demographics of non-users and limited users of the
internet: an analysis of Ofcom data’
(https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/research-publications/real-digital-divide)
identifies several characteristics that strongly correlate with digital exclusion:
-

Residents aged 75 years and over
Disadvantaged residents
Residents who left school without qualifications
Residents who are chronically ill
Residents on a low income

There are 15.2 million people in the UK who are either non-users, or limited users
of the internet. An estimated 7.8 million people (14.9%) do not currently use the
internet in the UK. A further 7.4 million people (14.3%) in the UK are ‘limited users’
of the internet, giving a total population of 15.2 million people who are not using
the internet to its full potential.
90% of non-users can be classed as disadvantaged. This takes into account the
most common indicators - social class DE and being disabled, as well as leaving
education at 16 or under.
Although age is a factor in defining non and limited users, it isn’t the only one:
18.9% of under 65s are non or limited users of the internet; a population of
approximately 7.5m people. Nearly half (48.9%) of non or limited users of the
internet are under the age of 65.
The most pronounced indicators of non and limited use include age, disability,
social class, income and the age at which people leave education:
64.4% of non-users are aged 65 or over: 25.3% aged 65-74; and 39.1% aged
(Information taken from: https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/researchpublications/real-digital-divide)

The following table shows the estimated non-user populations for each region in
England and Wales. Ofcom survey data extrapolated to ONS’ 2015 adult
population estimates.

Page 418

2015 adult
population
estimate
London
South East
South West
Eastern
East Midlands
West Midlands
Wales
Yorkshire &
Humber
North East
North West

% of non-user adult respondents
from each region

Estimated number of nonusers in region

6,720,843
7,029,838
4,389,099
4,776,467
3,705,500
4,489,117
2,471,198
4,244,933

12.8%
8.4%
11.9%
12.7%
13.6%
23.4%
12.7%
24.0%

860,268
590,506
522,303
606,611
503,948
1,050,453
313,842
1,018,784

2,100,204
5,652,470

17.5%
17.1%

367,536
966,572

Population data available at Durham Insight
https://www.durhaminsight.info/

Being Disabled in Britain, a journey less equal (EHRC)
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/being-disabledbritain-journey-less-equal

Government Guidance on encouraging use of digital take up
https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/communications/increasing-digital-takeup.html

Screening Summary
On the basis of this screening is there:

Confirm which
refers (Y/N)

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment?

Yes –
sections 2&3
completed

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the
protected characteristics?

Page 419

Sign Off
Lead officer sign off:

Date: July 2018

Victoria Murray – Customer relations manager

Updated August 2019

Service equality representative sign off:

Date: July 2018

Equality team leader

Updated August 2019

Page 420

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact
Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics
relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a
differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups,
advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of
particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your
conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary.
Protected Characteristic: Age
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Record of evidence to support What further action
or explain your conclusions on or mitigation is
impact.
required?

The proposed digital
strategy will have a positive
impact for the Countywide
population, although this
impact will vary for differing
age groups.

Baseline population data

Improving digital access and
widening the choice of
channels for those that wish
to use them, allows us to
spend more time with those
that need to contact us face
to face and through
telephone.

The Digital
Strategy will not
Broad countywide age ranges: include any plans
to make any
Age
County
services available
Range
Durham
online only.
0 to 15

17%

16 to 64

62%

65+

18%

85+

3%

- Between 2001 and 2011 the
population of County Durham
increased from 493,678 to

Impact could be particularly
beneficial for younger
people who are more likely
to have good digital skills
and rely more on digital
technology. Evidence
suggests that 99% of people
aged 16 – 44 years use the
internet.

With more council services,
communications and
consultation taking place

Our availability
through traditional
contact methods
for example
telephone and
face-to-face
will not change and
by providing
alternative
channels for those
that wish to use
them provides

513,242

us with more time
to spend with those
that need to
contact us face to
-The 2016 mid-year population
face and through
estimate for County Durham
shows a population of 521,800 telephone.
an increase of 4,027 people
since mid-2014 and a 5.9%
increase since 2001. County
Support in use of
Durham has experienced a
higher rate of growth than the digital channels will
be provided e.g.
north east region (3.3% over
support in CAPs
the period 2001-2015), but a
considerably lower rate of

Page 421

online, younger people who
may not have previously
interacted with the council
may find it easier to do so.
This is also supported by the
increase in social media
engagements relating to

growth when compared to
England as a whole (10.8%
from 2001-2015).

Gap analysis to be
undertaken to
identify areas of
improvement
-2014 based population
required to support
projections for County Durham implementation of
indicate that from 2016 to
community projects and how
the digital strategy
2035 the county’s population
public services are provided. aged 65 or over will increase
and improve digital
inclusion e.g.
from 105,200 to 146,300 (a
39% increase) and those aged provision of
75 and over will increase from community ICT
Increased levels of digital
learning, use of
45,00 to 75,700 (a 65.6%
access will prove beneficial
emerging
increase). This age group is
for working residents
technologies etc.
projected to increase more
(predominately 18-67 years than any other age group in
Individual project
old) who will be able to
the county.
specific equality
access/request/book certain
impact
services 24/7.
assessments will
be undertaken
Since 2011, when the Office
where necessary.
for National Statistics (ONS)
Evidence suggests that
began recording annual
some older people may be
usage data, internet use in the
less likely to use the
UK has steadily increased. It
internet, this can be linked to currently sits at 90% for the
factors like not having used
adult population (age 16 and
a computer at work and not
over). For people aged 16 –
learning about IT in school.
44, it has reached 99%.
Internet use by older people is
still lower than by younger
people, and decreases with
The proposed strategy
age: of those aged 65 – 74,
increases the various digital
80% have ‘recently’ (within
ways to engage with and
the last 3 months) used the
access council services
internet, while only 44% of
meaning all current access
those aged 75+ have.
and communication
channels are also retained.
This will benefit those
people unable to access
Ofcom research identifies
services digitally as
several characteristics that
alternative routes of access
strongly correlate with digital
such as telephone and face- exclusion:
to-face will still be available.
- Residents aged 75
years and over
- Disadvantaged
The strategy aligns with the
residents
council’s Transformation

Page 422

programme to redesign
services to meet customer
needs and providing a
skilled and flexible
workforce. This will drive the
culture change required for
staff to deliver the digital
strategy.

A programme of training and
support is available for both
front line and back office
staff using new technologies
as part of their job role. The
inspire programme provides
additional support
mechanisms to facilitate
new ways of working e.g.
staff roadshows, best
practice sharing, change
advocates etc.

-

-

Residents who left
school without
qualifications
Residents who are
chronically ill
Residents on a low
income

Ofcom data shows that over a
third of the non-digital user
population are aged 75 and
older. This equates to an
estimated population of
approximately 100,000 people
in County Durham.

Staff Digital Survey
46.9% of staff survey
respondents provided
feedback on what is stopping
DCC from taking advantage of
digital trends. Key themes
identified were
culture/resistance to change,
cost and lack of digital skills.

Protected Characteristic: Disability
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

For many disabled people
improved digital technology
will increase access to
services and this is positive.

Baseline population data

As above (for age)

Digital access can enable

County Durham has a higher
percentage of permanently
sick and disabled people than
the North East average,
representing nearly a quarter
(23.6%) of the overall
population (Census 2011).

Reasonable
adjustments will be
made for disabled
service users,
customers and staff
where appropriate
and in line with our

Page 423

people with disabilities to
remain independent as
people will be able to
access more council
services from home without
the need to travel,
particularly those with
mobility and hearing
impairments.

Social contact can be
increased through digital
technologies, especially for
people with conditions like
Agoraphobia. However, it is
worth noting that physical
social contact may reduce
through increased digital
interaction, which may
impact on mental health
conditions. Some people
rely on personal contact
with public services to
maintain positive mental,
and sometimes physical,
health (by getting out of the
house).

duty under the
Equality Act 2010.
Increased life expectancy is
leading to an increase in the
number of years adults may
live with poor health.
(Source: Durham Insight)
Research from Equality and
Human Rights report ‘Being
Disabled in Britain’, 2017,
states that disabled people
were less likely than nondisabled people to have
accessed the internet (63.6%
compared with 89.5% in 2013).
ONS data tell us that 22% of
disabled adults have never
used the internet (compared to
9% for the adult population as
a whole).

Ofcom data shows that 47.7%
of the ‘non-user’ population
said that they had a longstanding illness, disability or
infirmity. This represents an
estimated population of 3.7m
people in the UK and indicates
Equally, people with
that disabled people are more
conditions such as
likely to experience digital
Alzheimer’s can benefit from exclusion.
using technology to support
memory loss, for example,
A specific public consultation
calendar reminders for
session was held with
appointments.
Durham’s Disability
Partnership on 27 September
2018 (evidence of feedback
below).
Although the strategy is
likely to have a positive
impact for many disabled
Digital solutions (often very
people there are some
basic and simple) can
complex conditions that
considerably improve access
mean that some disabled
for disabled people, for
people may never be able to example, text messaging and
use the internet (for
BSL via skype improves
Page 424

example people with severe
learning disabilities).

access for the Deaf
community, browse aloud
software improves access for
people with visual
impairments, voice recognition
Some disabled people may
can improve access for people
not have access to the
with physical and mental
internet or sufficient IT skills. impairments and and/or
Some conditions may
reduced dexterity. However,
require additional support to solutions that improve access
process information to help
for some people may worsen
make decisions. People with access for others with
memory loss and dementia
particular impairments, a point
are at particular risk if they
raised at consultation with
don’t already have IT skills.
Disability Partnership – for
example, the use of voice
recognition systems are a
barrier for those with speech
A programme of training
impairments such as people
and support is available for
who have had a stroke. In
both front line and back
response, multiple access
office staff using new
channels and tailored access
technologies as part of their
solutions (reasonable
job role with reasonable
adjustments) will remain
adjustments made for staff
available as part of DCC’s
with disabilities where
digital approach.
necessary.
Staff Digital Survey
46.9% of staff survey
respondents provided
feedback on what is stopping
DCC from taking advantage of
digital trends. Key themes
identified were
culture/resistance to change,
cost and lack of digital skills.

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership (workplace only)
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

No identifiable impact

Page 425

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

Improved digital technology
will increase access to
services and this is likely to
be positive for most
pregnant women and new
mothers.

No specific consultation
feedback was received in
relation to this protected
characteristic.

As above (for age)

By making services
available online, the council
can support women who
may have lower mobility due
to pregnancy related health
problems.

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity)
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

Providing information
digitally enables people to
use online translation
services.

Baseline population data

As above (for age)

Specific requests/need for
face to face interpretation
and/or document translation
will continue to be available,
where necessary, as is
current policy.

2011 Census, 98.1% of

Page 426

In County Durham BAME
communities are a relatively
small number of the
population. According to the

Durham’s population is white
British. 1.9% is ‘other ethnic
group’, the largest
component of this being
mixed race and Asian. We

Specific
requests/need for
face to face
interpretation
and/or document
translation will
continue to be
available, where

Improved digital access
supports our provision of
interpretation, for example,
interpreters via skype.

also have a significant
population of Gypsies and
Travellers who are either
migrant or settled in the
County.

necessary, as is
current policy.

(Source: Durham Insight)

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

No identifiable impact

Baseline population data

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

In County Durham 72% state
their religion as Christian;
around 0.19% as Buddhist;
0.12% Hindu; 0.37% Muslim,
0.12% Sikh, 0.04% Jewish
and 26.8 percent as having
either no religion or not
stating their religion (Census
2011).

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender)
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

The proposed digital
strategy will have a positive
impact for the Countywide
population, although impact
could vary for men and
women.

Baseline population data

As above (for age)

The balance of males and
females within the County is
fairly evenly split and there are
251,280 (49%) males and
261,962 (51%) females
living in County Durham
(Census 2011). Looking at
Page 427

Evidence suggests that
older women are less likely
to access the internet.

Evidence suggests that
disadvantaged residents
and those on a low income
are more likely to
experience digital exclusion.
As women are more likely to
experience financial
disadvantage compared to
men there could be a
disproportionate impact.
However, men are more
likely to experience
disadvantage such as
homelessness and addiction
problems and this is likely to
lead to digital exclusion.

older age groups (aged
70+) there is a higher
proportion of women which
accounts for the 49/51
split.

Internet use is similar for men
and women in younger and
middle age groups. Among
those aged 65 – 74, men are
a little more likely to use the
internet than women, but there
is a marked difference in the
oldest age group as 51% of
men aged 75+ have recently
used it compared to 38% of
women.
(Source: ONS)

Ofcom research identifies
several characteristics that
strongly correlate with digital
exclusion which includes:
-

Disadvantaged
residents
Residents on a low
income

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

No identifiable impact

Baseline population data
No accurate data is available
about the number of lesbian,
gay and bisexual (LGB+)
people living in County
Durham. However,

Page 428

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

Government and Stonewall
estimates state that between
5 and 7 % of the population
is lesbian, gay or bisexual
(LGB). This would amount to
between 25,000 and 35,000
people in County Durham.

Protected Characteristic: Transgender
What is the actual or
potential impact on
stakeholders?

Explain your conclusion
considering relevant evidence
and consultation

No identifiable impact

Baseline population data

What further action
or mitigation is
required?

We have no accurate data
on transgender populations.

Page 429

Section Three: Conclusion and Review
Summary
Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics.

The proposed digital strategy will have a positive impact across the protected
characteristics in terms of widening choice of access and communication
channels. Availability through traditional contact methods, for example telephone
and face-to-face, will continue to be available but by providing alternative channels
for those that wish to use them, this will allow us more time to spend with those
that need to contact us face to face and through telephone.

Evidence demonstrates that younger age groups are more likely to have good
digital skills and rely more on digital technology and are therefore likely to receive
the greatest benefit from the strategy. Digital solutions can also improve access for
a lot of disabled people although it is recognised that some solutions may worsen
access. In response, multiple access channels and tailored access solutions
(reasonable adjustments) will remain available as part of DCC’s digital approach.
Evidence shows that residents who are older, disadvantaged, left school without
qualifications, are chronically ill or on a low income are more likely to experience
digital exclusion. This has disproportionate impact across the protected
characteristics in terms of age (older), disability and gender (both men and
women). Mitigation includes; provision of support in use of digital channels e.g.
support in CAPs, alternative access channels and reasonable adjustments.

Further mitigation includes undertaking a gap analysis to identify areas of
improvement in support of the digital strategy e.g. provision of community ICT
learning, use of emerging technologies etc. Individual equality impact assessments
will be undertaken on identified projects where necessary.

A programme of training and support is available for both front line and back office
staff using new technologies as part of their job role with reasonable adjustments
made for staff with disabilities where necessary. The council’s inspire programme
provides additional support mechanisms to facilitate new ways of working e.g. staff
roadshows, best practice sharing, change advocates etc.

Page 430

A robust approach to consultation through various channels and forums including
protected groups ensured that the consultation was inclusive and received a wide
range of views.

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how?
With more council services, communications and consultation taking place online,
people who may not have previously interacted with the council may find it easier
to do so. This is also supported by the increase in social media engagements
relating to community projects and how public services are provided.

Action Plan
Action

Responsibility

Action plan and
timescales for
implementation

Support in use of digital channels provided
e.g. support in CAPs

Customer
services

Ongoing

Reasonable adjustments will be made for
disabled service users, customers and staff
where appropriate and in line with our duty
under the Equality Act 2010.

Customer
services

Ongoing

Specific requests/need for face to face
interpretation and/or document translation will
continue to be available, where necessary, as
is current policy.

Customer
services

Ongoing

Gap analysis to identify areas of improvement Head of digital
required to support implementation of digital
and customer
strategy and digital inclusion e.g. provision of services
community ICT learning, use of emerging
technologies etc. Individual project specific
equality impact assessments will be
undertaken where necessary.

Review

Page 431

Are there any additional assessments that need to be
undertaken? (Y/N)

Yes, as distinct digital
projects emerge.

When will this assessment be reviewed?

October 2020

Please also insert this date at the front of the template

Sign Off
Lead officer sign off: Alan Patrickson, Head of Digital
and Customer Service

Date: 21.08.19

Service equality representative sign off: Mary Gallagher, Date: 21.08.19
Equality Team Leader

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward
a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk

Page 432

Digital Strategy
for County Durham

Page 433

Page 434

Why Digital?
For most of us, digital technology is an essential part of daily life.
We live in an increasingly connected world. The internet has given
us access to a world of information and entertainment. We can
shop, bank, and transact with public services on a 24/7 basis and
we can share our thoughts, opinions and photographs with the
world instantly through social media. Global communication is
readily available and instantaneous. These connections have
changed the way people expect to interact with their council to
request, access and receive our services.

To meet these changing expectations we need to enhance and
expand our digital offer. This means getting the most out of
technology to increase choice and improve quality, finding
innovative solutions that allow us to work in better and smarter
ways and helping our communities to thrive in a digital world.
Connectivity works in many directions. We are committed to
using our digital platforms to not only offer people a choice in
how they deal with us, but also to listen to their feedback on how
we are doing with our service delivery and communication. We
will then use that feedback to meet the needs of the county and
continually improve.

Page 435

We have already started this work, and our digital platforms and
infrastructure are getting stronger every day. For example, phase
one of the Digital Durham programme has already provided
105,000 properties in the North East with access to fibre

Page 436

broadband. Our aim now is to lead from the front, to build on this
progress to support our residents, local businesses, bring our
communities together and to develop a highly skilled digital
workforce in a changing technological landscape.
Our Digital Strategy sets out the future for connecting Durham,
how we will digitally improve our services, support our people,
our communities and our organisation to deliver better outcomes
for the people of the county.

Digital Ambition for County Durham
Connecting people to services
Page 437

Our digital contact channels are already the first choice for our customers where they are available. We will continue to improve our
digital services to enhance customer experience.

Our Digital Ambitions run through the heart of the council's wider transformation programme, designed to make our services better meet
customers’ needs, help communities become more self-reliant and resilient, move our partnership working from good to great and to
Page 438

become renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our employee engagement.
We will improve our services in line with advances to digital technologies and ensure that services are available via mobile technologies.

Click on image for full page view

Click on image for full page view

Page 439

Digitally Connected
We have based our Digital Strategy around three core themes that, collectively, will enable us to put the customer at the heart of
everything we do in a changing technological landscape.

Page 440
click to enlarge

These three themes are interdependent. A digital community is necessary for people to access services digitally, and enjoy the benefits
that brings.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=awpGeudMjRg&feature=youtu.

Page 441

Page 442

Digital Principles
We recognise that our new digital strategy will affect all of our residents, businesses and visitors.
We have established a set of digital principles in order to make Durham a better place to live, work and do business.

Page 443

click to enlarge

Page 444

Digital Customer
What this means: Improve access to our services and information through technology and be responsive to customer's needs.
Following public consultation in November 2018, we know that people in Durham would like to see:

A clear and concise website that’s easy to use.
Increased availability of self-serve technology, with a simple and uncomplicated log on process.
Technology used to improve efficiency.
All customer information held in one place.
We currently offer more than 100 services online, with over 40% of our customers accessing this facility.
We will expand and redefine our service offer to make our online services as simple and user friendly as possible.

Page 445

Page 446

Our commitment to you
Continue to develop online services that are simple and convenient to use.
Use online services to provide better information to those using them.
Ensure all interactions are as quick, simple and secure as possible, ensuring service fulfilment at first point of contact.
Use the feedback we get to improve services.
Enable customers to make more online payments.

Provide up to date, relevant information on our website.
Ensure information is handled in a safe, robust way.
Provide support for those who need extra help using digital technology.

click to enlarge

Page 447

Page 448

Digital Organisation
What this means: Use digital technologies to improve our services and operate more efficiently.
As an organisation, we have already started to improve the way we work by:
Investing in modern, efficient and effective systems to help frontline staff manage caseload.

Introducing mass text messaging to keep customers updated of any issues that might affect them.
Developing an online appointment system for Customer Access Points.
Using technology to direct requests straight to the person best placed to deal with it.
Automating performance dashboards.
Increasing mobile working, resulting in less travel and increased productivity for staff.
Providing more opportunities for customers to provide feedback and using this to improve our services.

Page 449

Page 450

Our commitment
Continually improve services and processes based on comprehensive, available data and evidence - including customer feedback.
Increase automation across the organisation through the use of digital solutions and technologies, including the use of mobile
technologies.
Use the information and intelligence we hold in a secure and effective manner.
Ensure IT and software systems are able to exchange data, are scalable and able to adapt to change.

Develop a digital leadership and workforce, ensuring investment in and access to up to date technology and appropriate training in
order to facilitate this.
Continue to use digital practices to mobilise our workforce and support agile working in order to provide a more flexible, responsive
workforce.
Develop a one council approach, integrating front and back office with a range of services dealt with at first point on contact (where
appropriate).
Unify our communications approach to support effective collaboration and new flexible ways of working that support delivery of high
quality services to our customers, whenever and wherever they are needed.

Page 451

Page 452

Digital Communities
What this means: We will help the people of County Durham to get the most out of digital technologies in their homes and communities.
The Digital Durham fibre programme is a £35 million initiative to transform broadband speeds for residents and businesses across the
North East Region. By bringing superfast broadband to areas that would otherwise not receive a commercial connection.

Digital Durham also offers schemes to assist businesses and registered charities and social enterprises to get online:
Digital Drive – an initiative that aims to help SMEs in County Durham maximise their growth potential and sustainability. The initiative
offers support and guidance on digital technology, digital health checks and grant funds up to 40% to support digital consultancy
projects, equipment or installation of broadband.
Reboot Scheme – a partnership with Protech City to offer low-cost computer equipment to County Durham based registered charities
and social enterprises.
Businesses can claim a grant towards the cost of connection to full fibre broadband under the government’s Gigabit Broadband
Voucher Scheme.
We also:
Help residents get online by providing free internet access;
Provide support to residents to improve their digital skills;
Provide free information, advice and guidance at www.digitaldurham.org.

Page 453

Page 454

Our commitment
Be digital leaders for our community and strengthen our digital partnerships through collaborative working, shared learning and best
practice.
Work with partners to enhance connectivity through further development of our digital infrastructure.
Encourage and enhance data sharing.

Continue to expand our social media presence to support, engage and consult with the community by providing up to date and
accurate information and gathering views of residents on issues that matter most to them.
Support all members of the community to go online through development of a robust mobile network, access to affordable
broadband, expanding free access to Wi-Fi in council and community buildings.
Develop digital skills in our communities through our adult learning programmes and working with schools and colleges to ensure our
children and young people have the skills demanded by future employers.
Maximise the use of technology to promote the health and wellbeing of communities and families.
Utilise technology to support digital inclusion and deliver a range of innovative products that enable independent living.
Continue to develop ultra-fast business parks and hubs.
Offer tailored business support and use every opportunity to promote the use of broadband to existing and emerging businesses.
Provide the infrastructure for a digital county.
Grow digital businesses within the county.
Aim to ensure no-one is digitally excluded and design services to be accessible using modern technology regardless of age, disability
or ethnicity.
Provide information and support for businesses and residents to stay safe online
Explore how to use digital technology to make County Durham a better place.

Page 455

Page 456

Service Ambitions
Regeneration and Local Services (REAL)
Delivering a wide range of essential services, from waste collection to more specialist areas including licensing, and supporting delivery
of the county's cultural and leisure offer, we understand the importance of putting people at the heart of everything that we do.

Digital has already transformed the way we work, and we are continuing to make use of new and digital technologies. We are building on
progress made across many frontline services, including waste collections, highway inspections and building maintenance where digital
mobile working is now commonplace. Planning, management and operation of our frontline services is more effective and efficient, and
we continue to drive improvements that are better for customers that use them.
Our online customer portal has proven there is both an appetite for and an expectation of a modern, digital customer interface that not
only provides a 24/7 service, but also has the ability for customers to give feedback as to what we are doing well and how we could do
things differently. We intend to use digital techniques to further improve our responsiveness to customer enquiries and requests:

Page 457

We will investigate the opportunity to further use of digital tools and technologies to automate data collection, effectively analyse
operational data and develop augmented reality apps.

We will use digital techniques to more widely communicate, and analyse the response to, key messages and consultation.
We will make the best use of data to understand needs, manage assets and operations, and improve customer experience.
Page 458

We will develop the digital offer in the areas of culture, sport and festivals to match that offered in the commercial world, such as
social media, online bookings, e-ticketing and new exciting ways of engagement.
We will help communities and businesses get the most out of digital by ensuring connectivity and access is placed at the heart of
economic regeneration initiatives. This includes access to superfast broadband, mobile connectivity and public wi-fi.

Service Ambitions
Children and Young People’s Service
Page 459

Our vision is that County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in and a place where all children are
healthy, happy, safe and achieving their potential.

Digital Technology has an increasingly important role to play as both an enabler and a driver of change: collaborating, sharing services,
managing information more securely, enabling performance improvements and creating efficiencies.
Page 460

The service has made significant strides to enhance its digital delivery over recent years through the implementation of new systems for
Education, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, Children’s Social Care and Early Help. We will continue this improvement by
focussing on key digital projects to improve our services:
We will use the increased flexibility and mobility of digital ways of working to improve accessibility and inclusivity, bringing our
activities and services closer to residents and communities.
We will make our interactions more engaging to help improve our communication with people, especially young people. This will
include greater use of user friendly ‘apps’, social media platforms and websites which are designed for the customer and which also
enable the effective gathering of the views and feedback from children, young people and their families to help us improve services.
We will look to make more information resources available online for those who need help to understand the services available and
how to access them. This includes our statutory requirements in relation to the Local Offers for Care Leavers and those with Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities.
We will look at opportunities to make available to children and families the information and records we hold about them through the
use of digital technologies.
We will continue to build on our investment in digital technologies and systems by reviewing key service systems to ensure they are
delivering expected benefits and are supporting staff in achieving positive outcomes in the work they do with children, young people
and families.
We will make the most of the data that we hold by developing new approaches to the use and analysis of key data sets to help us
understand the needs of our customers more effectively.
We will review and enhance the electronic systems available to support the commissioning of high cost services for children and
young people so that our services remain efficient and effective.
We will explore the use of digital devices in the home including home hubs, and digital personal assistants such as Alexa to get the
most out of these new technologies and to help in our service delivery where they can.
We will use new and innovative technologies and digital approaches with partners to support effective data sharing which enhance
Page 461

the services that we provide to children, young people and their families.

Page 462

Service Ambitions
Adult and Health Services

Our key priorities are to enable people to improve their wellbeing and maintain their independence for as long as possible. Our digital
ambition is to use technology to achieve these goals and to provide the best possible experience for people when using our services. A
number of our key areas of work are set out below:

Page 463

We will continue to review Durham Locate – a website which provides a comprehensive directory of care and support service
available locally, helping people to choose services that are right for them - to ensure this system offers information that is accessible,
Page 464

useful and meaningful for those seeking information on wellbeing, care and support.
We will work to explore how we can expand the range of cost-effective assistive technologies we provide that help people remain
independent and continue to live in their own homes for as long as possible. A range of equipment, such as alarms and monitors, are
already available to provide reassurance that assistance and support is available at the touch of a button if needed.
We will continue to develop web content and social media platforms to share local information as digital technology is being used to
connect and engage with the wider population to improve health and wellbeing. Online functionality is also being developed to
support health improvement and protection, e.g. sexually transmitted infection testing kits are now available to order online from our
service provider.
We will use our new social care case management system to assist us in the effective management of adult social care cases. As well
as supporting staff with improved processes and providing better access to information, the new system will also bring more mobile
and flexible working, allowing staff to operate more efficiently.
We will develop digital champions, enabling staff to be skilled in the use of digital technologies so not only do they become confident
users of technology and systems, but also advocates by encouraging and supporting others to work or access services digitally.
We will use the huge opportunity provided by the integration of health and social care to work with our partners and care providers to
further develop digital solutions to support services. A new system called Health Call is bringing more timely care and treatment to
those in care homes simply by using technology to share information about patient conditions with clinical staff. Support is also being
provided to care homes to enable them to link in with the NHS email system. On a wider scale, we are supporting the regional Great
North Care Record project, a new way of sharing medical information between authorised health and social care workers across the
North East and Cumbria.
Our ambition is to join up resources in the development and use of digital technology to enable staff and partners to provide care and
support to people as quickly and efficiently as possible.

Service Ambitions
Resources, Transformation & Partnerships
Page 465

These teams provide organisational support services such as finance, human resources, legal, communications, strategy and ICT and
Digital, as well as partnership support services such as the administration of the Area Action Partnership network.

We established our Transformation Programme in 2016 with four distinct alms; to redesign services to better meet customer need at a
reduced cost to the council; to help communities become more self-reliant and resilient; to move partnership working from good to great;
Page 466

and, tor us to become renowned for our skilled and flexible workforce and our employee engagement. Through innovation and digital
adoption, we have already made many positive changes to the way we work and the services we provide to our customers. However, our
ambition is to do more, and our strategic digital organisational theme sets out the future role of digital technologies:
We will build into every transaction the ability for customers to provide feedback and will use this data more intelligently to help better
understand their needs, which in tum will help us to deliver more targeted and better services.
We will continue to invest significantly in digital solutions to speed up our internal business processes (e.g. our internal HR system
and the new Office 365 system), help our staff effectively deliver services (e.g. case management systems that support social care
staff practice), keep our data secure and protect our systems from cyber-attack.
We will use digital opportunities to consolidate and rationalise existing internal processes, removing duplication and non-value activity
from the customer perspective. We have already invested in technology such as SMS bulk-messaging, voice recognition call transfer,
automated enquiry handling and Robotic Process Automation. Paper-based processes have been automated, frontline operatives
now instantly receive service requests (reducing double-entry in the back once) and software installed in our fleet vehicles is helping
optimise routes and work programmes. These initiatives are also facilitating real-time progress updates to the customer.

We will undertake further improvement work to ensure our website is; mobile friendly, user focused and transactional so people can
easily find the information they need, and, with social media, able to keep our customers informed, educated and inspired by our
activities. Our online services are central to the way we interact with customers, and recent changes have already transformed the
way we work.
We will continue to work to resolve as many enquiries as possible at the first point of contact and channel the more complex cases
through the right professional process.

Page 467

Page 468

We will roll out training, development and support alongside new technological processes in order to create a multi-skilled, flexible
workforce as we are aware that the transformation programme is reliant upon our workforce adopting new ways of working. We are
also transforming our working environments and council buildings into collaborative and productive workspaces equipped for mobile
and flexible working practices.

VISIT US AT
Page 469

www.durham.gov.uk

Follow us on Twitter @durhamcouncil

Like us at facebook.com/durhamcouncil
Page 470

Follow us on Instagram @durham_county_council

Follow us on linkedin.com/company/durham-county-council

Page 471

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 17

Document is Restricted

Page 473

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 485

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 487

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 489

This page is intentionally left blank

